

MOGAD, current knowledge and future trends

Edited by Sasitorn Siritho, Lekha Pandit and Marcelo Matiello

Published in Frontiers in Neurology Frontiers in Immunology







FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3711-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3711-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

MOGAD, current knowledge and future trends

Topic editors

Sasitorn Siritho — Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand Lekha Pandit — Nitte University, India Marcelo Matiello — Harvard Medical School, United States

Citation

Siritho, S., Pandit, L., Matiello, M., eds. (2024). *MOGAD, current knowledge and future trends*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3711-4

We acknowledge the funding of the manuscripts published in this Research Topic by The Sumaira Foundation. We hereby state publicly that The Sumaira Foundation has had no editorial input in articles included in this Research Topic, thus ensuring that all aspects of this Research Topic are evaluated objectively, unbiased by any specific policy or opinion of The Sumaira Foundation.



Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: MOGAD, current knowledge and future trends Sasitorn Siritho, Lekha Pandit and Marcelo Matiello
- 07 Retinal structural and microvascular changes in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: An OCT/OCTA study Yanlin Lang, William Robert Kwapong, Lingyao Kong, Ziyan Shi, Xiaofei Wang, Qin Du, Bo Wu and Hongyu Zhou
- 16 Pathophysiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease

Osman Corbali and Tanuja Chitnis

30 *Helicobacter pylori* infection may influence prevalence and disease course in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disorder (MOGAD) similar to MS but not AQP4-IgG associated NMOSD

Chaithra Malli, Lekha Pandit, Anita D'Cunha and Akshatha Sudhir

37 Pediatric myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease in southern China: analysis of 93 cases

> Xiaojing Li, Wenlin Wu, Chi Hou, Yiru Zeng, Wenxiao Wu, Lianfeng Chen, Yinting Liao, Haixia Zhu, Yang Tian, Bingwei Peng, Kelu Zheng, Kaili Shi, Ying Li, Yuanyuan Gao, Yani Zhang, Haisheng Lin and Wen-Xiong Chen

50 Investigating the association between neoplasms and MOG antibody-associated disease

Milena Trentinaglia, Alessandro Dinoto, Sara Carta, Vanessa Chiodega, Sergio Ferrari, Vincenzo Andreone, Giorgia Teresa Maniscalco and Sara Mariotto

57 Transverse myelitis in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease

Gina Perez-Giraldo, Natalia Gonzalez Caldito and Elena Grebenciucova

63 High level of agreement in a fixed vs. live cell-based assay for antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in a real-world clinical laboratory setting Tammy L. Smith, Thomas R. Haven, Lauren M. Zuromski,

Kyphuong Luong, Stacey L. Clardy and Lisa K. Peterson

- 68 Two case reports and a systematic review of the literature on adult cerebral cortical encephalitis with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody Meihui Xu, Chi Ma, Ming Dong, Chunjie Guo, Simin Yang, Yue Liu and Xu Wang
- 77 Pathology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: a comparison with multiple sclerosis and aquaporin 4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders

Yoshiki Takai, Tatsuro Misu, Kazuo Fujihara and Masashi Aoki

90 Basic CSF parameters and MRZ reaction help in differentiating MOG antibody-associated autoimmune disease versus multiple sclerosis

Benjamin Vlad, Ina Reichen, Stephan Neidhart, Marc Hilty, Dimitra Lekaditi, Christine Heuer, Amanda Eisele, Mario Ziegler, Markus Reindl, Andreas Lutterotti, Axel Regeniter and Ilijas Jelcic

104 Epidemiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: a review of prevalence and incidence worldwide

Jyh Yung Hor and Kazuo Fujihara

112 Delimiting MOGAD as a disease entity using translational imaging

Frederike Cosima Oertel, Maria Hastermann and Friedemann Paul

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Robert Weissert, University of Regensburg, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Sasitorn Siritho Siritho@yahoo.com

RECEIVED 25 August 2023 ACCEPTED 12 September 2023 PUBLISHED 28 September 2023

CITATION

Siritho S, Pandit L and Matiello M (2023) Editorial: MOGAD, current knowledge and future trends. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1283217. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1283217

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Siritho, Pandit and Matiello. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: MOGAD, current knowledge and future trends

Sasitorn Siritho^{1,2*}, Lekha Pandit^{3,4} and Marcelo Matiello⁵

¹Bumrungrad International Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand, ²Faculty of Medicine, Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand, ³K. S. Hegde Medical Academy, Mangaluru, Karnataka, India, ⁴NITTE University Center for Science Education and Research (NUCSER), Mangaluru, Karnataka, India, ⁵Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

KEYWORDS

editorial, MOGAD, current, knowledge, trends

Editorial on the Research Topic MOGAD, current knowledge and future trends

In the ever-evolving landscape of neuroimmunology, both basic and clinical research, one condition has captured the attention of researchers, clinicians, and patients alike: Myelin Oligodendrocyte Antibody Disease (MOGAD). This enigmatic disorder, characterized by its distinctive serum biomarker and severe central nervous system (CNS) inflammatory attacks, warrants an in-depth exploration of its current understanding and the potential trends shaping its future trajectory.

Similar to Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder (NMOSD), MOGAD resides at the intersection of autoimmune disorders and neurology, challenging conventional notions within the realm of demyelinating diseases. Recent advancements in diagnostic tools, particularly the development of sensitive and specific tests for detecting anti-MOG antibodies, have revolutionized our ability to identify and differentiate MOGAD from other similar conditions, such as multiple sclerosis (1, 2). The presence of high titers of this serum antibody in patients with neurological disorders is now a diagnostic cornerstone (3). This heightened accuracy has expanded the spectrum of known clinical manifestations, transcending the common occurrences of optic neuritis, transverse myelitis, and ADEMlike presentations (4). Consequently, this diagnostic precision has led to the formulation of recent diagnostic criteria and, most importantly, earlier diagnoses and more targeted treatment approaches, ultimately enhancing patient outcomes.

In this Research Topic of *Frontiers in Neurology*, we called for original work on the theme of "*MOGAD, Current Knowledge and Future Trends*" In addition to original research on MOGAD. This Research Topic also called for review to collect novel approaches that may help clarify this unique condition.

Refining diagnosis, epidemiology and expanding the clinical spectrum

In this Frontiers in Neurology Research Topic, Lang et al. compared optical coherence tomography (OCT)/OCT angiography (OCTA) measures in patients with NMOSD and MOGAD, revealing that MOGAD patients exhibit reduced superficial vascular plexus density. This suggests distinct pathological processes and underlying macular structural and microvascular impairments. Li et al. described the clinical profiles and treatment responses of a cohort of 93 Chinese patients with pediatric MOGAD. Smith et al. reported excellent

agreement between fixed and live CBA for MOG antibody testing in a real-world clinical cohort of 322 serum samples. Xu et al. documented two cases of cortical encephalitis with high titers of MOG antibodies. Perez-Giraldo et al. reviewed typical and atypical features of transverse myelitis in MOGAD patients. Hor and Fujihara conducted a global review of MOGAD epidemiology, consolidating current knowledge. Vlad et al. analyzed cerebrospinal fluid parameters in 30 adult MOGAD patients and 189 adult patients with Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis (RRMS), revealing higher mean QAlb values and a lower presence of OCBs in the MOGAD cohort.

Unraveling the underlying mechanisms

Ongoing research focuses on unraveling the intricate mechanisms driving MOGAD. Scientists are keen to dissect the immune responses involved and decipher the factors triggering antibody attacks on myelin. By doing so, they aim to uncover novel therapeutic targets and interventions. Corbali and Chitnis extensively reviewed the immunological aspects of MOGAD pathophysiology, emphasizing the activation of T cells in the periphery followed by reactivation in the subarachnoid/perivascular spaces by MOG-laden antigenpresenting cells. They also highlighted that abnormal levels of neuroinflammatory biomarkers in MOGAD suggest that most axonal damage occurs during the initial attack. Takai et al. provided a detailed analysis of lesion pathology in MOGAD, noting that perivenous complement deposition is less common than in NMOSD but is observed in myelinated fibers and on myelin degradation products within macrophages. Malli et al. reported a lower frequency of H. Pylori infection in MOGAD and MS patients compared to NMOSD patients, hypothesizing that this infection might serve as a marker of gut hygiene and the onset of autoimmunity. Trentinaglia et al. studied a cohort of 150 MOGAD patients, revealing only two cases with concomitant cancer. They also reviewed an additional 15 case reports in the literature, concluding that MOGAD is unusually associated with a paraneoplastic syndrome. Oertel et al. reviewed appropriate animal models for translational MOGAD research and the current state and prospects of translational research imaging in this disease.

While the progress in MOGAD research is promising, significant challenges remain. Variability in clinical presentations, the complex interplay of immune responses, and the necessity for long-term clinical studies and well-designed randomizedcontrolled treatment trials present hurdles for researchers and clinicians. MOGAD has transformed from a mysterious entity into a well-defined disorder with targeted diagnostic tools and evolving pathophysiology studies. As we gaze into the future, collaborative research efforts, cutting-edge technology, and a patient-centric approach will likely steer MOGAD toward more accurate and tailored treatments, ultimately improving patient outcomes. The journey to comprehend the complexities of this disorder may be intricate, but the pursuit of unlocking its secrets remains steadfast, driven by the potential to transform lives and redefine our understanding of autoimmune neurology.

Author contributions

SS: Writing—original draft. LP: Writing—original draft. MM: Writing—original draft.

Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge the funding of the manuscripts published in this Research Topic by the non-profit organization, The Sumaira Foundation for NMOSD and MOGAD. The Sumaira Foundation had no editorial input into the articles included in this Research Topic, ensuring that all aspects of this Research Topic were evaluated objectively and free from specific policy bias.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Dubey D, Pittock SJ, Krecke KN. Clinical, radiologic, and prognostic features of myelitis associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:301–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.4053 3. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD Panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023). doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

4. Marignier R, Hacohen Y, Cobo-Calvo A. Myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Lancet Neurol.* (2021) 20:762–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00218-0

^{2.} Sechi E, Cacciaguerra L, Chen JJ, Mariotto S, Fadda G, Dinoto A, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD): a review of clinical and MRI features, diagnosis, and management. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:885218. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.885218

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY

Frederike Cosima Oertel, University of California, San Francisco, United States Friedemann Paul, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Hongyu Zhou Zhouhy@scu.edu.cn Bo Wu dr.bowu@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 26 August 2022 ACCEPTED 04 January 2023 PUBLISHED 30 January 2023

CITATION

Lang Y, Kwapong WR, Kong L, Shi Z, Wang X, Du Q, Wu B and Zhou H (2023) Retinal structural and microvascular changes in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: An OCT/OCTA study. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1029124. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1029124

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lang, Kwapong, Kong, Shi, Wang, Du, Wu and Zhou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Retinal structural and microvascular changes in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: An OCT/OCTA study

Yanlin Lang[†], William Robert Kwapong[†], Lingyao Kong, Ziyan Shi, Xiaofei Wang, Qin Du, Bo Wu^{*} and Hongyu Zhou^{*}

Department of Neurology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Purpose: To compare the optical coherence tomography (OCT)/OCT angiography (OCTA) measures in patients with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease (MOGAD).

Methods: Twenty-one MOG, 21 NMOSD, and 22 controls were enrolled in our study. The retinal structure [retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) and ganglion cell–inner plexiform layer (GCIPL)] was imaged and assessed with the OCT; OCTA was used to image the macula microvasculature [superficial vascular plexus (SVP), intermediate capillary plexus (ICP), and deep capillary plexus (DCP)]. Clinical information such as disease duration, visual acuity, and frequency of optic neuritis and disability was recorded for all patients.

Results: Compared with NMOSD patients, MOGAD patients showed significantly reduced SVP density (P = 0.023). No significant difference (P > 0.05) was seen in the microvasculature and structure when NMOSD-ON was compared with MOG-ON. In NMOSD patients, EDSS, disease duration, reduced visual acuity, and frequency of ON significantly correlated (P < 0.05) with SVP and ICP densities; in MOGAD patients, SVP correlated with EDSS, duration, reduced visual acuity, and frequency of ON (P < 0.05), while DCP density correlated with disease duration, visual acuity, and frequency and frequency of ON.

Conclusions: Distinct structural and microvascular changes were identified in MOGAD patients compared with NMOSD patients suggesting that the pathological mechanisms are different in NMOSD and MOGAD. Retinal imaging *via* the SS-OCT/OCTA might have the potential to be used as a clinical tool to evaluate the clinical features associated with NMOSD and MOGAD.

KEYWORDS

neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease, optical coherence tomography, optical coherence tomography angiography, macula microvasculature

Introduction

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is a glycoprotein expressed on oligodendrocytes and is a minor component forming the myelin sheath in the central nervous system (1). The immune attack in MOG antibody disease (MOGAD) is associated with myelin and oligodendrocyte damage, resulting in heterogeneous clinical manifestations such as optic neuritis (ON), reduced/loss of vision, myelitis, seizures, brainstem syndromes, and encephalitis (2-4). To date, it is suggested that clinical manifestations in MOGAD differ from multiple sclerosis (MS) (5) but overlap with aquaporin-4 antibody seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD AQP4+) (6, 7); optic neuritis and acute myelitis in MOGAD have similarities with clinical manifestations of NMOSD and can only be distinguished by detecting MOG antibodies. Even though testing for MOG antibodies can help differentiate these disorders, MOG testing is time-consuming and not available in most countries; moreover, albeit testing of MOG antibodies is very precise (8), false positives can still arise due to its low prevalence worldwide even in individuals with demyelinating disorders with ON (9, 10). MOGAD and NMOSD have different pathological mechanisms and different target cell damage. Given the different clinical outcomes and treatment strategies between NMOSD and MOGAD, accurate monitoring and evaluation would facilitate optimal treatment decisions and prognosis prediction. Thus, it would be supportive to have other modalities that may help in the quick and early identification of patients with MOGAD and help differentiate it from NMOSD.

Accumulating reports (10, 11) suggested that MOGAD with ON has recurrent and wide-range optic disc edema at the beginning of the disease cascade when compared with NMOSD; these optic nerve head changes cause severe neuroaxonal and microvascular impairment in the retina. Optical coherence tomography (OCT)/OCT angiography (OCTA) can quantify the retinal structural thickness and microvascular density changes and may serve as a reliable tool to differentiate MOGAD from NMOSD.

In this observational cross-sectional study, we utilized the sweptsource OCT (SS-OCT) and SS-OCTA to characterize the retinal structural and microvascular changes in NMOSD and MOGAD patients when compared with controls; we also explored the association between OCT/OCTA parameters in MOGAD and NMOSD with their disease duration, disability, and visual acuity.

Methods

This exploratory cross-sectional observational study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of West China Hospital, Sichuan, China, and all participants provided written informed consent before enrolling in our study.

Twenty-two MOGAD and 23 NMOSD patients were recruited from the Neurology Department of West China Hospital. NMOSD patients tested seropositive by cell-based assay (EUROIMMUN AG, Luebeck, Germany) as previously reported (12), and the diagnosis was based on the 2015 International Panel on NMOSD (13), while MOGAD patients tested seropositive by the cell-based assay as previously reported (14) (Figure 1A). Patients with ON less than 6 months before evaluation were excluded from our study. The inclusion criteria for MOGAD and NMOSD patients were as follows: 1) no sudden vision loss or eyeball pain occurred in the past 6 months, 2) long-term follow-up in our hospital with complete data and without a history of seizures, and 3) patients who could cooperate with our study and signed informed consent. The exclusion criteria were as follows: 1) possibly confounding neurological or ophthalmological disorders, 2) eyes with prior ocular surgery or trauma or acute optic neuritis within the preceding 6 months, 3) refractive error of ± 6 D (diopters), and 4) inability to cooperate with our study. Clinical variables such as frequency of optic neuritis, visual acuity under illumination, and Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) were assessed and recorded.

For comparison, 22 healthy controls with no history of neurological or neuropsychological diseases were included in our study. Participants with uncontrolled hypertension or diabetes, a history of ocular surgery, glaucoma, and other ophthalmologic diseases were also excluded from our study for all groups.

All participants underwent comprehensive visual acuity using the Snellen chart. Each participant's visual acuity for both eyes was obtained under light and later converted to a logarithm of the minimum angle of resolution (LogMAR).

SS-OCT/SS-OCTA imaging and examination

The SS-OCT/SS-OCTA tool (VG200S; SVision Imaging, Henan, China; version 2.1.016) was used to image the retinal structure and microvasculature for all participants. The specification of this OCT/ OCTA tool is well documented in previous reports (15–17). Imaging of the retinal structure was performed with 18 radial B-scans positioned on the fovea. Automatic segmentation of the retinal thickness was done by the OCT tool. Our current study assessed the macular retinal nerve fiber layer (mRNFL) and ganglion cell–inner plexiform layer (GCIPL) in a 3×3 -mm² area around the fovea as shown in Figure 1B. The average thicknesses (measured in µm) of the retinal structure were obtained from the OCT tool.

The OCTA images covered an area of $3 \times 3 \text{ mm}^2$ around the fovea. The en-face angiograms of the superficial vascular complex (SVC) and deep vascular complex (DVC) were generated by the OCTA tool. The partition of the SVC and DVC slabs was set in the inner two-thirds and outer one-third border of GCIPL as shown in Figure 1B. The average percentages (%) of the microvasculature in the SVC and DVC were obtained from the OCTA tool.

The OCT/OCTA data displayed in our study followed the OSCAR-IB quality criteria (18) and APOSTEL recommendation (19).

Statistical analyses

The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to test for the normality of our data. Continuous variables with normal distribution were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), while skewed distribution was expressed as medians and interquartile ranges. Categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages. SS-OCT/SS-OCTA parameters among the groups were assessed using generalized



The flowchart of our participants and segmentation of OCT/OCTA images. (A) The flowchart of the participants in our study. (B) The segmentation of three macular microvascular plexuses and the retinal thickness of RNFL and GCIPL in an area of 3×3 mm around the fovea. SVP was defined as the microvasculature between the base of the retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) to the junction between the inner plexiform layer (IPL) and inner nuclear layer (INL); ICP was the microvessels between the IPL/INL junction to the INL/outer plexiform layer (OPL) junction, while DCP was the microvessels between the INL/OPL junction to 25 μ m below the OPL. (C) The en face angiograms of our participants.

estimating equations (GEEs) while adjusting for age and gender. The association between SS-OCT/SS-OCTA parameters and the clinical features was performed with GEE while adjusting for risk factors. A comparison between SS-OCTA parameters stratified by history of ON between MOGAD and NMOSD was performed using a linear mixed model while adjusting for risk factors and intereye dependencies. All analyses were performed with SPSS (version 26, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). *P*-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. This was an exploratory study, so no adjustment for multiple comparisons was made.

Results

Our final data analyses included 40 eyes from 21 MOGAD patients (mean age = 33.67 ± 11.07 years), 42 eyes from 21 NMOSD patients (mean age = 33.76 ± 11.07 years), and 44 eyes from 22 healthy controls (mean age = 34.18 ± 10.88 years). Age and sex did not differ among the three groups (P > 0.05, Table 1). Thirteen MOGAD (61.9%; mean = 1 ON episode) and 11 NMOSD (52.4%; mean = 1 ON episode) patients had a history of ON. Table 1 displays the demographics and clinical information of our participants.

TABLE 1 Demographic overview.

	НС	MOGAD	NMOSD
Participants (N)	22	21	21
Number of eyes (N)	44	40	42
Age (years, mean ± SD)	34.18 ± 10.88	33.67 ± 11.07	33.76 ± 11.07
Gender [female, N (%)]	17 (77.3)	12 (57.1)	18 (85.7)
EDSS (median, IQR)	-	1.0 (0 - 2.25)	1.5 (1.0 - 3.0)
Patients with a history of ON $[N (\%)]$	-	13 (61.9%)	11 (52.4%)
Number of ON episodes (median, range)	-	1.0 (0 - 5)	1.0 (0 - 5)
Disease duration (years, mean ± SD)	-	2.57 ± 2.66	3.17 ± 2.60
VA (LogMAR, mean ± SD)	-0.05 ± 0.10	0.03 ± 0.10	0.18 ± 0.41
Immunotherapy			
None (%)	-	5 (23.8%)	1 (4.8%)
Prednisone (%)	-	7 (33.3%)	1 (4.8%)
Mycophenolate mofetil (%)	-	7 (33.3%)	12 (57.1%)
Azathioprine (%)	-	1 (4.8%)	2 (9.5%)
Rituximab (%)	-	1 (4.8%)	5 (23.8%)

EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; VA, visual acuity; HC, healthy control; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder; N, number of subjects; ON, optic neuritis.

Comparison of SS-OCT/SS-OCTA measures among the groups

MOGAD and NMOSD patients showed thinner RNFL and GCIPL thicknesses (P < 0.05, Table 2 and Figure 2) when compared with controls; compared with NMOSD patients, MOGAD patients had thinner GCIPL thickness (P = 0.019, Table 2 and Figure 2).

Figure 1C shows the angiograms of our participants. Compared with controls, MOGAD patients showed reduced SVP (P < 0.001, Table 2 and Figure 2) and DCP (P = 0.012, Table 2 and Figure 2) densities. Similarly, NMOSD patients showed reduced SVP (P < 0.001, Table 2 and Figure 2), ICP (P = 0.022, Table 2 and Figure 2), and DCP (P < 0.001, Table 2 and Figure 2) densities and enlarged FAZ area (P = 0.001, Table 2 and Figure 2) when compared with controls.

MOGAD patients showed reduced SVP density (P = 0.023, Table 2) and thinner GCIPL thickness (P = 0.019, Table 2) when compared with NMOSD patients; the FAZ area was larger (P = 0.034) in NMOSD patients than in MOGAD patients.

Supplementary Figure 1 shows the correlation between OCT and OCTA measures in both MOGAD and NMOSD patients. Supplementary Figure 1A shows the correlation in MOGAD patients, while Supplementary Figure 1B shows the correlation in NMOSD patients.

Table 3 shows the SS-OCTA measures among the groups stratified by history of ON. Compared with controls, MOG-ON eyes showed reduced SVP (P < 0.001, Table 3) and ICP (P < 0.001, Table 3) densities and enlarged FAZ area (P = 0.02, Table 3), while MOG-NON eyes showed reduced SVP (P < 0.001, Table 3) and DCP (P < 0.001, Table 3) densities. MOG-ON eyes showed significantly reduced (P < 0.05, Table 3) SVP, ICP, and DCP densities when

	HC	MOGAD	NMOSD	P (MOGAD vs. HC)	P (MOGAD vs. NMOSD)	P (NMOSD vs. HC)
FAZ, mm ²	0.273 ± 0.089	0.328 ± 0.095	0.377 ± 0.115	0.135	0.034*	0.001*
SVP, %	42.636 ± 3.195	31.705 ± 8.576	32.495 ± 8.359	<0.001*	0.023*	<0.001*
ICP, %	37.048 ± 4.288	32.376 ± 6.253	32.413 ± 6.582	0.172	0.304	0.022*
DCP, %	17.361 ± 5.091	14.911 ± 4.813	12.379 ± 4.924	0.012*	0.558	<0.001*
RNFL, µm	19.285 ± 1.039	17.206 ± 2.412	18.270 ± 3.582	<0.001*	0.057	0.017*
GCIPL, μm	74.985 ± 5.543	60.006 ± 13.880	60.087 ± 16.205	<0.001*	0.019*	0.001*

TABLE 2 Comparison of OCT/OCTA parameters.

FAZ, foveal avascular zone; SVP, superficial vascular plexus; ICP, intermediate capillary plexus; DCP, deep capillary plexus; RNFL, retinal nerve fiber layer; GCIPL, ganglion cell and inner plexiform layer; HC, healthy control; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *P < 0.05.



compared with MOG-NON eyes. NMOSD-ON eyes and NMOSD-NON eyes showed reduced microvascular densities and thinner retinal thicknesses when compared with controls. Importantly, NMOSD-ON eyes showed an enlarged FAZ area (P = 0.036, Table 3) when compared with MOG-ON eyes; NMOSD-NON eyes showed significantly reduced DCP density (P = 0.048, Table 3) when compared with MOG-NON eyes.

Figure 3 shows the association between SS-OCT/SS-OCTA measures in MOGAD and NMOSD patients and their clinical features. RNFL thickness was significantly correlated with EDSS (*P*

< 0.001) (Figure 3A), disease duration (P = 0.004) (Figure 3C), and frequency of ON (P = 0.001) (Figure 3G), while GCIPL correlated with reduced visual acuity (P < 0.001) (Figure 3E) and frequency of ON (P = 0.001) (Figure 3G) in MOGAD patients. GCIPL thickness in NMOSD patients significantly correlated with EDSS (P < 0.001) (Figure 3B), disease duration (P < 0.001) (Figure 3D), and frequency of ON (P < 0.001) (Figure 3H).

Supplementary Figure 2 shows the correlation between OCT/ OCTA measures and clinical features in the eyes of patients with MOGAD-ON and the eyes of patients with NMOSD-ON.

	MOG- ON	MOG- NON	NMOSD- ON	NMOSD- NON	P MOG-ON	P MOG-	P MOG-	<i>P</i> MOG-ON	<i>P</i> MOG-NON	P NMOSD-	P NMOSD-
Number of eyes	18	22	18	24		ON vs. HC	NON vs. HC	vs. NMOSD- ON	vs. NMOSD- NON	ON vs. HC	NON vs. HC
FAZ, mm ²	0.336 ± 0.098	0.322 ± 0.095	0.420 ± 0.132	0.345 ± 0.090	0.862	0.020*	0.065	0.036*	0.829	<0.001*	0.001*
SVP, %	25.727 ± 6.996	36.597 ± 6.424	26.878 ± 8.667	36.707 ± 5.084	<0.001*	<0.001*	<0.001*	0.892	0.620	<0.001*	<0.001*
ICP, %	29.202 ± 5.817	34.972 ± 5.434	28.179 ± 7.113	35.589 ± 3.906	0.001*	<0.001*	0.495	0.054	0.626	<0.001*	0.008*
DCP, %	18.696 ± 3.892	11.814 ± 2.905	15.585 ± 5.043	9.972 ± 3.214	<0.001*	0.170	<0.001*	0.054	0.048*	0.139	<0.001*

TABLE 3 OCTA results in MOGAD and NMOSD patients stratified by history of ON.

FAZ, foveal avascular zone; SVP, superficial vascular plexus; ICP, intermediate capillary plexus; DCP, deep capillary plexus; HC, healthy control; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder.

Frontiers in Immunology



FIGURE 3

Correlation between clinical features and OCT/OCTA parameters in MOGAD and NMOSD patients. EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; VA, visual acuity; FAZ, foveal avascular zone; SVP, superficial vascular plexus; ICP, intermediate capillary plexus; DCP, deep capillary plexus; RNFL, retinal nerve fiber layer; GCIPL, ganglion cell, and inner plexiform layer; HC, healthy control; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. Association of retinal parameters and EDSS (A), Duration (C), VA (E) and Frequency of ON (G) in MOGAD patients. Association of retinal parameters and EDSS (B), Duration (D), VA (F) and Frequency of ON (H) in NMOSD patients

Supplementary Figures 2A, B show the correlation between OCT/ OCTA measures with visual acuity (measured in LogMAR) and frequency of ON in MOGAD-ON, while Supplementary Figures 2C, D show the correlation between OCT/OCTA measures with visual acuity (measured in LogMAR) and frequency of ON in NMOSD-ON.

In MOGAD patients, EDSS correlated (P = 0.035) with SVP, disease duration correlated with SVP (P = 0.002) and DCP (P = 0.018), and reduced visual acuity and frequency of ON significantly correlated (P < 0.05) with SVP and DCP, respectively, as shown in

Figure 3. In NMOSD patients, EDSS, disease duration, reduced visual acuity, and frequency of ON correlated (P < 0.05, Figure 3) with retinal microvascular changes in the three plexuses.

Discussion

Our current report showed retinal thinning and reduced microvascular densities in NMOSD and MOGAD patients

compared with controls which are congruent with previous OCT/ OCTA reports (20–23) indicating that neurodegeneration and microvascular impairment occur during the disease cascade. Our study showed thinner GCIPL thickness and reduced SVP density in MOGAD patients compared with NMOSD patients. In MOGAD patients, SVP density correlated with EDSS, disease duration, frequency of ON, and visual acuity, while DCP correlated with disease duration, visual acuity, and frequency of ON; RNFL thickness in MOGAD patients correlated with EDSS, disease duration, and frequency of ON. In NMOSD patients, SVP and ICP densities correlated with EDSS, disease duration, visual acuity, and frequency of ON, while GCIPL thickness correlated with EDSS, disease duration, and frequency of ON.

The novel findings in our study were significantly thinner GCIPL thickness and reduced SVP density in MOGAD compared with NMOSD. The SVP, located in the GCIPL, is responsible for the metabolic supply of neurons in these layers (24), where reduced thicknesses have been reported in both MOGAD and NMOSD (11, 22, 23). With regard to retinal neurodegeneration, it is suggested that retinal thinning in NMOSD is as severe as in MOGAD (25); similarly, a recent report showed that microvascular impairment in MOGAD and NMOSD was similar (23). However, a recent study showed that retinal thinning was more severe in MOGAD than in NMOSD which is congruent with our structural report (26). Our findings of thinner GCIPL thickness and reduced SVP density in MOGAD compared with NMOSD patients included patients with a history of optic neuritis. ON in MOGAD is often bilateral and characterized by retinal edema (27). During retinal edema, it suggested that GCIPL experiences severe neurodegeneration during the ensuing months (22, 27, 28). This structural thinning amasses with each added ON episode which occurs recurrently in MOGAD (25, 29). Although a single episode of ON does not lead to a devastating impairment (26), the highly frequent ON attacks accrue with GCIPL thinning. This is analogous to NMOSD, which is characterized by less frequent ON episodes. Due to the highly recurrent ON attacks in MOGAD, GCIPL thinning and reduced SVP density compared with NMOSD may reflect severe neurodegeneration and microvascular impairment.

In line with previous reports (30, 31), we found enlarged FAZ area as a unique characteristic in NMOSD patients but not in MOGAD patients irrespective of ON. We also showed that NMOSD eyes without ON showed reduced microvascular densities compared with controls. This development may be linked with the pathology of AQP4 antibodies since the parafoveal areas of the retina comprise the highest density of astrocytic Muller cells, which express AQP4 and have shown to be the targets of anti-AQP4 antibodies in NMOSD (32, 33). Enlarged FAZ area and reduced microvascular densities in NMOSD eyes without ON suggest that some activities occur during the subclinical phase in NMOSD and may initiate relapseindependent disease progression.

Concerning microvascular changes after ON, our current study did not find any significant difference between NMOSD-ON and MOG-ON patients which is in line with a previous report (23). It is suggested that ON in MOGAD is acute and severe which is similar to ON in NMOSD; however, the long-term prognosis is better in MOGAD compared with NMOSD. Thus, it is plausible to suggest that microvascular impairment after ON in MOGAD patients may be as severe as in NMOSD patients.

Although NMOSD and MOGAD patients presented with similar clinical features, dissimilar clinical associations were shown in MOGAD and NMOSD which may suggest different pathological processes and underlying macular structural and microvascular impairment. In NMOSD, reduced macula microvascular densities and GCIPL thinning significantly correlated with clinical disability, implying that the potential force of underlying neurodegeneration and microvascular impairment may lead to clinical disability measured by EDSS (34). Moreover, reduced macula microvascular densities and GCIPL thinning significantly correlated with disease duration and frequency of ON, while reduced microvascular densities significantly correlated with reduced visual acuity, which is consistent with OCT/OCTA reports (34-36). These findings were different from those in MOGAD, where clinical correlations were most identified with the SVP and DCP of the macula suggesting the pathological mechanisms are different in NMOSD and MOGAD. The differential association pattern demonstrated indicates that retinal imaging markers might have the potential to be used as a clinical tool to evaluate the clinical features associated with NMOSD and MOGAD.

We would like to acknowledge some limitations in our study. The exploratory and cross-sectional study design of the study limits the understanding of the results concerning the cause and effect. Secondly, our study focused on quantitative retinal microvasculature, while other central nervous system tissues such as the brain, spinal cord, and optic nerve were not evaluated; further studies with a comprehensive assessment of the central nervous system in both NMOSD and especially MOGAD are needed. Thirdly, the clinical relevance of macula microvasculature was assessed with clinical disability (EDSS), visual acuity, disease duration, and frequency of optic neuritis; further study is warranted to assess its value to cognition and treatment response. The data from our study were obtained from our hospital cohort which limits the generalizability of the data to the general population. There was a possibility of a selection bias caused by the exclusion of individuals with retinal abnormalities (high myopia) and unmatched gender among groups. This may have led to an underestimation of the observed correlations.

In conclusion, we showed that GCIPL thinning and reduced SVP density are severe in MOGAD than in NMOSD. We also showed that microvascular changes after ON in NMOSD may be as severe as in MOGAD. Importantly, we showed that enlarged FAZ area and reduced microvascular densities occur as unique features during the subclinical phase of NMOSD but not during MOGAD. Taken together, our study suggests that the OCT/OCTA tool can help facilitate the differentiation of MOGAD from NMOSD in settings with overlapping clinical features.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of West China Hospital, Sichuan, China. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

YL: methodology, data curation, formal analysis, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. WK: methodology, data curation, formal analysis, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. LK: investigation and data curation. ZS: investigation and formal analysis. QD: investigation and data curation. BW: conceptualization, methodology, validation, writing—review and editing, and supervision. HZ: conceptualization, methodology, validation, funding acquisition, writing—review and editing, and supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was funded by the Department of Science and Technology of Sichuan Province (2020YFS0219 and 2021YFS0173)

and the 1·3·5 Projects for Disciplines of Excellence–Clinical Research Incubation Project, West China Hospital, Sichuan University (Grant No. 21HXFH041).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1029124/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Wynford-Thomas R, Jacob A, Tomassini V. Neurological update: MOG antibody disease. J Neurol (2019) 266(5):1280–6. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-9122-2

2. Reindl M, Waters P. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in neurological disease. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2019) 15(2):89–102. doi: 10.1038/s41582-018-0112-x

3. Spadaro M, Winklmeier S, Beltran E, Macrini C, Hoftberger R, Schuh E, et al. Pathogenicity of human antibodies against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Ann Neurol* (2018) 84(2):315–28. doi: 10.1002/ana.25291

4. Dos Passos GR, Oliveira LM, da Costa BK, Apostolos-Pereira SL, Callegaro D, Fujihara K, et al. MOG-IgG-Associated optic neuritis, encephalitis, and myelitis: Lessons learned from neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Front Neurol* (2018) 9:217. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00217

5. Chen JJ, Sotirchos ES, Henderson AD, Vasileiou ES, Flanagan EP, Bhatti MT, et al. OCT retinal nerve fiber layer thickness differentiates acute optic neuritis from MOG antibody-associated disease and multiple sclerosis: RNFL thickening in acute optic neuritis from MOGAD vs MS. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2022) 58:103525. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103525

6. Chang VTW, Chang HM. Review: Recent advances in the understanding of the pathophysiology of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2020) 46(3):199–218. doi: 10.1111/nan.12574

7. Zamvil SS, Slavin AJ. Does MOG ig-positive AQP4-seronegative opticospinal inflammatory disease justify a diagnosis of NMO spectrum disorder? *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2015) 2(1):e62. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000062

8. Reindl M, Schanda K, Woodhall M, Tea F, Ramanathan S, Sagen J, et al. International multicenter examination of MOG antibody assays. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2020) 7(2):e674. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000674

9. Hassan MB, Stern C, Flanagan EP, Pittock SJ, Kunchok A, Foster RC, et al. Population-based incidence of optic neuritis in the era of aquaporin-4 and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies. *Am J Ophthalmol* (2020) 220:110-4. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2020.07.014

10. Filippatou AG, Mukharesh L, Saidha S, Calabresi PA, Sotirchos ES. AQP4-IgG and MOG-IgG related optic neuritis-prevalence, optical coherence tomography findings, and visual outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Neurol* (2020) 11:540156. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.540156

11. Barnes S, You Y, Shen T, Hardy TA, Fraser C, Reddel SW, et al. Structural and functional markers of optic nerve damage in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein

antibody-associated optic neuritis. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin* (2021) 7 (4):20552173211063126. doi: 10.1177/20552173211063126

12. Shi Z, Du Q, Chen H, Zhang Y, Qiu Y, Zhao Z, et al. Effects of immunotherapies and prognostic predictors in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: A prospective cohort study. J Neurol (2020) 267(4):913–24. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09649-7

13. Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, Cabre P, Carroll W, Chitnis T, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurology.* (2015) 85(2):177–89. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000001729

14. Jarius S, Paul F, Aktas O, Asgari N, Dale RC, de Seze J, et al. MOG encephalomyelitis: International recommendations on diagnosis and antibody testing. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15(1):134. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1144-2

15. Kwapong WR, Jiang S, Yan Y, Wan J, Wu B. Macular microvasculature is associated with total cerebral small vessel disease burden in recent single subcortical infarction. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2021) 13:787775. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.787775

16. Ye C, Kwapong WR, Tao W, Lu K, Pan R, Wang A, et al. Characterization of macular structural and microvascular changes in thalamic infarction patients: A swept-source optical coherence tomography-angiography study. *Brain Sci* (2022) 12(5):518. doi: 10.3390/brainsci12050518

17. Tao W, Kwapong WR, Xie J, Wang Z, Guo X, Liu J, et al. Retinal microvasculature and imaging markers of brain frailty in normal aging adults. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2022) 14:945964. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.945964

18. Tewarie P, Balk L, Costello F, Green A, Martin R, Schippling S, et al. The OSCAR-IB consensus criteria for retinal OCT quality assessment. *PloS One* (2012) 7(4):e34823. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034823

19. Aytulun A, Cruz-Herranz A, Aktas O, Balcer LJ, Balk L, Barboni P, et al. APOSTEL 2.0 recommendations for reporting quantitative optical coherence tomography studies. *Neurology.* (2021) 97(2):68–79. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012125

20. Roca-Fernandez A, Camera V, Loncarevic-Whitaker G, Messina S, Mariano R, Vincent A, et al. The use of OCT in good visual acuity MOGAD and AQP4-NMOSD patients; with and without optic neuritis. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin* (2021) 7 (4):20552173211066446. doi: 10.1177/20552173211066446

21. Graves JS, Oertel FC, van der Walt A, Collorone S, Sotirchos ES, Pihl-Jensen G, et al. Leveraging visual outcome measures to advance therapy development in neuroimmunologic disorders. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2022) 9(2):e1126. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001126

22. Sotirchos ES, Filippatou A, Fitzgerald KC, Salama S, Pardo S, Wang J, et al. Aquaporin-4 IgG seropositivity is associated with worse visual outcomes after optic neuritis than MOG-IgG seropositivity and multiple sclerosis, independent of macular ganglion cell layer thinning. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26(11):1360–71. doi: 10.1177/1352458519864928

23. Yu J, Huang Y, Zhou L, ZhangBao J, Zong Y, Quan C, et al. Comparison of the retinal vascular network and structure in patients with optic neuritis associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein or aquaporin-4 antibodies: An optical coherence tomography angiography study. *J Neurol* (2021) 268(12):4874–81. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10609-3

24. Campbell JP, Zhang M, Hwang TS, Bailey ST, Wilson DJ, Jia Y, et al. Detailed vascular anatomy of the human retina by projection-resolved optical coherence tomography angiography. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:42201. doi: 10.1038/srep42201

25. Pache F, Zimmermann H, Mikolajczak J, Schumacher S, Lacheta A, Oertel FC, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: A multicenter study of 50 patients. part 4: Afferent visual system damage after optic neuritis in MOG-IgG-seropositive versus AQP4-IgG-seropositive patients. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13(1):282. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-016-0720-6

26. Akaishi T, Sato DK, Nakashima I, Takeshita T, Takahashi T, Doi H, et al. MRI And retinal abnormalities in isolated optic neuritis with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein and aquaporin-4 antibodies: A comparative study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2016) 87(4):446–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2014-310206

27. Vicini R, Brugger D, Abegg M, Salmen A, Grabe HM. Differences in morphology and visual function of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody and multiple sclerosis associated optic neuritis. *J Neurol* (2021) 268(1):276–84. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10097-x

28. Havla J, Kumpfel T, Schinner R, Spadaro M, Schuh E, Meinl E, et al. Myelinoligodendrocyte-glycoprotein (MOG) autoantibodies as potential markers of severe optic neuritis and subclinical retinal axonal degeneration. J Neurol (2017) 264(1):139–51. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8333-7

29. Zhao G, Chen Q, Huang Y, Li Z, Sun X, Lu P, et al. Clinical characteristics of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein seropositive optic neuritis: A cohort study in shanghai, China. J Neurol (2018) 265(1):33–40. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8651-4

30. Oertel FC, Kuchling J, Zimmermann H, Chien C, Schmidt F, Knier B, et al. Microstructural visual system changes in AQP4-antibody-seropositive NMOSD. *Neurol Neuroinflamm.* (2017) 4(3):e334. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000334

31. Roca-Fernandez A, Oertel FC, Yeo T, Motamedi S, Probert F, Craner MJ, et al. Foveal changes in aquaporin-4 antibody seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder are independent of optic neuritis and not overtly progressive. *Eur J Neurol* (2021) 28(7):2280–93. doi: 10.1111/ene.14766

32. Pannicke T, Wurm A, Iandiev I, Hollborn M, Linnertz R, Binder DK, et al. Deletion of aquaporin-4 renders retinal glial cells more susceptible to osmotic stress. J Neurosci Res (2010) 88(13):2877–88. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22437

33. Hillebrand S, Schanda K, Nigritinou M, Tsymala I, Bohm D, Peschl P, et al. Circulating AQP4-specific auto-antibodies alone can induce neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder in the rat. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2019) 137(3):467–85. doi: 10.1007/s00401-018-1950-8

34. Wei R, Xie J, Wu H, He F, Meng F, Liu J, et al. Superficial macula capillary complexity changes are associated with disability in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Front Neurol* (2021) 12:724946. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.724946

35. Lang Y, Kwapong WR, Kong L, Shi Z, Zhao Z, Du Q, et al. Sparser macula microvasculature in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder occurs independently of optic neuritis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2022) 58:103470. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103470

36. Kwapong WR, Peng C, He Z, Zhuang X, Shen M, Lu F. Altered macular microvasculature in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Am J Ophthalmol* (2018) 192:47–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2018.04.026

(Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Matteo Gastaldi, Neurological Institute Foundation Casimiro Mondino (IRCCS), Italy Markus Höltje, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Tanuja Chitnis Image: tchitnis@rics.bwh.harvard.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 05 January 2023 ACCEPTED 09 February 2023 PUBLISHED 28 February 2023

CITATION

Corbali O and Chitnis T (2023) Pathophysiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1137998. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1137998

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Corbali and Chitnis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pathophysiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease

Osman Corbali^{1,2} and Tanuja Chitnis^{1,2*}

¹Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ²Department of Neurology, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Ann Romney Center for Neurologic Diseases, Boston, MA, United States

Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein Antibody Disease (MOGAD) is a spectrum of diseases, including optic neuritis, transverse myelitis, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, and cerebral cortical encephalitis. In addition to distinct clinical, radiological, and immunological features, the infectious prodrome is more commonly reported in MOGAD (37-70%) than NMOSD (15-35%). Interestingly, pediatric MOGAD is not more aggressive than adult-onset MOGAD, unlike in multiple sclerosis (MS), where annualized relapse rates are three times higher in pediatric-onset MS. MOGAD pathophysiology is driven by acute attacks during which T cells and MOG antibodies cross blood brain barrier (BBB). MOGAD lesions show a perivenous confluent pattern around the small veins, lacking the radiological central vein sign. Initial activation of T cells in the periphery is followed by reactivation in the subarachnoid/perivascular spaces by MOG-laden antigen-presenting cells and inflammatory CSF milieu, which enables T cells to infiltrate CNS parenchyma. CD4+ T cells, unlike CD8+ T cells in MS, are the dominant T cell type found in lesion histology. Granulocytes, macrophages/microglia, and activated complement are also found in the lesions, which could contribute to demyelination during acute relapses. MOG antibodies potentially contribute to pathology by opsonizing MOG, complement activation, and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. Stimulation of peripheral MOGspecific B cells through TLR stimulation or T follicular helper cells might help differentiate MOG antibody-producing plasma cells in the peripheral blood. Neuroinflammatory biomarkers (such as MBP, sNFL, GFAP, Tau) in MOGAD support that most axonal damage happens in the initial attack, whereas relapses are associated with increased myelin damage.

KEYWORDS

MOGAD, T cells, MOG (myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein), blood brain barrier (BBB), MOG-IgG, autoantibodies, pathophysiology-contemporary knowledge

Introduction

MOG is a transmembrane protein found on the outer surface of the central nervous system myelin and a marker of mature oligodendrocytes (1, 2). It constitutes only a small portion of the myelin (0.05%), and its possible roles include cell adhesion, microtubule stability, and receptor function (1, 3, 4).

High titers of autoantibodies targeting MOG are identified in various demyelinating diseases, including optic neuritis, transverse myelitis, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), and cerebral cortical encephalitis. These are now recognized as a spectrum of diseases associated with MOG antibodies, MOGAD (5). Despite heterogeneous presentation and clinical overlap between MOGAD, multiple sclerosis (MS), and neuromyelitis optica

spectrum disease (AQP4-IgG+, NMOSD), distinctive radiologic, pathological, lab, and clinical features of MOGAD have been identified (Table 1), and most recently an international MOGAD diagnostical criteria has been proposed (63).

Autoimmunity in MOGAD starts at the periphery by activation of T cells and production of autoantibodies and eventually transfer of these immune mediators into the CNS (5, 38). How humoral immunity and cellular immunity cooperate in MOGAD pathogenesis is an intriguing subject. This review will highlight major distinctive clinical, radiological, and histopathological features of MOGAD and summarize how different immune compartments contribute disease pathogenesis. For this purpose, we will use evidence from human and animal studies such as MOG-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) models, as some of these models closely resemble MOGAD compared to MS due to relapsing and remitting course (vs. progressive disease) and MOG as the autoimmune trigger (64–66).

Distinctive features of MOGAD

Distinctive clinical, radiological, and histopathological features and laboratory findings of MOGAD are summarized below (Table 1).

Clinical findings

MOGAD most commonly presents as bilateral optic neuritis, transverse myelitis, ADEM, or, less commonly, cerebral cortical encephalitis. Brainstem demyelination could also occur in MOGAD; however, area postrema syndrome or internuclear ophthalmoplegia is associated with NMOSD or MS, respectively (5, 67).

The monophasic course is more common in MOGAD (40–50%), and the remaining half of the MOGAD cases experience a relapsing course, which is associated with persistent high titers of MOG-IgG (15, 16). In contrast, most NMOSD patients (90%) have a relapsing course (6). In MS, most patients first experience a relapsing-remitting phase (90%), half of which develop secondary progressive disease (17). Progression in MOGAD or NMOSD is relapse dependent; however, progression independent of relapse activity is well-established with MS (20, 21).

Pediatric MOGAD is not more aggressive than adultonset MOGAD. The overall annualized relapse rate (ARR) in MOGAD, excluding the first attack, is 0.23 in pediatric and 0.35 in adult MOGAD patients (5). This is different from MS, where pediatric MS patients display a more inflammatory phenotype and therefore have higher ARR than adult-onset MS patients, with an ARR of 1.13 in pediatric-onset vs. 0.40 in adult-onset MS (18).

An infectious prodrome (at least once during the disease course) is commonly reported with MOGAD, varying from 37 to 70% (7–10). MOG-IgG+ optic neuritis patients had 37% and 67% preceding infection in two series (3/8 and 6/9) (7, 8). In MOG-IgG+ ADEM patients preceding infection was present

in 70% (12/17, including three patients with vaccinations) (9). Jarius et al. reported an infectious prodrome in 40% (15/37) of MOGAD patients, which included mostly optic neuritis or myelitis patients but also some ADEM or cerebellitis cases (10). In NMOSD, the infectious prodrome is reported in 15–35% (6, 11, 12). Earlier studies with multiple sclerosis showed that 27–48% of all MS relapses were associated with infections if patients followed longitudinally (13, 14).

Radiological findings

Optic neuritis is bilateral and lengthier (compared to MS), and the anterior optic pathway is more commonly involved (vs. posterior in NMOSD) in MOGAD (Figure 1) (22, 23, 68). Optic nerve head swelling and perineural sheath enhancement are other typical features of MOGAD, indicating increased blood—optic nerve barrier breakdown (22, 68).

Spinal cord involvement is seen as longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis (LETM) in MOGAD and NMOSD (22, 24, 25). Multiple spinal cord lesions are frequent in MOGAD and MS (both >60%) (24). Gray matter restricted (H sign) or central cord involvement is a typical appearance of MOGAD lesions on axial MRI (24, 25). On the other hand, shorter and dorsal/lateral spinal cord lesions are more typical of MS (25). Conus medullaris involvement is seen in MOGAD or MS (22).

Typical brain involvement in MOGAD is ADEM-like fluffy lesions (25). The number of supratentorial lesions is fewer in MOGAD and NMOSD than in MS (22). High AQP4 expressing regions such as diencephalon (hypothalamus and thalamus) or dorsal midbrain (area postrema) are commonly affected in NMOSD (26). In MS, more supratentorial lesions are typically found in cortical, juxtacortical, or periventricular areas (27).

Contrast (Gadolinium) enhancement is a measure of BBB breakdown commonly found in MOGAD lesions. Within 4 weeks of the symptom onset, ON has enhancing pattern in most MOGAD (94%), NMO (100%) and MS (75%) patients (23). Myelitis, on the other hand, has an enhancement rate of 27–70% of MOGAD patients and around 75% of NMO or MS patients within 4 weeks of the symptom onset (24, 28).

Leptomeningeal enhancement, an indicator of leptomeningeal inflammation, was less frequently reported in MOGAD than in MS (29–31, 69). Gadde et al. reported the presence of LME in 33% (7/21) of a pediatric cohort. In comparison, Cobo-Calvo et al. reported in 6% (3/49) of their adult cohort (29, 30). Further studies are needed to determine if LME prevalence is higher (using 7T MRI) and if LME presence is associated with relapse activity in MOGAD. In MS, LME presence is reported as 79% with 7T MRI, while with lower field (1.5 or 3T MRI), prevalence is 21% (31). In NMOSD, it is also infrequent (6%) (31).

Central vein sign, defined as lesions with central vein identifiable by MRI, is commonly seen in MS (>40%), while their frequency is much lower in MOGAD (\approx 10%) or NMOSD (<10%) (22).

Slowly expanding lesions are not present in MOGAD, while present in MS (25, 32). Paramagnetic rim lesions (PRL) associated

TABLE 1 Distinctive features of MOGAD.

	MOGAD	NMOSD	MS
Clinical findings			
Presentation at onset	Optic neuritis	Optic neuritis	Optic neuritis
	Transverse myelitis	Transverse myelitis	Transverse myelitis
	Brainstem demyelination	Brainstem demyelination	Brainstem demyelination
	ADEM	Area postrema syndrome	Internuclear ophthalmoplegia
	Cerebral cortical encephalitis		
Infectious Prodrome (6-14)	37.5-70% (at least once)	15-35% (at least once)	27–48% (of all relapses)
Course (6, 15–17)	Monophasic (40–50%)	Monophasic (10%)	Relapsing Remitting (90%)
	Relapsing (50–55%)	Relapsing (90%)	Secondary Progressive (half of relapsing remitting patients develop secondary progressive disease)
			Primary Progressive/Relapsing Progressive (10%)
Annualized Relapse Rate (excluding the first attack) (5, 18, 19) [Overall: treated and untreated]	0.23 (pediatric, overall) 0.35 (adult, overall)	0.91 (adult, untreated) 0.18 (adult, treated)	1.13 (pediatric, overall) 0.40 (adult, overall)
Progression independent of relapse activity (PIRA) (20, 21)	No	No	Yes
Radiology			
Optic nerve (22, 23)	Bilateral	Bilateral	Unilateral
	Lengthier	Lengthier	Shorter
	Anterior optic pathway involvement	Posterior optic pathway involvement	
	ON head swelling		
	Perineural sheath enhancement		
Spinal cord (22, 24, 25)	LETM	LETM	Shorter lesions
	Multiple lesions	Central cord	Multiple lesions
	H-sign (gray matter restricted lesion)		Dorsal/lateral lesions
	Central cord		Conus medullaris
	Conus medullaris		
Brain (22, 26, 27)	Less supratentorial lesions	Less supratentorial lesions	More supratentorial lesions
	ADEM-like lesions	Diencephalon (i.e., hypothalamus and thalamus)	Cortical/juxtacortical lesions
		Dorsal midbrain (i.e., area postrema)	
Contrast Enhancement rate within 4 weeks of the attack (Indication of BBB damage) (23, 24, 28)	ON (94%) Myelitis (26–70%)	ON (100%) Myelitis (78%)	ON (75%) Myelitis (75%)
Leptomeningeal enhancement (29-31)	33% (Pediatric)	6%	21% (1.5 or 3 T field)
	6% (Adult)		79% (7 T field)
Central Vein sign (average CVS+ rate) (22)	≈10%	<10%	>40%
Slowly expanding lesions (25, 32)	No	Not studied	Yes
Paramagnetic rim lesions (32–34)	Not studied	Rare	Yes (due to iron laden microglia/macrophage)
Lab			
Serum ab test (35–37)	High Mog-IgG titer	High AQP4-IgG titer	Low Mog-IgG titer possible
Longitudinal ab testing (38-40)	Some patients become seronegative	Rarely becomes seronegative	NA

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

	MOGAD	NMOSD	MS
Oligoclonal bands (30, 41–46)	5-13%	10-16%	95%
Increased Qalb rate (% higher than the age normal; indication of Blood-CSF barrier damage) (10, 45–48)	32–35% (all patients)	ON (15%) myelitis (64%)	25% (all patients)
CSF pleocytosis (during acute attack) (42, 45, 47)	Optic neuritis: 34% Myelitis: 85% Brain/Brainstem: 60%	Optic neuritis: 24% Myelitis: 65%	50%
Pathology			
White matter lesions (49)	Perivenous confluent around small veins	Perivenous confluent/focal	Focal lesions around large veins
	Deep white matter	High AQP4 expressing regions (hypothalamus, area postrema), but also supratentorial	Periventricular
	Chronic active lesions absent		Chronic active and slowly expanding lesions
	Iron rim lesions absent		Iron rim lesions present
Cortical lesions (50-54)	Perivenous confluent intracortical demyelination	No cortical demyelination	Band-like subpial demyelination underneath the meningeal inflammation
		Neuronal loss in cortical layers II-IV	Ectopic meningeal lymphoid follicles
Dominant T cell type (50, 55–57)	CD4	Increased activated CD4 T cells (OX40+) reported	CD8
Activated complement deposition (49, 50, 58)	Present	Present	Present
Astrocytes (49, 50, 58–61)	Relative sparing	Pronounced loss	Activated and contribute to inflammation
	Normal GFAP (CSF)	Increased GFAP (CSF)	Increased GFAP (CSF and serum) in progressive MS
Oligodendrocytes (49, 50, 58, 62)	Variable loss	Variable loss	Variable loss (Type III demyelination)
	Preserved progenitor cells		

with iron-laden microglia and macrophages, are present in MS; however, they have not been investigated in MOGAD (32–34).

Histopathological findings

White matter lesions in MOGAD exhibit a confluent pattern around small veins, while in MS, focal lesions form around larger veins detectable by MRI (central vein sign) (50). Chronic active or slowly expanding lesions and iron rim lesions are absent in MOGAD while present in MS (50).

Cortical lesions in MOGAD also have perivenous confluent patterns and intracortical demyelination (50). In MS, subpial demyelination underneath the meningeal inflammation is common (51, 52). There are also ectopic lymphoid follicles found in MS, which are important aspect of chronic and progressive inflammation. In NMOSD, there is no cortical demyelination, while there is a neuronal loss in cortical layers II-IV (53, 54).

The dominant T cell type is CD4 in MOGAD, whereas CD8 is in MS (50, 55, 56). Astrocytes are spared in MOGAD, while pronouncedly decreased in NMOSD, and activated and proinflammatory in MS (49, 50, 58). Differential astrocyte involvement in these three diseases is also supported by GFAP levels in serum and CSF (59–61). GFAP-CSF levels are increased in the

NMOSD patients but not in MOGAD compared to HC (60). In MS, progressive patients have higher GFAP both in serum and CSF compared to RRMS and HC (59). Conversely, oligodendrocytes are variably lost in all three diseases, while in MOGAD, progenitor cells are preserved as they do not yet express MOG (49, 50, 58, 62).

Laboratory findings

Oligoclonal band presence is low in MOGAD (5–13%), similar to NMOSD (10–16%) (30, 41–43, 45, 46). In MS, however, OCB positivity is found in the majority of the cases (95%) (44).

CSF pleocytosis in MOGAD is quite common during relapses and even higher in the spinal cord (85%) or brain/brainstem (60%) involvement compared to optic neuritis (34%) (42). In NMOSD, a similar trend is present, with CSF pleocytosis in 24% of optic neuritis and 65% of myelitis (45). In MS, 50% of the patients have pleocytosis during relapses (47).

Increased albumin CSF/serum ratio (QAlb), a measure of blood-CSF barrier dysfunction, is also a feature of MOGAD. In two separate studies, almost one-third of MOGAD patients (32 and 32.4%) had increased albumin CSF/serum ratio (QAlb) (10, 46). This ratio was even higher in patients with a history of a spinal cord, brain, or brainstem involvement (10/21; 47.6%) (10). Elevated



Typical optic nerve involvement in MOGAD. Bilateral and longer lesions involving anterior parts of the optic nerve.

QAlb values are reported at a similar frequency with MS (29.5%, n = 606) (70). On the other hand, QAlb levels are reported variably for NMOSD (increased in up to 50–80% of patients), which implies implying blood-CSF barrier dysfunction in MOGAD may not be as severe as it is in NMOSD (45, 46, 71).

CSF cytokine/chemokine profile of MOGAD shows increased proinflammatory cytokines (Figure 2, created with BioRender.com), including Th1 (TNF- α , IFN γ), Th2 (IL13), Th17 (IL6, IL8, G-CSF, GM-CSF), Treg (IL10) and B cell (CXCL12, APRIL, BAFF, CXCL13, CCL19) related and other (IL-1ra, MCP-1, MIP-1a) cytokines/chemokines (72, 73).

Autoimmune etiology of MOGAD

The prevailing concept for autoimmunity in MOGAD is the outside-in model, where autoantibodies and activated immune cells in the peripheral blood cross the blood-brain barrier at the time of attack/relapse (Figure 2) (41, 74).

The central tolerance toward MOG may not be well developed in the thymus, preventing the elimination of MOG reactive T cells by negative selection (1, 75, 76). In the thymus, the expression of a self-antigen in the epithelial cells eliminates lymphocytes with a strong affinity to a self-antigen (central tolerance) and also allows some self-reactive T cells to develop into Tregs (peripheral tolerance) (77). MOG expression in the human thymus is variably reported. In two studies analyzing the thymus, MOG RNA was not detected, while in another study, MOG was detected in isolated medullary thymic epithelial cells (78–81). There is no protein-level study assessing MOG expression in human thymic tissue. Even if MOG expression in the thymus is low or present, central tolerance is not a perfect process, and peripheral tolerance mechanisms are needed to suppress self-reactive lymphocytes. Peripheral tolerance mechanisms include anergy or apoptosis of self-reactive T cells through the absence of costimulatory molecules or the presence of inhibitory molecules (such as PD1 or CTLA) and regulatory T cells (77). From MOG-induced EAE models and human MOGAD, we know that tolerance against MOG could be disrupted.

MOG reactive T cells, present due to a compromised tolerance against MOG, could be activated upon antigen-specific or non-specifically through mechanisms such as MOG peptide presentation, molecular mimicry, or bystander activation. MOG peptides could be present in the periphery, such as in cervical lymph nodes draining CNS, or rarely in a tumor expression MOG (82, 83). MOG antibodies, on the other hand, could facilitate recognition of trace amounts of MOG present in the periphery leading to T cell activation (84). Infections could cause bystander activation and molecular mimicry. Milk protein Butyrophilin and small Hepatitis B surface antigen are reported to have cross-immunoreactivity with MOG; however, pathophysiological consequences of these molecular mimicries have not been established (85, 86).

Immunogenetics

Genetic risk factors associated with the autoimmune etiology of MOGAD are not widely explored. HLA genotyping studies did not identify a significant allele in two Dutch and UK cohorts (87, 88). However, a study in the Chinese Han cohort observed that DQB1*05:02 and DRB1*16:02 alleles and DQB1*05:02-DRB1*16:02 haplotype were more frequent in pediatric-onset MOGAD patients and DQB1*05:02-DRB1*16:02 haplotype was associated with higher initial EDSS and relapse risk (89).

Role of infections in MOGAD

An infectious prodrome is commonly reported in MOGAD patients (37.5 to 70%) (7–10). An infectious prodrome could stimulate the underlying autoimmune processes by bystander activation, molecular mimicry, and epitope spreading. Infections could also disrupt peripheral tolerance by increasing costimulatory molecules and MHC-II expression on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) (90). This would lead to increased avidity of the interaction between APCs and self-reactive CD4+ T cells, which would otherwise go to anergy or apoptosis due to weak T cell stimulation.

Bystander activation of self-reactive B and T cells is one mechanism that could explain infectious prodrome commonly preceding attacks. In fact, pro-inflammatory cytokines that increase during infections, such as IL6 and TNF α , are also found to increase in CSF of MOGAD patients (38, 72, 73). In addition, Toll-Like receptor (TLR) activation caused by viruses could convert MOG-specific B cells into MOG-ab secreting plasmablasts (91). Separately, infections could directly or indirectly affect BBB as well (92, 93).



Since the COVID-19 breakout, multiple case studies reported COVID-19 infection preceding MOGAD onset (94, 95). The median time between COVID-19 to MOGAD diagnosis was 6 days (range: -7 to 45 days), while in a few cases, MOGAD diagnosis preceded or was concomitant with COVID-19 (94, 95). Further studies will show if the MOGAD incidence rate has increased after the pandemic.

Anti-MOG IgG

The serum level of MOG IgG is an essential diagnostic and clinical biomarker. There is no consensus cut-off value for a diagnostic titer, which changes from center center (35). Autoantibodies detected MOGAD to in patients are of IgG1 type (96). MOG IgM levels do not correlate with anti-MOG IgG levels and could provide false positive results (96, 97). Persistent MOG-IgG positivity is associated with increased relapse risk (9). In monophasic MOGAD, MOG-IgG titers decrease over time, whereas in relapsing MOGAD, MOG-IgG titers tend to stay high (98).

Paired serum and CSF MOG-IgG positivity is found in more than half (56%) of the MOGAD patients (99). Some MOGAD patients are MOG-IgG seronegative and CSF positive, and CSF-restricted MOG-IgG may not always coexist with OCB positivity or elevated IgG index in the CSF (71). Therefore, in a strong clinical context (such as seronegative NMOSD or ADEM), CSF testing could help with MOGAD diagnosis (99, 100). Furthermore, CSF MOG-IgG positivity is associated with worse outcomes (99). Detection of MOG-IgG antibodies in the serum by a live cellbased assay is the gold standard for diagnosis (35). Patient serum samples are incubated with live HEK293 cells expressing fulllength MOG protein on their membrane, followed by secondary staining with anti-human IgG (H+L or Fc) or IgG1 (Fc) secondary antibodies. The analysis is done either by immune fluorescence microscopy or flow cytometry (35, 36).

Antibody response to MOG could be monoclonal or polyclonal. Mayer et al. tested the human MOG IgG binding pattern for seven different mutant human MOG proteins and mouse MOG proteins (101). They found that half of the patients showed decreased binding only to P42S (Proline to Serine) mutant, whereas about a third of the patients showed decreased binding to multiple mutants. These results indicated that an epitope containing P42 (proline at position 42) is the primary target of MOG IgG in half of the patients, and many patients have a polyclonal antibody response. Interestingly, immunoreactive epitopes are temporally stable, and there is no evidence of intramolecular epitope spreading (96, 101).

Pathogenicity of patient-derived purified MOG-IgGs was shown by Spadaro et al. by intrathecally injecting human MOG IgGs in an adoptive transfer EAE model (induced by MBP or MOGspecific T cells transferred to Lewis rats) (102). In this experiment MOG-antibodies were not pathogenic alone, and provided a second hit when interacted with T cells. When coupled with MBPspecific T cells, which are alone encephalitogenic and disrupt BBB, MOG abs mediated MS type II demyelination, characterized by complement (C9neo) and immunoglobulin deposition. On the other hand, when coupled with MOG-specific T cells, which do not induce clinical disease by themselves, MOG abs enhanced T cell recruitment and activation. The source of the MOG abs in the CNS is mostly peripheral, although sometimes intrathecal production might be possible (41, 71, 74, 100). Through an impaired BBB (provided by activated T cells, infections, coexisting autoantibodies etc.), these MOG antibodies could enter the perivascular spaces and CNS, where they could contribute to disease pathology.

Suggested mechanisms for MOG antibody pathogenicity include opsonization of MOG, complement activation, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), and anti-MOG abinduced intracellular signaling cascade (3, 50, 84, 103, 104).

MOG-IgG opsonizes MOG and could activate myeloid antigen-presenting cells (APC) through Fc receptor binding (84, 104). These activated APCs can further stimulate MOGspecific T cells in the periphery or in perivascular spaces in the CNS (56).

The role of complement activation in MOGAD is still debated. IgG1 is a complement-fixing subtype, and there is evidence of C9neo deposition in the MOGAD histopathology (50). Furthermore, oligodendrocytes express relatively less surface complement regulatory proteins such as CR1, MCP, and HRF, making them more vulnerable to complement activation (106). In a multinational cohort study, serum-activated complement proteins (C3a, C5a, and Bb) were elevated in MOGAD patients compared to control groups (107). However, there was no correlation between activated complement protein levels in the serum and the clinical presentation (relapsing vs. monophasic or ADEM vs. ON vs. TM). On the other hand, complement activation in MOGAD is to a lesser extent, compared to AQP4 NMO (108). This might be because MOG-IgG has a bivalent binding pattern (both Fab subunits should bind to MOG), whereas AQP4-IgG has a monovalent binding pattern, which activates complement more efficiently (103, 108-111). This also indicates that anticomplement therapy may not be as successful as in NMO for MOGAD.

Another pathogenic mechanism is ADCC. Brilot et al. showed that MOG IgG binding to MOG induces Natural Killer cell-mediated killing of MOG-expressing cells *in vitro* (104).

MOG abs also have a direct downstream effect on oligodendrocytes (3). When Mog ab binds alone, it activates MAPK and AKT survival pathways and increases intracellular calcium levels, whereas cross-linking of the MOG abs leads to the activation of stress-related pathways and reduced cytoskeletal integrity.

B cells

B cells are part of the disease pathogenesis through the production of MOG antibodies; however, there is much to discover about their contribution to the MOGAD. For example, anti-CD20 therapy is relatively ineffective in most patients. In a large cohort, rituximab decreased the relapse rate by 37%, and only 33% of patients remained relapse-free after 2 years (105). Failure of B cell depleting therapy suggests alternative pathogenic mechanisms in these patients, which could be used for enhanced T cell activation and MOG ab production. Serum MOG ab levels and circulating MOG-specific B cells did not correlate in MOGAD patients, raising

the possibility of different MOG ab sources (for example, CD20plasma cells) (91).

CXCR4 expression is increased in CD19+ B cells in PBMCs from MOGAD patients (112). Interestingly, CXCL12 (also called stromal cell-derived factor 1), a ligand of CXCR4, is also found increased in the CSF (compared to MOG ab- demyelination) and serum (compared to MS) of MOGAD patients (73, 113). As, CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is related with chemotaxis, increased CXCL12 could contribute immune cell infiltration (such as T, B, and monocytes) in the MOGAD (114). B cells are present in the lesions of MOGAD, although fewer than T cells (56). However, the source of MOG-IgGs is presumably the periphery, except in some patients with intrathecal production or CSF-restricted positivity (41, 50, 56, 71, 74, 100). Therefore, it is not certain if B cells cross BBB during MOGAD relapses and contribute to lesion formation within the CNS.

Altered regulatory B cells in MOGAD are reported in a study (115). Decreased Breg/Bmem ratio and decreased IL10+ CD19+ cell frequency are accompanied by increased circulating follicular T helper cells in MOGAD (115).

T cells

T cells play a key role in MOGAD pathogenesis. First, MOG abs are IgG1 phenotype, so follicular T helper cells are essential for MOG-specific B cell class switching (96). Second, MOG abs are not pathogenic alone unless they are coupled with MOG-specific or encephalitogenic T cells (102). CD4+ T cells are the dominant inflammatory cell type in the lesions and have an essential role in disrupting BBB and creating a proinflammatory environment (50, 116).

MOG-specific T cells are first activated peripherally (90). Due to inadequate tolerance toward MOG, MOG-specific T cells could be present in the blood. Infections, molecular mimicry, and MOG peptide presentation could facilitate the activation of self-reactive T cells. Then, peripherally activated CD4+ T cells cross BBB and are reactivated by the MOG-laden APCs in the perivascular or subarachnoid spaces (56). This reactivation is followed by endothelial and microglial activation, allowing more T cells and autoantibodies to enter the perivascular space (90, 116).

The strength of T cell reactivation and chemokines in the CNS can facilitate parenchymal infiltration of the CD4+ T cells (90, 117, 118). Anti-MOG abs help APCs (such as macrophages) to present native MOG protein to T effector cells and enhance the reactivation of effector T cells in the CNS (84, 119). T cells could be reactive to different epitopes of MOG protein. Most immunogenic MOG epitopes were previously determined in EAE models and tested MS patients (120, 121). These include p35–55, p119–130, p181–195, and p186–200. The following study tested nine different MOG peptides (p1–20, p35–55, p64–80, p81–96, p99–107, p119–130, p181–195, p186–200, and p205–214) in MOGAD, AQP4+ NMO, MS, and HC, but didn't find a difference of MOG-specific T cells between any groups based on CFSE assay (122). This could be explained by the lack of central tolerance and, therefore, the presence of MOG reactive T cells even in HC. Another

possibility is that native full MOG protein is required for an optimal T-cell response.

Th17 responses are higher in MOGAD patients. Our lab used different MOG peptides for *in vitro* stimulation and showed MOGAD patients had more IL17+ and IL17+IFN γ + (double positive) central memory cells than healthy controls (123). When relapse and remission MOGAD samples were compared, there was an increased proportion of IL17+, IFN γ +, and IL17+IFN γ + CMCs after stimulation with several individual MOG peptides in MOGAD patients at the time of relapse (123). Later, Horellou et al. stimulated PBMCs with recombinant full-length MOG protein (rhMOG) and observed increased IL17+ CD4T cells in non-relapsing (monophasic) MOGAD patients upon rhMOG stimulation, but not in relapsing MOGAD or MS (124).

Tregs play an important role in peripheral immune tolerance. Horellou et al. reported an increased CD4+ Foxp3+ Treg population in the non-relapsing MOGAD group and decreased CD45RA-Foxp3+ Treg population in MOGAD relapsing group upon rhMOG stimulation (124). They hypothesized that this opposite response to MOG stimulation could contribute to the relapse mechanism. Besides, we don't know if Tregs are functional in MOGAD; however, inflammatory milieu (high IL6 and TNF) in MOGAD could render Tregs ineffective with suppressing (72, 113, 125).

Innate immune cells

Macrophage (CD68+) and granulocyte (hematoxylin-eosin) infiltration is reported in MOGAD lesions, especially in the perivascular demyelinating areas (50, 56). The presence of phagocytic macrophages indicates active demyelination, and MOG-laden macrophages could further activate T cells in the perivascular spaces (56).

IL-1 β and IL-12p70, monocyte or dendritic cell-related cytokines, are increased in the serum of MOGAD patients (126). IL-1 β levels were highest in the acute stage and lower in the chronic phase, indicating monocyte/macrophages play a role in the acute demyelinating stage (126). IL-1 β also affects the permeability of endothelial cells *in vitro* human BBB model (127).

In a recent study of three patients (1 MOGAD, 1 RRMS, and 1 Healthy control), single-cell RNA sequencing of PBMCs revealed changes in monocyte signature in MOGAD compared to RRMS or HC, however, a larger, age and sex-matched cohort is needed to confirm these findings (112).

The increased neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) in serum is also reported in MOGAD, with relapse samples having higher NLR values than the remission sample (128). This biomarker requires caution as many confounding factors, such as hospitalization and steroid treatment, could affect NLR.

Coexisting antibodies

Epitope spreading is not established in MOGAD, however, coexisting antibodies have been investigated. Kunchok et al. tested 17 neuronal IgGs in the CSF and serum of pediatric and adult

MOGAD patients and found NMDA-R-IgG is the most frequent coexisting autoantibody (4% in children and 7% in adults) (129). On the other hand, anti-Aqp4 IgG and anti-MOG IgG rarely coexist (0.06%) (130).

Serum-IgG from demyelinating animal models or patients could also affect BBB permeability by affecting pericyte function and lymphocyte adhesion molecule (LAM) expression on endothelial cells (131, 132). Interestingly, anti-GRP78 antibodies were reported to be commonly present in acute MOGAD patients (10/15, 67%) and caused BBB dysfunction through increased LAM expression in endothelial cells and NF- κ B activation (133).

In summary (Figure 2), MOGAD pathophysiology is driven by acute attacks during which T cells and MOG antibodies cross BBB. Initial activation of T cells in the periphery is followed by reactivation in the subarachnoid/perivascular spaces by MOGladen APCs and inflammatory CSF milieu, which enables T cells to infiltrate CNS parenchyma. CD4 T cells, unlike CD8 in MS, are the dominant T cell type found in lesion histology. Granulocytes, macrophages/microglia, and activated complement are also found in the lesions, which could contribute to demyelination during acute relapses. MOG antibodies potentially contribute to pathology by opsonizing MOG, complement activation, and antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity. Stimulation of peripheral MOGspecific B cells through TLR stimulation or T follicular helper cells might help B cells differentiate into MOG antibody-producing plasma cells in the peripheral blood.

Lesion topography in MOGAD

Different clinical presentations and lesion distribution seen in MOGAD is an intriguing topic. What is the difference between MOG-IgG-related optic neuritis, transverse myelitis, and tumefactive lesions in ADEM?

Higher antibody levels in serum can favor spinal cord involvement against the optic nerve. Jarius et al. reported that MOG antibody titers are higher during relapses compared to remission, and relapses involving myelitis have higher titers of MOG antibodies compared to isolated optic neuritis (48).

Expression levels of MOG protein across different parts of the CNS could contribute to differential lesion involvement. For example, Bettelli et al. reported that 2D2 TCR transgenic mice, which have MOG-specific T cell receptors, developed spontaneous autoimmune optic neuritis but not spinal cord lesions, which they associated with higher MOG expression in the optic nerve compared to the spinal cord (134). Comparative expression of human MOG protein in optic nerve and CNS has not been reported, although MOG expression in different parts of the human brain and spinal cord has been variably reported in the human protein atlas (80, 135). Consequently, we do not know if the most common lesion location (optic nerve in adults, brain in children) relates to MOG expression level in those tissues.

The Th17:Th1 ratio could affect lesion topography. PBMCs from MS patients were stimulated with MOG or MBP proteins, and higher Th17:Th1 upon MOG (recombinant human) stimulation was associated with spinal cord involvement (136). Interestingly, epitope-specific T cell functional avidity help determine Th17:Th1

ratio in MOG peptide-induced EAE model (C3HeB/Fej mice, p35– 55, p79–90, p97–114 MOG peptides) (137). So, maybe also in MOGAD, different epitope/TCR reactivity in T helper cells brings differential Th17:Th1 balance, affecting the lesion topography.

The quantitative relationship between inflammatory T cells and autoimmune antibodies could explain the size and structure difference of lesions in MOGAD (50, 138). Lassmann et al. tested this hypothesis with encephalitogenic T cells (MBP-specific) and MOG antibodies in an EAE model. Higher numbers of T cells in the presence of MOG abs induced an ADEM-like phenotype with ubiquitous perivenous demyelination all over the brain stem and spinal cord and partly in the brain. In contrast, low T cell and high MOG ab titer induced focal demyelinating plaques like in MS.

Biomarkers and therapeutic mechanisms

Potential biomarkers investigated with MOGAD are listed below (Table 2). First, MOG-IgG is both a diagnostical and prognosis biomarker. High titers are needed for MOGAD diagnosis, and seronegative conversion is associated with decreased relapse risk (9). Furthermore, relapsing MOGAD patients have higher MOG-IgG titer at remission compared to monophasic MOGAD (139). Treatments such as IVIG, Plasmapheresis, or FcRn blockers target pathogenic antibodies in the blood, including MOG-IgG. IVIG has been used commonly for maintenance treatment in MOGAD, and potential therapeutic mechanisms include increasing clearance of pathogenic antibodies by saturating neonatal FcR (FcRN) and blockade of activating Fc γ Rs (144). Similarly, anti-FcRn antibodies also increase the pathogenic ab clearance, and currently, rozanolixizumab, an anti-FcRn agent, is in phase 3 clinical trial for relapse prevention in MOGAD (NCT05063162).

Serum NfL (sNfL) level is a biomarker for axonal damage and correlates with relapse activity in MS. A recent study evaluated longitudinal sNfL values from 18 MOGAD patients and found that median sNfL levels at the onset are higher compared to agematched HC (140). Most follow-up sNfL values stayed stable or decreased over time, including relapse serum samples of 6 patients. In the following study, sNFL levels were not different between relapse and remission MOGAD samples (141). This observation supports that significant axonal damage happens in the first clinical attack (30, 140).

Increased MBP (CSF) and Tau levels (serum) in MOGAD suggest that there is myelin and oligodendrocyte damage (60, 141). Increased Tau levels in the relapse, but not sNFL, may support that the source of Tau could be damaged oligodendrocyte processes, not axons (141).

Serum GFAP levels are stable during relapses in MOGAD (141). This finding is compatible with the spared astrocytes seen in the biopsy. In NMOSD, astrocyte damage is pronounced and serum GFAP levels are increased during relapses (141). In MS, increased GFAP is seen with progressive disease (145).

IL6 and TNF α levels are increased during relapses in the CSF of MOGAD patients (43, 44). Recently, increased serum IL6 levels are also reported in MOGAD (113). Increased IL6 is associated with Th17 differentiation through IL6-STAT3 pathway and impaired BBB (142). Recently, a multinational study showed that IL6 receptor blockade with tocilizumab is therapeutically effective and safe in MOGAD and NMOSD (146). Increased TNF α , on the other hand, could also affect BBB permeability through

Potential biomarkers		MOGAD disease activity	Significance/implications	Therapeutic mechanism
MOG-IgG titer (9, 98, 139)	Serum	High titers required for diagnosis	Seronegative conversion indicates decreased relapse risk	FcRn blockers, IVIG, Plasmapheresis
NfL (140, 141)	Serum	Increased mostly in the first attack, then stay stable throughout the course	Significant axonal damage happens mostly in the first attack	
MBP (60)	CSF	Increased	Marker of demyelination	
GFAP (60, 141)	Serum	Stay stable during relapses	Spared astrocytes	
Tau (141)	Serum	Increased during relapses	Synthesized in axons and oligodendrocytes	
IL6 (72, 73, 113, 142)	CSF, serum	Increased in the CSF during relapses	Increased STAT3 activation could cause increased Th17	IL6 receptor blockers
			Impair BBB	
TNFα (42, 43, 143)	CSF	Increased in the CSF during relapses	May affect BBB through increased cell adhesion molecule expression (such as ICAM-1 and VCAM-1)	
A20/TNFAIP3 (123)	Serum	Decreased in the serum during relapses (individual level)	Increased NFKB activation	Steroids (increase)
	Intracellular		Steroid increase A20 expression in T cells	
N/L ratio blood (128)	Blood	Increased ratio during relapses	Could help differentiating relapse from pseudo-relapse	

TABLE 2 Biomarkers investigated with MOGAD.

leukocyte adhesion molecule expression such as ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 (143). Although, steroids may decrease TNF α synthesis, we do not have information about targeted therapies such as TNF receptor blocking, while few cases in the literature are diagnosed with MOGAD while on anti-TNF treatment due to preexisting other autoimmune diseases (147, 148).

We recently reported that A20, a negative regulator of the NF- κ B pathway, is decreased in the serum during relapses on an individual level (123). Interestingly, steroids increase A20 expression in CD4T cells. As well known, MOGAD patients are quite steroid-responsive, and it is difficult to taper steroids following relapses (149). In addition to inhibiting the NF- κ B pathway through A20, steroids improve BBB and decrease activation of T cells, thereby minimizing the migration of lymphocytes into the brain (150–152).

NLR is increased in MOGAD patients during relapse, supporting high inflammatory activity in the periphery (128). However, this biomarker should be utilized carefully as factors such as hospitalization and steroid treatment affect NLR.

Micro RNAs (miRNAs) have not been fully explored in MOGAD. Only, a study measured miR-17, miR-18a, miR-20a, and miR-92a-1 in PBMCs (12 MOGAD, 12 HC) *via* qPCR and found them increased in MOGAD (153). In the EAE model, miRNA-17 increased Th17 and miRNA-20a decreased Treg fraction (153, 154). Further miRNA screening studies (serum or PBMCs) are needed to confirm these miRNAs and identify other miRNAs.

Developing a peripheral immune tolerance against MOG is a promising therapeutic method. For example, intradermal MOG vaccination increased MOG-specific Tregs and improved clinical outcomes in the macaque EAE model (rhMOG induced) (155). More recently, Ugur Sahin et al. used an mRNA vaccine to induce tolerance in a mouse EAE model (C57BL/6 mice, MOG p35-55 induced) (156). This mRNA vaccine provided a selfantigen presentation in a non-inflammatory context, expanded MOG-specific Tregs, and increased expression of inhibitory molecules such as PD-1 and CTLA4. Furthermore, when the mRNA vaccine was administered on days 7 and 10 after immunization with MOG p35–55, the development of EAE was prevented, and administration after the EAE onset alleviated the symptoms.

Discussion

Frequent infectious prodrome and high IL6/IL17 associated cytokine-chemokine signature are important components of MOGAD (113). Within this inflammatory milieu in the peripheral blood, MOG-specific T cells, especially CD4+, are activated through bystander activation, molecular mimicry, or maybe MOG peptide presentation in CNS-draining lymph nodes. Peripherally activated T cells further open blood-brain barrier through reactivation in the perivascular spaces, allowing autoantibodies, complement, and more immune cells to enter to perivascular spaces and CNS (90, 116). In addition to CD4+ T cells, granulocytes, macrophages/microglia, and activated complement are also found in the lesions contributing to demyelination (50, 56).

In addition to being diagnostical and prognostic biomarker, MOG antibodies potentially contribute to pathology by opsonizing MOG, complement activation, and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. MOG antibodies enhance T cell-mediated inflammation in the CNS, however, MOG antibodies alone are not pathogenic (102). MOG-IgG is detected in the CSF of more than half of the MOGAD patients and associated with worse outcomes compared to CSF negative MOGAD patients (99). Since MOG antibodies require BBB dysfunction to enter CNS, a trigger involving T cell activation and BBB dysfunction is important for the onset.

BBB and blood-CSF barrier dysfunction in MOGAD is evidenced by contrast enhancing lesions and increased albumin quotient (32%) (10, 46). Increased pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL6, TNF α , IL-1 β , MCP-1) could also contribute to BBB dysfunction (72, 73, 113). Available treatments such as plasmapheresis, IVIG (or FcRn blockers), steroids, and IL6 receptor blockers may affect BBB directly or indirectly through decreasing inflammatory cytokines and coexisting autoantibodies in the plasma.

Neuroinflammatory biomarkers (such as MBP, sNFL, GFAP, Tau) in MOGAD support that most axonal damage happens in the initial attack, as evidenced by increased sNFL (140, 141). Demyelination associated with myelin and oligodendrocyte damage is evidenced by increased MBP (CSF) and Tau levels (serum, during relapse) [51, 135].

Understanding the autoimmune etiology of MOGAD will help us to identify biomarkers, predict prognosis, and find targeted therapies. For example, therapeutic mechanisms targeting IL6, MOG-IgG (FcRn blocking or IVIG), or improving peripheral tolerance (Treg-inducing MOG-vaccine) are new avenues that will benefit our patients.

Author contributions

The first draft of the manuscript was written by OC. All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript, contributed to the manuscript conception and design, read, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Peschl P, Bradl M, Hoftberger R, Berger T, Reindl M. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein: deciphering a target in inflammatory demyelinating diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:529. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00529

2. Brunner C, Lassmann H, Waehneldt TV, Matthieu JM, Linington C. Differential ultrastructural localization of myelin basic protein, myelin/oligodendroglial glycoprotein, and 2',3'-cyclic nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase in the CNS of adult rats. *J Neurochem.* (1989) 52:296–304. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1989.tb10930.x

3. Marta CB, Montano MB, Taylor CM, Taylor AL, Bansal R, Pfeiffer SE. Signaling cascades activated upon antibody cross-linking of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein: potential implications for multiple sclerosis. *J Biol Chem.* (2005) 280:8985–93. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M413174200

4. Johns TG, Bernard CC. The structure and function of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. J Neurochem. (1999) 72:1–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1999.0720001.x

5. Marignier R, Hacohen Y, Cobo-Calvo A. Myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Lancet Neurol.* (2021) 20:762–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00218-0

6. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Wildemann B, Kuempfel T, Ringelstein M, Geis C, et al. Contrasting disease patterns in seropositive and seronegative neuromyelitis optica: a multicentre study of 175 patients. *J Neuroinflamm*. (2012) 9:14. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-14

7. Nakajima H, Motomura M, Tanaka K, Fujikawa A, Nakata R, Maeda Y, et al. Antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in idiopathic optic neuritis. *BMJ Open.* (2015) 5:e007766. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-007766

 Ramanathan S, Reddel SW, Henderson A, Parratt JDE, Barnett M, Gatt PN, et al. Antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in bilateral and recurrent optic neuritis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2014) 1:e40. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000040

9. López-Chiriboga AS, Majed M, Fryer J, Dubey D, McKeon A, Flanagan EP, et al. Association of MOG-IgG serostatus with relapse after acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and proposed diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated disorders. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:1355–63. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1814

10. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 2: Epidemiology, clinical presentation, radiological and laboratory features, treatment responses, and long-term outcome. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2016) 13:280. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0718-0

11. Jarius S, Wildemann B, Paul F. Neuromyelitis optica: clinical features, immunopathogenesis and treatment. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2014) 176:149–64. doi: 10.1111/cei.12271

12. Wingerchuk DM, Hogancamp WF, O'Brien PC, Weinshenker BG. The clinical course of neuromyelitis optica (Devic's syndrome). *Neurology*. (1999) 53:1107–114. doi: 10.1212/WNL.53.5.1107

13. Sibley WA, Bamford CR, Clark K. Clinical viral infections and multiple sclerosis. *Lancet.* (1985) 1:1313–5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(85)92801-6

14. Sibley WA, Foley JM. Infection and immunization in multiple sclerosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (1965) 122:457–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1965.tb20229.x

15. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Rollot F, Arrambide G, Deschamps R, Maillart E, et al. Clinical features and risk of relapse in children and adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 89:30–41. doi: 10.1002/ana.25909

16. Satukijchai C, Mariano R, Messina S, Sa M, Woodhall MR, Robertson NP, et al. Factors associated with relapse and treatment of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease in the United Kingdom. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2022) 5:e2142780. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.42780

17. Saguil A, Kane S, Farnell E. Multiple sclerosis: a primary care perspective. Am Fam Physician. (2014) 90:644-52.

18. Gorman MP, Healy BC, Polgar-Turcsanyi M, Chitnis T. Increased relapse rate in pediatric-onset compared with adult-onset multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol.* (2009) 66:54–9. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2008.505

19. Poupart J, Giovannelli J, Deschamps R, Audoin B, Ciron J, Maillart E, et al. Evaluation of efficacy and tolerability of first-line therapies in NMOSD. *Neurology.* (2020) 94:e1645–56. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000009245

20. Akaishi T, Misu T, Takahashi T, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, Fujimori J, et al. Progression pattern of neurological disability with respect to clinical attacks in anti-MOG antibody-associated disorders. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 351:577467. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577467

21. Akaishi T, Takahashi T, Misu T, Abe M, Ishii T, Fujimori J, et al. Progressive patterns of neurological disability in multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:13890. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-70919-w

22. Ciotti JR, Eby NS, Brier MR, Wu GF, Chahin S, Cross AH, et al. Central vein sign and other radiographic features distinguishing myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease from multiple sclerosis and aquaporin-4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica. *Mult Scler.* (2022) 28:49–60. doi: 10.1177/13524585211007086 23. Ramanathan S, Prelog K, Barnes EH, Tantsis EM, Reddel SW, Henderson APD, et al. Radiological differentiation of optic neuritis with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies, aquaporin-4 antibodies, and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:470–82. doi: 10.1177/1352458515593406

24. Dubey D, Pittock SJ, Krecke KN. Clinical, radiologic, and prognostic features of myelitis associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:301–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.4053

25. Sechi E, Cacciaguerra L, Chen JJ, Mariotto S, Fadda G, Dinoto A, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD): a review of clinical and MRI features, diagnosis, and management. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:885218. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.885218

26. Wang KY, Chetta J, Bains P, Balzer A, Lincoln J, Uribe T, et al. Spectrum of MRI brain lesion patterns in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: a pictorial review. *Br J Radiol.* (2018) 91:20170690. doi: 10.1259/bjr.20170690

27. Messina S, Mariano R, Roca-Fernandez A, Cavey A, Jurynczyk M, Leite MI, et al. Contrasting the brain imaging features of MOG-antibody disease, with AQP4-antibody NMOSD and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2022) 28:217–27. doi: 10.1177/13524585211018987

28. Mariano R, Messina S, Kumar K, Kuker W, Leite MI, Palace J. Comparison of clinical outcomes of transverse myelitis among adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody vs aquaporin-4 antibody disease. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2019) 2:e1912732. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.12732

29. Gadde JA, Wolf DS, Keller S, Gombolay GY. Rate of leptomeningeal enhancement in pediatric myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated encephalomyelitis. *J Child Neurol.* (2021) 36:1042–6. doi: 10.1177/08830738211025867

30. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Maillart E, Audoin B, Zephir H, Bourre B, et al. Clinical spectrum and prognostic value of CNS MOG autoimmunity in adults: the MOGADOR study. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1858–69. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000 05560

31. Ineichen BV, Tsagkas C, Absinta M, Reich DS. Leptomeningeal enhancement in multiple sclerosis and other neurological diseases: a systematic review and meta-Analysis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2022) 33:102939. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2022.102939

32. Sinnecker T, Schumacher S, Mueller K, Pache F, Dusek P, Harms L, et al. MRI phase changes in multiple sclerosis vs neuromyelitis optica lesions at 7T. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2016) 3:e259. doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000 00259

33. Maggi P, Sati P, Nair G, Cortese ICM, Jacobson S, Smith BR, et al. Paramagnetic rim lesions are specific to multiple sclerosis: an international multicenter 3T MRI study. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 88:1034–42. doi: 10.1002/ana.25877

34. Martire MS, Moiola L, Rocca MA, Filippi M, Absinta M. What is the potential of paramagnetic rim lesions as diagnostic indicators in multiple sclerosis? *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2022) 8:1–9. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2022.2143265

35. Reindl M, Schanda K, Woodhall M. International multicenter examination of MOG antibody assays. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:674. doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000674

36. Marchionatti A, Hansel G, Avila GU, Sato DK. Detection of MOG-IgG in clinical samples by live cell-based assays: performance of immunofluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:642272. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.642272

37. Levy M, Yeh EA, Hawkes CH, Lechner-Scott J, Giovannoni G. Implications of Low-Titer MOG Antibodies. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2022) 59:103746. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103746

38. Mader S, Kumpfel T, Meinl E. Novel insights into pathophysiology and therapeutic possibilities reveal further differences between AQP4-IgG- and MOG-IgG-associated diseases. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2020) 33:362–71. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000813

39. Di Pauli F, Berger T. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disorders: toward a new spectrum of inflammatory demyelinating CNS disorders? *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2753. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02753

40. Waters P, Fadda G, Woodhall M, O'Mahony J, Brown RA, Castro DA, et al. Serial anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody analyses and outcomes in children with demyelinating syndromes. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:82–93. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2940

41. Höftberger R, Sepulveda M, Armangue T, Blanco Y, Rostásy K, Calvo AC, et al. Antibodies to MOG and AQP4 in adults with neuromyelitis optica and suspected limited forms of the disease. *Mult Scler.* (2015) 21:866–74. doi: 10.1177/1352458514555785

42. Jarius S, Lechner C, Wendel EM, Baumann M, Breu M, Schimmel M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid findings in patients with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies. Part 1: Results from 163 lumbar punctures in 100 adult patients. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2020) 17:261. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01824-2

43. Jurynczyk M, Messina S, Woodhall MR, Raza N, Everett R, Roca-Fernandez A, et al. Clinical presentation and prognosis in MOG-antibody disease: a UK study. *Brain.* (2017) 140:3128–38. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx276

44. Tumani H, Deisenhammer F, Giovannoni G, Gold R, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, et al. Revised McDonald criteria: the persisting importance of cerebrospinal fluid analysis. *Ann Neurol.* (2011) 70:520–1. doi: 10.1002/ana.22508

45. Jarius S, Paul F, Franciotta D, Ruprecht K, Ringelstein M, Bergamaschi R, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid findings in aquaporin-4 antibody positive neuromyelitis optica: results from 211 lumbar punctures. *J Neurol Sci.* (2011) 306:82–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2011.03.038

46. Tanaka S, Hashimoto B, Izaki S, Oji S, Fukaura H, Nomura K. Clinical and immunological differences between MOG associated disease and anti AQP4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: blood-brain barrier breakdown and peripheral plasmablasts. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 41:102005. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102005

47. Diem L, Bürge M, Leichtle A, Hakim A, Chan A, Salmen A, et al. Pathological cerebrospinal fluid protein concentration and albumin quotient at relapse predicts short-term disability progression in multiple sclerosis: a retrospective single center observational study. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. (2020) 13:1756286420975909. doi: 10.1177/1756286420975909

48. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 1: frequency, syndrome specificity, influence of disease activity, long-term course, association with AQP4-IgG, and origin. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13:279. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0717-1

49. Lucchinetti CF, Guo Y, Popescu BF, Fujihara K, Itoyama Y, Misu T. The pathology of an autoimmune astrocytopathy: lessons learned from neuromyelitis optica. *Brain Pathol.* (2014) 24:83–97. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12099

50. Höftberger R, Guo Y, Flanagan EP, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Endmayr V, Hochmeister S, et al. The pathology of central nervous system inflammatory demyelinating disease accompanying myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2020) 139:875–92. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02132-y

51. Fischer MT, Wimmer I, Hoftberger R. Disease-specific molecular events in cortical multiple sclerosis lesions. *Brain.* (2013) 136:1799-815. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt110

52. Kawachi I, Lassmann H. Neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2017) 88:137– 45. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-313300

53. Popescu BFG, Parisi JE, Cabrera-Gómez JA, Newell K, Mandler RN, Pittock SJ, et al. Absence of cortical demyelination in neuromyelitis optica. *Neurology*. (2010) 75:2103–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318200d80c

54. Saji E, Arakawa M, Yanagawa K, Toyoshima Y, Yokoseki A, Okamoto K, et al. Cognitive impairment and cortical degeneration in neuromyelitis optica. *Ann Neurol.* (2013) 73:65–76. doi: 10.1002/ana.23721

55. Machado-Santos J, Saji E, Tröscher AR, Paunovic M, Liblau R, Gabriely G, et al. The compartmentalized inflammatory response in the multiple sclerosis brain is composed of tissue-resident CD8+ T lymphocytes and B cells. *Brain.* (2018) 141:2066–82. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy151

56. Takai Y, Misu T, Kaneko K, Chihara N, Narikawa K, Tsuchida S, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: an immunopathological study. *Brain.* (2020) 143:1431–46. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa102

57. Pohl M, Kawakami N, Kitic M. T cell-activation in neuromyelitis optica lesions plays a role in their formation. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2013) 1:85. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-1-85

58. Reich DS, Lucchinetti CF, Calabresi PA. Multiple Sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:169–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1401483

59. Abdelhak A, Huss A, Kassubek J, Tumani H, Otto M. Serum GFAP as a biomarker for disease severity in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:14798. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33158-8

60. Kaneko K, Sato DK, Nakashima I, Nishiyama S, Tanaka S, Marignier R, et al. Myelin injury without astrocytopathy in neuroinflammatory disorders with MOG antibodies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2016) 87:1257–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-312676

61. Schindler P, Grittner U, Oechtering J, Leppert D, Siebert N, Duchow AS, et al. Serum GFAP and NfL as disease severity and prognostic biomarkers in patients with aquaporin-4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2021) 18:105. doi: 10.1186/s12974-021-02138-7

62. Marignier R, Nicolle A, Watrin C, Touret M, Cavagna S, Varrin-Doyer M, et al. Oligodendrocytes are damaged by neuromyelitis optica immunoglobulin G *via* astrocyte injury. *Brain.* (2010) 133:2578–91. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq177

63. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD Panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023). doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

64. Pöllinger B, Krishnamoorthy G, Berer K, Lassmann H, Bösl MR, Dunn R, et al. Spontaneous relapsing-remitting EAE in the SJL/J mouse: MOG-reactive transgenic T cells recruit endogenous MOG-specific B cells. *J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:1303– 16. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090299 65. Collongues N, Chanson JB, Blanc F, Steibel J, Lam CD, Shabbir A, et al. The Brown Norway opticospinal model of demyelination: does it mimic multiple sclerosis or neuromyelitis optica? *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (2012) 30:487–97. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2012.05.004

66. Gold R, Linington C, Lassmann H. Understanding pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis via animal models: 70 years of merits and culprits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis research. *Brain*. (2006) 129(Pt 8):1953–71. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl075

67. Hamza MM, Alas BF, Huang C, Quon JC, Amezcua L, Robers MV, et al. Internuclear ophthalmoplegia characterizes multiple sclerosis rather than neuromyelitis optica spectrum disease. *J Neuroophthalmol.* (2022) 42:239–45. doi: 10.1097/WNO.00000000001534

68. Salama S, Khan M, Shanechi A, Levy M, Izbudak I, MRI. differences between MOG antibody disease and AQP4 NMOSD. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:1854–65. doi: 10.1177/1352458519893093

69. Absinta M, Vuolo L, Rao A. Gadolinium-based MRI characterization of leptomeningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2015) 85:18-28. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001587

70. Gasperi C, Salmen A, Antony G, Bayas A, Heesen C, Kümpfel T, et al. Association of intrathecal immunoglobulin g synthesis with disability worsening in multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:841–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.0905

71. Akaishi T, Takahashi T, Misu T, Kaneko K, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, et al. Difference in the source of anti-AQP4-IgG and anti-MOG-IgG antibodies in CSF in patients with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Neurology.* (2021) 97:e1–e12. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000012175

72. Kaneko K, Sato DK, Nakashima I, Ogawa R, Akaishi T, Takai Y, et al. CSF cytokine profile in MOG-IgG+ neurological disease is similar to AQP4-IgG+ NMOSD but distinct from MS: a cross-sectional study and potential therapeutic implications. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2018) 89:927–36. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2018-317969

73. Kothur K, Wienholt L, Tantsis EM. B Cell, Th17, and Neutrophil related cerebrospinal fluid cytokine/chemokines are elevated in MOG antibody associated demyelination. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0149411. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149411

74. Sabatino JJ Jr, Probstel AK, Zamvil SS. B cells in autoimmune and neurodegenerative central nervous system diseases. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2019) 20:728–45. doi: 10.1038/s41583-019-0233-2

75. Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:1032–9. doi: 10.1038/ni723

76. Weber MS, Derfuss T, Metz I, Bruck W. Defining distinct features of anti-MOG antibody associated central nervous system demyelination. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord.* (2018) 11:1756286418762083. doi: 10.1177/1756286418762083

77. Abbas AL, Pillai A. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology*. Tenth ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier (2021):337-363.

78. Gotter J, Brors B, Hergenhahn M, Kyewski B. Medullary epithelial cells of the human thymus express a highly diverse selection of tissue-specific genes colocalized in chromosomal clusters. *J Exp Med.* (2004) 199:155–66. doi: 10.1084/jem.20031677

79. Bruno R, Sabater L, Sospedra M, Ferrer-Francesch X, Escudero D, Martínez-Cáceres E, et al. Multiple sclerosis candidate autoantigens except myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein are transcribed in human thymus. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:2737–47. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(2002010)32:10<2737::AID-IMMU2737>3.0.CO;2-0

80. Human Protein Atlas proteinatlas.org.

81. Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science*. (2015) 347:1260419. doi: 10.1126/science.1260419

82. van Zwam M, Huizinga R, Melief MJ, Wierenga-Wolf AF, van Meurs M, Voerman JS, et al. Brain antigens in functionally distinct antigen-presenting cell populations in cervical lymph nodes in MS and EAE. *J Mol Med.* (2009) 87:273–86. doi: 10.1007/s00109-008-0421-4

83. Wildemann B, Jarius S, Franz J, Ruprecht K, Reindl M, Stadelmann C. MOGexpressing teratoma followed by MOG-IgG-positive optic neuritis. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2021) 141:127–31. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02236-5

84. Kinzel S, Lehmann-Horn K, Torke S. Myelin-reactive antibodies initiate T cellmediated CNS autoimmune disease by opsonization of endogenous antigen. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 132:43–58. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1559-8

85. Bogdanos DP, Smith H, Ma Y, Baum H, Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D, et al. study of molecular mimicry and immunological cross-reactivity between hepatitis B surface antigen and myelin mimics. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2005) 12:217–24. doi: 10.1080/17402520500285247

86. Guggenmos J, Schubart AS, Ogg S, Andersson M, Olsson T, Mather IH, et al. Antibody cross-reactivity between myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein and the milk protein butyrophilin in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:661–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.1.661

87. Bruijstens AL, Wong YYM, van Pelt DE, van der Linden PJE, Haasnoot GW, Hintzen RQ, et al. HLA association in MOG-IgG- and AQP4-IgG-related disorders

of the CNS in the Dutch population. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:702. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000702

88. Grant-Peters M, Dos Passos GR, Yeung HY, Jacob A, Huda S, Leite MI, et al. No strong HLA association with MOG antibody disease in the UK population. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2021) 8:1502–7. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51378

89. Sun X, Qiu W, Wang J, Wang S, Wang Y, Zhong X, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated disorders are associated with HLA subtypes in a Chinese paediatric-onset cohort. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2020) 91:733–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2019-322115

90. Goverman J. Autoimmune T cell responses in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol. (2009) 9:393-407. doi: 10.1038/nri2550

91. Winklmeier S, Schlüter M, Spadaro M, Thaler FS, Vural A, Gerhards R. Identification of circulating MOG-specific B cells in patients with MOG antibodies. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2019) 6:625. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000625

92. In: Anaya JM, Shoenfeld Y, Rojas-Villarraga A, Levy RA, Cervera R, eds. Autoimmunity: From Bench to Bedside. Colombia: Bogota (2013).

93. Chaudhuri JD. Blood brain barrier and infection. *Med Sci Monit*. (2000) 6:1213–22.

94. Johnsson M, Asztely F, Hejnebo S. SARS-CoV-2a trigger of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated disorder. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2022). doi: 10.1002/acn3.51609

95. Lotan I, Nishiyama S, Manzano GS, Lydston M, Levy M. COVID-19 and the risk of CNS demyelinating diseases: A systematic review. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:970383. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.970383

96. Tea F, Lopez JA, Ramanathan S, Merheb V, Lee FXZ, Zou A, et al. Characterization of the human myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody response in demyelination. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2019) 7:145. doi: 10.1186/s40478-019-0786-3

97. Waters P, Woodhall M, O'Connor KC, Reindl M, Lang B, Sato DK, et al. MOG cell-based assay detects non-MS patients with inflammatory neurologic disease. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2015) 2:e89. doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000 00089

98. Wendel EM, Thonke HS, Bertolini A, Baumann M, Blaschek A, Merkenschlager A, et al. Temporal dynamics of MOG antibodies in children with acquired demyelinating syndrome. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2022) 9:35. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000035

99. Carta S, Calvo ÁC, Armangué T, Saiz A, Lechner C, Rostásy K, et al. Significance of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in CSF: a retrospective multicenter study. *Neurology*. (2022) 3:10. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000020 1662

100. Kwon YN, Kim B, Kim J-S, Mo H, Choi K, Oh S-I, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-immunoglobulin G in the CSF: clinical implication of testing and association with disability. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2022) 9:1095. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001095

101. Mayer MC, Breithaupt C, Reindl M, Schanda K, Rostásy K, Berger T, et al. Distinction and temporal stability of conformational epitopes on myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein recognized by patients with different inflammatory central nervous system diseases. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:3594–604. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301296

102. Spadaro M, Winklmeier S, Beltrán E, Macrini C, Höftberger R, Schuh E, et al. Pathogenicity of human antibodies against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 84:315–28. doi: 10.1002/ana.25291

103. Macrini C, Gerhards R, Winklmeier S, Bergmann L, Mader S, Spadaro M, et al. Features of MOG required for recognition by patients with MOG antibody-associated disorders. *Brain.* (2021) 144:2375–89. doi: 10.1093/brain/awab105

104. Brilot F, Dale RC, Selter RC, Grummel V, Kalluri SR, Aslam M, et al. Antibodies to native myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in children with inflammatory demyelinating central nervous system disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 66:833–42. doi: 10.1002/ana.21916

105. Whittam DH, Cobo-Calvo A, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Pardo S, Gornall M, Cicconi S, et al. Treatment of MOG-IgG-associated disorder with rituximab: An international study of 121 patients. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2020) 44:102251. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102251

106. Scolding NJ, Morgan BP, Compston DA. The expression of complement regulatory proteins by adult human oligodendrocytes. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1998) 84:69–75. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(97)00241-5

107. Keller CW, Lopez JA, Wendel E-M, Ramanathan S, Gross CC, Klotz L, et al. Complement activation is a prominent feature of MOGAD. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 90:976–82. doi: 10.1002/ana.26226

108. Lerch M, Schanda K, Lafon E, Würzner R, Mariotto S, Dinoto A, et al. More efficient complement activation by anti-aquaporin-4 compared with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2023) 10:59. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000020059 109. Crane JM, Lam C, Rossi A, Gupta T, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Binding affinity and specificity of neuromyelitis optica autoantibodies to aquaporin-4 M1/M23 isoforms and orthogonal arrays. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:16516– 24. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.227298

110. Diebolder CA, Beurskens FJ, de Jong RN, Koning RI, Strumane K, Lindorfer MA, et al. Complement is activated by IgG hexamers assembled at the cell surface. *Science.* (2014) 343:1260-3. doi: 10.1126/science.1248943

111. Soltys J, Liu Y, Ritchie A, Wemlinger S, Schaller K, Schumann H, et al. Membrane assembly of aquaporin-4 autoantibodies regulates classical complement activation in neuromyelitis optica. *J Clin Invest.* (2019) 129:2000–13. doi: 10.1172/JCI122942

112. Liu J, Yang X, Pan J. Single-cell transcriptome profiling unravels distinct peripheral blood immune cell signatures of RRMS and MOG antibody-associated disease. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:807646. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.807646

113. Bauer A, Rudzki D, Berek K, Dinoto A, Lechner C, Wendel EM, et al. Increased peripheral inflammatory responses in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein associated disease and aquaporin-4 antibody positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:1037812. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1037812

114. Guyon A. CXCL12 chemokine and its receptors as major players in the interactions between immune and nervous systems. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2014) 8:65. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00065

115. Li X, Wang L, Zhou L, ZhangBao J, Miao MZ, Lu C, et al. The imbalance between regulatory and memory B cells accompanied by an increased number of circulating T-follicular helper cells in MOG-antibody-associated demyelination. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 36:101397. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.101397

116. Bradl M, Reindl M, Lassmann H. Mechanisms for lesion localization in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2018) 31:325-33. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000551

117. Kawakami N, Lassmann S, Li Z, Odoardi F, Ritter T, Ziemssen T, et al. The activation status of neuroantigen-specific T cells in the target organ determines the clinical outcome of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med.* (2004) 199:185–97. doi:10.1084/jem.20031064

118. Gimenez MA, Sim J, Archambault AS, Klein RS, Russell JH, A. tumor necrosis factor receptor 1-dependent conversation between central nervous system-specific T cells and the central nervous system is required for inflammatory infiltration of the spinal cord. *Am J Pathol.* (2006) 168:1200–9. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.050332

119. Flach AC, Litke T, Strauss J. Autoantibody-boosted T-cell reactivation in the target organ triggers manifestation of autoimmune CNS disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2016) 113:3323–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1519608113

120. Varrin-Doyer M, Shetty A, Spencer CM, Schulze-Topphoff U, Weber MS, Bernard CCA, et al. MOG transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains contain highly stimulatory T-cell epitopes in MS. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2014) 1:e20. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000020

121. Shetty A, Gupta SG, Varrin-Doyer M. Immunodominant T-cell epitopes of MOG reside in its transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains in EAE. *Neurol Neuroinflamm.* (2014) 1:e22. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000022

122. Hofer LS, Ramberger M, Gredler V, Pescoller AS, Rostásy K, Sospedra M, et al. Comparative analysis of T-Cell responses to aquaporin-4 and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in inflammatory demyelinating central nervous system diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:1188. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01188

123. Saxena S, Lokhande H, Gombolay G, Raheja R, Rooney T, Chitnis T. Identification of TNFAIP3 as relapse biomarker and potential therapeutic target for MOG antibody associated diseases. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:12405. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-69182-w

124. Horellou P, de Chalus A, Giorgi L. Regulatory T Cells Increase After rh-MOG stimulation in non-relapsing but decrease in relapsing MOG antibody-associated disease at onset in children. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:679770. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.679770

125. Korn T, Reddy J, Gao W. Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Med.* (2007) 13:423–31. doi: 10.1038/nm1564

126. Kwon YN, Kim B, Ahn S, Seo J, Kim SB, Yoon SS, et al. Serum level of IL-1beta in patients with inflammatory demyelinating disease: Marked upregulation in the early acute phase of MOG antibody associated disease (MOGAD). *J Neuroimmunol.* (2020) 348:577361. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577361

127. Wong D, Dorovini-Zis K, Vincent SR. Cytokines, nitric oxide, and cGMP modulate the permeability of an in vitro model of the human blood-brain barrier. *Exp Neurol.* (2004) 190:446–55. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.08.008

128. Benetou C, Berti F, Hemingway C, Hacohen Y, Lim M. Neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio correlates with disease activity in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disease (MOGAD) in children. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 45:102345. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102345

129. Kunchok A, Flanagan EP, Krecke KN. MOG-IgG1 and co-existence of neuronal autoantibodies. *Mult Scler*. (2021) 27:1175–86. doi: 10.1177/1352458520951046

130. Kunchok A, Chen JJ, McKeon A, Mills JR, Flanagan EP, Pittock SJ. Coexistence of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein and aquaporin-4 antibodies in adult and pediatric patients. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:257–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.3656

131. Török O, Schreiner B, Schaffenrath J, Tsai H-C, Maheshwari U, Stifter SA, et al. Pericytes regulate vascular immune homeostasis in the CNS. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2021) 118:7118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2016587118

132. Ulusoy C, Sekerdag E, Yilmaz V, Yilmaz AB, Atak D, Vural A, et al. Impact of autoimmune demyelinating brain disease sera on pericyte survival. *Noro Psikiyatr Ars.* (2021) 58:83–6. doi: 10.29399/npa.27350

133. Shimizu F, Ogawa R, Mizukami Y, Watanabe K, Hara K, Kadono C, et al. GRP78 antibodies are associated with blood-brain barrier breakdown in anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disorder. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2022) 9(1). doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000001038

134. Bettelli E, Pagany M, Weiner HL, Linington C, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T cell receptor transgenic mice develop spontaneous autoimmune optic neuritis. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 197:1073–81. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021603

135. Sjöstedt E, Zhong W, Fagerberg L, Karlsson M, Mitsios N, Adori C, et al. An atlas of the protein-coding genes in the human, pig, and mouse brain. *Science*. (2020) 367:5947. doi: 10.1126/science.aay5947

136. Johnson MC, Pierson ER, Spieker AJ. Distinct T cell signatures define subsets of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2016) 3:e278. doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000278

137. Stromnes IM, Cerretti LM, Liggitt D, Harris RA, Goverman JM. Differential regulation of central nervous system autoimmunity by T(H)1 and T(H)17 cells. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:337–42. doi: 10.1038/nm1715

138. Lassmann H, Brunner C, Bradl M, Linington C. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: the balance between encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and demyelinating antibodies determines size and structure of demyelinated lesions. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1988) 75:566–76. doi: 10.1007/BF00686201

139. Gastaldi M, Foiadelli T, Greco G, Scaranzin S, Rigoni E, Masciocchi S, et al. Prognostic relevance of quantitative and longitudinal MOG antibody testing in patients with MOGAD: a multicentre retrospective study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (. (2022). doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2022-330237

140. Mariotto S, Gastaldi M, Grazian L, Mancinelli C, Capra R, Marignier R, et al. NfL levels predominantly increase at disease onset in MOG-Abs-associated disorders. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 50:102833. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102833

141. Kim H, Lee E-J, Kim S, Choi L-K, Kim K, Kim HW, et al. Serum biomarkers in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2020) 7:708. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000 00708

142. Takeshita Y, Fujikawa S, Serizawa K, Fujisawa M, Matsuo K, Nemoto J, et al. New BBB model reveals That IL-6 Blockade suppressed the BBB disorder, preventing onset of NMOSD. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2021) 8:1076. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001076

143. O'Carroll SJ, Kho DT, Wiltshire R. Pro-inflammatory TNFalpha and IL-1beta differentially regulate the inflammatory phenotype of brain microvascular endothelial cells. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2015) 12:131. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0346-0

144. Nagelkerke SQ, Kuijpers TW. Immunomodulation by IVIg and the role of Fc-gamma receptors: classic mechanisms of action after all? *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:674. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00674

145. Barro C, Healy BC, Liu Y, Saxena S, Paul A, Polgar-Turcsanyi M, et al. Serum GFAP and NfL levels differentiate subsequent progression and disease activity in patients with progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2023) 10:52. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000020052

146. Ringelstein M, Ayzenberg I, Lindenblatt G. Interleukin-6 receptor blockade in treatment-refractory MOG-IgG-associated disease and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2022) 9:1100. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000001100

147. Okoye IS, Xu L, Walker J, Elahi S. The glucocorticoids prednisone and dexamethasone differentially modulate T cell function in response to anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 immune checkpoint blockade. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.* (2020) 69:1423–36. doi: 10.1007/s00262-020-02555-2

148. Redenbaugh V, Flanagan EP, Floris V, Zara P, Bhatti MT, Sanchez F, et al. Exposure to TNF inhibitors is rare at MOGAD presentation. *J Neurol Sci.* (2022) 432:120044. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2021.120044

149. Ramanathan S, Mohammad S, Tantsis E. Clinical course, therapeutic responses, and outcomes in relapsing MOG antibody-associated demyelination. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2018) 89:127–37. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316880

150. Gelati M, Corsini E, Dufour A. High-dose methylprednisolone reduces cytokine-induced adhesion molecules on human brain endothelium. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2000) 27:241–4. doi: 10.1017/S0317167100000883

151. Salvador E, Shityakov S, Forster C. Glucocorticoids and endothelial cell barrier function. *Cell Tissue Res.* (2014) 355:597–605. doi: 10.1007/s00441-013-1762-z

152. Van Laethem F, Baus E, Smyth LA, Andris F, Bex F, Urbain J, et al. Glucocorticoids attenuate T cell receptor signaling. *J Exp Med.* (2001) 193:803–14. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.7.803

153. Wang Y, Xie C, Song Y. miR-20a suppresses Treg differentiation by targeting Map3k9 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Transl Med.* (2021) 19:223. doi: 10.1186/s12967-021-02893-4

154. Liu SQ, Jiang S, Li C, Zhang B, Li QJ. miR-17-92 cluster targets phosphatase and tensin homology and Ikaros family Zinc Finger 4 to promote TH17-mediated inflammation. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:12446–56. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.550723

155. Fovet C-M, Stimmer L, Contreras V, Horellou P, Hubert A, Seddiki N, et al. Intradermal vaccination prevents anti-MOG autoimmune encephalomyelitis in macaques. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 47:492–505. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.08.052

156. Krienke C, Kolb L, Diken E. A noninflammatory mRNA vaccine for treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Science*. (2021) 371:145–53. doi: 10.1126/science.aay3638

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jorge Correale, Fundación Para la Lucha Contra las Enfermedades Neurológicas de la Infancia (FLENI), Argentina

REVIEWED BY

Mariano Marrodan, Fundación Para la Lucha Contra las Enfermedades Neurológicas de la Infancia (FLENI), Argentina Maria Celica Ysrraelit, Fundación Para la Lucha Contra las Enfermedades Neurológicas de la Infancia (FLENI), Argentina

*CORRESPONDENCE Lekha Pandit Manditmng@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 09 February 2023 ACCEPTED 30 March 2023 PUBLISHED 26 May 2023

CITATION

Malli C, Pandit L, D'Cunha A and Sudhir A (2023) *Helicobacter pylori* infection may influence prevalence and disease course in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disorder (MOGAD) similar to MS but not AQP4-IgG associated NMOSD. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1162248. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1162248

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Malli, Pandit, D'Cunha and Sudhir. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Helicobacter pylori infection may influence prevalence and disease course in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disorder (MOGAD) similar to MS but not AQP4-IgG associated NMOSD

Chaithra Malli[†], Lekha Pandit^{*†}, Anita D'Cunha and Akshatha Sudhir

Centre for Advanced Neurological Research, K.S Hegde Medical Academy, Nlitte University, Karnataka, India

Background: *Helicobacter pylori* (*Hp*) persists after colonizing the gut in childhood, and potentially regulates host immune system through this process. Earlier studies have shown that *Hp* infection in childhood, may protect against MS in later life. Such an association was not seen with AQP4-IgG positive NMOSD, while the association with MOGAD is unclear.

Objective: To evaluate frequency of *Hp IgG* among patients with MOGAD, MS, NMOSD and matched controls and its effect on disease course. To ascertain whether childhood socio economic factors were linked to prevalence of *Hp* infection.

Methods: In all, 99 patients diagnosed to have MOGAD, 99 AQP4 IgG+ NMOSD, 254MS and 243 matched controls were included. Patient demographics, diagnosis, age at disease onset, duration and the last recorded expanded disability status scale (EDSS) were obtained from our records. Socioeconomic and educational status was queried using a previously validated questionnaire. Serum *Hp*IgG was detected using ELISA kits (Vircell, Spain).

Result: Frequency of *Hp* IgG was significantly lower among MOGAD (28.3% vs 44%, p-0.007) and MS (21.2% vs 44%, p-0.0001) but not AQP4-IgG+ NMOSD patients (42.4% vs 44%, p-0.78) when compared to controls. Frequency of *Hp* IgG in MOGAD & MS patients combined (MOGAD-MS) was significantly lower than those with NMOSD (23.2% vs 42.4%, p- 0.0001). Seropositive patients with MOGAD- MS were older (p-0.001. OR -1.04, 95% CI- 1.01- 1.06) and had longer disease duration (p- 0.04, OR- 1.04, 95% CI- 1.002- 1.08) at time of testing. Educational status was lower among parents/caregivers of this study cohort (p- 0.001, OR -2.34, 95% CI- 1.48-3.69) who were *Hp* IgG+.

Conclusions: In developing countries *Hp* infection may be a significant environmental factor related to autoimmune demyelinating CNS disease. Our preliminary data suggests that *Hp* may exert a differential influence - a largely protective role for MS-MOGAD but not NMOSD and may influence disease onset and course. This differential response maybe related to immuno-pathological similarities between MOGAD and MS in contrast to NMOSD. Our study further underscores the role of *Hp* as a surrogate marker for poor gut hygiene in childhood and its association with later onset of autoimmune diseases.

KEYWORDS

Helicobacter pylori, environmental factor, MS, MOGAD, NMOSD

Introduction

Traditionally recognized as a human pathogen, Helicobacter pylori (Hp)is a gram-negative microaerophilic bacterium that colonizes the human gut in early childhood and persists most often for life (1). Infection may be acquired through oral-oral or faecal- oral transmission. Improving hygienic conditions and socio economic status has reduced Hp status in developed/industrialised nations. This declining trend was noted to be associated with an increase in autoimmune disorders in the developed world (2, 3) and supports the "hygiene hypothesis". The latter refers to the inverse relationship between infection and atopy that was first proposed by Strachan (4) in 1989. He observed an increased frequency of allergic rhinitis and atopic dermatitis among first born children who were less likely to have been exposed to infection compared to younger siblings. The term "hygiene hypothesis" coined in 2000 (5), laid emphasis on the broader environmental infection burden that showed a negative correlation between overall infection frequency and a substantial increase in frequency of allergic and autoimmune diseases, observed in industrialized countries. A variety of pathogens, parasites and commensal microorganism have been observed to protect against different autoimmune conditions and includes Hp (6).

Helicobacter pylori infection in childhood possibly contributes to the development of the immune system and may be protective against later onset of some autoimmune diseases such as atopy, allergy and MS. Despite high prevalence in the developing world, < 10% develop a chronic inflammatory state which leads to symptomatic gastroduodenal disease later in the life of the human host (7). This phase of hp infection is also associated with extragastric diseases including certain autoimmune disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease (8) and NMOSD (9, 10). Several studies have reported the protective role of Hp in MS, including from Japan (9, 10,) Iran (11), India (12) and Australia (13). There were two studies that failed to show this protective effect, one of which had included patients with opticospinal MS along with conventional MS (14). The other study had a poorly designed control arm (15, 16). Recently 2 meta analysis which included several new studies also concurred with the protective role of hp in MS (17, 18). As early as 2007, there were reports of a higher frequency of Hp among opticospinal form of MS (which in all probability was NMOSD) when compared to conventional MS patients (9, 14) This was confirmed by one of the authors (14) in a later study that incorporated AQP4-IgG assay that showed an association with NMOSD but not MS.

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disorders (MOGAD) have been recently discovered. Antibodies targeting MOG which is a surface expressed protein in myelin results in demyelination similar to MS (19) with which it also shares pathological similarity (20). The association of Hp with MOGAD has not been reported before. The present study explores the frequency of Hp in all three primary autoimmune demyelinating CNS disorders in a developing country where there is high Hp seroprevalence, to determine its possible association.

Materials and methods

Four hundred and fifty two patients, which included all 99 myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disorder (MOGAD) (21), all 99 aquaporin-4 antibody positive (AQP4 IgG+) NMOSD (22) and 254 consecutive patients with MS (23) from the Mangalore demyelinating disease registry [MANDDIR]were selected. Two hundred and forty three healthy volunteers matched by age and gender were included as controls for this study. Patient demographics, diagnosis, age at disease onset, duration and the last recorded expanded disability status scale (EDSS) was obtained from our data base. Socioeconomic and educational status (24) was queried using a previously validated questionnaire (12). Testing for serum Hp IgG was done using Vircell (Granada, Spain) ELISA kits as per manufacturer's instructions. Antibody index was determined (by dividing optical density values of samples by optical density for cut-off control samples, multiplied by 10). Antibody index was positive if >11, equivocal if between 9 -11 and negative if < 9. All equivocal results were retested and if found to remain equivocal reported as negative for Hp IgG. All patients were tested for both AQP4 IgG (25) and MOG IgG using "in house" cell based assays. This study was

approved by the institutional ethics committee and patients and healthy volunteers signed an informed consent form.

Statistics

Categorical variables were expressed in percentages and continuous variables as mean and standard deviations. Patients and controls were stratified by *Hp*serology. Frequency of *Hp* in different subtypes of demyelinating disorders were compared with matched controls and then amongst each sub group using Chisquare test. Univariate analysis was performed on following variables namely age at onset, disease duration, gender, EDSS, socio economic and educational state and area of living. Independent variables that showed a p value of ≤ 0.20 were included in the multivariate analysis. A p value < 0.05 was taken to be significant. Strength of association was expressed as odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI). Analysis was performed on SPSS statistical software program (IBM, USA).

Results

Clinical and Demographic features are listed in Table 1. Patients in the MS group were predominantly of the relapsing remitting (RR). The non MS group comprised of equal number of AQP4IgG + NMOSD and MOGAD patients. Patients were predominantly female among MS and NMOSD patients. All patients had comparable age and disease duration at time of *Hp* serology testing.

Frequency of Hp IgG serology

Helicobacter pylori antibody frequency was significantly low in MOGAD (28.3% vs 44% p- 0.007) and MS patients (21.2% vs 44%, p- 0.0001) when compared to matched controls. Comparison of NMOSD patients did not show a difference from controls (42.4% vs 44% p=0.78). Seroprevalence of Hp was similar between MS and MOGAD (p- 0.16) while it was significantly different for both subtypes when compared to NMOSD (Supplementary Table 1).

Hp serological prevalence and disease association

For determining association with potential disease modifying variables, MOGAD and MS patients were combined together (MOGAD-MS) and analysed after stratification based on Hp serology. In univariate analysis (Supplementary Table 2), age at disease onset was significantly higher in seropositive patients (p-0.001, OR- 1.03, 95% CI -1.01-1.05) who were also less educated (p-0.009, OR-1.99, 95% CI -1.18- 3.36). In multivariate analysis- age at disease onset (p-0.001, OR-1.04, 95% CI- 1.01-1.06), duration of disease (p-0.04, OR-1.04, 95%CI- 1.002- 1.08) and educational status (p-0.02, OR- 2.12, 95% CI- 1.11-4.06) were significant association after controlling for gender, disability measured by EDSS, socioeconomic status and area of living (Supplementary Table 3). Among NMOSD patients, seropositive patients showed a trend for greater disability (p- 0.08, OR-1.14, 95%CI - 0.97-1.33) compared to seronegative patients. Lower socioeconomic status was significantly associated with Hp seropositivity (p=0.01, OR-3.83, 95% CI - 1.31 -11.23). Age of disease onset did not differ between the groups. Though statistically insignificant, our data suggested that seropositive patients may have had an early disease onset. Multivariate analysis did not show any variable to be significant (data not shown).

Hp serology and association with socioeconomic and educational status

We combined all patients and controls, to determine whether there were commonalities among those harbouring Hp in our study cohort. In univariate analysis a significant number of seropositive patients had low educational levels(p- 0.001, OR-2.3, 95% CI 1.57-3.38) and lived in rural areas(p- 0.002, OR 1.79, 95% CI – 1.23-2.61). After adjusting for other variables, (Tables 2, 3) multivariate analysis showed that educational background of care givers and patients (p- 0.001, OR -2.34, 95% CI - 1.48-3.69)was a significant determinant that differentiated seropositive patients and controls from their seronegative counterparts.

		MS (254)		Non MS disc	Healthy control	
	RRMS (174)	SPMS (73)	PPMS (7)	AQP4-lgG+ (99)	MOGAD (99)	243
Gender (Female)	126(72.4%)	44(60.3%%)	5(71.4%)	90(90.9%)	44(44.4%)	149(61.3%)
Age (Mean ± SD)	35.18 ± 10.9	45.3 ± 11.36	45.7 ± 10.0	41.6 ± 12.6	33.06 ± 14.5	35.2 ± 11.23
Disease Duration (Mean ± SD)	8.58 ± 5.63	13.2 ± 6.13	11.7 ± 10.54	10.9 ± 7.2	6.81 ± 5.84	-
EDSS (Mean ± SD)	1.46 ± 0.97	5.41 ± 2.42	6.0 ± 3.0	4.27 ± 3.28	1.68 ± 2.02	_
HpIgG +	35 (64.8%)	16(29.6%)	3(5.6%)	42 (42.4%)	28(28.3%)	107(44.03%)

TABLE 1 Clinical and demographic features.

HpIgG +, Helicobacter pylori antibody positive; EDSS, Expanded disability status scale; RRMS, relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis; SPMS, secondary progressive MS; PPMS, primary progressive MS, AQP4-IgG += Aquaporin-4 antibody positive, MOGAD= myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disease.

TABLE 2 Association of socioeconomic status and hpylori status among the study cohort.

	Hp+	Hp -	p value	Odds ratio	95%Cl				
Gender									
Male	77(33.3%)	159(34.3%)	0.801	0.95	0.68-1.34				
Female	154(66.6%)	305(65.7%)							
Education	Education								
Basic education	115(68.8%)	197(51%)	0.001	2.3	1.57-3.38				
Graduation and above	52(31.2%)	189(49%)							
Socioeconomic status									
Low	81(46.8%)	167(42.6%)	0.35	1.18	0.82-1.69				
High	92(53.2%)	225(57.4%)							
Area of living									
Rural	109(64.5%)	192(50.3%)	0.002	1.79	1.23-2.61				
Urban	60(35.5%)	190(49.7%)							

(Univariate analysis for all cases and controls combined). Bold value indicates a significant p value of < 0.05.

Discussion

Helicobacter pylori prevalence remains high in developing nations and offers an opportunity to study its association with autoimmune demyelinating CNS disorders in these regions. This is particularly relevant for Indian MS patients in whom there were no definitive environmental associations detected that were traditionally associated among white populations. These include Epstein Barr virus infection (26), smoking (12), obesity (12) and Vitamin D deficiency (27). In an earlier study we reported that Hp infection was protective against MS patients (12) and we have currently replicated the results in a larger cohort. Seropositive patients with MS- MOGAD had a later age of disease onset in our study. A similar delay in disease onset was reported in Hp seropositive patients with bronchial asthma (28). Despite a longer duration of disease, seropositive patients had disability that was comparable with seronegative patients (Supplementary Table 2). Previously two case control studies have reported similar results in *Hp* seropositive MS patients (9, 11). Our study also suggests that *Hp* infection may confer a protective effect against MOGAD similar to MS. In contrast, Hp infection was detected to be frequent in NMOSD patients. An effect on disease onset and course could not be clearly determined in the latter.

The differential association of CNS autoimmune disorders with *Hp* infection may in part be due to the differential immune response

mounted by Hp in the human host (29). It is evident from human gut mucosal studies that Hp behaves as a commensal in early infection with a potential for pathogenicity in later life. Compared to adults, gastric mucosa in paediatric patients showed minimal inflammation, increased T regulatory (reg) cells and elevated levels of Treg related cytokines namely transforming growth factor- beta (TGF β) and interleukin 10 (IL10) (30). Limited studies in experimental allergic encephalitis (EAE) models demonstrated that prior infection with Hp induced Foxp3⁺Treg cell upregulation (31) and inhibition of MOG specific Th1 and Th17 responses (32). In adult patients, peptic ulceration was noted to be associated with reduced Tregs (33).

We have hypothesised possible mechanisms by which *Hp* infection could modulate the host immune response. Recent insights (34) suggest that *Hp* may possess inflammasone ligands that trigger caspase- 1 activation in dendritic cells lining the gastric lumen (Figure 1). Activation of the Toll like receptor2/Nucleotide-Binding Domain, Leucine-Rich-Containing Family, Pyrin Domain-Containing-3/Caspace1/Interleukin-18 axis (TLR2/NLRP3/CASP1/IL-18) axis may promote IL18 mediated Treg upregulation in the early phase of infection. The resulting immune tolerance may be the basis for protection against allergy and possibly autoimmune disorders such as MS and MOGAD. On the other hand, chronic gastritis is characterized by upregulated T helper 17(Th17) response, neutrophil recruitment and expression

TABLE 3 Association of socioeconomic status and *hpylori* status among the study cohort.

Variables	p value	Odds ratio	95%CI
Education status	0.001	2.34	1.48-3.69
Area of living	0.14	1.38	0.89-2.13
Socioeconomic status	0.37	0.82	0.54-1.25

(Multivariate analysis for all case and control combined). Bold value indicates a significant p value of < 0.05.



Proposed schematic of *Helicobacter pylori* mediated modulation of host immunity: In early phase of *Hp* infection(depicted on left of cartoon), *Hp*triggers Nucleotide-Binding Domain, Leucine-Rich–Containing Family, Pyrin Domain–Containing-3(NLRP3)inflammasome and caspace 1 activity in antigen presenting cell((APC)dendritic cells and macrophages) *via* Toll like receptor2 (TLR2) and Nuclear factor kappa B(NF-kB). Processing of pro interleukin -18 (pro-IL-18) and release of mature IL-18 results in T regulatory (Treg) cell differentiation and production of anti inflammatory cytokines – Interleukin-10 (IL10) and transforming growth factor Beta (TGF- β) with further expansion of Treg cells, resulting in immunosuppression. In the inflammatory state (depicted on right),APCafter processing *Hp*,signals naïve Tcells to differentiate (through release of cytokines - IL12 &IL17) into T helper (Th1 &Th17) cells and B cells are driven by interleukin 10 (IL10) to generate *Hp*-specific antibodies. Th17 induced neutrophil activating protein (NAP). Gut derived antibodies with potential for cross reaction with neural elements, *Hp* specific autoreactive T cells, neutrophils and *Hp* specific antibodies may target the central nervous system and induce/aggravate CNS inflammation. Created in BioRender.com.

of B cell activating factor (BAFF) in macrophages (35, 36). Chronic Hp infection has also been noted to be associated with gut dysbiosis and associated pro inflammatory state (37). We have postulated that pro- inflammatory state of chronic gastritis accompanied by gut dysbiosis may upregulate Th1/Th17 driven immune response initially in the gut and later systemically, facilitating the development of NMOSD in later life. The role of gastric derived antibodies that cross react with neural elements cannot be excluded. A previous publication from our group has shown this to be a potential pathway for disease pathogenesis in NMOSD (38). Helicobacter pylori related pro-inflammatory proteins particularly neutrophil activating protein (NAP) may contribute to AQP4 -IgG associated neural damage and severity of disease. In a recent study a significant correlation was noted between seropositive AQP4 IgG + NMOSD, Hp- NAP and disability (10). Bacterial virulence genes of Hp have not been studied in detail in the context of CNS autoimmune disorders. An association between Hp- cytotoxin associated gene A (cag-A) and autoimmune thyroiditis (39) and asthma was previously reported (28). Additionally the underlying genetic susceptibility for autoimmune disorders is also important.

We reviewed the relevance of hygiene hypothesis in a low middle income (LMIC) setting in relation to Hp infection and CNS autoimmune disorders. For this purpose,we analysed educational status and income levels of patients and primary caregivers in childhood in order to correlate poor sanitary conditions in childhood with early Hp colonization in the gut. Our study showed a significant association between lower

educational status among all cases and controls stratified by Hp serology. Our hospital caters to patients from lower economic status which may explain the lack of difference in economic status between the two groups.

In conclusion, in developing countries Hpylori may be a significant environmental factor associated with autoimmune demyelinating disorders. Our study was limited by the small number of study participants and the cross sectional nature of the analysis. It is not clear at this time whether analysis of risk/benefit has to be carefully undertaken before Hp eradication is contemplated, in populations harbouring high Hp seroprevalence. Therefor the role of H pylori in modulating human immunity and its protective/ deleterious effects need to be understood through larger studies that will additionally evaluate the role of Hp virulence genes.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Central Ethics Committe, Nitte University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

LP developed the concept, study design, analysis, interpretation, drafting and revising the work. CM contributed to study design, data acquisition, analysis, interpretation of results, manuscript drafting and revision. AD'C contributed to data acquisition, analysis and manuscript drafting. AS contributed to data collection, data analysis and interpretation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the help of Dr Neevan D'Souza PhD, Associate Professor of Biostatistics, KS Hegde Medical Academy, Nitte University for supervising our statistical analysis for this study.

References

1. Wroblewski LE, Peek RMJr., Wilson KT. *Helicobacter pylori* and gastric cancer: factors that modulate disease risk. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2010) 23:713–39. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00011-10

2. Arnold IC, Hitzler I, Muller A. The immunomodulatory properties of helicobacter pylori confer protection against allergic and chronic inflammatory disorders. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2012) 2:10. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2012.00010

3. Robinson K. *Helicobacter pylori*-mediated protection against extra-gastric immune and inflammatory disorders: the evidence and controversies. *Diseases* (2015) 3:34–55. doi: 10.3390/diseases3020034

4. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ (1989) 299:1259-60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.299.6710.1259

5. Strachan DP. Family size, infection and atopy: the first decade of the "hygiene hypothesis". *Thorax* (2000) 55:S2–S10. doi: 10.1136/thorax.55.suppl_1.S2

6. Bach JF. The hygiene hypothesis in autoimmunity: the role of pathogens and commensals. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 105:105–20. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.111

7. Atherton JC. The pathogenesis of *Helicobacter pylori*-induced gastro-duodenal diseases. *Annu Rev Pathol* (2006) 1:63–96. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pathol.1.110304.100125

8. Youssefi M, Tafaghodi M, Farsiani H, Ghazvini K, Keikha M. Helicobacter pylori infection and autoimmune diseases; is there an association with systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, autoimmune atrophy gastritis and autoimmune pancreatitis? a systematic review and meta-analysis study. J Microbiol Immunol Infect (2021) 54:359–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.08.011

9. Li W, Minohara M, Su JJ, Matsuoka T, Osoegawa M, Ishizu T, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection is a potential protective factor against conventional multiple sclerosis in the Japanese population. *J Neuroimmunol* (2007) 184:227–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.12.010

10. Li W, Minohara M, Piao H, Matsushita T, Masaki K, Matsuoka T, et al. Association of anti-helicobacter pylori neutrophil-activating protein antibody response with antiaquaporin-4 autoimmunity in Japanese patients with multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitisoptica. *Mult Scler* (2009) 12:1411–21. doi: 10.1177/1352458509348961

11. Mohebi N, Mamarabadi M, Mohgaddasi M. Relation of helicobacter pylori and multiple sclerosis in Iranian patients. *Neurol Int* (2013) 5:31–3. doi: 10.4081/ni.2013.e10

12. Malli C, Pandit L, D'Cunha A, Mustafa S. Environmental factors related to multiple sclerosis in Indian population. *PloS One* (2015) 10:1–7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124064

13. Pedrini MJ, Seewann A, Bennett KA, Wood AJ, James I, Burton J, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection as a protective factor against multiple sclerosis risk in females. *J NeurolNeurosurg Psychiatry* (2015) 86(6):603–7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2014-309495

14. Long Y, Gao C, Qiu W, Hu X, Shu Y, Peng F, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in neuromyelitisoptica and multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimmunomodul* (2013) 20:107–12. doi: 10.1159/000345838

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1162248/full#supplementary-material

15. Gavalas E, Kountouras J, Deretzi G, Boziki M, Grigoriadis N, Zavos C, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* and multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2007) 188:187–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2007.06.007

16. Gavalas E, Kountouras J, Boziki M, Zavos C, Polyzos SA, Vlachaki E, et al. Relationship between helicobacter pylori infection and multiplesclerosis. *Annof Gastroenterol* (2015) 28:353–56.

17. Jaruvongvanich V, Sanguankeo A, Jaruvongvanich S, Upala S. Assocation between helicobacter pylori infection and multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2016) 7:92–7. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2016.03.013

18. Yao G, Wang P, Luo XD, Yu TM, Harris RA, Zhang XM. Meta-analysis of association between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and multiple sclerosis. *Neurosci Lett* (2016) 620:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.03.037

19. Kaneko K. Myelin injury without astrocytopathy in neuroinflammatory disorders with MOG antibodies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2016) 87:1257–59. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-312676

20. Peschl P, Bradl M, Hoftberger R, Berger T, Reindl M. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein: deciphering a target in inflammatory demyelinating diseases. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:529. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00529

21. López-Chiriboga AS, Majed M, Fryer J, Dubey D, McKeon A, Flanagan EP, et al. Association of MOG-IgG serostatus with relapse after acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and proposed diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated disorders. *JAMA Neurol* (2018) 75:1355. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1814

22. Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, Cabre P, Carroll W, Chitnis T, et al. International panel for NMO diagnosis. international consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitisoptica spectrum disorders. *Neurology* (2015) 85:177–89. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000001729

23. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol* (2018) 17:162–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

24. Dudala SR, Reddy KAK, Prabhu GR. Prasad's socio-economic status classification- an update for 2014. Int J Res Health Sci (2014) 2:875-8.

25. Pandit L, Malli C, D'Cunha A, Sudhir A. Overcoming the challenges in diagnosis of AQP4-IgG positive neuromyelitisoptica spectrum disorders in resource poor settings using an indigenized and cost effective cell based assay. *J Neuroimmunol* (2021) 360:577706. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577706

26. Pandit L, Malli C, D'Cunha A, Shetty R, Singhal B. Association of Epstein-Barr virus infection with multiple sclerosis in India. *J Neurol Sci* (2013) 325:86–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2012.12.004

27. Pandit L, Ramagopalan SV, Malli C, D'Cunha A, Kunder R, Shetty R. Association of vitamin d and multiple sclerosis in India. *Mult Scler* (2013) 19:1592–6. doi: 10.1177/1352458513482375
28. Reibman J, Marmon M, Filner J, Fernandez-Beros ME, Rogers L, Perez-Perez GI, et al. Asthma is inversely associated with *Helicobacter pylori*.Status in urban population. *PloS One* (2008) 3:e4060. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004060

29. White JR, Winter JA, Robinson K. Differential inflammatory response to helicobacter pylori infection: aetiology and clinical outcomes. *J Inflammation* (2015) 8:137–47. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S64888

30. Harris PR, Wright SW, Serrano C, Riera F, Duarte I, Torres J, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis in children is associated with a regulatory T-cell response. *Gastroenterol* (2008) 134:491–99. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.11.006

31. Cook KW, Letley DP, Ingram RJ, Staples E, Skjoldmose H, Atherton JC, et al. CCL20/CCR6-mediated migration of regulatory T cells to the *Helicobacter pylori*-infected human gastric mucosa. *Gut* (2014) 63:1550–59. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-306253

32. Cook KW, Crooks J, O'Brien K, O'Brien K, Braitch M, Kareem H, et al. Helicobacter pylori infection reduces disease severity in an experimental model of multiple sclerosis. *Front Microbiol* (2015) 6:00052. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00052

33. Robinson K, Kenefeck R, Pidgeon EL, Shakib S, Patel S, Polson RJ, et al. *Helicobacter pylori*-induced peptic ulcer disease is associated with inadequate regulatory T cell responses. *Gut* (2008) 57:1375–85. doi: 10.1136/gut.2007.137539

34. Koch KN, Muller A. *Helicobacter pylori* activates the TLR2/NLRP3/caspase-1/ IL-18 axisto induce regulatory T-cells, establish persistent infection and promote tolerance to allergens. *Gut Microbes* (2015) 6:382-7. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1105427

35. Shi Y, Liu XF, Zhuang Y, Zhang JY, Liu T, Yin Z, et al. *Helicobacter pylori*induced Th17 responses modulate Th1 cell responses, benefit bacterial growth, and contribute to pathology in mice. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:5121–29. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0901115

36. Munari F, Fassan M, Capitani N, Codolo G, Vila-Caballer M, Pizzi M, et al. Cytokine BAFF released by *Helicobacter pylori*-infected macrophages triggers the Th17 response in human chronic gastritis. *J Immunol* (2014) 193:5584–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302865

37. Klymiuk I, Bilgilier C, Stadlmann A, Thannesberger J, Kastner MT, Högenauer C, et al. The human gastric microbiome is predicated upon infection with *Helicobacterpylori*". *Front Microbiol* (2017) 8:2508. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.02508

38. Wang Y, Zhu S, Xu Y, Wang X, Zhu Y. Interaction between gene a-positive helicobacter pylori and human leukocyte antigen II alleles increase the risk of graves disease in Chinese han population: an association study. *Gene* (2013) 531:84–9. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2013.07.069

39. Figura N, Di Cairano G, Moretti E, Iacoponi F, Santucci A, Bernardini G, et al. IHelicobacter pylori infection and autoimmune thyroid diseases: the role of virulent strains. *Antibiotics (Basel)* (2019) 9(1):12. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics9010012

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Jiraporn Jitprapaikulsan, Mahidol University, Thailand Metha Apiwattanakul, Neurological Institute of Thailand, Thailand

*CORRESPONDENCE Wen-Xiong Chen gzchcwx@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 09 February 2023 ACCEPTED 22 May 2023 PUBLISHED 02 June 2023

CITATION

Li X, Wu W, Hou C, Zeng Y, Wu W, Chen L, Liao Y, Zhu H, Tian Y, Peng B, Zheng K, Shi K, Li Y, Gao Y, Zhang Y, Lin H and Chen W-X (2023) Pediatric myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodyassociated disease in southern China: analysis of 93 cases. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1162647. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1162647

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Li, Wu, Hou, Zeng, Wu, Chen, Liao, Zhu, Tian, Peng, Zheng, Shi, Li, Gao, Zhang, Lin and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pediatric myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodyassociated disease in southern China: analysis of 93 cases

Xiaojing Li[†], Wenlin Wu[†], Chi Hou[†], Yiru Zeng[†], Wenxiao Wu, Lianfeng Chen, Yinting Liao, Haixia Zhu, Yang Tian, Bingwei Peng, Kelu Zheng, Kaili Shi, Ying Li, Yuanyuan Gao, Yani Zhang, Haisheng Lin and Wen-Xiong Chen^{*}

Department of Neurology, Guangzhou Women and Children's Medical Center, Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China

Objective: To study the clinical features of children diagnosed with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) in southern China.

Methods: Clinical data of children diagnosed with MOGAD from April 2014 to September 2021 were analyzed.

Results: A total of 93 children (M/F=45/48; median onset age=6.0 y) with MOGAD were involved. Seizures or limb paralysis was the most common onset or course symptom, respectively. The most common lesion locations in brain MRI, orbital MRI, and spinal cord MRI were basal ganglia and subcortical white matter, the orbital segment of the optic nerve, and the cervical segment, respectively. ADEM (58.10%) was the most common clinical phenotype. The relapse rate was 24.7%. Compared with the patients without relapse, relapsed patients had a longer interval from onset to diagnosis (median: 19 days VS 20 days) and higher MOG antibody titer at onset (median: 1:32 VS 1:100) with longer positively persistent (median: 3 months VS 24 months). All patients received IVMP plus IVIG at the acute phase, and 96.8% of patients achieved remission after one to three courses of treatment. MMF, monthly IVIG, and maintaining a low dose of oral prednisone were used alone or in combination as maintenance immunotherapy for relapsed patients and effectively reduced relapse. It transpired 41.9% of patients had neurological sequelae, with movement disorder being the most common. Compared with patients without sequelae, patients with sequelae had higher MOG antibody titer at onset (median: 1:32 VS 1:100) with longer persistence (median: 3 months VS 6 months) and higher disease relapse rate (14.8% VS 38.5%).

Conclusions: Results showed the following about pediatric MOGAD in southern China: the median onset age was 6.0 years, with no obvious sex distribution difference; seizure or limb paralysis, respectively, are the most common onset or course symptom; the lesions of basal ganglia, subcortical white matter, the orbital segment of the optic nerve, and cervical segment were commonly involved in the CNS MRI; ADEM was the most common clinical phenotype; most had a good response to immunotherapy; although the relapse rate was relatively high, MMF, monthly IVIG and a low dose of oral prednisone might effectively reduce relapse; neurological sequelae were common, and possibly associated with MOG antibody status and disease relapse.

KEYWORDS

MOG antibody associated disease (MOGAD), clinical features, relapse, prognosis, children

1 Introduction

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is found on the myelin surface, and acts as a cellular adhesive molecule to regulate the stability of the oligodendrocyte microtubule (1). In humans, the MOG only is expressed exclusively in the central nervous system (CNS) (2). Antibodies against MOG have been associated with a wide variety of clinical phenotypes, including acquired demyelinating syndromes such as optic neuritis, myelitis, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), neuromyelitis optical spectrum disorder (NMOSD), encephalitis, and aseptic meningitis. Its clinical features and immunopathological mechanisms are distinct from both classic multiple sclerosis (MS) and aquaporin-4 (AQP4)-IgG-positive NMOSD, and being considered as a disease entity in its own, i.e. MOG antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) (3, 4). MOGAD is commonly seen in pediatric patients and can overlap with other autoimmune diseases in the central and peripheral nervous systems (5, 6). In addition, some clinical features of MOGAD differ between children and adults (7). In the present article, we retrospectively investigated 93 pediatric MOGAD patients and focused on their clinical manifestation, radiological presentation, treatment response, relapse rate, maintenance immunotherapy, outcome, and prognosis.

2 Article types

Original Research.

Abbreviations: ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; AQP4, aquaporin-4; BAEP, brainstem auditory evoked potential; CNS, central nervous system; CRP, C-reactive protein; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; EDSS, expanded disability status scale; EEG, electroencephalogram; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; IQR, interquartile range; IVIG, intravenous immunoglobulin; IVMP, intravenous methylprednisolone; LETM, longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis; MMF, mycophenolate mofetil; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MOGAD, MOG antibodyassociated disease; MRI, magnetic resonance image; MS, multiple sclerosis; NMDAR, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders; OCB, oligoclonal bands; ON, optic neuritis; RTX, rituximab; VEP, visual evoked potential; WBC, white blood cell count.

3 Manuscript formatting

3.1 Subjects and methods

3.1.1 Subjects

Children diagnosed with MOGAD from April 2014 to September 2021 in the Department of Neurology of Guangzhou Women and Children's Medical Center were included. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Guangzhou Women and Children Medical Center (Approval No: [2019]40701). Clinical features including demographic data, prodromal events, clinical manifestations, laboratory investigations, neuroelectrophysiological data [electroencephalogram (EEG), visual evoked potential (VEP), brainstem auditory evoked potential (BAEP)], brain magnetic resonance image (MRI), treatment, outcomes, and prognosis were retrospectively reviewed. Neurological disability was assessed by an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). The EDSS was assessed before and after immunotherapy and at the end of followup, respectively.

3.1.2 Methods

3.1.2.1 Inclusion criteria

Patients were involved if they were younger than 18 years old and met the diagnostic criteria of MOGAD proposed by Jarius S et al., defined as 1) Monophasic or relapsing acute optic neuritis (ON), myelitis, brainstem encephalitis, or encephalitis, or any combination of these syndromes; 2) MRI or electrophysiological (VEP in patients with isolated ON) findings compatible with CNS demyelination; 3) Seropositivity for MOG-IgG as detected using a cell-based assay employing full-length human MOG as target antigen (8). Encephalitis was diagnosed according to international criteria for inflammatory or infectious encephalitis (9). ADEM was diagnosed according to the criteria proposed by the International Pediatric MS Study Group (IPMSSG) 2013 (10). Acquired demyelinating syndromes were classified according to IPMSSG criteria (10), but MS and NMOSD followed with the more recent criteria (9, 11). An uncategorized MOGAD clinical phenotype was defined as any MOGAD not falling into the clinical phenotype of ADEM, ON, NMOSD, and encephalitis. Anti-NMDAR encephalitis was diagnosed according to the criteria proposed by Graus et al. (12). Acute phases include initial attack at onset and subsequent

initial attack at relapses. Relapse was defined as the development of new neurological symptoms one month after the onset of the initial attack or, in the case of ADEM, three months after the onset of the last attack (6, 13, 14), except for the patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis which were defined as the new onset or symptomatic deterioration occurring after at least two months of improvement or stabilization (15).

3.1.2.2 Exclusion criteria

Patients were excluded if they presented poisoning, infectious, genetic, metabolic, vascular, or neoplastic central nervous system disease, or they failed to complete follow-up.

3.1.2.3 Antibodies test

MOG IgG and AQP4 IgG in serum were detected by the fixed cell-based assay commercial kit (Shaanxi Maiyuan Biotechnology Co., Ltd, Shanxi, China). Anti-NMDAR IgG in serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) were detected by fixed cell-based assay (EUROIMMUN, Lübeck, Germany). These antibodies test was performed by an independent medical agency during acute attacks or follow-up visits. These methods had been reported in detail in our previous study (7, 16). The cut-off value for being MOG positive in the commercial assay was a titer of 1:10.

3.1.3 Neuroelectrophysiological examination

Neuroelectrophysiological examinations including EEG, VEP, and BAEP were performed by neuro-electrophysiologist. The results of EEG, VEP, and BAEP were judged and interpreted by two neuro-electrophysiologists in our hospital. Abnormalities of EEG included: 1) abnormal frequency, amplitude, waveform, distribution, symmetry, stability, and reactivity of the basic rhythm; 2) The amplitude of each frequency band (α , β , θ , δ waves) and the correlation and distribution between the amplitudes are abnormal; 3) Physiological reactions disappear or abnormal reactions appear. 4) Increased slow activity (θ , δ waves); 5) The appearance of pathological waves. Abnormalities of BAEP included: 1) the incubation period of I wave, III wave, and V wave is prolonged; 2) the interphase period of I~ III, III~ V, and I ~ V wave is prolonged; 3) the waveform is poorly differentiated or disappears; 4) the single or bilateral I wave, III wave, and V wave all disappear. Abnormalities of VEP included: 1) the P100 wave disappearing; 2) the latency of the P100 wave prolonging with or without amplitude decrease.

3.1.3.1 Treatment

At the onset and for an acute attack, all patients received intravenous methylprednisolone (IVMP) with a high dose of 15-30 mg/kg/d for 3 to 5 days tailed to oral prednisone (2 mg/kg, reduced 2.5-5 mg every one to two weeks, tapered off within 3 to 6 months or more) in combination with intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) administered at 2 g/kg divided into 2-3 days. Patients responding poorly to the IVMP combination with IVIG treatment or severe attack received plasma exchange (n=3) or rituximab (RTX) (n=1) For relapsed patients, maintenance immunotherapy included maintaining mycophenolate (MMF) (0.25 g, once to three times a day), monthly IVIG (400 mg/kg), and maintained a low dose of oral prednisone (initial dose was 2 mg/kg/d, reduced 2.5-5 mg/d every two weeks until dose reached 5 mg/d, 5 mg/d for one to two months and reduced to 2.5 mg/d for two months, and then 2.5 mg every other day for two months) for about 10 to 12 months. The definition described the recovery from onset based on the EDSS score at six months after onset according to Demuth et al. (17) was: classifying the recovery as "complete" if the 6-month EDSS score reached the score before the attack, "partial" if recovery was incomplete, and "absent" if there was no improvement or clinical deterioration.

3.1.3.2 Follow-up

All patients were followed up either by a neurologist in the neurological clinic or by a neurologist *via* telephone contact.

3.1.3.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS IBM 20.0. Quantitative data with normal distribution was described by mean \pm SD, otherwise median with the interquartile range (IQR). The qualitative data was described by frequency and percentage. Person Chi-Square, Likelihood Ration, or Fish exact test was used to compare the qualitative data. The quantitative data with normal distribution were compared using the independent t-test, otherwise using Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis H test. The p-value <0.05 (two-sided) was considered significant. Figures were graphed using GraphPad Prism 7.01 (GraphPad Software Inc., US).

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Demographics

A total of 93 children (male: female 45:48) diagnosed with MOGAD came from different regions of southern China, including the provinces of Hunan, Jiangxi, Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan, and so on. All were of Han Chinese ethnicity. The median onset age was 6.0 years (IQR 4.0-8.0 years). There was no significant difference on onset age between boys and girls [Girl: 6.0 years (IQR 4.0-8.0 years)] VS Boy: 6.0 years (IQR 3.5-8.0 years)]. The median interval from onset to diagnosis was 19.0 days (IQR 12.0-28.5 days). There was no significant difference in the median interval from onset to diagnosis between boys and girls [Boy: 20.0 days (IQR 12.0-35.0 days) VS Girl: 19.0 days (IQR 12.0-25.0 days)].

3.2.2 Prodromal events

A slight majority – 51.6% (48/93) – of patients had prodromal events within one month before onset, among which 45.2% (42/93) were infectious events, with acute respiratory infection being the most common (n=40); other events included acute gastroenteritis (n=1) and urinary tract infection (n=1). Four patients had a history of vaccination about 2-14 days before the onset, including live-attenuated oral poliovirus vaccine (n=1), meningococcal meningitis vaccine (n=1), influenza vaccine (n=1), and Streptococcus pneumonia vaccine (n=1). Two patients suffered a head fall before onset. Their head CT scanning showed no abnormality and needed no further treatment.

3.2.3 Neurological symptoms

The most common initial neurological symptom at onset was seizure (22.6%, 21/93), followed by headache (18.3%, 17/93), limb paralysis (17.2%, 16/93), and visual deficits (15.1%, 14/93). The less common initial neurological symptoms included ataxia (9.7%, 9/ 93), bowel and bladder dysfunction (2.2%, 2/93), speech disorder (2.2%, 2/93), and sensor dysfunction (1.1%, 1/93). While during the whole course, the most common neurological symptoms were limbs paralysis (47.3%, 44/93), followed by seizure (43.0%, 40/93), headache (40.9%, 38/93), visual deficits (31.2%, 29/93), ataxia (29.0%, 27/93), speech disorder (18.3%, 17/93), bowel and bladder dysfunction (15.1%, 14/93), and cranial nerve palsy (10.8%, 10/93). The less common neurological symptoms included respiratory failure due to brainstem involvement (5.4%, 5/93), sensor dysfunction (4.3%, 4/93), and dysphagia (4.3%, 4/93). Bilateral visual deficits were more common than unilateral (20.4% VS 10.8%). Other common symptoms included fever (50.5%, 47/93) and vomiting (29.0%, 27/93).

3.2.4 Laboratory investigation outcome 3.2.4.1 MOG antibody test result

All patients underwent serum MOG antibody tests at onset and acute attack. At the onset, the medium MOG antibody titer was 1:32 (IQR 1:32-1:100). Meanwhile, the serum AQP4 antibody was negative in all patients. At follow-up, patients underwent a MOG antibody test at least on the first, second, and third follow-up per patient every three months after discharge. The median duration of persisting MOG antibody positive was six months (IQR 3-6 months), ranging from 2 to 36 months (Figure 1A).

3.2.4.2 Co-existing autoantibodies

Forty-six patients underwent CSF anti-NMDAR antibody tests, and 23.9% (11/46) of them were co-positive for anti-NMDAR antibodies. Seven among these eleven patients have been reported in our previous study (16).

3.2.4.3 CSF test result

All patients underwent CSF examination through lumbar puncture at the onset. The median CSF white blood cell count (WBC) at the first lumbar puncture was 40.0×10^6 /L (IQR 10.0- 89.5×10^6 /L), ranging from 1 to 790×10^6 /L, and in which the lymphocyte was dominant. CSF pleocytosis was seen in 72.0% (67/93) of patients. The glucose and chloride levels of CSF were normal. The median protein level in CSF was 0.37 g/L (IQR 0.26-0.50 g/L) and ranged from 0.15 to 2.44 g/L. CSF protein was raised in 47.3% (44/93) of patients. Positive oligoclonal bands (OCBs) was seen in 10.8% (10/93) of patients, including positive in both CSF and serum seen in 8.6% (8/93) of patients and only positive in CSF seen in 2.2% (2/93).

3.2.5 Neuroimaging examination

MRIs were performed for clinical purposes either at acute neurological presentation or at follow-up. All patients underwent brain, orbital, and spinal MRI at onset, and 97.8% (91/93) were abnormal. Meanwhile 39.8% (37/93) of patients showed gadolinium enhancement lesions. In brain MRI, the basal ganglia and subcortical white matter were the common lesion locations, observed in 45.2% (42/ 93) of patients (Figures 2A, C). While cortical gray matter, cerebellum, brainstem, and deep white matter were preferentially involved (Figure 2D). However, periventricular white matter, corpus callosum, and leptomeninges were the less frequently involved locations (more details in Table 1, Figures 2B, G). Nearly three-quarters (72.0%, 67/93) of patients had large (diameter >2 cm) lesions with unclear boundaries in brain MRI, among which three patients had a tumefactive demyelinating lesion (Figure 2E), and two patients had a leukodystrophy-like demyelinating lesion (Figure 2F). It was also found 19.4% (18/93) of patients had small subcortical patchy lesions with unclear boundaries in brain MRI (Figure 2A). In orbital MRI, 19.4% (18/93) of patients were abnormal with optic nerve swelling and gadolinium enhancement (Figure 2H). Abnormal Orbital MRI in unilateral was seen in 38.9% (7/18) of patients, and bilateral was seen



Serum MOG antibody during the disease course. (A) Numbers of patients with different duration of persisting MOG antibody positive; (B) Status of serum MOG antibody in recurrent patients. The red marks indicate that the serum MOG antibody turned negative during this relapse.



FIGURE 2

Example of MRI of MOGAD patients. (A) Large, poorly demarcated in subcortical white matter; (B) MS-like lesion around in periventricular; (C) Bilateral basal ganglia obvious edema, similar to EBV encephalitis; (D) Left occipital and temporal cortex edema with T2WI-hyperintense lesions along the gyrus; (E) Tumefactive lesion in left basal ganglia; (F) Symmetric white matter lesions around the posterior horn of lateral ventricle (leukodystrophy-like); (G) Local leptomeningeal gadolinium enhancement in T1WI; (H) bilateral optic edema; (I) longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis in the cervical and thoracic spinal cord.

TABLE 1 Clinical features of different clinical phenotypes in pediatric MOGAD.

	ADEM n=54	Encephalitis n=19	ON/NMOSD n=12	Uncategorized MOGAD n=8	Р
Onset age (median (IQR), years)	5.24(4.0)	8(6.5)	7.5(2.8)	3.8(4.1)	0.007
Clinical presentation					
Fever (N (%))	26(48.1)	15(78.9)	2(16.7)	4(50)	0.005
Headache (N (%))	19(35.2)	12(63.2)	5(41.7)	2(25)	0.142
Seizure (N (%))	18(33.3)	10(52.6)	1(8.3)	1(12.5)	0.029
Visual deficits (N (%))	14(25.9)	2(10.5)	12(100)	1(12.5)	< 0.001
Limbs paralysis (N (%))	28(51.9)	7(36.8)	2(16.7)	7(87.5)	0.007
Ataxia (N (%))	18(33.3)	3(15.8)	1(8.3)	5(62.5)	0.026
Laboratory investigation outcome					
MOG antibody titer (median (IQR))	32(68)	32(22)	100(288)	21(200)	0.018
Duration of persistent MOG antibody positive (median (IQR), months)	6(3)	3(3)	6(17)	5(15)	0.031
OCB (Positive, N (%))	5(9.3)	5(26.3)	0(0)	0(0)	0.041
Lesions in MRI					
Cortical gray matter (N (%))	26(48.1)	10(52.6)	1(8.3)	1(12.5)	0.008
Subcortical WM (N (%))	33(61.1)	4(21.1)	4(33.3)	1(12.5)	0.002
Deep WM (N (%))	25(46.3)	0(0)	1(8.3)	1(12.5)	< 0.001
Periventricular WM (N (%))		0(0)	2(16.7)	0(0)	0.043
Corpus callosum (N (%))		0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0.026
Basal ganglia (N (%))	33(61.1)	4(21.1)	2(16.7)	3(37.5)	0.002
Brainstem (N (%))	27(50)	0(0)	0(0)	2(25)	< 0.001
Cerebellum (N (%))	26(48.1)	0(0)	3(25)	3(37.5)	< 0.001

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

	ADEM n=54	Encephalitis n=19	ON/NMOSD n=12	Uncategorized MOGAD n=8	Р
Optic nerve (N (%))	7(13)	0(0)	11(91.7)	0(0)	< 0.001
Spinal cord (N (%))	14(25.9)	0(0)	4(33.3)	2(25)	0.013
Leptomeninges (N (%))	2(3.7)	7(36.8)	0(0)	0(0)	0.001
Lesion size (>2cm, N (%))	49(90.7)	9(47.4)	4(33.3)	5(62.5)	< 0.001
EDSS at onset (median (IQR))	6.5(2.5)	6(2.5)	5(0.8)	8(2)	0.011
EDSS after acute treatment (median (IQR))	2(1)	1(2)	2(0)	3.5(3.5)	0.009
Follow-up and prognosis					
Duration of follow-up (median (IQR), months)		7(10)	12(27)	8(44)	0.134
EDSS at last follow-up (median (IQR))		0(1)	1(1)	1(1.5)	0.134
Relapse (N (%))	12(22.2)	5(26.3)	2(16.7)	4(50)	0.084
Sequalae (N (%))	20(37)	6(31.6)	7(58.3)	6(75)	0.097

ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; IQR, interquartile range; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MRI, magnetic resonance image; MOGAD, MOG antibody-associated disease; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders; OCB, oligoclonal bands; ON, optic neuritis; WBC, white blood cell; WM, white matter.

in 61.1% (11/18). Within the optic nerves, lesions were divided into the five segments with the T2 hyperintensity: orbital (100%,18/18), intracanalicular (88.9%, 16/18), pre-chiasmal (22.2%, 4/18), chiasmal (11.1%, 2/18), and optic tracts (0.0%, 0/18), with the orbital segment being the most commonly involved. In spinal cord MRI, 21.5% (20/93) of patients were abnormal. Among them, 20.0% (4/20) presented with short myelitis (SM) and 80.0% (16/20) presented with longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (LETM), in which four patients showed cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spinal cord were involved. The cervical segment was the most frequently involved, followed by the thoracic segment, which mostly involved was the upper thorax (T1-T6) (Figure 2I). Four patients had lumbar spinal cord involvement, and two (10%, 2/20) had conus involvement (more details in Table 1). Meanwhile, 15.0% (3/20) of these patients had spinal nerve root gadolinium enhancement.

Analyzing MRI recovery, at the last follow-up, lesions completely absorbed were observed in 49.5% of patients (46/93), with mostly absorbed in 31.2% (29/93), partially absorbed in 14.0% (13/93), and partially absorbed with residual neuron necrosis in 5.4% (5/93). MRI lesions in the patients with ON/NMOSD or with

uncategorized MOGAD were more likely to be completely absorbed. In contrast, lesions in the patients with ADEM were more likely to be partially absorbed with residual neuron necrosis (Figure 3A). Moreover, lesions in patients achieving complete recovery were more likely to be completely absorbed. In contrast, lesions in patients absent of recovery were more likely to be partially absorbed with residual neuron necrosis (Figure 3B).

3.2.6 Neuroelectrophysiological examination

All patients underwent EEG examination during the acute stage at onset, and 64.5% (60/93) had abnormal EEG. The slow background activity seen in 88.3% (53/60) was the most common abnormality followed by focal epileptiform discharges seen in 25.0% (15/60). Eighty-one patients underwent BAEP examination during the acute stage at onset, and 18.5% (15/81) had abnormal BAEP including prolonged latency of the BAEP waves (n=12) and BAEP waves without differentiation (n=3). Eighty-four patients underwent VEP examination during the acute stage at onset, among which 40 patients younger than 6 years or could not cooperate with the pattern reversal VEP underwent the flash-



VEP, and the other 44 patients underwent the pattern reversal VEP. Another 20.0% (8/40) of patients had abnormal flash VEP and 63.6% (28/44) of patients had abnormal pattern reversal VEP. In flash-VEP, bilateral abnormalities were more common than unilateral (n=5 in bilateral VS n=3 in unilateral), so as in pattern reversal VEP (n=18 in bilateral VS n=10 in unilateral). The most common abnormality in flash-VEP was the latency of the P100 wave prolongation with amplitude decrease (50.0%, 4/8), likewise in pattern reversal VEP (39.3%).

3.2.7 Clinical phenotype

At the onset, ADEM (58.10%, 54/93) was the most common clinical phenotype, followed by isolated ON or NMOSD, encephalitis, and the uncategorized MOGAD (more details seen in Table 1). Patients with different clinical phenotypes varied in the onset age, clinical and radiological features, MOG antibody titer, duration of persisting MOG antibody positive, the ratio of OCB positive, and EDSS in acute stage at onset and after treatment (more details seen in Table 1).

3.2.8 Clinical course and relapse

After a median follow-up of 10 months (IQR 5.0-24.5), 23 (24.7%) of the 93 patients had a relapse and 34 episodes in total. The median follow-up duration for the 23 relapsed patients was 24 months (IQR 8.0-43.0), and the median relapse interval was 12.0 months (IQR 8.0-17.3). For 34 relapsed attacks in total, 79.4% (27/ 34) of attacks occurred with persistent MOG antibody positive, while only 20.6% (7/34) of attacks occurred when MOG antibody

turned negative (Figure 1B). Regarding the 34 episodes, ADEM was the most frequently relapsing clinical phenotype observed in 44.1% (15/34), followed by ON 20.6% (7/34), encephalitis 20.6% (7/34), brainstem encephalitis 8.8% (3/34) and other uncategorized MOGAD 5.9% (2/34). 23.5% (8/34) of relapsing episodes occurred post-infection, and 26.5% (9/34) happened during the steroid less than 5 mg/d or within three months after steroid withdrawal. Compared with patients without relapse, relapsed patients had a longer interval from onset to diagnosis, higher MOG antibody titer at onset, longer duration of persisting MOG antibody positive, higher EDSS at last follow-up, and a higher ratio of sequelae (more detail seen in Table 2).

3.2.9 Treatment and outcome

At the onset and for an acute attack at relapse, all patients received IVMP with a high dose of 15-30 mg/kg/d for 3 to 5 days tailed to oral prednisone (2 mg/kg, tapered off within 3 to 6 months or more) combination with IVIG administered at 2 g/kg divided over 2-3 days. The median course of IVMP and IVIG treatment was one (IQR 1-1). Most patients (73.1%, 68/93) achieved remission after only one IVMP and IVIG treatment course. However, 10.8% (10/93) of patients received one IVMP and two IVIG treatment courses and remission. Eight patients received two IVMP and two IVIG treatment courses to achieve remission. Three patients received three IVMP and three IVIG treatment courses to achieve remission. Three patients with severe attacks who responded poorly to IVMP and IVIG treatment received plasma exchanges followed by one course of IVMP and IVIG treatment, subsequent remission.

TABLE 2 Comparison of clinical features between patients with relapse and without relapse.

	Relapse-free n=70	Relapsed n=23	Р
Onset age (median (IQR), years)	5.7(4.5)	6(3.5)	0.170
Interval from onset to diagnosis (median (IQR), days)	19(14)	20(350)	0.008
Laboratory investigation outcome			
CSF WBC (median (IQR), x10 ⁶ /L)	40(80)	29(69)	0.786
CSF Protein (median (IQR), g/L)	0.36(0.21)	0.44(0.33)	0.705
MOG antibody titer (median (IQR))	32(90)	100(288)	0.000
Duration of persistent MOG antibody positive (median (IQR), months)	3(3)	24(12)	0.000
OCB (N (%))	8(11.4)	2(8.7)	1.000
Anti-NMDAR antibody (Positive, N (%))	7(10)	4(17.4)	0.456
MRI Lesion size (>2cm, N (%))	49(70)	18(78.3)	0.444
Gadolinium enhancement MRI lesions (N (%))	25(35.7)	12(52.2)	0.162
EDSS at onset (median (IQR))	6.5(3)	6(2.5)	0.676
EDSS after acute treatment (median (IQR))	2(1)	2(1)	0.115
Duration of follow-up (median (IQR), months)	10(17)	24(35)	0.002
EDSS at last follow-up (median (IQR))	0(1)	1(2)	0.009
Sequalae (N (%))	24(34.3)	15(65.2)	0.009

CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; IQR, interquartile range; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MRI, magnetic resonance image; NMDAR, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor; OCB, oligoclonal bands; WBC, white blood cell.

Moreover, one patient did not achieve remission after four IVMP and IVIG treatment courses and responded to rituximab treatment. According to the definition of recovery, 50.5% (47/93) of patients achieved complete recovery at the onset, 45.1% (42/93) achieved partial recovery, and 4.3% (4/93) were absent from recovery. Regarding the onset attack phenotype, patients with ON/NMOSD or ADEM were more likely to achieve complete recovery, while patients with the uncategorized MOGAD were more likely to be absent of recovery (Figure 4A). Regarding the onset age, patients aged 9 to 12 years were more likely to achieve complete recovery, while those under six years were more likely to be absent of recovery (Figure 4B). For all patients, the median duration of oral prednisone at the first attack was 6.0 months (IQR 4.0-7.0 months) and there was no significant difference in duration of oral prednisone between patients with or without relapse (6.0 months (IQR 4.0-8.0 months) VS 5 months (IQR4.0-6.3 months)), P=0.380).

3.2.10 Maintenance immunotherapy

For 23 relapsed patients, the initial maintenance immunotherapy included maintaining MMF (n=10), monthly IVIG (n=7), and maintaining a low dose of oral prednisone (n=6). Half (5/10) of patients who received MMF treatment became relapse-free with a median follow-up of 32 months (IQR 20.0-39.5 months), while the remaining 50% (5/10) of patients who still relapsed became relapse-free after receiving monthly IVIG treatment with a median follow up for 46 months (IQR 26-25 months). Of patients who received monthly IVIG treatment, 57.1% (4/7) became relapse-free with a median follow-up of 12 months (IQR 7.5-25 months), while the remaining 42.9% (3/7) of patients who still relapsed became relapse-free after receiving MMF treatment with follow-up of 12 months, 18 months, and 30 months respectively. Six relapsed patients received maintenance of a low dose of oral prednisolone for 12.2 ± 1.8 months, three patients became relapse-free with follow-ups of 12 months, 14 months, and 20 months respectively, while the remaining three patients who still relapsed became relapse-free after receiving monthly IVIG treatment with follow-up of 10 months, 15 months, and 18 months. There was no significant difference in the frequency of patients who became relapse-free in these three maintenance immunotherapies used alone (P=1.000).

3.2.11 Prognosis

No patients were lost to follow-up and the median duration of follow-up was 10 months (IQR 5.0-24.5 months). At the last follow-up, 41.9% (39/93) of patients had one to three items of neurological sequelae including movement disorder (25.6%, 10/39), mild visual impairment without affecting daily life (23.1%, 9/39), irritability (12.8%, 5/39), speech disturbance (12.8%, 5/39), learning difficulties (12.8%, 5/39), seizure (10.3%, 4/39), and headache and sleep disorder (7.7%, 3/39). Compared with patients without sequelae, patients with sequelae had higher MOG antibody titer at onset, longer duration of persisting MOG antibody positive, more IVMP treatment courses, higher EDSS after acute treatment and at last follow-up, higher relapse rate, and less ratio of thalamus involvement (more detail seen in Table 3).

3.3 Discussion

MOGAD is now recognized as a separate disease with distinct clinical and paraclinical features from other CNS inflammation diseases like AQP4 NMOSD and MS (4). Moreover, some clinical features of MOGAD differ between children and adults (7). In the present article, we reported the clinical features and investigation of 93 pediatric MOGAD patients with relatively large case numbers.

Demographically, our patients were similar to the previous studies from other regions in China and other countries in terms of the onset age (6.0 years VS 5.7-7 years) and balanced sex distribution (51.6% female to 49%-57%) (13, 18–22). According to the previous studies, the onset age of pediatric MOGAD patients was younger than patients with AQP4 NMOSD (9.8 years) and MS (14.4 years) (23). While the female ratio of pediatric MOGAD patients was lower than patients with AQP4 NMOSD (71.4%-92.9% female) (24–27) and MS (64% female) (25).

In our study, 51.6% of patients had prodromal events within one month before onset, among which more than 90% were acute respiratory infection and vaccination. Furthermore, the majority of positive pathogenic examination results were viral infections. The ratio of patients with prodromal events was nearly two times higher than that in Zhou et al.'s study, in which it was 26.9% (28). This difference may be caused by the different subjects involved. In our



TABLE 3 Comparison of clinical features between patients with sequelae and without sequelae.

	Non-sequelae n=39	With sequelae n=54	Р
Onset age (median (IQR), y)	6(3.5)	5(4)	0.111
Interval from onset to diagnosis (median (IQR), days)	19(13)	19(13)	0.330
Clinical presentation			
Seizure (N (%))	15(27.8)	15(38.5)	0.277
Dysphagia (N (%))	2(3.7)	2(5.1)	0.738
Unilateral visual deficits (N (%))	4(7.4)	6(15.4)	0.311
Bilateral visual deficits (N (%))	12(22.2)	7(17.9)	0.614
Limbs paralysis (N (%))	29(53.7)	15(38.5)	0.146
Bowel and bladder dysfunction (N (%))	9(16.7)	5(12.8)	0.609
Brainstem damage symptom (N (%))	3(5.6)	2(5.1)	1.000
Laboratory investigation outcome			I
CSF WBC (median (IQR), x10 ⁶ /L)	47(73)	30(89)	0.326
CSF Protein (median (IQR), g/L)	0.37(0.25)	0.34(0.27)	0.564
MOG antibody titer (median (IQR))	32(90)	100(79)	0.009
Duration of persistent MOG antibody positive (median (IQR), months)	3(3)	6(3)	0.010
Anti-NMDAR antibody (Positive, N (%))	8(14.8)	3(7.7)	0.384
Lesions in MRI			
Cortical gray matter (N (%))	21(38.9)	17(43.6)	0.649
Subcortical WM (N (%))	24(44.4)	18(46.2)	0.870
Deep WM (N (%))	15(27.8)	12(30.8)	0.754
Thalamus (N (%))	17(31.5)	5(12.8)	0.037
Basal ganglia (N (%))	23(42.6)	19(48.7)	0.558
Brainstem (N (%))	18(33.3)	11(28.2)	0.598
Optic nerve (N (%))	8(14.8)	10(25.6)	0.192
Spinal cord (N (%))	11(20.4)	9(23.1)	0.754
Lesion size (>2cm, N (%))	38(70.4)	29(74.4)	0.672
Gadolinium enhancement (N (%))	22(40.7)	15(38.5)	0.852
Acute treatment and outcome	·		
EDSS at onset (median (IQR))	6.5(3.5)	6(3)	0.778
EDSS after acute treatment (median (IQR))	1(2)	2(1)	<0.001
Follow-up	·		
EDSS at last follow-up (median (IQR))	0(0)	1(1)	<0.001

ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; CRP, C-reactive protein; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; IQR, interquartile range; IVIG, intravenous immunoglobulin; IVMP, intravenous methylprednisolone; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MRI, magnetic resonance image; NMDAR, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders; OCB, oligoclonal bands; ON, optic neuritis; WBC, white blood cell; WM, white matter.

study, we focused on pediatric patients, while pediatric and adult patients were involved in Zhou et al.'s study. Viral illnesses are prevalent among patients and healthy children at the age of MOGAD onset. Whether these infections are occasionally presented in MOGAD or play a role in the pathogenesis of pediatric MOGAD needs further investigation.

We found the top three neurological symptoms initially and during the whole course were seizure, headache, and limb paralysis.

Seizure, headache, and limb paralysis are common symptoms of ADEM and encephalitis. Consistent with the distribution of clinical phenotypes, the most frequent phenotype was ADEM (58.1%). The phenotype distribution in our study was similar to other pediatric MOGAD studies (6, 13, 29, 30). However, in contrast to the adult MOGAD, where ON and NMOSD were the common phenotypes, ADEM was less seen (7, 19). In our study, the visual deficit which was the core feature of ON initially and during the whole course was seen in 15.1% and 31.2%, respectively.

The radiological features of MOGAD spontaneously separated from MS but overlapped with AQP4 antibody disease (25). We found basal ganglia was commonly involved and corpus callosum was frequently involved, and the lesions of a majority of patients (72.0%) had unclear boundaries. However, corpus callosum involvement was commonly seen in MS, and basal ganglia and unclear boundaries lesions were uncommonly seen in MS (25). Furthermore, Jurycnzyk et al. found that T1 hypointense lesions, Dawson's fingers, and ovoid lesions adjacent to the body of lateral ventricles helped discriminate MS from MOGAD (25). The typical lesion locations of MOGAD, including subcortical white matter, cortical gray matter, cerebellum, brainstem, and deep white matter in our study and previous studies, were also common to see in AQP4 disease, except for basal ganglia and thalamus, which was less common in AQP4 disease (13, 25). In orbital MRI, we found bilateral optic nerve involvement was more common than unilateral (61.1% VS 38.9%), and the orbital and intracanalicular segments were frequently involved, similar to previous studies (3, 13, 31-34). In the spinal cord MRI, 21.5% (20/93) of patients were abnormal, with LETM (80.0%) commonly seen and the cervical segment the most frequently involved. LETM was commonly seen in MOGAD, similar to the AQP4 disease but different from MS, in which SM was more common (7, 13, 35-37). Both the thoracic and cervical spinal cord were frequently involved in MOGAD (7, 13, 38, 39). Conus involvement was also more commonly seen in MOGAD (reported in 11%-41%) than in AQP4 disease and MS (39). In our study, 10% of patients had conus involvement. Analyzing MRI recovery at the last follow-up, we found lesions completely absorbed or mostly absorbed in more than 80%, similar to previous studies, showed that resolution of lesions in MRI was more commonly seen in MOGAD, which was not typically seen in AQP4 disease (25, 39, 40). Moreover, we found that the MRI lesion recovery varied in different clinical phenotypes. Lesions in patients with ON/NMOSD or encephalitis were more likely to be completely absorbed. In contrast, lesions in patients with ADEM were more likely to be partially absorbed with residual neuron necrosis regarding the onset attack phenotype.

In our study, the relapse rate was 24.7%, with 34 episodes in total. The relapse rate of MOGAD in previous studies varied from 17.0% to about 95.1% (6, 13, 19, 20, 41–43). Though nearly onequarter of relapsed patients experience their first relapse within 12 months after onset, the median interval from onset to the first onset varies from 5 to 36 months, and the longest interval even can be longer than ten years (43). Therefore, the follow-up duration must be considered when referring to the relapse rate. In our relapsed patients, 26.5% of episodes occurred during the steroid less than 5 mg/d or within 3 months after steroid withdrawal. Previous studies also found that more than 30% to 40% of patients experienced relapses during steroids on a low dose or withdrawal (33, 40, 41). Moreover, we found that relapsed patients had a longer interval from onset to diagnosis, higher MOG antibody titer at onset, longer duration of persisting MOG positive, and most relapsed attacks occurred with persistent MOG antibody positive. Previous studies also found high MOG antibody titers at onset were associated with increased relapse risk. Furthermore, patients who became MOG antibody negative were less likely to develop relapses than those who remained seropositive (6, 44, 45). Besides, Juryńczyk et al. found persistence of MOG antibodies in children with ADEM phenotype appears to predict further relapses (30). A high titer of species-specific MOG antibodies may be critical for demyelinating effects in mouse and rat animal models (28, 46). These suggest that the MOG antibody might play a pathogenic role in MOGAD. Therefore, it is recommended to tailing to a low dose of oral prednisolone for six months after the initial attack, especially in MOG antibody-positive patients (30).

The treatment of MOGAD is adopted mainly from the AQP4 antibody NMOSD, and much remains unclear (30). IVMP, IVIG, or plasma exchange comprise the first-line immunotherapy for MOGAD. All patients in our study received IVMP and IVIG treatment. Most patients (73.1%, 68/93) achieved remission after only one IVMP and IVIG treatment course. We also found that another 21 patients who received more courses of IVMP or IVIG also achieved remission. Additional IVMP or IVIG treatment courses improve remission, similar to anti-NMDAR encephalitis patients (47). One patient responded poorly to IVIG, and IVMP achieved remission after RTX treatment. In Armangue et al.'s study, three patients also received RTX treatment at disease onset (6). Regarding the recovery from the onset attack, we found that patients with ON/NMOSD or ADEM were more likely to achieve complete recovery. In contrast, patients with uncategorized MOGAD were more likely to be absent from recovery. Furthermore, EDSS at onset and after acute treatment in patients with ON/NMOSD or ADEM tended to be lower than in patients with uncategorized MOGAD. It suggested that the difference in treatment response between the patients with ON/NMOSD or ADEM and uncategorized MOGAD might be caused by the difference in disease severity at the onset.

MMF, monthly IVIG, and maintenance of a low dose of oral prednisone were used as maintenance immunotherapy for relapsed patients in our study. About half of them became relapse-free with only one immunotherapy, and another half became relapse-free after combining with another immunotherapy. Similar to the previous study, MMF, monthly IVIG, and maintenance of a low dose of oral prednisone can decrease the relapse frequency in most patients with MOGAD (6, 34, 48, 49).

Our study found that 41.9% of patients had neurological sequelae with a movement disorder and mild visual impairment. Pediatric MOGAD patients had a better prognosis than adult patients (7). Moreover, visual impairment was common sequelae in pediatric and adult patients but more common in adult patients (7). Furthermore, we found that compared with patients without sequelae, patients with sequelae had higher MOG antibody titer at onset, longer duration of persisting MOG antibody positive, and higher relapse rate. As mentioned above, relapsed patients also had higher MOG antibody titer at onset and longer duration of persisting MOG antibody-positive than relapse-free patients. Jurynczyk et al. found that tailing steroids to a low dose and maintenance helped reduce relapse and improve the prognosis for patients with a severe attack at onset or relapse (30). However, it was unknown whether it could be beneficial for patients with high MOG antibody titer at onset, and the longer duration of persisting MOG antibody.

In summary, our study of 93 pediatric MOGAD patients had a relatively large sample size, with the largest sample size among Chinese pediatric MOGAD studies (7, 13, 20). The demographical features, neurological symptoms, and radiological features were similar to previous pediatric MOGAD studies (3, 6, 13, 18-22, 29-34). However, the ratio of patients who had prodromal events within one month before onset was obviously higher than previous study (28), among which more than 90% were acute respiratory infection and vaccination. Moreover, we found that MRI lesion recovery and recovery from the onset attack varied in different MOGAD clinical phenotypes. In addition, we found that additional IVMP or IVIG treatment courses could improve remission, similar to the anti-NMDAR encephalitis patients (47). The relapse rate was relatively high, and we found that relapsed patients had a longer interval from onset to diagnosis, higher MOG antibody titer at onset, longer duration of persisting MOG positive, and most relapsed attacks occurred with persistent MOG antibody positive. Furthermore, we found that compared with patients without sequelae, patients with sequelae also had higher MOG antibody titer at onset, longer duration of persisting MOG antibody positive, and higher relapse rate. Therefore, it is recommended to tailing to a low dose of oral prednisolone for six months after the initial attack, especially in MOG antibody-positive patients (30). However, it was unknown whether the above-said strategy could benefit those patients with high MOG antibody titer at onset, the longer duration of persisting MOG antibody, or both. Further work is required to identify the optimal therapeutic strategies to reduce relapse and minimize disability in MOGAD patients.

4 Conclusions

Of pediatric MOGAD in southern China: the median onset age was 6 years, with no obvious sex distribution difference; seizure or limb paralysis, respectively, being the most common onset or course symptom; the lesions of basal ganglia, subcortical white matter, the orbital segment of the optic nerve, and cervical segment were commonly involved in the central nerve system MRI; ADEM was the most common clinical phenotypes; most had a good response to immunotherapy; the relapse rate was relatively high maybe relation to delay diagnosis and MOG antibody titer status; MMF, monthly IVIG and maintaining a low dose of oral prednisone is effective in reducing relapse; neurological sequelae were not less seen and associated with MOG antibody status, as well as disease relapse.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Guangzhou Women and Children Medical Center. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

XL, WLW, CH and YRZ devised the study concept, handled the acquisition of data, and drafted the manuscript. WXW, LC and YTL aided in the acquisition of data. HZ, YT, BP, KZ, KS and YL analyzed and interpreted the data. YG, YNZ and HL interpreted of data. W-XC helped with study concept, study design, and critical revision of the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The present study was supported by Guangzhou Municipal Science and Technology Project (Grant No. 202201020619) and Guangzhou Health Technology General Guidance Project (Grant No.20211A011027).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Wynford-Thomas R, Jacob A, Tomassini V. Neurological update: MOG antibody disease. J Neurol (2019) 266(5):1280–6. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-9122-2

2. Vazquez Do Campo R, Stephens A, Marin Collazo IV, Rubin DI. MOG antibodies in combined central and peripheral demyelination syndromes. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2018) 5(6):e503. doi: 10.1212/nxi.000000000000503

3. Parrotta E, Kister I. The expanding clinical spectrum of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody associated disease in children and adults. *Front Neurol* (2020) 11:960. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00960

4. Höftberger R, Guo Y, Flanagan EP, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Endmayr V, Hochmeister S, et al. The pathology of central nervous system inflammatory demyelinating disease accompanying myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *Acta Neuropathol* (2020) 139(5):875–92. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02132-y

5. Rinaldi S, Davies A, Fehmi J, Beadnall HN, Wang J, Hardy TA, et al. Overlapping central and peripheral nervous system syndromes in MOG antibody-associated disorders. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2021) 8(1):e924. doi: 10.1212/nxi.00000000000924

6. Armangue T, Olivé-Cirera G, Martínez-Hernandez E, Sepulveda M, Ruiz-Garcia R, Muñoz-Batista M, et al. Associations of paediatric demyelinating and encephalitic syndromes with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a multicentre observational study. *Lancet Neurol* (2020) 19(3):234–46. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(19) 30488-0

7. Chen L, Chen C, Zhong X, Sun X, Zhu H, Li X, et al. Different features between pediatric-onset and adult-onset patients who are seropositive for MOG-IgG: a multicenter study in south China. *J Neuroimmunol* (2018) 321:83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.05.014

8. Jarius S, Paul F, Aktas O, Asgari N, Dale RC, de Seze J, et al. MOG encephalomyelitis: international recommendations on diagnosis and antibody testing. *J Neuroinflamm* (2018) 15(1):134. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1144-2

9. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol* (2018) 17(2):162–73. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(17)30470-2

10. Krupp LB, Tardieu M, Amato MP, Banwell B, Chitnis T, Dale RC, et al. International pediatric multiple sclerosis study group criteria for pediatric multiple sclerosis and immune-mediated central nervous system demyelinating disorders: revisions to the 2007 definitions. *Mult Scler* (2013) 19(10):1261–7. doi: 10.1177/ 1352458513484547

11. Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, Cabre P, Carroll W, Chitnis T, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurology* (2015) 85(2):177–89. doi: 10.1212/wnl.000000000001729

12. Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol* (2016) 15(4):391–404. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(15)00401-9

13. Li Z, Sun H, Fan X, Yuan P, Jiang Y, Wu P, et al. Clinical and prognostic analysis of autoantibody-associated CNS demyelinating disorders in children in southwest China. *Front Neurol* (2021) 12:642664. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.642664

14. Horellou P, de Chalus A, Giorgi L, Leroy C, Chrétien P, Hacein-Bey-Abina S, et al. Regulatory T cells increase after rh-MOG stimulation in non-relapsing but decrease in relapsing MOG antibody-associated disease at onset in children. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:679770. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.679770

15. Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangué T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* (2013) 12(2):157–65. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(12)70310-1

16. Hou C, Wu W, Tian Y, Zhang Y, Zhu H, Zeng Y, et al. Clinical analysis of anti-NMDAR encephalitis combined with MOG antibody in children. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2020) 42:102018. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102018

17. Demuth S, Guillaume M, Bourre B, Ciron J, Zephir H, Sirejacob Y, et al. Treatment regimens for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder attacks: a retrospective cohort study. *J Neuroinflamm* (2022) 19(1):62. doi: 10.1186/s12974-022-02420-2

18. Lui A, Chong J, Flanagan E, Abrams AW, Krysko KM, Arikan B, et al. High titers of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody are only observed close to clinical events in pediatrics. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2021) 56:103253. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103253

19. Jurynczyk M, Messina S, Woodhall MR, Raza N, Everett R, Roca-Fernandez A, et al. Clinical presentation and prognosis in MOG-antibody disease: a UK study. *Brain* (2017) 140(12):3128–38. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx276

20. Mao L, Yang L, Kessi M, He F, Zhang C, Wu L, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody diseases in children in central south China: clinical features, treatments, influencing factors, and outcomes. *Front Neurol* (2019) 10:868. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00868

21. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Rollot F, Arrambide G, Deschamps R, Maillart E, et al. Clinical features and risk of relapse in children and adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Ann Neurol* (2021) 89(1):30–41. doi: 10.1002/ana.25909

22. Jarius S, Lechner C, Wendel EM, Baumann M, Breu M, Schimmel M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid findings in patients with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies. part 2: results from 108 lumbar punctures in 80 pediatric patients. *J Neuroinflamm* (2020) 17(1):262. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01825-1

23. Fadda G, Armangue T, Hacohen Y, Chitnis T, Banwell B. Paediatric multiple sclerosis and antibody-associated demyelination: clinical, imaging, and biological considerations for diagnosis and care. *Lancet Neurol* (2021) 20(2):136–49. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(20)30432-4

24. Chen X, Ren Y, Zhang Y, Lu W. Comparative study of AQP4 antibody-related diseases and MOG antibody-related diseases among the population in hunan, China. *Acta Neurol Belg* (2021) 121(6):1649–59. doi: 10.1007/s13760-020-01455-7

25. Jurynczyk M, Geraldes R, Probert F, Woodhall MR, Waters P, Tackley G, et al. Distinct brain imaging characteristics of autoantibody-mediated CNS conditions and multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2017) 140(3):617–27. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww350

26. Juryńczyk M, Tackley G, Kong Y, Geraldes R, Matthews L, Woodhall M, et al. Brain lesion distribution criteria distinguish MS from AQP4-antibody NMOSD and MOG-antibody disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2017) 88(2):132–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-314005

27. O'Connell K, Hamilton-Shield A, Woodhall M, Messina S, Mariano R, Waters P, et al. Prevalence and incidence of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, aquaporin-4 antibody-positive NMOSD and MOG antibody-positive disease in Oxfordshire, UK. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2020) 91(10):1126–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-323158

28. Zhou Y, Jia X, Yang H, Chen C, Sun X, Peng L, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated demyelination: comparison between onset phenotypes. *Eur J Neurol* (2019) 26(1):175–83. doi: 10.1111/ene.13791

29. Yoo IH, Kim W, Shim Y, Choi SA, Kim SY, Kim H, et al. Clinical spectrum of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-immunoglobulin G-associated disease in Korean children. *J Clin Neurol* (2020) 16(3):461–9. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2020.16.3.461

30. Juryńczyk M, Jacob A, Fujihara K, Palace J. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody-associated disease: practical considerations. *Pract Neurol* (2019) 19 (3):187–95. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2017-001787

31. Dale RC, Tantsis EM, Merheb V, Kumaran RY, Sinmaz N, Pathmanandavel K, et al. Antibodies to MOG have a demyelination phenotype and affect oligodendrocyte cytoskeleton. *Neurol Neuroinmunol Neuroinflamm* (2014) 1(1):e12. doi: 10.1212/nxi.0000000000000012

32. Ramanathan S, Prelog K, Barnes EH, Tantsis EM, Reddel SW, Henderson AP, et al. Radiological differentiation of optic neuritis with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies, aquaporin-4 antibodies, and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (2016) 22(4):470–82. doi: 10.1177/1352458515593406

33. Sato DK, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Waters PJ, de Haidar Jorge FM, Takahashi T, et al. Distinction between MOG antibody-positive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology* (2014) 82(6):474–81. doi: 10.1212/ wnl.000000000000101

34. Ramanathan S, Mohammad S, Tantsis E, Nguyen TK, Merheb V, Fung VSC, et al. Clinical course, therapeutic responses and outcomes in relapsing MOG antibodyassociated demyelination. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2018) 89(2):127–37. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316880

35. Cross H, Sabiq F, Ackermans N, Mattar A, Au S, Woodhall M, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody positive patients in a multi-ethnic Canadian cohort. *Front Neurol* (2020) 11:525933. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.525933

36. Nagireddy RBR, Kumar A, Singh VK, Prasad R, Pathak A, Chaurasia RN, et al. Clinicoradiological comparative study of aquaporin-4-IgG seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) and MOG antibody associated disease (MOGAD): a prospective observational study and review of literature. *J Neuroimmunol* (2021) 361:577742. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577742

37. Cobo-Calvo Á, Ruiz A, D'Indy H, Poulat AL, Carneiro M, Philippe N, et al. MOG antibody-related disorders: common features and uncommon presentations. *J Neurol* (2017) 264(9):1945–55. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8583-z

38. Mariano R, Messina S, Roca-Fernandez A, Leite MI, Kong Y, Palace JA. Quantitative spinal cord MRI in MOG-antibody disease, neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2021) 144(1):198–212. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa347

39. Kitley J, Waters P, Woodhall M, Leite MI, Murchison A, George J, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders with aquaporin-4 and myelinoligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a comparative study. *JAMA Neurol* (2014) 71(3):276-83. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5857

40. Salama S, Khan M, Levy M, Izbudak I. Radiological characteristics of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2019) 29:15–22. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.01.021

41. Epstein SE, Levin S, Onomichi K, Langston C, Yeshokumar A, Fabian M, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody-mediated disease: the difficulty of predicting relapses. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2021) 56:103229. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103229

42. Azumagawa K, Nakashima I, Kaneko K, Torisu H, Sakai Y, Kira R, et al. A nation-wide survey of Japanese pediatric MOG antibody-associated diseases. *Brain Dev* (2021) 43(6):705–13. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2021.01.008

43. Deschamps R, Pique J, Ayrignac X, Collongues N, Audoin B, Zéphir H, et al. The long-term outcome of MOGAD: an observational national cohort study of 61 patients. *Eur J Neurol* (2021) 28(5):1659–64. doi: 10.1111/ene.14746

44. Waters P, Fadda G, Woodhall M, O'Mahony J, Brown RA, Castro DA, et al. Serial anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody analyses and outcomes in children with demyelinating syndromes. *JAMA Neurol* (2020) 77(1):82–93. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2940

45. Wendel EM, Baumann M, Barisic N, Blaschek A, Coelho de Oliveira Koch F, Della Marina A, et al. High association of MOG-IgG antibodies in children with bilateral optic neuritis. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* (2020) 27:86–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2020.04.002

46. Peschl P, Schanda K, Zeka B, Given K, Böhm D, Ruprecht K, et al. Human antibodies against the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein can cause complement-

dependent demyelination. J Neuroinflamm (2017) 14(1):208. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0984-5

47. Chen L, Wu W, Tian Y, Zeng Y, Hou C, Zhu H, et al. Thyroid function and antithyroid antibodies in pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Front Neurol* (2021) 12:707046. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.707046

48. Chen JJ, Flanagan EP, Bhatti MT, Jitprapaikulsan J, Dubey D, Lopez Chiriboga ASS, et al. Steroid-sparing maintenance immunotherapy for MOG-IgG associated disorder. *Neurology* (2020) 95(2):e111–e20. doi: 10.1212/wnl.00000000009758

49. Bai P, Zhang M, Yuan J, Zhu R, Li N. A comparison of the effects of rituximab versus other immunotherapies for MOG-IgG-associated central nervous system demyelination: a meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2021) 53:103044. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103044

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Masako Kinoshita, National Hospital Organization Utano National Hospital, Japan Sergio Muñiz-Castrillo, Stanford Center for Sleep Sciences and Medicine, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Sara Mariotto ⊠ sara.mariotto@univr.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[†]These authors share senior authorship

RECEIVED 24 March 2023 ACCEPTED 22 May 2023 PUBLISHED 09 June 2023

CITATION

Trentinaglia M, Dinoto A, Carta S, Chiodega V, Ferrari S, Andreone V, Maniscalco GT and Mariotto S (2023) Investigating the association between neoplasms and MOG antibodyassociated disease. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1193211. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1193211

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Trentinaglia, Dinoto, Carta, Chiodega, Ferrari, Andreone, Maniscalco and Mariotto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Investigating the association between neoplasms and MOG antibody-associated disease

Milena Trentinaglia^{1†}, Alessandro Dinoto^{1†}, Sara Carta¹, Vanessa Chiodega¹, Sergio Ferrari¹, Vincenzo Andreone², Giorgia Teresa Maniscalco^{2,3‡} and Sara Mariotto^{1*‡}

¹Neurology Unit, Department of Neurosciences, Biomedicine, and Movement Sciences, University of Verona, Verona, Italy, ²Neurological Clinic and Stroke Unit, Naples, Italy, ³Multiple Sclerosis Center, Naples, Italy

Introduction: The association of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody associated disease (MOGAD) and tumors has seldom been reported. We aim to investigate the occurrence of tumors in a cohort of patients with MOGAD and to describe their clinical features, in addition to previously reported cases.

Methods: We retrospectively identified patients with MOGAD (i.e., compatible clinical phenotype and positive MOG antibodies analysed with a live cell-based assay) from 1/1/2015 to 1/1/2023 who had a neoplasm diagnosed within 2 years from MOGAD onset. Furthermore, we performed systematic review of literature to identify previously reported cases. Clinical, paraclinical and oncological findings were collected and reported as median (range) or number (percentage).

Results: Two of 150 MOGAD patients (1%) had a concomitant neoplasm in our cohort. Fifteen additional cases were retrieved from literature. Median age was 39 (16–73) years-old, 12 patients were female. ADEM (n = 4;23.5%), encephalomyelitis (n = 3;17.6%), and monolateral optic neuritis (n = 2;11.8%) were the most frequent phenotypes. Median number of treatments was 1 (range 1–4), improvement was reported in 14/17 cases (82.4%). Oncological accompaniments were teratoma (n = 4), CNS (n = 3), melanoma (n = 2), lung (n = 2), hematological (n = 2), ovary (n = 1), breast (n = 1), gastrointestinal (n = 1), and thymic (n = 1) neoplasms. Median time from tumor diagnosis to MOGAD onset was 0 (range–60 to 20) months. MOG expression in neoplastic tissue was reported in 2/4 patients. Median PNS-CARE score was 3 (range 0–7): 11 patients were classified as "non-PNS," 5 as "possible PNS," and 1 as "probable PNS."

Discussion: Our study confirms that MOG is a low-risk antibody for paraneoplastic neurological syndromes and that the clinical presentation and oncological accompaniments are extremely variable. Most of these patients were classified as non-PNS, whereas only a minority was diagnosed with possible/probable PNS, frequently in association with ovarian teratoma. These findings support the notion that MOGAD is not a paraneoplastic disease.

KEYWORDS

myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD), paraneoplastic neurological syndrome, tumor, cancer, immune checkpoint inhibitors

Introduction

Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes (PNS) are defined by the presence of specific clinical features in association with cancer and specific autoantibodies (1). Among these autoantibodies, those targeting aquaporin-4 (AQP4) and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) are associated with a low risk of cancer, even though MOG or AQP4 expression may be detected on cancer tissue, supporting a paraneoplastic origin in those few reported cases. While the association between neoplasms and AQP4-seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) has been investigated in previous studies (2–4), data on patients affected by MOG antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) (5) are still lacking and limited on few case reports (6). Aim of this study is to report the association between neoplasms and MOGAD in a single-center cohort and, additionally, to provide a systematic evaluation of previously reported cases.

Materials and methods

We retrospectively identified patients with MOGAD [i.e with a compatible phenotype and positive MOG-Abs analysed with a live cell-based assay as previously described (7)] and a neoplasm diagnosed within 2 years from disease onset. Clinical, paraclinical, and oncological data were collected and are herein reported. As cancer screening is currently not required in patients with MOGAD, paraneoplastic analyses were performed by treating physicians on an individualized basis according to physical examination or routine laboratory screening. In addition, to identify previously reported cases of paraneoplastic MOGAD, a systematic literature review based on PubMed/Medline database was performed (March 7th, 2023) using the following research queries: ("myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein" OR "MOG"OR "MOG-EM" OR "MOGAD") AND ("cancer" OR "paraneoplastic" OR "tumor" OR "teratoma") including studies on individual cases. Furthermore, all articles included after abstract screening were cross-referenced. Relevant reported clinical, paraclinical, and oncological findings were collected in an electronic database. PNS Care score was evaluated in each case at clinical presentation, as previously described (1).

A descriptive statistical analysis was performed using median (range) and number (%), as appropriate (IBM SPSS 26) including both data obtained from the retrospective study and the systematic review. For estimating the percentage of cancer occurring within 2 years in patients with MOGAD, we included only cases identified in our cohort excluding those obtained from the systematic review. Finally, patients classified as non-PNS were compared to patients fulfilling the criteria of Probable/Possible/Definite PNS (Fisher's and U-Mann Whitney tests). Patients gave their informed consent for being included in this study.

Results

Retrospective cohort study

Of 185 patients diagnosed with MOGAD from 1/1/2015 to 1/1/2023, two patients out of 150 with available clinical information

had a neoplasm within 2 years from MOGAD onset (~1%). These two cases are reported below. Both reported cases resulted negative for additional autoantibodies analysed with commercial and on in-house tissue-based assay (8).

Case #1

A 59-year-old man presented with acute onset of fever, imbalance, dysarthria, and hallucinations. Brain MRI was unremarkable, while on CSF analysis pleocytosis (645 cells/mm3 N.V. <5) and increased protein levels (477 mg/dL N.V. <45 mg/dL) were observed. Although an extensive infectious and autoimmune screening including antibodies to neuronal and cell surface antigens were negative, the clinical suspicion of brainstem encephalitis led to start treatment with steroids, with complete recovery. Respectively two and 9 months after onset, generalized tonic-clonic seizures occurred and antiepileptic drugs (AED) were commenced. A repeated brain MRI showed multiple T2/FLAIR hyperintense lesions in the supratentorial and infratentorial white matter, with pons contrast enhancement. 4 months later, the patient developed a severe paraparesis with sensory level and sphincter dysfunction. Total body computed tomography (CT) scan was unremarkable while spinal cord MRI revealed multiple T2/FLAIR hyperintensities (at C7-D1, D8-D10, and D11 level) suggestive of mixed short and longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (LETM). A repeated CSF analysis showed slightly increased cell count (7/mm³), normal protein values (41.8 mg/dL), and negative oligoclonal bands (mirror pattern). An expanded autoimmune screening with live cell-based assay revealed the presence of serum MOG-Abs (titre 1:320). The patient was diagnosed with MOGAD and treated with high dose intravenous steroids followed by slow tapering. Since only a partial response was observed, treatment with Rituximab was commenced. 20 months later, the appearance of a unilateral axillary lymphadenopathy led to a diagnosis of a non-Hogdkin lymphoma and the patient was treated with chemotherapy.

Case #2

A 64-year-old man while admitted for pneumonia and acute kidney failure developed subacute consciousness impairment requiring orotracheal intubation. On neurological examination he was comatose and unresponsive to pain stimulus with right-sided pyramidal signs. Brain MRI showed diffuse T2/FLAIR hyperintense lesions in the supratentorial and infratentorial white matter involving the brainstem (Figure 1A). EEG revealed generalized theta and delta slowing without epileptic abnormalities. CSF analysis demonstrated mild pleocytosis (10 cells/mm³). An extensive screening for CNS infections, autoimmune/paraneoplastic encephalitis, metabolic encephalopathy, and uremic hemolytic syndrome yielded negative results except for the detection of serum MOG-Abs (titer 1:320) using a live cell-based assay. The patient was diagnosed with MOGADrelated encephalitis and treatment with high dose intravenous steroids followed by oral tapering led to significant neurological improvement. Clinical inspection revealed a skin lesion localized in the right hemithorax suggestive for malignancy. Thus, a biopsy was performed and histological analysis confirmed a locally invasive melanoma (stage pT1b). Total body CT as well as sentinel lymph node biopsy excluded systemic localization. 4 month later the patient was asymptomatic with a normal neurological evalution, MOG-Abs titers were decreased (1:160), and a control MRI showed almost complete resolution of pre-existent lesions (Figure 1B).



FIGURE 1

T2/FLAIR imaging in the acute phase (first raw) and follow-up brain MRI after 4 months in patient #2. The first three images from the acute phase reveal a diffuse T2/FLAIR hyperintensity involving bilateral white matter, brainstem, and cerebellum (marked with stars). The follow-up scans demonstrate a nearly complete resolution of these abnormalities with few scattered white matter hyperintensities in the periventricular regions (marked with an arrow).

Systematic review

Of 616 results, 10 studies underwent to full-text evaluation and 8 were included in the final analysis. Furthermore, 7 studies were included through cross-referencing of relevant articles. A total number of 15 studies with 15 cases were included in the final synthesis [(9–23). The PRISMA flow chart is reported in the Supplementary materials.

Clinical features of the pooled cohort

In the pooled cohort analysis 17 cases were included (Table 1). Median age at onset was 39 years (range 16-73) and 12 patients were female (70.5%). Clinical phenotypes were consistent with: ADEM (n = 4, 23.5%), encephalomyelitis (n = 2, 11.8%), monolateral optic neuritis (n = 2, 11.8%) and one (5.9%) of each of bilateral optic neuritis, encephalitis, encephalomyeloradiculitis, isolated myelitis, myelitis and bilateral optic neuritis, myelitis and bilateral optic neuritis with brainstem involvement, optic neuritis and brainstem syndrome, optic neuritis and meningoencephalitis, brainstem syndrome, encephalitis and myelitis. One patient was also positive for anti-GFAP and anti ITPR-1 antibodies and presented with combined CNS and PNS involvement, which has been previously reported in MOGAD (24, 25). Patients received a median of 1 acute treatment (range 1-4): steroids were administered in 16 cases, intravenous immunoglobulins in 3, plasma exchange in 3, and rituximab in 3. Clinical improvement after immunotherapy was reported in 14 patients (82.4%), whereas no improvement was observed in 3 cases (17.6%). Regarding the oncological accompaniments, associated neoplasms were teratoma (n = 4, in one case with also ganglioneuroma), CNS tumors (n = 3, pituitary macroadenoma, meningioma, and astrocytoma), melanoma (n = 2), lung cancer (n = 2, bothadenocarcinoma), hematological malignancies (n = 2, non-Hodgkin lymphoma and cutaneous T cell lymphoma), borderline tumor of the ovary (n = 1), ductal breast carcinoma (n = 1), colon adenocarcinoma (n = 1), and thymic hyperplasia (n = 1). MOG protein expression in the excised tumoral tissue was reported in 2/4 patients (50%). Median time from tumor diagnosis to MOGAD onset was 0 months (range from -60 to +20, with negative values indicating that tumor preceded the onset of the neurological syndrome). Oncological treatment included surgery in 11 cases, chemotherapy in 4, radiotherapy in 1, other treatments in 3 (including hormonal therapy, pembrolizumab, and anti EGFR-TKI). Three patients did not receive any treatment. Median PNS-CARE score was 3 (range 0-7). In particular, 11 patients were classified as "non-PNS," 5 patients as "possible PNS," and 1 patient as "probable PNS." The comparison between patients with non-PNS and with possible and probable PNS did not yield any significant difference, with the exception for a trend favoring the association with ovarian teratoma (p = 0.063), Table 2.

Discussion

Our study supports the weak association between MOGAD and tumors, since: (a) the prevalence of neoplasms in a cohort of patients with MOGAD is low, (b) oncological accompaniments are extremely variable and MOG is usually not expressed in neoplastic tissue, (c) most of reported cases do not fulfill the criteria of PNS; (d) there are

TABLE 1 Demographic, clinical, and oncological features of the included cohort.

Study	Sex/ age	Neurological manifestation	Tumor association	MOGAD onset in relation to tumor	Neurological treatments	Tumor treatment	Neurological outcome	MOG expression on tumor	PNS-CARE score/ final diagnosis	Other antibodies
Herein presented case (nr. 1)	M/59	Brainstem syndrome, followed by supratentorial encephalitis, myelitis	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	20 months prior	Steroids, RTX	CHT	Improvement	N.A.	(2+0+1) 3/non-PNS	No
Herein presented case (nr. 2)	M/64	Encephalitis	Melanoma	Concomitant	Steroids	Surgery	Improvement	N.A.	3 (2+0+1)/non-PNS	No
Li et al.	F/49	Myelitis, bilateral optic neuritis, and brainstem syndrome	Lung adenocarcinoma	1 month after	Steroids	Surgery, anti EGFR-TKI	Improvement	N.A.	1 (0+0+1)/non-PNS	No
Cherian et al.	F/37	Myelitis	Ductal breast carcinoma	12 months after	Steroids	Surgery, CHT, Hormones	Improvement	N.A.	3 (2+0+1)/non-PNS	No
Rodenbeck et al.	F/64	ADEM	Lung carcinoma	Concomitant	Steroids, PLEX	N.A.	No improvement	N.A.	(0+0+1)/non-PNS	No
Jarius et al.	F/18	ADEM	Teratoma+Ganglioneuroma	2 months after	Steroids, PLEX, IvIg	Surgery	Improvement	N.A.	4 (0+0+4)/possible-PNS	No
Kwon et al.	M/38	Myelitis and bilateral optic neuritis	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma	6 months prior	Steroids	СНТ	Improvement	Negative	1 (0+0+1)/non-PNS	No
Cohen et al.	F/52	ADEM	Colon adenocarcinoma with lung metastases	5 years after adenocarcinoma	Steroids	N.A.	No improvement	N.A.	0 (0+0+0)/non-PNS	No
Wildemann et al.	F/26	Optic neuritis	Teratoma	11 months after	Steroids	Surgery	Improvement	Positive	4 (0+0+4) /possible-PNS	No
Cirkel et al.	F/44	Encephalomyeloradiculitis	Borderline tumor of the ovary	Concomitant	Steroids, IvIg, RTX, PLEX	Surgery	No improvement	Negative	(3+0+1)4/possible-PNS	GFAP, ITPR-1
Ajam et al.	M/25	Optic neuritis	Meningioma	3 months after	Steroids	Surgery	Improvement	N.A.	1 (0+0+1)/non-PNS	No
Delgado et al.	F/37	Bilateral optic neuritis	Pituitary macroadenoma	Concomitant	Steroids	None	Improvement	N.A.	1 (0+0+1)/non PNS	No
Zhang et al.	F/61	Encephalomyelitis	Teratoma	Concomitant	Steroids	Surgery	Improvement	Positive	7 (3+0+4)/probable-PNS	No
Cobo-Calvo et al.	F/16	ADEM	Teratoma	Concomitant	IvIg	Surgery	Improvement	N.A.	4 (0+0+4)possible-PNS	No
Liu et al.	M/39	Encephalomyelitis	Melanoma	6 months after	Steroids	Surgery+pembrolizumab	Improvement	N.A.	4 (3+0+1)/possible-PNS	No
Zhong et al.	F/49	Optic neuritis and brainstem syndrome	Astrocytoma	4 years after	Steroids	Surgery+RT	Improvement	N.A.	0 (0+0+0)/non-PNS	No
Hurtubise et al.	F/18	Optic neuritis and meningoencephalitis	Thymic hyperplasia	3 months prior	Steroids, RTX	None	Improvement	N.A.	1 (0+0+1)/non-PNS	No

10.3389/fneur.2023.1193211

M, male; F, female; ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; RTX, rituximab; PLEX, plasma exchange; IvIg, intravenous immunoglobulins; PNS, paraneoplastic neurological syndrome; CHT, chemotherapy; RT, radiotherapy; GFAP, glial fibrillart acid protein; ITPR-1, inositol trisphosphate receptor-1.



Chart representing the percentage of each tumor in the pooled cohort analysis (A), the fulfillment of PNS diagnostic criteria (B), and a circos plot represents the association between neoplasms and fulfillment of PNS diagnostic criteria (C).



	Non-PNS (<i>n</i> =11)	Possible/probable PNS (<i>n</i> =6)	value of
Age (years)	49 (18-64)	32.5 (16-61)	0.256
Sex (female)	7 (63.6%)	5 (83.5%)	0.365
Clinical phenotype	ADEM 2 (18.2%)	ADEM 2 (33.3%)	0.676
	Bilateral optic neuritis 1 (9.1%)	Encephalomyelitis 2 (33.3%)	
	Encephalomyelitis 1 (9.1%)	Encephalomyeloradiculitis 1 (16.7%)	
	Myelitis 1 (9.1%)	Monolateral optic neuritis 1 (16.7%)	
	Myelitis and bilateral optic neuritis 1 (9.1%)		
	Myelitis, bilateral optic neuritis, and brainstem syndrome 1 (9.1%)		
	Monolateral optic neuritis 1 (9.1%)		
	Optic neuritis + meningoencephalitis 1 (9.1%)		
	Optic neuritis and brainstem syndrome 1 (9.1%)		
Associated tumor	CNS 3 (27.3%)	Teratoma 4 (66.7%)	0.063
	Hematological 2 (18.2%)	Ovary 1 (16.7%)	
	Lung 2 (18.2%)	Melanoma (16.7%)	
	Gastrointestinal 1 (9.1%)		
	Breast 1 (9.1%)		
	Melanoma 1 (9.1%)		
	Thymus 1 (9.1%)		
Time from MOGAD	0 (-60-20)	-1 (-11-0)	0.733
to tumor diagnosis			
Number of	1 (1-2)	1 (1-4)	0.660
treatments			
Neurological	9 (81.8%)	5 (83.3%)	0.728
outcome			
(improvement)			

ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; PNS, paraneoplastic neurological syndrome; CNS, central nervous system; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte antibody-associated disorder.

no striking features that could distinguish cases with possible/probable PNS from those with non-PNS, with the notable exception for a trend favoring the presence of ovarian teratoma in the first group (Figure 2).

In comparison with a previous study (14) reporting 11.3% of patients with a history of cancer within 12 months from MOGAD onset, with higher rates of prevalence in elderly patients, we observed a significant lower number (1%) of MOGAD cases associated with tumors. In addition, we found a significant lower number of patients with concomitant neoplasms and MOGAD (6.5% vs. 35%). These

discrepancies may be explained by the differences in terms of population groups and inclusion criteria.

In support of the absence of a strict association between MOGAD and tumors by systematically reviewing the published literature we observed that neoplasms associated with MOGAD are extremely variable and include even some non-malignant tumors, which mostly fell in the non-PNS group. Even though we did not find an association between MOGAD and a specific cancer, the presence of ovarian teratoma seems to be particularly relevant, as both tumors that

expressed MOG protein were teratomas (17, 18), and these data may support a paraneoplastic origin. Furthermore, the presence of teratomas has been associated with different antibody-mediated CNS disorders including AQP4 positive NMOSD (26) and anti-NMDAR encephalitis (27). Consistently, even though no patients were diagnosed with definite PNS, those who had a diagnosis of probable/ possible PNS had a statistical trend favoring the presence of an underlying teratoma when compared to non-PNS patients. Consistently, PNS-CARE score was mostly driven by the presence of an underlying teratoma which, alone, would give a score of 4, leading to a diagnosis of possible PNS regardless of the clinical phenotype. This finding could suggest that PNS-CARE scoring system may present some limitations in the setting of a condition characterized by heterogeneous clinical presentations and very specific oncological accompaniments. Of note, one patient without an ovarian teratoma who fulfilled the criteria of possible PNS was receiving treatment with the immune checkpoint inhibitor pembrolizumab, which probably triggered MOGAD. Accordingly, iatrogenic demyelination as an immune-related adverse event of cancer immunotherapy is rare but should not be overlooked.

Finally, we did not find any specific clinical phenotype or demographic feature which may suggest a paraneoplastic trigger and thus should prompt an oncological screening. Furthermore, most of patients improved with immunotherapy only, regardless of neoplasm removal, which is atypical for PNS (28). We previously suggested to perform a paraneoplastic screening regardless of clinical presentation in AQP4 positive NMOSD despite the lack of specific clinical features in suspected paraneoplastic NMOSD, since several cases of paraneoplastic NMOSD have been reported and AQP4 tumor expression can occur even in patients with atypical oncological accompaniments (as non-adenocarcinomas) (2). On the contrary, we do not support tumor screening in MOGAD, since the lack of cancer expression beyond ovarian teratoma and the lack of other suggestive features do not support this extensive screening.

Our study presents several limitations including (a) the small sample size, the absence of a control group, and the unavailability of a systematic and uniform screening of neoplasms in our cohort, (b) the lack of evaluation of MOG expression in many studies, including our cases, and (c) the potential reporting bias favoring the overreporting of patients presenting with MOGAD and neoplasms.

Despite these limitations, our study confirms that MOG is a low-risk antibody for paraneoplastic neurological syndromes and that the clinical presentation and oncological accompaniments are extremely variable. These findings support the notion that MOGAD is not a paraneoplastic disease.

References

1. Graus, F, Vogrig, A, Muñiz-Castrillo, S, Antoine, JCG, Desestret, V, Dubey, D, et al. Updated diagnostic criteria for paraneoplastic neurologic syndromes. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2021) 8:e1014. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000001014

2. Dinoto, A, Borin, GU, Campana, G, Carta, S, Ferrari, S, and Mariotto, S. Investigating paraneoplastic aquaporin-4-IgG-seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder through a data-driven approach. *Eur J Neurol.* (2022) 29:3466–72. doi: 10.1111/ene.15479

3. Dinoto, A, Bosco, A, Sartori, A, Bratina, A, Bellavita, G, Pasquin, F, et al. Hiccups, severe vomiting and longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis in a patient with prostatic adenocarcinoma and Aquaporin-4 antibodies. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 352:577488. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577488

4. Sepúlveda, M, Sola-Valls, N, Escudero, D, Rojc, B, Barón, M, Hernández-Echebarría, L, et al. Clinical profile of patients with paraneoplastic

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Verona University Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

MT and AD equally contributed and collected data, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. GM and SM shared the senior co-authorship. All the authors performed a revision to the manuscript, gave the critical intellectual content, contributed to the article, and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2023.1193211/ full#supplementary-material

neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder and aquaporin-4 antibodies. *Mult Scler J.* (2018) 24:1753–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458517731914

5. Sechi, E, Cacciaguerra, L, Chen, JJ, Mariotto, S, Fadda, G, Dinoto, A, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD): a review of clinical and MRI features, diagnosis, and management. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:885218. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.885218

6. Molazadeh, N, Bose, G, Lotan, I, and Levy, M. Autoimmune diseases and cancers overlapping with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD): a systematic review. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2022) 8:20552173221128170. doi: 10.1177/20552173221128170

7. Mariotto, S, Ferrari, S, Monaco, S, Benedetti, MD, Schanda, K, Alberti, D, et al. Clinical spectrum and IgG subclass analysis of anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein

antibody-associated syndromes: a multicenter study. J Neurol. (2017) 264:2420–30. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8635-4

8. Dinoto, A, McKeon, A, Vattemi, G, Carta, S, Ferrari, S, and Mariotto, S. Neuronal intermediate filament paraneoplastic autoimmunity complicating avelumab therapy of Merkel cell carcinoma. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 368:577882. doi: 10.1016/j. jneuroim.2022.577882

9. Cherian, A, Shetty, SC, Divya, KP, Prabhakaran, PK, Pavuluri, H, and Paramasivan, NK. MOG antibody-positive paraneoplastic myelopathy in breast carcinoma: the new culprit. *Acta Neurol Belg.* (2022) 122:1603–5. doi: 10.1007/s13760-021-01602-8

10. Cirkel, A, Wandinger, K-P, Ditz, C, Leppert, J, Hanker, L, Cirkel, C, et al. Paraneoplastic encephalomyeloradiculits with multiple autoantibodies against ITPR-1, GFAP and MOG: case report and literature review. *Neurol Res Pract.* (2021) 3:48. doi: 10.1186/s42466-021-00145-w

11. Cobo-Calvo, Á, Ruiz, A, D'Indy, H, Poulat, AL, Carneiro, M, Philippe, N, et al. MOG antibody-related disorders: common features and uncommon presentations. *J Neurol.* (2017) 264:1945–55. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8583-z

12. Hurtubise, B, Frohman, EM, Galetta, S, Balcer, LJ, Frohman, TC, Lisak, RP, et al. MOG antibody-associated disease and thymic hyperplasia: from the national multiple sclerosis Society case conference proceedings. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2023) 10:e200077. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000200077

13. Jarius, S, Kleiter, I, Ruprecht, K, Asgari, N, Pitarokoili, K, Borisow, N, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 3: brainstem involvement – frequency, presentation and outcome. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13:281. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0719-z

14. Kwon, YN, Koh, J, Jeon, YK, Sung, JJ, Park, SH, and Kim, SM. A case of MOG encephalomyelitis with T- cell lymphoma. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 41:102038. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102038

15. Li, K, Zhan, Y, and Shen, X. Multiple intracranial lesions with lung adenocarcinoma: a rare case of MOG-IgG-associated encephalomyelitis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 42:102064. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102064

16. Liu, Q, Wang, B, and Zhao, W. MOG-IgG-associated demyelination induced by pembrolizumab treatment in a patient with malignant melanoma. *Neurology*. (2022) 98:501–2. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000000055

17. Wildemann, B, Jarius, S, Franz, J, Ruprecht, K, Reindl, M, and Stadelmann, C. MOG-expressing teratoma followed by MOG-IgG-positive optic neuritis. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2021) 141:127–31. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02236-5

18. Zhang, XY, An, DM, and Liu, L. MOG antibody disease with ovarian teratoma: a case report and review of the literature. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 367:577858. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2022.577858

19. Zhong, G, Zhang, J, Liu, X, Yang, S, and Gu, H. Astrocytoma with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated encephalomyelitis: a case report. *Medicine*. (2022) 101:e31003. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000031003

20. Ajam, Y, Li, X. Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodyassociated bilateral optic neuritis: to treat or not to treat?. *145th Annual Meeting American Neurological Association. Ann Neurol.* (2020).

21. Cohn, SJ, Macaron, G, Mahajan, KR, et al. MOG-antibody related disease presenting with a fulminant CNS demyelinating syndrome in an adult ACTRIMS Forum. *Mult Scler J.* (2020).

22. Delgado, S, Dionísio, J, Figueiredo, C, et al. Anti-MOG bilateral optic neuritis and suspicion of a compressive pituitary macroadenoma: the relevance of semiology. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021).

23. Rodenbeck, K, Crane, P, Sitzmanno, A. Myelopathy in the setting of malignancy: the importance of a thoughtful approach to autoantibody testing based on clinical presentation (P1295). *Neurology*. (2021).

24. Dinoto, A, Licciardi, NM, Reindl, M, Chiodega, V, Schanda, K, Carta, S, et al. Peripheral neuropathy and MOG-IgG: a clinical and neuropathological retrospective study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2022) 68:104214. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2022.104214

25. Rinaldi, S, Davies, A, Fehmi, J, Beadnall, HN, Wang, J, Hardy, TA, et al. Overlapping central and peripheral nervous system syndromes in MOG antibody-associated disorders. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2021) 8:e924. doi: 10.1212/ NXI.00000000000924

26. Bernard-Valnet, R, Cobo-Calvo, A, Siegfried, A, Marasescu, R, Bonnan, M, Ballan, G, et al. Paraneoplastic neuromyelitis optica and ovarian teratoma: a case series. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2019) 31:97–100. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.03.031

27. Dalmau, J, Lancaster, E, Martinez-Hernandez, E, Rosenfeld, MR, and Balice-Gordon, R. Clinical experience and laboratory investigations in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2011) 10:63–74. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70253-2

28. Graus, F, Delattre, JY, Antoine, JC, Dalmau, J, Giometto, B, Grisold, W, et al. Recommended diagnostic criteria for paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2004) 75:1135–40. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2003.034447

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Yoshiki Takai, Tohoku University Hospital, Japan Nanthaya Tisavipat, Mahidol University, Thailand

*CORRESPONDENCE Elena Grebenciucova ⊠ elena.grebenciucova@northwestern.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 23 April 2023 ACCEPTED 30 May 2023 PUBLISHED 06 July 2023

CITATION

Perez-Giraldo G, Caldito NG and Grebenciucova E (2023) Transverse myelitis in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodyassociated disease. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1210972. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1210972

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Perez-Giraldo, Caldito and Grebenciucova. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Transverse myelitis in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease

Gina Perez-Giraldo[†], Natalia Gonzalez Caldito and Elena Grebenciucova^{*†}

Department of Neurology, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

Transverse myelitis (TM) is the second most common presentation of myelin oligodendrocyte antibody-associated disease (MOGAD), occurring in approximately 26% of affected patients. The diagnosis may be complicated by the lack of diagnostic specificity of low titers of MOG antibody in serum, fluctuation in seropositivity overtime, including initially normal MRI in up to 10% of patients, and in many instances complete resolution of radiological abnormalities when MRI is done in a significantly delayed fashion. The use of preventive disease modifying treatments is limited by the uncertainty whether the disease process will remain monophasic or become relapsing, as well as by the lack FDA approved treatments. In this review, we discuss clinical, radiological and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) characteristics, including the significance of MOG titers and changes in the seropositivity status for the diagnosis of MOGAD-associated TM, its radiological features and management options, highlighting the data on the risk of relapses associated with TM at presentation and the need for further randomized clinical trials to empower effective treatment algorithms.

KEYWORDS

transverse myelitis, MOG myelitis, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein associated disease, MOG antibody positive myelitis, MOGAD myelitis

Introduction

Transverse myelitis (TM) is the second most common presentation of myelin oligodendrocyte antibody-associated disease (MOGAD), occurring in approximately 26% of MOGAD (1). TM can occur in isolation, simultaneously with optic neuritis (less than 10% of patients) or as part of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) (2–4). Clinical presentation in children and adults may vary. TM in MOGAD can occur shortly after an infectious illness (1). It is therefore not surprising that rare cases of MOGAD TM have been reported both after SARS-CoV2 vaccination (ChAdOx1 nCoV-19) and after the infection itself (5, 6). The severity of the attack varies, typically moderate to severe with EDSS scores >4 in about half of patients (7) with up to one third being nonambulatory at the nadir of acute myelitis attack (8), and many requiring bladder catheterization (9). In a prospective UK cohort, transverse myelitis as part of MOGAD was found to be less common in children as compared to adults, and relapsing TM was only observed in adults (3). Optic neuritis is the most common relapsing phenotype of MOGAD, and patients with TM at onset have less risk of relapse as compared to those with other MOGAD phenotypes (3).

Clinical features of MOGAD-associated TM

The clinical manifestations of MOGAD myelitis include sensory, motor or bowel-bladder symptoms, erectile dysfunction, typically with acute to subacute onset of paraparesis or quadriplegia (10). Motor and sensory symptoms are usually bilateral, and sphincter dysfunction is more common than in aquaporin 4 antibody (AQP 4 antibody) positive NMOSD (4). Patients may also present with acute flaccid myelitis (AFM) and may be initially thought to have post-viral or viral-induced AFM (8, 11). Tonic spasms and severe neuropathic pain are less common with MOGAD as compared to AQP4 positive NMOSD (12). Prognosis is generally good, with excellent motor recovery, but residual neurogenic bladder and sexual dysfunction can occur (2).

Diagnosis of MOGAD myelitis

MOGAD myelitis is diagnosed when a patient has neurological deficits and tempo of symptomatic development compatible with myelitis, a clear positive serum MOG-IgG test, and supportive of diagnosis MRI features (2). The latest international expert consensus advocates towards the use of live cell-based assays to increase diagnostic specificity. If not available, fixed cell-based assays can be used, with a clear positive result being a titer >1:100 (2). Titers lower than 1:100 have a lower predictive value (number of truepositive results/total positive results) for MOGAD and may lead to misdiagnosis. For example, a titer of MOG of 1:20 to 1:40 carry a positive predictive value of 51%, meaning that nearly 50% of patients with this titer may have a different etiology of their clinical presentation (13). Serological testing should ideally occur before administration of corticosteroids, intravenous immunoglobulins, or plasma exchange, as these interventions can increase the risk of false negative result. In cases of a high clinical suspicion but a negative test, if done after initiation of immune therapies, testing should be repeated about 3 months or later. Screening for the presence of serum MOG-IgG routinely in patients with clear features of multiple sclerosis is not recommended, as false positives can occur, decreasing the positive predictive value of the test and leading to misdiagnosis (2, 10).

In addition, titers of MOG antibody can fluctuate with intermittent seroconversion to negativity and can become undetectable over time (14); this, and the fact that the MRI abnormalities can disappear (up to 72% of the brain lesions; 79% of spinal cord lesions) (13, 15, 16), make a retrospective diagnosis of MOGAD impossible in some scenarios, which warrants a continuity of high degree of suspicion if new neurological symptoms arise (17).

Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis typically demonstrates lymphocytic pleocytosis, with >50 WBC/mm³ seen in about 30% of patients (9). Oligoclonal bands are frequently absent, with positivity rates being less than 10%–15% (4, 18). MOG-IgG antibody concentrations in CSF are typically low, however in some cases MOG-IgG can be positive in CSF and not in serum. Intrathecal antibody production occurs more frequently in MOGAD than in AQP4-positive NMOSD (19). Caution is advised in interpretation of the MOG-IgG positivity when clinical features are atypical of MOGAD, as false positives can occur. Testing both CSF and serum is not recommended for routine evaluations (2). However, if the serum MOG antibody is negative in a patient presenting with clinical, radiological and CSF findings typical of MOGAD, CSF testing for MOG antibody may be considered, as well as re-testing serum several months later.

Current diagnostic criteria for MOGAD require exclusion of an alternative diagnosis. Differential diagnostic considerations include multiple sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, CRMP-5 antibody positive paraneoplastic myelopathy, GFAP antibody positive encephalomyelitis, neurosarcoidosis, SLE associated TM, ischemic myelopathy, metabolic myelopathy, infections and neoplastic causes. Specific findings pointing to other inflammatory diagnoses are summarized in Table 1.

Radiological features of MOGAD myelitis

Acute myelitis due to MOGAD is typically longitudinally extensive involving 3 or more vertebral segments in length (Figure 1). Short lesions can occur in about 7% of patients, more commonly in those patients that are approximately 40 years of age (3). Multifocal spinal cord lesions can occur (2, 18). Spinal cord necrosis is typically not seen (20). Some T2 signal abnormalities may be initially subtle and contrast the severity of clinical presentation. In fact, in some cases linear T2 signal abnormalities may be difficult to distinguish from a prominent central canal. In these instances, carefully evaluating axial images may be helpful, as well as repeating the MRI at a later time to evaluate for the evolution of the lesion. MRI of the brain may also show MOGAD-associated lesions and should be considered in TM evaluation. Some patients with MOGAD TM may also have clinically silent spinal cord lesions (20). Although current data are limited by the retrospective nature, one study found silent spinal cord MRI lesions occurred in none of the patients during remission and in up to 7.3% of those during acute attack (21). Another study confirmed that finding new or enlarging spinal cord lesions inter-attack is rare and occurs in <1% of patients (22). Initial MRI of the spinal cord may be normal in up to 10% of patients, and repeat MRI within days would be warranted (13-15).

A negative MRI in a patient presenting acutely with clinical features of myelitis should not deter from testing for MOG antibody. The spinal cord lesions are typically located in the central cord, can involve both the gray and white matter, affect more than 50% of the axial section or can be restricted to the grey matter in about 50% of patients, which on axial imaging can be seen as the "H sign" (2, 23). T2 signal abnormality confined to gray matter (sagittal line and axial H sign) as well as lack of enhancement favor diagnosis of MOGAD over NMOSD or MS (8).

A straight T2 hyperintense line with surrounding hyperintense signal in the anterior and posterior gray matter horns on sagittal view can also be seen in MOGAD myelitis and is known as pseudo dilation of the central canal (23). The conus medullaris can be affected in about 26% of patients with MOGAD (24), which is a valuable radiographic clue, as the conus medullaris is less frequently affected in other demyelinating conditions, such as multiple sclerosis (MS) and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD), with rates of involvement as low as 1.3 and 6%, respectively, (8, 24–26). Gadolinium enhancement can occur in about half of patients with MOGAD myelitis and can be heterogeneous giving a cloud-like appearance (2,

TABLE 1 Differential diagnosis of MOGAD associated-TM.

Disorder	Multiple sclerosis	MOGAD	Aquaporin 4 positive NMOSD	Neurosarcoidosis	NeuroBehcet's	Anti-GFAP astrocytopathy	Anti- CRMP-5
Onset	Acute/subacute	Acute/ subacute	Acute	Subacute/chronic	Acute/subacute	Acute/ subacute	Subacute
Evolution	Relapsing/ progressive	Monophasic/ relapsing	Relapsing	Progressive	Progressive	Progressive	Progressive
Clinical cues	Sensory symptoms predominantly.	Bladder/bowel symptoms.	Area postrema syndrome Other autoimmune comorbidities. (Ex SLE, Sjogren's)	Evidence of systemic involvement. (Ex: Lymphadenopathy)	History of recurrent oral or genital ulcers.	Associated with AQP4 ab and NMDA ab. Concomitant ovarian teratoma.	History or increased risk for cancer. Constitutional symptoms.
Laboratory							
Biomarkers	n/a	Anti-MOG ab in serum >>CSF	Aquaporin-4 ab in serum	n/a	N/A	Anti-GFAP ab in CSF > serum	Anti-CRPM5 ab in serum and CSF
CSF cells	Pleocytosis <50cells/µL (mainly lymphocytes)	Pleocytosis (mainly lymphocytes, neutrophils present in over 40%)	Pleocytosis (neutrophils predominant early on)	Pleocytosis (mainly lymphocytes)	Pleocytosis (neutrophils predominant)	Pleocytosis >50cells/ μL (lymphocytes, monocytes)	Pleocytosis
O-bands unique to CSF	>80%	<10%	<20%	<20%	Rare	50%	Can be present
Neuroimaging							
Extension	Short/long if confluent lesions	LETM, short lesions may be present, conus medullaris involvement	LETM, up to 15% with short segment lesions	Short/LETM	Short/LETM	LETM	LETM
Number of lesions	Single/ multifocal	Single or multifocal	Single	Single/multifocal	Single/multifocal	Single	Single
Location	Dorsal/lateral column	Central (30% only gray matter) H sign	Central (gray and white matter)	Central / subpial/ leptomeningeal involvement	Central or anterior horn cells	Diffuse	Tract specific (lateral columns)
Enhancing	Nearly always in the acute setting	Enhancing in 50% cases acutely	Yes (most commonly in optic neuritis and transverse myelitis) Variable incidence of brain enhancing lesions	Yes, usually persistent for months.	Yes	Often faint enhancement	Variable
Enhancing pattern	Ringlike or homogeneous	Faint; dorsal nerve root enhancement, cauda equina and pial enhancement may occur	Ringlike or patchy "cloud-like" Pencil-thin linear enhancement of the ependymal surface of lateral ventricles	Dorsal subpial (trident sign)	Ringlike or non- specific (bagel sign)	Patchy, punctate and pia	Tract specific

NA, not applicable; MOG, Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MOGAD, Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease (MOGAD); ab, antibody; NMOSD, Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; GFAP, Glial fibrillary acidic protein; anti-CRPM-5, collapsin response-mediator protein-5; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; LETM, Longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis; O-bands, oligoclonal bands.



FIGURE 1

Spinal cord MRI in MOGAD myelitis. **(A,D)** Abnormal hyperintense T2/FLAIR signal abnormality with cord expansion from the cervicomedullary junction extending to the thoracic spinal cord. **(B,E)** Show axial T2 images (red bar indicates the spinal cord of the axial section) resembling H sign (grey matter involvement). **(C,F)** Show post gadolinium T1 sequences, respectively. No enhancement is noted in the cervical spinal cord, but a small focus of enhancement is noted at T9 and T10 (red arrow).

9, 23). Interestingly, dorsal nerve root enhancement, cauda equina and pial enhancement can also occur (2).

Clinically silent new lesions on MRI are rare and occur in only 3% of patients with MOGAD (21, 27). Upon follow up and resolution of acute myelitis, complete resolution of spinal cord lesions can be seen in up to 79% of MOGAD cases (4). Spinal cord atrophy can be seen in severe cases, but this is rare (2).

Acute management of MOGAD transverse myelitis

In the acute setting, patients presenting with TM receive intravenous corticosteroids. For those with incomplete recovery or severe clinical picture overall, plasma exchange is typically used next (9, 28). Intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG) can also be used following the plasma exchange completion, given that intravenous immunoglobulins can also serve as an effective preventive therapy for those patients who elect long-term preventive therapy option (29). Steroids are typically tapered slowly over at least a month or longer, with some data pointing to a lower risk of relapse in those with steroid use >1 month (16).

Chronic management of MOGAD

Disease modifying treatments

In about 40%-50% of cases, MOGAD appears to be monophasic long-term; however, 50%-60% patients presenting with their first attack of MOGAD will go on to develop the relapsing type of the disease. While the disappearance of MOG antibody serologically cannot be used as a definitive sign of the disease being monophasic (17), some data show that pediatric patients who seroconvert to negativity may have a somewhat lower risk of relapse (30). In the UK cohort, the final status of MOG antibody was not found to be associated with the relapsing disease overall, but the longitudinal analysis showed a reduction of 4-5% in monthly relapse risk in those who seroconverted negative for MOG IgG. Same study showed that the patients presenting with TM may have lower rates of relapsing disease: TM as the first attack was associated with a lower risk of relapse (OR, 0.03; 95% CI, 0.004–0.23; *p* = 0.001) and a longer time to first relapse (HR, 0.42; 95% CI, 0.22–0.82; *p* = 0.011) (16). In another study, TM at presentation alone or in combination with another syndrome (ON, ADEM, brainstem) was likewise associated with lower risk of relapse (HR, 0.41; 95% CI, 0.20-0.88; p = 0.01) (3).

A discussion whether a long-term disease modifying treatment needs to be started after the first attack or only after the disease course proves itself to be relapsing, risks versus benefits of both approaches should be carefully explored with every patient. Some clinicians may offer preventive disease modifying treatments as early as after the first attack, if the attack was severe with poor recovery leading to significant residual disability, thus if the second attack were to occur, it would be detrimental to the patient's quality of life and independence.

Treatments commonly used in the prevention of MOGAD relapses are rituximab, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil, tocilizumab, and intravenous immunoglobulins. A recent metaanalysis of 41 studies (3 prospective, 1 ambispective, 37 retrospective) evaluating efficacy of MOGAD-associated treatments found that the proportions of patients free of relapse were 65% [95% confidence interval (CI): 49%–82%] on azathioprine, 73% (95% CI: 62%–84%) on mycophenolate mofetil, 66% (95% CI: 55%–77%) on rituximab, 79% (95% CI: 66%–91%) on IVIG, and 93% (95% CI: 54%–100%) on tocilizumab (31).

Symptomatic management

Patients with MOGAD transverse myelitis can go on to develop chronic neuropathic pain, weakness, and bladder dysfunction. Addressing these symptoms effectively and in a timely manner is critical to the patient's quality of life. Medications utilized for the treatment of neuropathic pain such as gabapentin, pregabalin, and in some instances addition of duloxetine can be utilized. Physical and occupational therapy during recovery period and periodically in those without complete recovery are recommended. Bladder symptoms are best addressed and managed by a knowledgeable urologist or a neurourologist. Neuropsychiatric consultation may be warranted in patients with adjustment disorder, anxiety or depressive symptoms secondary to the medical condition.

MOGAD TM outcomes

Neurological outcomes of patients with TM due to MOGAD are typically more favorable than of those with anti-aquaporin4 antibody positive NMOSD. A recent study evaluating long-term outcomes of patients with TM due to MOGAD (n = 32) vs. NMOSD (n = 57) found that MOGAD TM patients on average had a lower EDSS score than patients with AQP4-Ab TM (1.8 [1.0–8.0] vs. 3.0 [1.0–8.0]), reflecting better outcomes. Due to higher predilection of MOG positive TM to conus localization, persistent bladder dysfunction was more common in patients with MOGAD (59% with MOGAD and 48% with AQP4 positive NMOSD), with up to 23% requiring long-term catheterization in both groups. In addition, neuropathic pain was less common in patients with MOGAD TM vs. NMOSD TM (29% vs. 13%) (32).

Discussion

Transverse myelitis is the second most common presentation of MOGAD, with a substantial number of patients presenting with paraor quadriplegia at nadir of the attack. Although generally purporting better outcomes than AQP 4 antibody positive NMOSD, some patients are left with persistent bladder dysfunction, erectile problems, and weakness. The diagnosis is often complicated by the lack of diagnostic specificity of low titers of MOG antibody in the serum, its serologic fluctuation from positive to negative and back to positive, disappearance in some cases when diagnostic workup is delayed by months, including initially normal MRI in up to 10% patients, and resolution of radiological abnormalities when MRI is done in a significantly delayed fashion. Moreover, many patients with low titer of MOG antibody in serum such as 1:20 or 1:40 are initially misdiagnosed with MOGAD and may go one to develop other conditions such as MS or NMOSD, among others. Long-term management of MOGAD-associated TM is complicated by the uncertainty as to whether the disease process will remain monophasic or become relapsing. Because MOG antibody titers can fluctuate and go from positive to negative to positive again, basing the risk of relapse purely on a decrease in titer or seroconversion to negativity does not appear to guarantee monophasic course of the disease. Recent data suggest that male gender and TM at onset may overall have a lower risk of relapse; however, small patient numbers, and the length of follow up continue to be important limiting factors. Because at least 40%-50% cases will remain monophasic, most clinicians will start preventive disease modifying treatment only if the disease proves to be of relapsing phenotype; others may choose to start disease modifying treatments after the first attack in those with poor response to initial treatment and significant residual disability, in fear that the second attack might be devastating to what may already be a significant neurological disability with poor quality of life and reduced independence. Currently there are no FDA approved drugs specifically targeting MOGAD. Despite several off label management options discussed above, some patients may relapse through multiple disease modifying therapies. Randomized controlled clinical trials are crucially needed to create an evidence-based treatment algorithm for those affected by MOGAD.

Author contributions

GP-G and EG made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work. NC provided MRI imaging Figure 1 and Table 1 with legends. All authors approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

EG has served on advisory boards and received honoraria from Horizon Therapeutics, Alexion, Genentech, Prevail Therapeutics and has received research support from NIH and Genentech.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10.3389/fneur.2023.1210972

References

1. Longbrake E. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated disorders. Continuum (Minneap Minn). (2022) 28:1171–93. doi: 10.1212/CON.000000000001127

2. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:268–82. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

3. Satukijchai C, Mariano R, Messina S, Sa M, Woodhall MR, Robertson NP, et al. Factors associated with relapse and treatment of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease in the United Kingdom. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2022) 5:e2142780. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.42780. Erratum in: JAMA Netw Open 2022;5(3):e225056

4. Fadda G, Flanagan EP, Cacciaguerra L, Jitprapaikulsan J, Solla P, Zara P, et al. Myelitis features and outcomes in CNS demyelinating disorders: comparison between multiple sclerosis, MOGAD, and AQP4-IgG-positive NMOSD. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:1011579. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.1011579

5. Dams L, Kraemer M, Becker J. MOG-antibody-associated longitudinal extensive myelitis after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. *Mult Scler.* (2022) 28:1159–62. doi: 10.1177/13524585211057512

6. Dias da Costa M, Leal Rato M, Cruz D, Valadas A, Antunes AP, Albuquerque L. Longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies following SARS-CoV-2 infection. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 361:577739. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577739

7. Mariano R, Messina S, Roca-Fernandez A, Leite MI, Kong Y, Palace JA. Quantitative spinal cord MRI in MOG-antibody disease, neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2021) 144:198–212. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa347

8. Dubey D, Pittock SJ, Krecke KN, Morris PP, Sechi E, Zalewski NL, et al. Clinical, radiologic, and prognostic features of myelitis associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:301–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.4053

9. Sechi E, Cacciaguerra L, Chen JJ, Mariotto S, Fadda G, Dinoto A, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD): a review of clinical and MRI features, diagnosis, and management. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:885218. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.885218

10. Ambrosius W, Michalak S, Kozubski W, Kalinowska A, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: current insights into the disease pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 22:100. doi: 10.3390/jims22010100

11. Wang C, Narayan R, Greenberg B. Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated with gray matter predominant transverse myelitis mimicking acute flaccid myelitis: a presentation of two cases. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2018) 86:42–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2018.06.003

12. Kim KH, Kim SH, Hyun JW, Kim HJ. Clinical and radiological features of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated myelitis in adults. *J Clin Neurol.* (2022) 18:280–9. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2022.18.3.280

13. Sechi E, Buciuc M, Pittock SJ, Chen JJ, Fryer JP, Jenkins SM, et al. Positive predictive value of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody testing. *JAMA Neurol.* (2021) 78:741–6. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2021.0912

14. Huda S, Whittam D, Jackson R, Karthikeayan V, Kelly P, Linaker S, et al. Predictors of relapse in MOG antibody associated disease: a cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e055392. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-055392

15. Sechi E, Krecke KN, Messina SA, Buciuc M, Pittock SJ, Chen JJ, et al. Comparison of MRI lesion evolution in different central nervous system demyelinating disorders. *Neurology.* (2021) 97:e1097–109. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000012467

16. Sechi E, Krecke KN, Pittock SJ, Dubey D, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Kunchok A, et al. Frequency and characteristics of MRI-negative myelitis associated with MOG autoantibodies. *Mult Scler*. (2021) 27:303–8. doi: 10.1177/1352458520907900

17. López-Chiriboga AS, Majed M, Fryer J, Dubey D, McKeon A, Flanagan EP, et al. Association of MOG-IgG Serostatus with relapse after acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and proposed diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated disorders. JAMA Neurol. (2018) 75:1355-63. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1814

18. Dos Passos GR, Oliveira LM, da Costa BK, Apostolos-Pereira SL, Callegaro D, Fujihara K, et al. MOG-IgG-associated optic neuritis, encephalitis, and myelitis: lessons learned from Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum disorder. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:217. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00217

19. Akaishi T, Takahashi T, Misu T, Kaneko K, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, et al. Difference in the source of anti-AQP4-IgG and anti-MOG-IgG antibodies in CSF in patients with Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum disorder. *Neurology*. (2021) 97:e1–e12. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000012175

20. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I, Borisow N, Asgari N, Pitarokoili K, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 2: Epidemiology, clinical presentation, radiological and laboratory features, treatment responses, and long-term outcome. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13:280. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-016-0718-0

21. Camera V, Holm-Mercer L, Ali AAH, Messina S, Horvat T, Kuker W, et al. Frequency of new silent MRI lesions in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease and aquaporin-4 antibody neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2137833. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.37833

22. B Syc-Mazurek S, Chen JJ, Morris P, Sechi E, Mandrekar J, Tillema JM, et al. Frequency of new or enlarging lesions on MRI outside of clinical attacks in patients with MOG-antibody-associated disease. *Neurology*. (2022) 99:795–9. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000201263

23. Shahriari M, Sotirchos ES, Newsome SD, Yousem DM. MOGAD: how it differs from and resembles other neuroinflammatory disorders. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* (2021) 216:1031–9. doi: 10.2214/AJR.20.24061

24. Etemadifar M, Salari M, Kargaran PK, Sigari AA, Nouri H, Etemadifar F, et al. Conus medullaris involvement in demyelinating disorders of the CNS: a comparative study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 54:103127. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103127

25. Sato DK, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Waters PJ, de Haidar Jorge FM, et al. Distinction between MOG antibody-positive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology*. (2014) 82:474–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000000101

26. Kitley J, Waters P, Woodhall M, Leite MI, Murchison A, George J, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders with aquaporin-4 and myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a comparative study. *JAMA Neurol.* (2014) 71:276–83. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5857

27. Fadda G, Banwell B, Waters P, Marrie RA, Yeh EA, O'Mahony J, et al. Canadian pediatric demyelinating disease network. Silent new brain MRI lesions in children with MOG-antibody associated disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 89:408–13. doi: 10.1002/ana.25957

28. Whittam DH, Karthikeayan V, Gibbons E, Kneen R, Chandratre S, Ciccarelli O, et al. Treatment of MOG antibody associated disorders: results of an international survey. J Neurol. (2020) 267:3565–77. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10026-y

29. Chen JJ, Huda S, Hacohen Y, Levy M, Lotan I, Wilf-Yarkoni A, et al. Association of maintenance intravenous immunoglobulin with prevention of relapse in adult myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *JAMA Neurol.* (2022) 79:518–25. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2022.0489

30. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Rollot F, Arrambide G, Deschamps R, Maillart E, et al. Clinical features and risk of relapse in children and adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 89:30–41. doi: 10.1002/ana.25909

31. Chang X, Zhang J, Li S, Wu P, Wang R, Zhang C, et al. Meta-analysis of the effectiveness of relapse prevention therapy for myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2023) 72:104571. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2023.104571

32. Mariano R, Messina S, Kumar K, Kuker W, Leite MI, Palace J. Comparison of clinical outcomes of transverse myelitis among adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody vs aquaporin-4 antibody disease. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2019) 2:e1912732. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.12732

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Lekha Pandit, Nitte University, India

REVIEWED BY Friedemann Paul, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Germany Michael Horn, Bern University Hospital, Switzerland Philippe-Antoine Bilodeau, Mass General Brigham, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Tammy L. Smith I Tammy.smith@hsc.utah.edu

RECEIVED 23 March 2023 ACCEPTED 27 June 2023 PUBLISHED 12 July 2023

CITATION

Smith TL, Haven TR, Zuromski LM, Luong K, Clardy SL and Peterson LK (2023) High level of agreement in a fixed vs. live cell-based assay for antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in a real-world clinical laboratory setting. *Eront Neurol* 14:1192644

doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1192644

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Smith, Haven, Zuromski, Luong, Clardy and Peterson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

High level of agreement in a fixed vs. live cell-based assay for antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in a real-world clinical laboratory setting

Tammy L. Smith^{1,2,3,4,5*}, Thomas R. Haven³, Lauren M. Zuromski³, Kyphuong Luong³, Stacey L. Clardy^{2,5} and Lisa K. Peterson^{3,4}

¹Geriatric Research Education and Clinical Center, George E. Whalen Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, ²Department of Neurology, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, ³ARUP Institute for Clinical and Experimental Pathology, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, ⁴Department of Pathology, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, ⁵Neurology Service, George E. Whalen Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

Introduction: As recognition of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody-associated disease becomes more widespread, the importance of appropriately ordering and interpreting diagnostic testing for this antibody increases. Several assays are commercially available for MOG testing, and based on a few small studies with very few discrepant results, some have suggested that live cell-based assays (CBA) are superior to fixed CBA for clinical MOG antibody testing. We aimed to determine the real-world agreement between a fixed and live CBA for MOG using two of the most commonly available commercial testing platforms.

Methods: We compared paired clinical samples tested at two national clinical reference laboratories and determined the real-world agreement between the fixed CBA and live CBA.

Results: Of 322 paired samples tested on both platforms, 53 were positive and 246 were negative by both methodologies (agreement 92.9%, Cohen's kappa 0.78, [0.69-0.86]). Spearman correlation coefficient was 0.80 (p < 0.0001). Of the discrepant results, only 1 of 14 results positive by the live CBA had a titer greater than 1:100, and only 1 of 9 results positive by the fixed CBA had a titer of greater than 1:80. Lower titers on the fixed CBA correlate to higher titers on the live CBA.

Conclusion: Overall, there is excellent agreement between fixed and live CBA for MOG antibody testing in a real-world clinical laboratory setting. Clinicians should be aware of which method they use to assess any given patient, as titers are comparable, but not identical between the assays.

KEYWORDS

myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), cell-based assay (CBA), MOG testing, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD), demyelinating disease, fixed CBA, live CBA

Introduction

Clinical testing for antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is increasingly done in the workup of suspected immune-mediated inflammatory demyelinating disorders of the central nervous system, given the phenotypic overlap of MOG antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) with neuromyelitis optica (NMO) spectrum disorders and multiple sclerosis (MS). In adults, MOGAD most often presents with optic neuritis, myelitis, or a combination of the two (1). In pediatric patients, the initial presentation is most commonly acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) or optic neuritis (2-4). When compared to those who are positive for antibodies to aquaporin-4 (AQP4), MOGAD patients tend to be younger, with equal numbers of males and females affected, and are more likely to have a monophasic disease course (5-10). The recognition that MOGAD represents a unique clinical syndrome with distinct epidemiology, relapse rates, and treatment responses has led to guidelines for diagnosis and antibody testing (11, 12).

As antibody testing for MOG becomes more widespread, it is critical that clinicians understand the differences between the various assays. Early studies of serum MOG antibodies used western blot or enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to detect the presence of autoantibodies; these assays showed that up to 38% of MS patients and 53% of patients with other inflammatory neurologic diseases (viral or bacterial encephalitis) have detectable MOG IgG, compared to 3% in patients with noninflammatory neurologic diseases (13). However, when cell-based assays (CBAs) using cell lines expressing native proteins were subsequently developed to detect anti-MOG antibodies, they were able to more clearly distinguish MS patients (negative for MOG-IgG with nearly 100% specificity) from MOGAD patients (14, 15). The technical differences between assays which use peptide antigens or denatured proteins (e.g., western blot, ELISA) and those using native full-length proteins (e.g., CBAs) are important to consider when interpreting test results; currently, CBAs are recommended for the diagnosis of MOGAD (12, 16, 17).

When CBAs are used for detection of MOG-IgG, laboratories may use live CBAs with detection via immunofluorescence (CBA-IF) or flow cytometry (CBA-FC) or fixed CBAs with detection via IF (fCBA-IF). Fixed CBAs are widely used in diagnostic laboratories because they allow for the purchase of validated, prepared slides from commercial sources. Live CBAs require maintenance and validation of the cell line within the individual laboratory, a technical hurdle, which limits their utility outside of specialized laboratory settings. Studies comparing these CBAs at multiple institutions using sera from patients with clinically defined syndromes or previously defined seropositive or seronegative samples have led to the dogma that live CBA are superior to fixed CBA (18–20). In this study, we sought to determine the real-world agreement between live CBA-FC and fCBA-IF performed at two major clinical reference laboratories in the United States using samples sent in for routine clinical testing.

Materials and methods

Standard protocol approvals, registrations, and patient consents

This study was approved by the University of Utah IRB (IRB_0082990 for the retrospective analysis and IRB_00068933 for the

validation and prospective testing); participant consent was waived, as data were extracted using a limited dataset and all testing was performed on residual clinical samples. Patient sera were identified by retrospective analysis of results from samples received from United States medical centers and tested for MOG antibodies between February 2019 and November 2022 at both ARUP Laboratories and Mayo Clinic Laboratories (MCL). Patients were included if they had MOG antibody testing performed at both ARUP and MCL using serum collected within 30 days of one another (to limit the possible impact of treatment on antibody titer). If multiple serum pairs from a given patient were available, the earliest submitted samples were prioritized, followed by the samples with the smallest time difference between them, for analysis. Patients were excluded if they had a MOG antibody result from only one of the laboratories, or multiple results from the same patient using sera collected more than 30 days apart. In addition to the retrospective analysis, prospective testing was performed on residual serum available at ARUP from patients tested for MOG antibodies at MCL. Specimens tested prospectively were obtained in one of three ways: as split aliquots prior to being sent to the MCL, as additional samples collected at the same time as the MCL sample, or as additional samples collected within 30 days of the original sample. These residual specimens were stored at -20°C until the time of testing. Each case was crosschecked with the retrospective analysis by the patient identification number and date of birth to avoid duplication of results in the final analysis. Additional samples from a validation cohort tested between October 2017 and February 2019 at MCL and used in validating the ARUP assay were included.

ARUP laboratories MOG assay

Testing for antibodies to MOG using fCBA-IF was performed at ARUP Laboratories as recommended by the manufacturer (EUROIMMUN, FA 1156-1010-50 Anti-Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein IIFT). Briefly, patient sera were screened at a 1:10 dilution on a substrate of fixed HEK293 cells transiently transfected to express a full-length human MOG protein. Slides were washed and incubated with FITC-conjugated anti-human IgG and examined for positivity by visual observation using a fluorescence microscope. If positive fluorescence was observed at the 1:10 dilution, additional testing was performed at serial 1:2 dilutions, and the highest dilution demonstrating positive fluorescence was reported as the end-point titer.

Mayo clinical laboratory MOG assay

Testing for antibodies to MOG using live CBA-FC was performed at MCL as previously described (14). According to Mayo Clinical Laboratories reported protocols, patient sera are routinely screened at a 1:20 dilution on a substrate of live HEK293 cells expressing fulllength MOG protein. Cells are washed and incubated with antihuman IgG1. Cells are washed again prior to evaluation by flow cytometry. Positivity is determined based on the ratio of mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of transfected cells to MFI of non-transfected cells. A ratio of 2.5 or greater is considered positive. If samples screen positive at 1:20, additional testing is performed at 1:40, 1:100, and subsequent 10-fold dilutions (1,100, 1:10,000, etc.) until MFI ratio drops below 2.5.

Statistical analysis

Correlation of parameters was analyzed with Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. Cohen's kappa statistic was used to assess the agreement between assays. All statistical analyses were performed using R Statistical Software (v4.1.2; R Core Team 2022) (21).

Data availability

Anonymized data not published within this article will be made available by request from any qualified investigator.

Results

In total, 322 serum samples were tested at both ARUP and MCL during the study period (Supplementary Figure 1). Of the 76 samples positive by either methodology, 53 were concordant between both assays, nine were positive by the ARUP fCBA-IF assay only, and 14 were positive by the MCL live CBA-FC assay only. 246 samples were negative by both assays. Overall, percent agreement between the two assays was 92.9 (Cohen's kappa 0.78, [0.69-0.86]). Spearman correlation coefficient was 0.80 (p < 0.0001; Figure 1).

Of the 14 samples positive by live CBA-FC and negative by fCBA-IF, 8/14 (57%) had an antibody titer of \leq 1:40, and 13/14 (93%) had an antibody titer of \leq 1:100. Of the nine samples positive by fCBA-IF and negative by live CBA-FC, 7/9 (78%) had an antibody titer of \leq 1:40 and 8/9 (89%) had an antibody titer of \leq 1:80. Antibody titers are not identical between the live CBA-FC and fCBA-IF; of the 53 samples positive by both assays, 45/53 (85%) had a higher titer by live CBA-FC than by fCBA-IF.



samples with the corresponding antibody titers.

Discussion

In a set of 322 serum samples analyzed for MOG-IgG by both live CBA-FC and fCBA-IF at two different clinical reference labs, we found an overall agreement of 92.9%, with a strong Spearman correlation coefficient (0.80). Previous studies have compared live and fixed CBA using samples from clinically or serologically defined subsets of patients (18, 19). Specifically, Waters et al. performed a comparison between live CBA-FC, live CBA-IF, and fCBA-IF in a clinically defined group of patients with ADEM, seronegative NMO, optic neuritis, or longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (n = 91)and found that of 25 samples positive by any of these methodologies, 21 were concordant on all three assays. The live CBA-IF detected 25 positives, the fCBA-IF detected 23 positives and the live CBA-FC detected 21 positives. In the control group of 244 MS patients, one false positive (FP) was identified by both the live CBA-FC and the fCBA-IF, and four additional FPs were identified by the fCBA-IF (18). Based on these results, the three assays have similar negative predictive values (ranging from 78.8 to 79.8) but diverging positive predictive value (100% for live CBA-IF, 95.5% for live CBA-FC, and 82.1% for fCBA-IF). While these statistics are valid, it is important to consider that this analysis includes a small number of discordant samples overall. Concluding that these data "emphasize the superiority of live CBA testing," as some have suggested, is an oversimplification (22).

Reindl et al. (19) conducted an international study to compare 11 different assays for MOG antibodies at five different testing centers, using a strategy whereby a predefined set of positive or negative serum samples were tested across all platforms. Of note, predefined samples were determined based on testing via live CBA at four different institutions. Cell based assays tested in the study included seven live CBAs (four CBA-IF, three CBA-FC) and one fCBA-IF. Of the 39 clear positive samples tested, 32/39 were positive in all eight CBAs, and 36/39 were positive in all seven of the live CBAs. Of the 40 samples tested as clear negatives, 39/40 were negative in all eight CBAs, and 40/40 were negative in all seven live CBAs. Overall, there was 90% concordance between all the CBA (similar to the 92.9% seen in our study) and 96% concordance across the live CBAs. In a second phase of the same study, low positive and borderline negative samples were compared between the assay platforms; there was 77% agreement between all eight of the CBA platforms tested, without a clear distinction between live or fixed CBA being superior (19). The inclusion of these borderline negative and low positive samples highlights the limitations of all of these assays when evaluating borderline results, and the key role treating clinicians play in interpreting the results of these assays within the clinical context of each patient.

Positive cutoffs vary from assay to assay. The live CBA-FC reported here is the same one used in a study looking at the positive predictive value (PPV) of MOG testing at various assay cutoffs (23). In that paper, two neurologists reviewed the charts of 92 positive MOG-IgG1 assays and found 26/92 (28%) were designated as FP by both raters. When the end-titer of the assay for MOG was 1:20–40, the PPV was 51%; this increased to 82% at an end titer of 1:100 and 100% when the end-titer of \geq 1:1,000 was used (23). To better understand the correlation between positive antibody titers in different assays, we plotted the assay titers for the live CBA-FC against the fCBA-IF in our study. Most of the samples that were negative by fCBA-IF yet

positive by live CBA-FC had titers below 1:1,000 (Figure 1). This figure also illustrates that lower titers on fCBA-IF correspond to higher titers by live CBA-FC. As these assays have different methodologies, the titers are not directly comparable. This is important to consider based on the recently published International MOGAD Panel proposed diagnostic criteria, which recommends a cutoff of \geq 1:100 for both of the assays described here to be considered a "clear positive," with lower titers needing additional supporting clinical or MRI criteria to be considered consistent with MOGAD (12). Future studies applying these diagnostic criteria to patients tested by both live CBA-FC and fCBA-IF are needed to better understand the ideal cutoff for each individual assay to optimize sensitivity and specificity.

As a reference laboratory receiving samples from around the country, we did not have access to patient information in the discrepant cases to determine whether these incongruities represented false positives or false negatives in these assays. The absence of patient information in regard to the core clinical demyelinating event, supporting clinical or MRI features, and the temporal association of the tested sample with attack, relapse, or immunotherapy represents a clear limitation of this study. It is noteworthy that both the live CBA-FC and fCBA-IF identified some positives that the other assay did not, and that these discrepancies tended to occur at lower assay titers (see Figure 1). The preponderance of discrepancies at low titers reinforces the importance of applying clinical criteria in addition to antibody testing when making a diagnosis of MOGAD. Recognizing that different CBA testing methodologies will not give identical titers, and that higher titers by live CBA-FC generally correspond to lower titers by fCBA-IF is an important idiosyncrasy to be aware of when interpreting these results. Of the results positive by both assays in our comparison, 45/53 (85%) had a higher titer when measured by live CBA-FC than when tested by fCBA-IF.

Our study demonstrates that in a real-world reference laboratory setting, there is a high degree of agreement between fCBA-IF and live CBA-FC. This, along with data from prior studies comparing CBAs in clinically and serologically defined populations, confirms that both fixed and live CBA are a reasonable option for clinicians who suspect MOGAD in their patients and seek serologic confirmation. False positives and false negatives are a reality of all clinical laboratory testing; in the case of MOG, false positives may lead to treatment with an inappropriate immunosuppressive medication or delayed diagnosis of a different clinical entity. Avoiding indiscriminate testing for antineural antibodies and selecting tests based on clear clinical criteria is important to improve the positive predictive value of these assays. Clinicians need to consider testing availability, turnaround time, cost at their institution, and reliability when ordering any test. Future studies need to focus on improving testing reliability and determining markers of monophasic vs. relapsing disease to further inform treatment decisions.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

TS, TH, SC, and LP contributed to the conception and design of the study. TS, TH, and LZ organized the data. TS and LZ performed statistical analysis. KL assisted with data collection. TS wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TH, LZ, and LP wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the ARUP Institute for Clinical and Experimental Pathology. Fees for the publication of this manuscript were paid for by a generous contribution from The Sumaira Foundation.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to the Autoimmune Immunology 1 laboratory at ARUP Laboratories for technical support.

Conflict of interest

TS, TH, LZ, KL, and LP are affiliated with the ARUP Institute for Clinical and Experimental Pathology, which performs the fCBA-IF reported herein. They receive no royalties from the sale of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody testing; however, ARUP Laboratories receives revenue from conducting such tests.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2023.1192644/ full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE S1

Flow chart showing consecutive steps for inclusion of sera in the study. (A) retrospective cohort strategy (B) prospective cohort strategy (C) validation cohort strategy.

References

1. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Maillart E, Audoin B, Zephir H, Bourre B, et al. Clinical spectrum and prognostic value of CNS MOG autoimmunity in adults. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1858–69. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005560

2. Serin HM, Yilmaz S, Simsek E, Kanmaz S, Eraslan C, Aktan G, et al. Clinical spectrum, treatment and outcome of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody-associated disease in children: a tertiary care experience. *Acta Neurol Belg.* (2021) 121:231–9. doi: 10.1007/s13760-020-01499-9

3. Wegener-Panzer A, Cleaveland R, Wendel EM, Baumann M, Bertolini A, Häusler M, et al. Clinical and imaging features of children with autoimmune encephalitis and MOG antibodies. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:e731. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000731

4. De Mol C, Wong Y, Van Pelt E, Wokke B, Siepman T, Neuteboom R, et al. The clinical spectrum and incidence of anti-MOG-associated acquired demyelinating syndromes in children and adults. *Mult Scler J.* (2019) 26:806–14. doi: 10.1177/1352458519845112

5. Höftberger R, Sepulveda M, Armangue T, Blanco Y, Rostásy K, Calvo AC, et al. Antibodies to MOG and AQP4 in adults with neuromyelitis optica and suspected limited forms of the disease. *Mult Scler J.* (2015) 21:866–74. doi: 10.1177/1352458514555785

6. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I, Borisow N, Asgari N, Pitarokoili K, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 2: epidemiology, clinical presentation, radiological and laboratory features, treatment responses, and long-term outcome. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13:280. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0718-0

7. Kitley J, Woodhall M, Waters P, Leite MI, Devenney E, Craig J, et al. Myelinoligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in adults with a neuromyelitis optica phenotype. *Neurology*. (2012) 79:1273–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31826aac4e

8. Kitley J, Waters P, Woodhall M, Leite MI, Murchison A, George J, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders with aquaporin-4 and myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a comparative study. *JAMA Neurol.* (2014) 71:276–83. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5857

9. Sato DK, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Waters PJ, Jorge FMH, Takahashi T, et al. Distinction between MOG antibody-positive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology*. (2014) 82:474–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000101

10. Pröbstel AK, Rudolf G, Dornmair K, Collongues N, Chanson JB, Sanderson NS, et al. Anti-MOG antibodies are present in a subgroup of patients with a neuromyelitis optica phenotype. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2015) 12:46. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0256-1

11. Jarius S, Paul F, Aktas O, Asgari N, Dale RC, De SJ, et al. MOG encephalomyelitis: international recommendations on diagnosis and antibody testing. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:134. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1144-2

12. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:268–82. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

13. Reindl M, Linington C, Brehm U, Egg R, Dilitz E, Deisenhammer F, et al. Antibodies against the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein and the myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis and other neurological diseases: a comparative study. *Brain.* (1999) 122:2047–56. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.11.2047

14. Waters P, Woodhall M, O'Connor KC, Reindl M, Lang B, Sato DK, et al. MOG cell-based assay detects non-MS patients with inflammatory neurologic disease. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflammation*. (2015) 2:e89. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000089

 Cobo-Calvo Á, d'Indy H, Ruiz A, Collongues N, Kremer L, Durand-Dubief F, et al. Frequency of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody in multiple sclerosis: a multicenter cross-sectional study. *Neurol Neuroinmunol Neuroinflammation*. (2020) 7:e649. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000649

16. Tea F, Lopez JA, Ramanathan S, Merheb V, Lee FXZ, Zou A, et al. Characterization of the human myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody response in demyelination. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2019) 7:145. doi: 10.1186/s40478-019-0786-3

17. Pauli FD, Berger T. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disorders: toward a new spectrum of inflammatory demyelinating CNS disorders? *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2753. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02753

18. Waters PJ, Komorowski L, Woodhall M, Lederer S, Majed M, Fryer J, et al. A multicenter comparison of MOG-IgG cell-based assays. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:e1250–5. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000007096

19. Reindl M, Schanda K, Woodhall M, Tea F, Ramanathan S, Sagen J, et al. International multicenter examination of MOG antibody assays. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:e674. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000674

20. Gastaldi M, Scaranzin S, Jarius S, Wildeman B, Zardini E, Mallucci G, et al. Cellbased assays for the detection of MOG antibodies: a comparative study. *J Neurol.* (2020) 267:3555–64. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10024-0

21. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria. (2013). Available at: http://www.R-project.org/

22. Yeh EA, Nakashima I. Live-cell based assays are the gold standard for anti-MOGab testing. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:501–2. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000007077

23. Sechi E, Buciuc M, Pittock SJ, Chen JJ, Fryer JP, Jenkins SM, et al. Positive predictive value of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody testing. *JAMA Neurol.* (2021) 78:741–6. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2021.0912

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY

Giovanna S. Manzano, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Terrence Thomas, KK Women's and Children's Hospital, Singapore

*CORRESPONDENCE Xu Wang Xuwang@jlu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 11 April 2023 ACCEPTED 16 June 2023 PUBLISHED 14 July 2023

CITATION

Xu M, Ma C, Dong M, Guo C, Yang S, Liu Y and Wang X (2023) Two case reports and a systematic review of the literature on adult cerebral cortical encephalitis with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1203615. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1203615

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Xu, Ma, Dong, Guo, Yang, Liu and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Two case reports and a systematic review of the literature on adult cerebral cortical encephalitis with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody

Meihui Xu^{1†}, Chi Ma^{2†}, Ming Dong¹, Chunjie Guo³, Simin Yang³, Yue Liu¹ and Xu Wang^{1*}

¹Department of Neurology and Neuroscience Center, the First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China, ²Department of Neurosurgery, the First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China, ³Department of Radiology, the First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China

Background and purpose: Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodyassociated disease (MOGAD) has gained recognition in recent years as an immune-mediated inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. The clinical features and prognosis of MOGAD adult cerebral cortical encephalitis (adult CCE) have not been fully elucidated. This study aims to further characterize the clinical symptoms, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings, and prognosis of CCE with anti-MOG antibody.

Methods: We present two adult cases of CCE with anti-MOG antibody and summarize the clinical symptoms, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings, and prognosis of this phenotype as per a completed systematic review of the literature.

Results: We found a total of 39 cases of MOGAD adult CCE (36% females; average age of onset of 29 years). Among them, 85% had seizure, 82% had headache, 64% had cortical symptoms, 64% had fever, 54% had changes of consciousness, and 38% had ocular symptoms. All cases demonstrated cerebral cortical T2 fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) lesions on MRI. Of the 25 patients (with seizure or not) who had EEG reports, 76% of patients showed abnormal EEG. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) white blood cell count of 90% of patients and CSF total protein of 67% of patients were elevated. In 16 patients with available CSF cytology data, 11 (69%) had abnormal cytology findings with monocytic predominance. In the 15 cases for which MOG antibody IgG was tested in both serum and CSF, 14 (93%) demonstrated a higher positive MOG IgG titer in serum than CSF. The majority of patients were treated with immunosuppressive therapy (97% corticosteroids, 15% mycophenolate mofetil, 13% IVIg, 5% azathioprine, and 5% other). The majority of patients had a favorable prognosis after treatment, as exemplified by improved clinical symptoms and imaging. Two patients relapsed.

Conclusions: The clinical presentation and prognosis of adult CCE remain less understood in comparison to more common MOGAD phenotypes. It is important to consider MOGAD as an underlying etiology for adult CCE, as early detection and immunotherapy may improve outcomes.

KEYWORDS

adult, cerebral cortical encephalitis, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease, MRI

Introduction

MOGAD is a recognized immune-mediated central nervous system inflammatory demyelinating disease. It is an independent spectrum of disease distinct from multiple sclerosis (MS) and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD). In 2017, Ogawa et al. (2017) proposed a unique clinical type: benign unilateral cortical encephalitis, which presented with epileptic seizures in the context of positive MOG antibodies (1). Since this initial description, further case reports and cohort studies describing CCE in MOGAD have been published (2-6). A systematic review of the literature of published cases revealed that clinical manifestations of CCE with anti-MOG antibody are diverse. The recognized diversity of the clinical presentation of MOGAD adult CCE highlights a need to differentiate this process from alternative diagnoses such as MS, NMOSD, leukodystrophies, and others. Herein, we report two cases of adult CCE with anti-MOG antibody positivity in conjunction with a systematic review of pertinent literature.

Case 1

A 24-year-old man (no past neurologic history) presented with persistent neck stiffness and occipital pain without known cause. Approximately one week later, he was admitted to a local hospital for management of status epilepticus. He required endotracheal intubation and there was no significant improvement in seizure control despite pharmacologic sedation. CSF examination showed pleocysis (310×10⁶/L, normal range 0~8×10⁶/L), normal protein (38 mg/dl), and elevated glucose (5.0 mmol/L). The autoimmune encephalitis antibodies (including anti N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antibody, anti-contactin-associated-protein-like 2 antibody, anti-leucine-rich gliomain activated 1 antibody, anti-aamino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-isoxazo-lepropionic acid receptor antibody, anti-y-aminobutyric acid-B receptor antibody, anti-IgLON5 antibody, anti-D2R antibody, and anti-DPPX antibody) in serum and CSF and virus antibodies (including HSV-I-IgG, HSV-I-IgM, HSV-II-IgG, HSV-II-IgM, TOX-IgG, TOX-IgM, CMVIgG, CMV-IgM, RVIgG, RVIgM, EBV capsid antigen antibody IgG, IgM and IgA, EBV early antigen antibody IgG, IgM, and IgA) in CSF were all negative. Serum leukocytosis was present (white blood cell count 22×10^9 /L, normal range 3.5~9.5×10⁹/L). T2 FLAIR brain MRI revealed hyperintense lesions involving the brainstem, left frontal, parietal, and temporal cortex, see Figures 1A, B; there was no contrast enhancement. A second lumbar puncture was then performed in order to observe changes in CSF, revealing persistent yet increasing leukocytosis $(26 \times 10^6/L)$ and normal protein (32 mg/dl). Empiric treatment for viral encephalitis was initiated with penciclovir, sodium valproate, dexamethasone, dehydrant, and symptomatic supportive treatment. After discharge, clinically significant diaphoresis and subjective concerns regarding fever remained, prompting re-admission; he was then transferred to our hospital with a temperature of 38.4°C. A repeat CSF examination revealed lymphocytic pleocytosis (293×10⁶/L, 77% lymph) and elevated protein (76 mg/dL). The following day, recurrent status epilepticus ensued. Brain MRI showed FLAIR hyperintense lesions in the left frontal cortex and bilateral temporo-parietal cortex, see Figures 1C, D. A fourth CSF examination three days later revealed leukocytosis (436×10⁶/L) and elevated protein (116 mg/dl), and cytological classification showed 35% lymphocytes, 55% neutrophils, and 10% monocytes. Central nervous system demyelinating autoantibodies (including anti-AQP4, anti-MOG, and anti-MBP) testing was performed. Serum and CSF anti-MOG antibodies were positive at titers of 1:100 and 1:10 (CBA), respectively. Anti-AQP4 was negative in the serum and CSF. The autoimmune encephalitis antibodies (including anti-Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor antibody, anti-contactin-associatedprotein-like 2 antibody, anti-Leucine-rich glioma inactivated 1 antibody, anti-a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-isoxazo-lepropionic acid receptor antibody, and anti-y-aminobutyric acid-B receptor antibody), paraneoplastic syndrome antibodies (including anti-Hu, anti-Yo, anti-Ri, anti-CV2(CRMP5), anti-Amphiphysin, anti-Ma1, anti-Ma2, anti-SOX1, anti-Tr(DNER), anti-Zic4, anti-GAD65, anti-PKCy, anti-Recoverin, and anti-Titin(MGT30)), and anti-ganglioside antibodies of serum (including anti-Sulfatide, anti-GM1, anti-GM2, anti-GM3, anti-GM4, anti-GD1a, anti-GD1b, anti-GD2, anti-GD3, anti- GT1a, anti-GT1b, and anti- GQ1b) were all negative. A diagnosis of MOGAD was concluded. Treatment was initiated with intravenous immunoglobulin 0.4 g/kg for 5 days and IV methylprednisolone (IVMP) 1 g/d for 3 days and the dose halved every 3 days. Oral prednisone tablets (1 mg/kg/d) were administered following the IVMP course. Two weeks later, repeat



FIGURE 1

T2 fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) of brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). [A–H patient 1, I–P patient 2]. T2 FLAIR brain MRI of patient 1 at initial presentation demonstrated hyperintensities involving the brainstem, left frontal, parietal, and temporal cortex (**A**, **B**). T2 FLAIR brain MRI after admission to our hospital and suffering from status epilepticus demonstrated hyperintensities involving the left frontal cortex and bilateral temporo-parietal cortex (**C**, **D**). Repeat T2 FLAIR brain MRI three weeks after immunotherapy initiation showed improvement in the bilateral temporo-parietal cortex (**E**, **F**). There were no obvious lesions on images seven months after the initial treatment (**G**, **H**). Axial T2 FLAIR brain MRI of patient 2 at initial presentation demonstrated hyperintensities involving the left temporal, parietal, and occipital cortex (**I**, **J**). T2 FLAIR brain MRI three weeks after disease relapse demonstrated multiple hyperintensities, in keeping with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis involving the bilateral thalamus, basal ganglia, and right centrum semiovale (**M**, **N**). At re-assessment four months after second discharge, the patient was clinically asymptomatic with improving FLAIR lesions on repeat T2 FLAIR brain MRI (**O**, **P**).

testing showed a decrease in MOG serum and CSF titers to 1:10 and 1:1, respectively. Electroencephalogram (EEG) demonstrated interictal, irregular sharp waves in the left temporal and right frontal regions. Repeat brain MRI three weeks from immunotherapy initiation showed improvement in FLAIR hyperintensity, see Figures 1E, F; there was no contrast enhancement. The visual evoked potential (VEP) and MoCA scale were normal. He was discharged with oral prednisone tablets (1 mg/kg/d, reduced by 1 tablet every two weeks), with ongoing clinical improvement. There were no obvious lesions on images seven months after the initial treatment, see Figures 1G, H, and the MOG antibody titer decreased (serum and CSF at titers of 1:1 and 1:1, respectively). After completion of a course of steroid tablets, he remains clinically improved without relapse and MOG antibody negative eleven months after the start of treatment.

Case 2

A 31-year-old woman (no past neurologic history) suffered from sudden headache without obvious cause. She was admitted to the local hospital with fever, nausea, and vomiting a week later, and empiric antibiotics were prescribed for concern regarding a bacterial infection. Three days later, she returned due to worsened headache. CSF analysis revealed elevated opening pressure (225 mmH₂O), leukocytosis (465x10⁶/L, normal range $0 \sim 8 \times 10^{6}$ /L), elevated protein (92 mg/dL), and normal glucose. Serum leukocytosis was also present ($16x10^{9}$ /L, normal range $3.5 \sim 9.5 \times 10^{9}$ /L). Empiric antivirals were initiated for presumed viral meningitis. Rapid clinical deterioration to unconsciousness ensued over a few hours. Repeat lumbar puncture revealed worsened opening pressure elevation (400mmH₂0), persistent

pleocytosis (208 cells/uL), and persistent elevated protein (72 mg/ dL). On the third day of admission, she was aware after supportive treatment and physical examination showed positive Kernig sign. This patient did not have papilledema. Brain MRI showed FLAIR hyperintensity in the left temporal, parietal, and occipital cortex and there was no contrast enhancement, see Figures 1I, J. The MOG antibody titer in the serum was positive at a titer of 1:10 (CBA). She was diagnosed with unilateral cortical encephalitis with anti-MOG antibody. Empiric IVMP (1 g/d for 3 days, dose halved every 3 days) was initiated with subsequent clinical improvement. On the 13th day of admission, the repeated LP pressure was 243 mmH₂O, and CSF examination revealed elevated leukocytes (24×10⁶/L) and protein (31 mg/dL). Repeated brain MRI showed no obvious lesions, see Figures 1K, L. She was discharged on oral prednisone tablets (1 mg/kg/d, reduced by 1 tablet every two weeks). The patient self-discontinued oral prednisone due to side effects and in this setting had disease relapse manifesting as paresthesias, blurry vision, and ataxia approximately 2 months later. Brain MRI showed multiple FLAIR hyperintensity, in keeping with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis involving the bilateral thalamus, basal ganglia, and right centrum semiovale, see Figures 1M, N. The MOG antibody titer in the serum was 1:10. IVMP again resulted in clinical improvement, and she was discharged with oral prednisone tablets (1 mg/kg/d, reduced by 1 tablet every two weeks) and mycophenolate mofetil (three tables each time, taken two times daily). At re-assessment four months after discharge, she was clinically asymptomatic with improving FLAIR lesions on repeat brain MRI, see Figures 10, P. The prednisone course was completed after three months of therapy, and she remains on mycophenolate mofetil monotherapy. A repeat serum MOG titer three months after completion of the steroid course was 1:32.

Methods

We searched PubMed for '[encephalitis] AND [MOG]' and '[cortical] AND [MOG]' to review the literature for cases of adult cortical encephalitis with anti-MOG antibody. All relevant published articles from 2017 through 2022 were reviewed for potential study inclusion. Cases were included if they (a) had predominantly cortical T2-FLAIR hyperintense lesions, (b) MOG-IgG antibodies were positive by CBA in serum and/or CSF, (c) were older than 18 years, and (d) excluded other infectious/autoimmune cases. Cases were excluded if available data were not sufficiently reported in the publication. Discrepancies between authors regarding the inclusion of cases were resolved by discussion. Information on the selected cases and our cases are presented in Table 1.

Results

A systematic literature review yielded 37 total cases meeting the inclusion criteria for our study of MOGAD adult CCE, supplemented by the 2 unique cases from our institution. Among these 39 cases, there was a slight male predominance (25M:14F), with an average age at clinical presentation of 29 years. Prominent

clinical features were seizure (85%), headache (82%), focal neurologic deficits (64%), fever (64%), altered mentation (54%), and ocular symptoms ranging from eye pain or photophobia to vision changes (38%). All cases demonstrated abnormal radiographic findings on brain MRI. Among these, T2 FLAIR hyperintense lesions were more commonly unilateral (79%), although bilateral hemispheric lesions were present in others (21%), with less common brainstem or corpus callosal involvement. Of the 25 patients (with seizure or not) who had EEG reports, 76% of patients showed continuous EEG monitoring abnormal in the seizure phase, 12/20 showed slow waves, 6/20 showed epileptic waves, and 2/20 showed decreased amplitude and brain function. The CSF white blood cell count of 90% of patients and CSF total protein of 67% of patients were elevated. In 16 patients with available cytological data, 11/16 showed elevated CSF cytology with monocytes as the dominant cell and 5/16 had polykaryocytes as the dominant cell. In 15/39 patients whose data were available for both serum and CSF MOG antibody IgG, 14/15 serum antibody titers were higher than those of CSF. A total of 38/ 39 patients received IVIg, IVMP, or oral prednisone therapy, while one case only received supportive treatment, and 10/39 received immunosuppressants such as azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil, rituximab, and adalimumab. Of the 39 reported cases, 2 cases (5%) relapsed, presenting with dizziness, memory impairment, slow responsiveness, paresthesia, blurry vision, ataxia optic neuritis, etc. Two patients relapsed and there was nothing unique about them. The relapse of case 2 was related to rapid discontinuation of oral prednisone, with a repeated MOG antibody titer in the serum of 1:10 (CBA), while, unfortunately, another patient who also relapsed after completion of appropriate oral prednisone tablets did not agree to undergo a MOG antibody titer assay again.

Discussion

MOGAD is a CNS demyelinating disorder with a variable spectrum of clinical disease, in part understood by the various anatomical regions where myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is present within the nervous system. It is exclusively expressed on the outer surface of the myelin sheath and plasma membrane of oligodendrocytes in the CNS. MOG can participate in microtubule stability as a regulator, can regulate immune responses as an activator of complement, and may have a significant role in cellular adhesion (33). The experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model by Spadaro et al. (2018) (34) showed that the pathogenic mechanisms of MOG antibody were complicated. On the one hand, it can induce blood-brain barrier damage and the activation of macrophages as a result of its synergy with MBP-specific T cells and antibodies, eventually leading to demyelinating changes via cytotoxicity and complement activation. On the other hand, it can interact with MOG-specific T cells to enhance the infiltration and activation of T cells, thereby enhancing the inflammatory response. A brain biopsy performed before glucocorticord therapy in the case of Ikeda et al. (8) showed mild inflammatory changes in the cortex and subcortex, without distinct demyelination. In the case of Patterson et al.
TABLE 1 Summary of the characteristics of 39 cases of MOGAD adult cerebral cortical encephalitis.

Case	Age/		Clinical	Manifestat	ions			Imaging	EEG	CSF WBC cell	Protein (mg/	MOG	MOG	Treatment	Relapse
(Reference)	Sex	Headache	Fever	Seizure	ND	CD	VS			(mono:poly)	dL) (CSF)	(serum)	(CSF)		
1 (1)	M/38	-	-	+	+	+	+	Unilateral	Slow waves	29(80:20)	35	1:512	1:32	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
2 (1)	M/36	_	_	+	+	+	+	Unilateral	Normal	63(98:2)	38	1:2048	1:4	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
3 (1)	M/23	+	_	+	_	+	_	Unilateral	Slow waves	101(51:49)	86	1:256	1:16	DEX, oral prednisone	No
4 (1)	M/38	+	_	+	+	+	_	Unilateral	—	311(41:59)	53	1:1024	—	IVMP	No
5 (3)	M/23	+	+	+	+	_	-	Unilateral	Slow waves	85	Elevated	Positive	Positive	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
6 (7)	M/24	+	+	+	+	+	-	Bilateral	Focal discharge	436	116	1:100	1:10	IVIg, IVMP, oral prednisone	No
7 (7)	M/25	+	+	+	+	_	-	Unilateral	_	219	68	1:100	1:10	IVIg, IVMP, oral prednisone	No
8 (8)	F/29	_	+	+	+	+	+	Bilateral	Delta waves	73(mono)	_	1:512	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
9 (9)	F/29	+	+	+	-	_	-	Unilateral	_	349	74	_	Positive	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
10 (<u>1</u> 0)	F/19	+	+	+	+	+	-	Unilateral	High-voltage slow waves	200(72:28)	56	1:256	1:128	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
11 (11)	M/27	+	+	+	+	+	_	Bilateral	Left amplitude is lower	205(mono 67%)	84	1:1024	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
12 (12)	F/39	+	+	_	+	+	+	Unilateral	_	64	49	_	1:8	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
13 (13)	F/31	+	-	+	_	_	_	Unilateral	Epileptiform abnormalities	Normal	46	1:10	_	IVMP, oral prednisone, MM	No
14 (14)	M/19	+	+	+	_	_	+	Unilateral	_	120	49	1:32	_	IVMP, oral prednisone, MM	No
15 (14)	M/23	+	_	+	+	+	_	Unilateral	_	Elevated	77	1:32	1:1	IVMP, oral prednisone, MM	No
16 (15)	F/31	+	+	+	_	+	_	Bilateral	Cerebral dysfunction	Normal	Normal	Positive	_	IVMP, oral prednisone, azathioprine	No
17 (16)	F/18	_	—	+	+	+	+	Unilateral	Slow waves	132	_	1:2560	1:64	IVMP, oral prednisone, rituximab	No

Xu et al.

(Continued)

10.3389/fimmu.2023.1203615

TABLE 1 Continued

Case	Age/		Clinical	Manifestat	ions			Imaging	EEG	CSF WBC cell	Protein (mg/	MOG	MOG	Treatment	Relapse
(Reference)	Sex	Headache	Fever	Seizure	ND	CD	VS			(mono:poly)	dL) (CSF)	(serum)	(CSF)		
18 (17)	M/23	+	+	+	+	+	-	Unilateral	Delta activity	57(15:85)	36	1:100	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
19 (18)	F/19	+	+	+	_	_	+	Unilateral	Normal	46(mono)	54	1:512	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	_
20 (19)	F/36	+	_	+	+	_	_	Unilateral	Slow waves	25lymp (lymp)	_	Positive	_	IVMP, oral prednisone, adalimumab	No
21 (20)	M/37	+	+	_	+	+	+	Unilateral	Slow waves	164 (34:66)	83.3	1:2048	1:64	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
22 (21)	M/34	+	_	+	+	_	+	Unilateral	_	411 (lymp 62%)	Elevated	Positive	Positive	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
23 (22)	M/20	+	+	+	+	+	-	Bilateral	Normal	80	48	1:10	_	IVMP, oral prednisone, MM	No
24 (22)	M/20	_	—	+	_	-	_	Unilateral	Sharp-slow waves	31	Normal	1:100	_	IVMP, oral prednisone, MM	No
25 (23)	M/30	+	+	+	+	+	_	Unilateral	Slow waves	324 (mono 83%)	108	Positive	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
26 (24)	M/23	+	_	+	+	-	+	Unilateral	Epileptic wave	32 (lymp69%)	54	1:1000	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
27 (25)	F/29	+	_	_	+	-	_	Unilateral	Normal	37 (27%poly)	61	Positive	_	IVMP	_
28 (26)	M/32	+	+	+	_	-	_	Bilateral	_	46	Normal	1:10	Negative	IVMP, oral prednisone, MM	No
29 (26)	M/28	+	+	+	_	+	+	Unilateral	_	105	Normal	1:10	_	IVMP	No
30 (27)	F/22	+	+	+	_	-	+	Unilateral	Normal	92 (mono 47%)	55.7	1:1024	_	Supportive treatment	No
31 (28)	M/31	+	_	_	_	_	_	Unilateral	Slow wave	114 (90:10)	48.5	1:1024	1:128	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
32 (18)	F/19	+	+	+	_	_	+	Unilateral	Normal	46 (mono)	54	1:512	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	_
33 (29)	M/44	_	+	+	+	—	_	Unilateral	_	43	58.2	Positive	_	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
34 (29)	F/52	+	_	+	+	+	_	Unilateral	_	12	26.9	Positive	_	IVMP, oral prednisone, azathioprine	No

(Continued)

10.3389/fimmu.2023.1203615

Case	Age/		Clinical I	Clinical Manifestations	ions			Imaging	EEG	CSF WBC cell	Protein (mg/	DOM	DOM	Treatment	Relapse
(Keterence)	SeX	Headache Fever	Fever	Seizure ND CD	QN	9	VS			(mono:poly)	al) (CSF)	(serum)	(LSF)		
35 (30)	M/39	+	+	+	+		+	Bilateral		I	I	Positive	I	IVIg, IVMP	No
36 (31)	M/55	+	+	I	+	+	+	Unilateral	Slow, Epileptic waves	2	48	1:80	1:40	IVIg, IVMP, oral prednisone	Yes
37 (32)	M/26	+	+	+	I			Unilateral	I	692	151	1:512	1:32	IVMP, oral prednisone	No
38 (Case 1)	M/24	I	+	+	+	+	I	Bilateral	Sharp or sharp slow waves	720 (polycyte)	38	1:100	1:10	IVIg, IVMP, oral prednisone	No
39 (Case 2)	F/31	+	+		I	+	I	Unilateral		465 (lymp 65%)	92	1:10	1:10	IVMP, oral prednisone	Yes
ND, neurological de	eficits; CD, c	consciousness or dv	sphrenia: V:	S. visual sympt	MM: sum:	M. mvcol	phenolat	e mofetil: "—"in	dicates negative in cli-	ND. neurological deficits: CD. consciousness or dysubrenia: VS. visual symptoms: MM. myconbenolate moferli. ""indicates negative in clinical manifestations and no clinical data in other items.	oclinical data in other it.	ems			

(12), a brain biopsy of the left parietal lobe and dura showed interstitial and perivascular lymphocytic infiltrates, with marked involvement of the vessel wall. These two brain biopsy cases did not present any evidence of demyelination. These pathological characteristics differed from the EAE model and those in previous reports on NMOSD, ADEM, and atypical MS. As mentioned by van der Valk et al. (35), in the process of myelin breakdown in MS, MOG is rapidly degraded, whereas the process for myelin basic protein (MBP) may take more time. The case reported by Ikeda et al. (8), demonstrating limited loss of MOG immunoreactivity, might suggest 'pre-active' lesions of demyelination. Fujimori's case did not exhibit the loss of MOG, probably because biopsy was performed after steroid therapy, and the treatment may modify the pathology. Further studies are still needed to elucidate the pathogenesis of this phenotype.

The clinical manifestations of cerebral cortical encephalitis with anti-MOG antibody are not typical. Many cases were delayed or even misdiagnosed due to various reasons, such as the neglect of clinical symptoms, self-medication, lack of doctors' theoretical knowledge, and so on. Our cases had clinical characteristics similar to infectious encephalitis; therefore, they were easily misdiagnosed initially without detection of anti-MOG antibody. A total of 9/39 patients were initially diagnosed with infectious encephalitis and were given antiviral or antibiotic treatment; however, the disease progressed during the treatment. In addition, a case (12) was misdiagnosed as central nervous system vasculitis, whose routine blood and cerebral imaging examination were normal, with cerebral biopsy showing lymphocyte infiltration in the small blood vessels and no obvious demyelinating lesions. The CSF MOG antibody was positive after retrospective analysis and the biopsy specimen showed no fibrinoid necrosis; the clinical diagnosis was then corrected. Therefore, it is of great significance to improve the detection of various examinations and tests, including head MRI and antibody, as soon as possible for early diagnosis of this disease. The rapid deterioration of our case 1 and the case by Hang Shu et al. (7) emphasizes the importance and necessity of early diagnosis and treatment.

In terms of imaging manifestations, it is necessary to distinguish whether MRI abnormalities are brain damage caused by epilepsy or MOG. In general, cortical damage caused by epilepsy is characterized by hyperintensity on diffusion-weighted MR images (DWI). Transient focal hyperintensity on DWI with corresponding reduction of the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) indicates cytotoxic edema, which is an increasingly recognized phenomenon in the phase of epileptic seizures (36), while CCE of MOGAD usually presents with cerebral cortical hyperintensity on FLAIR. Unilateral cerebral cortical lesions on FLAIR of MRI are more frequent, and cortical lesions may be accompanied by corresponding leptomeningeal enhancement (4). According to a literature review, CSF cytology of MOGAD-related CCE may be characterized by an inflammatory response dominated by neutrophils (37). Cerebrospinal fluid inflammation is easily confused with infectious diseases of the nervous system, and early diagnosis is difficult. Adequate etiological examination is needed to exclude infection. Since MOG-IgG is produced in the peripheral blood, serum is the preferred test sample, and CSF testing only provides supplementary information (37). The serum MOG-IgG titer was correlated with

FABLE 1 Continued

disease activity, and the titer was higher in the acute stage than in the remission stage. In addition, serum MOG-IgG titers were associated with treatment status and decreased after immunosuppression or plasmapheresis (38). In 15 available datasets for both serum and CSF MOG antibody IgG, the serum antibody titer was higher than that of CSF. Some studies have reported that the higher the antibody titer at the time of onset and the longer the duration of antibody positivity, the greater the likelihood of relapse (7). In addition, as a relapse biomarker, the expression of TNFAIP3 was downregulated during relapse as compared to remission in MOGAD patients (39).

The treatment response varies in cerebral cortical encephalitis with anti-MOG antibody. The first-line treatment of patients includes HIMP and IVIg in the acute stage, and significant improvements in clinical symptoms and imaging can usually be observed after steroid treatment. However, some patients relapse after withdrawal therapy, and therefore, patients may be treated with prolonged steroid tablets or immunosuppressive therapy, such as mycophenolate mofetil (MM), rituximad (RTX), and cyclophosphamide, to prevent relapse.

At present, a recommendation of diagnostic criteria for MOG encephalomyelitis (MOG-EM) has been proposed (38); however, there are no unified diagnostic criteria for CCE with anti-MOG antibody. There were a few cases of adult MOGAD with CCE reported internationally. We conducted a systematic review of the literature for a better understanding of this unique clinical phenotype. In general, clinical diagnosis must be made based on symptoms, signs, and auxiliary examinations. In particular, a diagnosis of adult CCE with anti-MOG antibody should be considered when young patients present with fever, headache, epilepsy, or unilateral (or bilateral) cortical or sulcus FLAIR hyperintensity. Timely detection of MOG antibody in serum is helpful for accurate diagnosis of this phenotype, avoiding misdiagnosis and unnecessary treatment.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

1. Ogawa R, Nakashima I, Takahashi T, Kaneko K, Akaishi T, Takai Y, et al. MOG antibody-positive, benign, unilateral, cerebral cortical encephalitis with epilepsy. *Neurol Neuroinflamm* (2017) 4:e322. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000322

2. Papathanasiou A, Tanasescu R, Davis J, Rocha MF, Singhal S, O'Donoghue MF, et al. MOG-IgG-associated demyelination: focus on atypical features, brain histopathology and concomitant autoimmunity. *J Neurol* (2020) 267:359–68. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09586-5

3. Budhram A, Mirian A, Le C, Hosseini-Moghaddam SM, Sharma M, Nicolle MW. Unilateral cortical FLAIR-hyperintense lesions in anti-MOG-associated encephalitis with seizures (FLAMES): characterization of a distinct clinico-radiographic syndrome. *J Neurol* (2019) 266:2481–7. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09440-8

4. Wang L, ZhangBao J, Zhou L, Zhang Y, Li H, Li Y, et al. Encephalitis is an important clinical component of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated demyelination: a single-center cohort study in shanghai, China. *Eur J Neurol* (2019) 26:168–74. doi: 10.1111/ene.13790

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

M-hX and YL collected the clinical data and reviewed the literature. M-hX and CM wrote the manuscript. C-jG and S-mY improve the quality of all the images. XW and MD critically revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81901083) and from the Fund of the First Hospital of Jilin University (No.2022-CXQ-03).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

5. Fujimori J, Nakamura M, Yagihashi T, Nakashima I. Clinical and radiological features of adult onset bilateral medial frontal cerebral cortical encephalitis with antimyelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody. *Front Neurol* (2020) 11:600169. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.600169

6. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Maillart E, Audoin B, Zephir H, Bourre B, et al. Clinical spectrum and prognostic value of CNS MOG autoimmunity in adults: the MOGADOR study. *Neurology* (2018) 90:e1858–69. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000 0000005560

 Shu H, Ding M, Shang P, Song J, Lang Y, Cui L. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated cerebral cortical encephalitis: case reports and review of literature. Front Hum Neurosci (2021) 15:782490. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2021.782490

8. Takai Y, Misu T, Kaneko K, Chihara N, Narikawa K, Tsuchida S, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: an immunopathological study. *Brain* (2020) 143:1431–46. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa102

9. Yamamoto D, Uchiyama T, Ohashi T, Iizuka T. Case of steroid-responsive unilateral encephalitis with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies. *Neurol Clin Neurosci* (2017) 5:101–2. doi: 10.1111/ncn3.12119

10. Sugimoto T, Ishibashi H, Hayashi M, Tachiyama K, Fujii H, Kaneko K, et al. A case of anti-MOG antibody-positive unilaterally dominant meningoencephalitis followed by longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2018) 25:128–30. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.07.028

11. Adachi H, Ide Y, Takahashi T, Yoneda Y, Kageyama Y. [Cerebral cortical encephalitis with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody]. *Rinsho Shinkeigaku* (2018) 58:767–70. doi: 10.5692/clinicalneurol.cn-001224

12. Patterson K, Iglesias E, Nasrallah M, Gonzalez-Alvarez V, Sunol M, Anton J, et al. Anti-MOG encephalitis mimicking small vessel CNS vasculitis. *Neurol Neuroinflamm* (2019) 6:e538. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000538

13. Jain K, Cherian A, Divya K, Rajalakshmi P, Thomas B, Nandana J. FLAMES: a novel burning entity in MOG IgG associated disease. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2021) 49:102759. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102759

14. Wang YF, Liu XW, Lin JM, Liang JY, Zhao XH, Wang SJ. The clinical features of FLAIR-hyperintense lesions in anti-MOG antibody associated cerebral cortical encephalitis with seizures: case reports and literature review. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:582768. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.582768

15. Budhram A, Sechi E, Nguyen A, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Flanagan EP. FLAIRhyperintense lesions in anti-MOG-associated encephalitis with seizures (FLAMES): is immunotherapy always needed to put out the fire? *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2020) 44:102283. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102283

16. Maniscalco GT, Allegorico L, Alfieri G, Napolitano M, Ranieri A, Renna R, et al. Anti-MOG-associated demyelinating disorders: two sides of the same coin. *Neurol Sci* (2021) 42:1531–4. doi: 10.1007/s10072-020-04892-7

17. Peters J, Alhasan S, Vogels CBF, Grubaugh ND, Farhadian S, Longbrake EE. MOG-associated encephalitis following SARS-COV-2 infection. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2021) 50:102857. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102857

18. Nie H, Gao H, Li Y, Shen Y. Unilateral cerebral cortical encephalitis (CCE) with positive anti-MOG antibodies: a case report. *Med (Baltimore)* (2021) 100:e26087. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000026087

19. Cabezudo-Garcia P, Vidal Denis M, Ciano-Petersen NL, Irigoyen-Oyarzabal MV, Serrano-Castro PJ. FLAIR-hyperintense lesions in anti-MOG-associated encephalitis with seizures (FLAMES) in a patient with crohn's disease on anti-TNF treatment. *Neurologia (Engl Ed)* (2021) 37(4):304–6. doi: 10.1016/j.nrl.2021.06.002

20. Ataka T, Kimura N, Matsubara E. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoproteinantibody-associated disorder presenting with corticomeningeal encephalitis prior to the onset of optic neuritis. *Intern Med* (2021) 60:3957–62. doi: 10.2169/ internalmedicine.7357-21

21. Chang YC, Sharma M, Budhram A. Unilateral cortical FLAIR-hyperintense lesion in anti-MOG-associated encephalitis with seizures (FLAMES) on TNF inhibitor therapy. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2021) jnnp-2021-326401. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2021-326401

22. Wang W, Yin J, Fan Z, Kang J, Wei J, Yin X, et al. Case report: four cases of Cortical/Brainstem encephalitis positive for myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein immunoglobulin G. *Front Neurol* (2021) 12:775181. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.77 5181

23. Kato T, Yamamoto A, Imai K, Menjo K, Ioku T, Takewaki D. [Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-positive unilateral cerebral cortical encephalitis occurring first as general convulsion after meningitis symptoms and second after headache]. *Rinsho Shinkeigaku* (2022) 62:217–23. doi: 10.5692/clinicalneurol.cn-001690

24. Haddad N, Roussel B, Pelcovits A, Rizvi S. Optic neuritis, encephalitis and leptomeningeal enhancement in a patient with anti-MOG antibodies: a case study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2019) :34. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.06.010

25. Matoba S, Inoue M, Morihata H, Takeshima T. Case report of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-positive encephalitis mimicking hemiplegic migraine. *Neurol Clin Neurosci* (2020) 8:323–5. doi: 10.1111/ncn3.12420

26. Tao R, Qin C, Chen M, Yu HH, Wu LJ, Bu BT, et al. Unilateral cerebral cortical encephalitis with epilepsy: a possible special phenotype of MOG antibody-associated disorders. *Int J Neurosci* (2020) 130(11):1161–5. doi: 10.1080/00207454. 2020.1720676

27. Otani T, Irioka T, Igarashi S, Kaneko K, Takahashi T, Yokota T. Self-remitting cerebral cortical encephalitis associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody mimicking acute viral encephalitis: a case report. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2020) 41:102033. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102033

28. Fujimori J, Ogawa R, Murata T, Jin K, Yazawa Y, Nakashima I. Unilateral chronic pulsatile headache as the single manifestation of anti-MOG antibody-associated unilateral cerebral cortical encephalitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2020) 346:577322. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577322

29. Kim KH, Cho J, Cho KH, Shin HY, Kim SW. Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-positive encephalitis with seizure and unilateral cortical fluidattenuated inversion recovery-hyperintense lesions. *J Clin Neurol* (2021) 17(3):481–3. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2021.17.3.481

30. Ma G, He J, Li Y, Xu Y, Hu Y, Cui F. Bilateral meningo-cortical involvement in anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-IgG associated disorders: a case report. *Front Neurol* (2021) 12:670349. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.670349

31. Guo L, Yun HJ, Tan X, Geng X, Ding Y. A case of unilateral recurrent cerebral cortical encephalitis with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies. *Brain Circ* (2022) 8(2):102–7. doi: 10.4103/bc.bc_30_22

32. Hokama H, Sakamoto Y, Hayashi T, Hatake S, Takahashi M, Kodera H, et al. A case report of FLAMES with elevated myelin basic protein followed by myelitis. *Intern Med* (2022) 61(23):3585–8. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.9439-22

33. Johns TG, Bernard CC. The structure and function of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. J Neurochem (1999) 72:1–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1999.0720001.x

34. Spadaro M, Winklmeier S, Beltran E, Macrini C, Hoftberger R, Schuh E, et al. Pathogenicity of human antibodies against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Ann Neurol* (2018) 84:315–28. doi: 10.1002/ana.25291

35. van der Valk P, De Groot CJ. Staging of multiple sclerosis (MS) lesions: pathology of the time frame of MS. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2000) 26:2–10. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2990.2000.00217.x

36. Chatzikonstantinou A, Gass A, Förster A, Hennerici MG, Szabo K. Features of acute DWI abnormalities related to status epilepticus. *Epilepsy Res* (2011) 97:45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2011.07.002

37. Jarius S, Lechner C, Wendel EM, Baumann M, Breu M, Schimmel M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid findings in patients with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies. part 2: results from 108 lumbar punctures in 80 pediatric patients. J Neuroinflamm (2020) 17:262. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01825-1

38. Jarius S, Paul F, Aktas O, Asgari N, Dale RC, de Seze RC, et al. MOG encephalomyelitis: international recommendations on diagnosis and antibody testing. *J Neuroinflamm* (2018) 15:134. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1144-2

39. Shrishti S, Hrishikesh L, Grace G, Radhika R, Timothy R, Tanuja C. Identification of TNFAIP3 as relapse biomarker and potential therapeutic target for MOG antibody associated diseases. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10:12405. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-69182-w

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Lekha Pandit, Nitte University, India

REVIEWED BY Tanuja Chitnis, Harvard Medical School, United States Elias S. Sotirchos, Johns Hopkins University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Yoshiki Takai ⊠ y-takai@med.tohoku.ac.jp

RECEIVED 21 April 2023 ACCEPTED 20 June 2023 PUBLISHED 21 July 2023

CITATION

Takai Y, Misu T, Fujihara K and Aoki M (2023) Pathology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: a comparison with multiple sclerosis and aquaporin 4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1209749. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1209749

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Takai, Misu, Fujihara and Aoki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Pathology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: a comparison with multiple sclerosis and aquaporin 4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders

Yoshiki Takai¹*, Tatsuro Misu¹, Kazuo Fujihara^{1,2} and Masashi Aoki¹

¹Department of Neurology, Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, Sendai, Japan, ²Department of Multiple Sclerosis Therapeutics, Fukushima Medical University, Fukushima, Japan

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is expressed on the outermost layer of the myelin sheath in the central nervous system. Recently, the clinical concept of MOG antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) was established based on the results of human MOG-transfected cell-based assays which can detect conformation-sensitive antibodies against MOG. In this review, we summarized the pathological findings of MOGAD and discussed the issues that remain unresolved. MOGAD pathology is principally inflammatory demyelination without astrocyte destruction, characterized by perivenous demyelination previously reported in acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and by its fusion pattern localized in both the white and gray matter, but not by radially expanding confluent demyelination typically seen in multiple sclerosis (MS). Some of demyelinating lesions in MOGAD show severe loss of MOG staining compared with those of other myelin proteins, suggesting a MOG-targeted pathology in the disease. Perivascular cuffings mainly consist of macrophages and T cells with CD4-dominancy, which is also different from CD8+ T-cell-dominant inflammation in MS. Compared to aquaporin 4 (AQP4) antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD), perivenous complement deposition is less common, but can be seen on myelinated fibers and on myelin degradation products within macrophages, resembling MS Pattern II pathology. Thus, the pathogenetic contribution of complements in MOGAD is still debatable. Together, these pathological features in MOGAD are clearly different from those of MS and AQP4 antibody-positive NMOSD, suggesting that MOGAD is an independent autoimmune demyelinating disease entity. Further research is needed to clarify the exact pathomechanisms of demyelination and how the pathophysiology relates to the clinical phenotype and symptoms leading to disability in MOGAD patients.

KEYWORDS

myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein, antibody, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, perivenous demyelination, confluent demyelination, multiple sclerosis lesion pattern-II

1. Introduction

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is a glycoprotein (consisting of 218 amino acids) expressed in oligodendrocytes and is characterized by its distribution in the outermost layer of the myelin sheath (1). MOG is composed of multiple splicing variants (2, 3), all of which have extracellular immunoglobulin variable domains and thus belong to the immunoglobulin superfamily (4). Because of these structural features, MOG has a long history of research as an autoantigen that can induce inflammatory demyelinating pathology in the central nervous system (CNS) (5-9), and is one of the best-studied antigens in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (10-12). Therefore, autoantibodies against MOG have long been considered a potential cause of human inflammatory demyelinating diseases, particularly multiple sclerosis (MS). However, the discovery of clinically relevant MOG antibodies in human disease has not been successful until recently. Previous results on the detection of MOG antibodies by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) or Western blot were confusing due to the low specificity (13). This is because the antigen is linear in ELISA or denatured in Western blot such that the three-dimensional structure of native MOG was lost; the issue was resolved when the conformation-sensitive MOG antibody became detectable by human MOG-transfected cell-based assays (CBAs) (14-16). As a result, MOG antibodies have been found in patients with optic neuritis, acute myelitis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD) without aquaporin 4 (AQP4) antibodies (17, 18), acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) (19, 20), and brainstem (21-23) and cerebral cortical encephalitis (24-26). In contrast, typical MS patients are essentially negative for MOG antibodies (27, 28). Consequently, patients with MOG antibodies came to be recognized as belonging to a group with inflammatory demyelinating conditions distinct from MS, and the international diagnostic criteria of MOG antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) were recently published (29).

In this review, we summarized the histopathological findings of MOGAD in published studies. In particular, we outlined the pathologies typically found in MOGAD and the issues that remain unresolved because of inconsistent results in previous studies. We also discussed the unique pathogenesis of MOGAD by comparing it with MS and AQP4 antibody-positive NMOSD (AQP4+NMOSD).

2. Histopathological features of MOGAD

2.1. Patterns of demyelination

The pattern of demyelination seen in well-known inflammatory demyelinating diseases can be classified into "confluent demyelination" in MS, "perivenous demyelination" in ADEM and "concentric demyelination" in Balo's disease (Figure 1) (30, 31). "Confluent demyelination" is characterized by fusion and enlargement of perivascular demyelinating lesions with well-defined borders, resulting in the formation of large plaques, and the lesions may occasionally exhibit a map-like morphology (Figure 1A). On the other hand, "perivenous demyelination" is the one with indistinct borders around a single small vessel with inflammatory cell infiltration, and

often multifocal (Figure 1B). Perivenous demyelination is considered useful in the pathological differentiation of ADEM from MS (32). However, it should be noted that we may miss "perivenous demyelination" because it can be very small, and the activity of myelin phagocytosis by macrophages is sometimes scarce, requiring careful observation (Figure 2).

The pathology of MOGAD is characterized by a mixture of perivenous and confluent demyelinating lesions (Figure 1D) (33, 34), and their proportions may depend on the timing of tissue sampling and disease severity (Tables 1, 2) (24, 33-47). The median time to tissue sampling in our study (one month) (33) was shorter than that in Höftberger et al. (seven months) (34) (Table 1), and the demyelination patterns in the two studies were different (90% of the lesions in our cases had perivenous demyelination, while 50% of the lesions in Höftberger's study had a transitional pattern [a combination of perivenous and confluent demyelinations]). However, it is important to mention that among confluent demyelinating lesions, slowly expanding lesions (SELs) typically seen in the subacute to chronic stage of MS (Figure 3) (48) are rarely observed in MOGAD patients (34) or AQP4+NMOSD patients (49). SELs are characterized by the accumulation of activated macrophages/microglia at the lesion edge with iron deposition (50), which is thought to be involved in the progression of MS (51-53). In other words, demyelinating lesion formation in MOGAD patients is characterized by simultaneous development of multiple perivascular inflammatory demyelination and its fusion to form confluent demyelination, which is different from radial expansion of the lesions in MS.

2.2. Distribution of demyelinating lesions

Demyelinating lesions in MOGAD patients are found mainly in the white matter but also in the subpial cortex to cortico-medullary junction and deep gray matter (Figure 4) (33, 34, 47). Within these lesions, CD68-positive macrophages/microglia widely infiltrate the cortex (Figure 4). The frequency of cortical demyelination is reported to be higher in MOGAD patients with cerebral involvement than in MS patients (34), which is compatible with the high incidence of cortical involvement in MOGAD patients, evidenced by conditions such as ADEM and cerebral cortical encephalitis (29). In addition, inflammatory cells infiltrate around meningeal vessels adjacent to subpial demyelinating lesions (33, 34, 45, 47). In cerebral cortical encephalitis of MOGAD patients, brain MRI scans often show contrast enhancing effects in the meninges which may reflect such inflammation around the meningeal vessels (47).

2.3. Preferential loss of specific myelin component(s)

When evaluating demyelinating lesions, it is important to identify primarily damaged myelin component(s) by immunohistochemistry to assess the type and stage of the disease (48, 54). Our study and several previous case reports indicated that some demyelinating lesions found in patients with MOGAD showed MOG-dominant myelin loss especially in the early-stage (Figure 5) (33, 37, 42, 46), and some myelin-laden macrophages localized at the perivascular space showed MOG-dominant phagocytosis (33). In addition,



FIGURE 1

Various types of demyelination. (A) Confluent demyelination (SPMS). (B) Perivenous demyelination (ADEM). (C) Concentric demyelination (Balo's disease). (D) Mixed pathology of confluent and perivenous demyelination (MOGAD). (A–D) Klüver-Barrera staining. ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease; SPMS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis.



FIGURE 2

Perivenous demyelination in MOGAD. A demyelinating lesion was seen around small vessels with inflammatory cell infiltration. There were a small number of macrophages that phagocytosed myelin debris (insert in **B**). (A) MBP, (B) MOG (blue)/CD68 (brown). MBP, myelin basic protein; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MOGAD, MOG antibody-associated disease.

Reference		Takai et al. (<mark>33</mark>)	Höftberger et al. (34)
	Patients, n	11	24 (Autopsy 2)
	Age (year)	29 (9-64)*	10 (1-66)*
	Female/Male (female %)	6/11, 55%	13/22, 59%
Clinical findings	Diagnosis	ADEM-like: 6/11 LE: 3/11 CCE: 2/11	ADEM-like: 11/18 NMOSD: 1/18 Myelitis: 2/18 ON: 2/18 CCE: 1/18 BS: 1/18
	Time from attack to biopsy (month)	1 (0.5–96)*	7 (0–516)*
	Total follow up period (month)	33 (12–180)*	43 (3-516)*
	Demyelination pattern		
	Perivenous (ADEM-like)	91%	21%
	Confluent (MS-like)	2%	29%
D . 1	Transitional (perivenous + confluent)	7%	50%
Pathology	MOG-dominant myelin loss	37%	0%
	Astrocytopathy	0/11 (0%)	0/17 (0%)
	CD4-dominant T-cell infiltration	10/11 (91%)	+
	Complement deposition	2/11 (18%)	8/8 (100%)

TABLE 1 Comparison of clinical findings and pathology of MOGAD in two studies of more than 10 patients.

*Median (range). ADEM, acute demyelinating encephalomyelitis; BS, brain stem lesion; CCE, cortical encephalitis; LE, leukoencephalopathy; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MOGAD, MOG antibody-associated disease; MS, multiple sclerosis; ON, optic neuritis.

oligodendrocytes are relatively preserved in MOGAD demyelinating lesions (33, 37, 38, 44). These findings support that MOGAD actually targets MOG and that its demyelination process may initially occur on the surface of the myelin sheath. However, Höftberger et al. reported no MOG dominant myelin loss in their study (34), and it remains to be clarified what this difference originated from. On the other hand, some reports indicated that preferential loss of myelin associated glycoprotein (MAG) could occur in MOGAD patients although the incidence was very low (34, 40). Since MAG is expressed in the innermost layer of the myelin sheath and is most distant from the oligodendrocyte cell body, preferential loss of MAG is thought to reflect oligodendrocyte damage (distal oligodendrogliopathy) (55). This finding is seen in patients with MS pattern III lesions (56); Balo's disease (57); AQP4+NMOSD (58); and ischemic tissue damage such as cerebral infarction (59). Since MOG is also expressed at the surface of oligodendrocytes, depending on the concentration or characteristics of MOG antibodies, some oligodendrocytes may be damaged by MOG antibodies.

2.4. Characteristics of inflammatory cell infiltration

The cellular infiltrate in inflammatory demyelinating lesions is composed mainly of myelin phagocytosing macrophages at the sites of demyelination and T-cell clusters in the perivascular space (perivascular cuffing). Infiltrating cells in the lesions of MOGAD are essentially similar (Tables 1, 2), but a characteristic feature of MOGAD is CD4+ T-cell-dominant infiltration in the demyelinating lesions (33, 34), which is different from the dominance of CD8+ T-cell infiltrates in MS lesions (60, 61). Some of those CD4+ T cells in MOGAD might be reactive to MOG epitopes. However, it should be noted that the timing of the sampling of specimens should be considered. In AQP4+NMOSD, the main subpopulation of T cells infiltrated in the lesions changes from CD4 in the acute phase to CD8 in the chronic phase of the disease (49). Most of the CNS tissue specimens of MOGAD patients examined in the published studies were obtained in the acute phase, and the pathological findings in the chronic phase have not been examined. Therefore, the characteristics of T cells infiltrating the lesion may reflect differences in the stage of the disease rather than pathogenesis, and further detailed verification is required in the future. However, it is known that the levels of T helper 17 (Th17)-related cytokines are markedly elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients during the acute phase of MOGAD and AQP4+NMOSD when compared with those of MS patients and control subjects (62). Thus, in the acute phase, T-cell subpopulations infiltrating the lesions are different between MOGAD and MS patients.

B cells are seen in small numbers in the perivascular space, but are less frequent than T cells (33, 34). Additionally, ectopic lymphoid follicles, as reported in MS (63, 64), have not been detected in MOGAD patients. However, occasionally B-cell aggregates may be seen in the leptomeninges (47). In MOGAD patients, intrathecal production of MOG antibodies seems to occur more frequently than in AQP4+NMOSD patients (65–68), suggesting that B cells infiltrating the CNS produce MOG antibodies and contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease. In addition, CXCR4 is upregulated in B cells in patients with MOGAD (69), and its ligand, CXCL12, is known to be elevated in the CSF (70). Thus, CXCL12/CXCR4 may contribute

TABLE 2 Summary of the clinical and pathological findings of MOGAD in case reports.

А					
Clinical findings					Reference
Case	Age	Sex	Clinical phenotype	Antibody other than MOG	Author
1	49	F	Rel.TDL (open ring)	nr	Konig et al. (35)
2	71	М	Blt.ON, MY, multiple brain lesions	AQP4	Di Pauli et al. (36)
3	66	F	Rel.myelitis + TDL (open ring)	-	Spadaro et al. (37)
4	63	F	CIS	-	Jarius et al. (38)
5	67	F	Rel.LETM + TDL (multiple)	-	Wang et al. (39)
6	49	М	ADEM (MY + multiple brain lesion)	nr	Körtvélyessy et al. (40)
7	34	М	ADEM (MY + multiple brain lesion)	nr	
8	28	F	Blt.ON + TDL (infiltrative)	-	Zhou et al. (41)
9	25	F	ADEM + ON	-	
10	29	F	CCE + Blt.ON	-	Ikeda et al. (42)
11	46	М	CCE+ON	-	Fujimori et al. (24)
12	47	М	ADEM (diffuse)	-	Komatsu et al. (43)
13	45	М	TDL (infiltrative)	-	Shu et al. (44)
14	6	F	TDL (infiltrative)	-	
15	37	F	CCE+MY	-	Papathanasiou et al. (45)
16	40	М	CCE + multiple brain/brain stem lesion	P/C-ANCA	
17	52	F	TDL (lymphoma)	-	Uzura et al. (46)
18	17	М	CCE + ON + MY	-	Valencia-Sanchez et al. (47)
19	35	F	CCE	-	

Pathological findings

		Domusion		Damaged	Astrocytopath	יy	Site of c	omplement dep	osition		Infiltrating
Case	Material	Demyelination pattern	Oligodendrocyte	myelin component	Astrocyte morphology	AQP4- loss	Myelin	Inside macrophage	Perivascular	lgG deposition	inflammatory cells
1	Biopsy (Brain)	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	+	Nr	Nr	М, Т
2	Autopsy	Confluent	Preoligodendrocyte	MOG = MBP > CNP ase	Loss	+	Nr	Nr	+	Nr	CD3, CD8, low B,
3	Biopsy (Brain)	Confluent	Preserved	MOG>PLP	Reactive	_	+	+	_	Diffuse with fiber	M, T (CD8)

(Continued)

10.3389/fneur.2023.1209749

В

Fatho	logical findin	lys									
		Demyelination		Damaged	Astrocytopat	hy	Site of c	complement dep	position	lgG	Infiltrating
Case	Material	pattern	Oligodendrocyte	myelin component	Astrocyte morphology	AQP4- loss	Myelin	lnside macrophage	Perivascular	deposition	inflammatory cells
4	Biopsy (Brain)	Nr	Preserved	Even	Reactive	-	Nr	+	Nr	Macrophage	CD4=CD8, B
5	Biopsy (Brain)	Confluent	Nr	Nr	Reactive	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	M, T, low B
6	Biopsy (Brain)	Confluent	Apoptosis	MAG>MOG	Nr	Nr	+	+	Nr	+	M,T (CD8), B
7	Biopsy (Brain)	Confluent	Preserved	Even	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	+	Nr	M (rim), T dominant, CD8
8	Biopsy (Brain)		N		D. C		N	N	N		
9	Biopsy (Brain)	Confluent	Nr	Nr	Reactive	-	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	M, T (CD4), low B
10	Biopsy (Brain)	Perivenous, subpial	Preserved	MOG > MAG, MBP	Reactive	-	-	-	-	-	M, T (CD4>CD8), low B
11	Biopsy (Brain)	No demyelination	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	M, T, B
12	Biopsy (Brain)	Perivenous, confluent	Preserved	MOG > MAG, MBP	Reactive	-	+	+	-	Diffuse	M, T (CD4 > CD8), low B
13	Biopsy (Brain)	Confluent	Preoligodendrocyte	Nr	Reactive	Decrease	-	Minor	-	Nr	M, T (CD4 > CD8), low B
14	Biopsy (Brain)	Confluent	Preoligodendrocyte	Nr	Reactive	Decrease	-	Minor	-	Nr	M, T (CD4 > CD8), low B
15	Biopsy (Brain)	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	M, T, B
16	Biopsy (Brain)	Perivenous, confluent	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Т, В
17	Biopsy (Brain)	Perivenous, confluent	Preserved	MOG > MAG, MBP	Reactive	_	_	-	_	Perivenous	M, T, low B
18	Biopsy (Brain)	Perivenous, subpial	Nr	even	Nr	Nr	-	_	_	Nr	M, T (CD4>8)
19	Biopsy (Brain)	Subpial	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr	M, T (CD4=8), B*
	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	1		

(A) ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; ANCA, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody; AQP4, aquaporin 4; Blt., bilateral; CCE, cerebral cortical encephalitis; CIS, clinically isolated syndrome; F, female; LETM, longitudinally extensive transvers myelitis; M, male; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease; MY, myelitis; ON, optic neuritis; P/C, perinuclear/cytoplasmic; Rel., relapsing; TDL, tumefactive demyelinating lesion. *, **Same patient in case11* and case7** in reference (33). (B) Nr, not reported; MAG, myelin associated glycoprotein; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MBP, myelin basic protein; CNP, 2',3'-Cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase; PLP, Proteolipid protein; M, macrophage; T, T cells; B, B cells. +, present; –, absent. *Focal meningeal B-cell agglutination without features of ectopic B-cell follicles.

to the chemotaxis of B cells and other inflammatory cells in MOGAD patients (71).

2.5. Deposition of humoral immunity and complement activity

Since MOG antibodies are mainly composed of those in the IgG1 subclass (27, 72), complement-mediated cytotoxicity (CDC) has been



FIGURE 3

Slowly expanding lesion in SPMS. A large well-demarcated demyelinating lesion was seen with peripheral infiltration of myelin phagocytosed macrophages (insert). MBP (blue)/CD68 (brown). MBP, myelin basic protein; SPMS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis.

considered to contribute to the pathogenesis of MOGAD. In fact, both in vitro and in vivo, it has been reported that MOG antibody-induced cytotoxicity and demyelination can occur in a complement-mediated manner (72-74). Indeed, some previous case reports on biopsied brain lesions in MOGAD patients showed the deposition of complement components on myelin fibers and myelin debris phagocytosed by macrophages, and the authors concluded that the lesions were probably caused by humoral immune-mediated demyelination, such as MS pattern II lesions (37, 38, 40, 56). This type of MS lesion is histologically characterized by extensive confluent demyelination with tissue deposition of humoral immune factors such as complements and immunoglobulins (22). However, the histopathological findings of complements in MOGAD patients remain debatable, as the reported results have been inconsistent (33, 34). In our study, only 2 of 11 MOGAD patients showed tissue deposition of complement, which was much less frequent and dense than in AQP4+NMOSD patients with perivascular deposition of activated complements (C9neo) in all acute lesions (33). However, Höftberger et al. concluded that active complement deposition was observed in all 8 patients they evaluated (34) (Table 2). This difference may be due to the clinical severity, timing of tissue sampling or interindividual variability in the severity of MOG-IgG-related cytotoxicity other than complement activation, such as antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP) and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (75, 76). However, a recent in vitro study demonstrated that MOG antibodies elicited much less complement activation than AQP4 antibodies (77). AQP4 has two isoforms, M1 and M23, that differ in their transcription start sites (78). AQP4-M1 and M23 are coexpressed in the CNS, and M23 is known to form large well-ordered assemblies called orthogonal arrays of particles (OAPs) (78) and is reported to be more highly expressed in the optic nerve and spinal cord, where NMOSD lesions are more likely to occur (79).



FIGURE 4

Subpial demyelination in MOGAD. (A) Myelin fibers were widely lost in the subpial cortex. Perivenous demyelination was observed at the corticalmedullary junction. (B) CD68 positive macrophages/microglia were diffusely infiltrated the demyelinated cortex. (A) MBP, (B) CD68. MBP, myelin basic protein; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease.



The formation of OAPs allows AQP4 to be densely expressed on the cell surface, facilitating AQP4 antibody clustering on the cell membrane. The classical complement activation pathway is initiated by the binding of C1q to the Fc portion of IgG, but requires bivalent or multivalent binding (80). Thus, complement components are more likely to be activated when IgG is densely bound on the plasma membrane, and in fact, the presence of OAPs significantly enhanced complement-mediated cytotoxicity by the presence of AQP4 antibodies (81). On the other hand, MOG constitutes a quantitatively minor component (0.05%) of the myelin sheath (1), and MOG antibodies require bivalent binding when binding to MOG, making it difficult for them to assemble on the cell membrane, and resulting in low C1q binding ability (82). It is necessary to study in detail whether the amount and characteristics of MOG antibodies affect the degree of complement activation following binding to AQP4.

3. Comparison between MOGAD and MS

The dominant pattern of demyelinating lesions (perivenous demyelination) in MOGAD is similar to that of ADEM rather than MS. The characteristics of infiltrating T cells also differ in MOGAD and MS, as noted above (Table 3). However, we cannot rule out the possibility that some patients with MOGAD may have a pathology similar to MS since previous studies on MOG-EAE have demonstrated that the ratios of myelin antigen-specific lymphocytes and

autoantibodies to myelin could influence the dominance of perivenous or confluent demyelination (8, 85). Additionally, there is a report that MOG antibodies purified from two MOGAD patients (whose MOG antibodies were capable of binding to rodent MOG) and administered intrathecally to EAE subjects induced by MOG-specific T cells did not produce demyelinating lesions with deposition of activated complement, but in the presence of MBP-specific T cells, demyelinating lesions similar to MS pattern II developed (86). These findings suggested that T cells in some cases of MOGAD may recognize myelin protein(s) other than MOG and activate complements. Thus, further investigations are needed to confirm whether this is the case in the human pathology of MOGAD. However, it should be noted that MS Pattern II is a pathological classification proposed before the discovery of conformation-sensitive MOG antibodies and includes many brain biopsy samples from cases with atypical or fulminant cerebral lesions for MS (56). Jarius et al. found that only one of the 13 cases with MS Pattern II pathology was positive for MOG antibodies and suggested its limited involvement (38). Therefore, it may include other inflammatory demyelinating pathologies than MS and MOGAD and require further verification.

4. Comparison between MOGAD and AQP4+NMOSD

The fundamental difference in the pathologies of the two diseases is that the main target of immune attack is myelin in MOGAD but is

Disease	MOGAD	MS	AQP4+NMOSD
Primary target	Myelin > Oligodendrocyte	Myelin, Oligodendrocyte	Astrocyte
Histopathology			
Lesion distribution	Mainly in WM, the cerebral cortex and deep GM can also be involved	Mainly in periventricular and juxtacortical WM, (cerebral cortex in the progressive phase)	Both WM and GM, mainly in the spinal cord and optic nerves
Pattern of demyelination	Perivenous > Confluent or Transitional*	Confluent (SEL in the progressive phase)	Secondary in the astrocyte lytic lesions, Distal oligodendrogliopathy
Lesion edge	Ill-defined ~ sharply defined	Sharply defined	Sharply defined
Damaged myelin proteins	MOG>or=others	MAG>others (in Pattern III) or Even (in the other patterns)	MAG> others
Oligodendrocyte	Relatively preserved	Partially loss ~ regenerate	Loss
Astrocyte	Reactive	Reactive	Loss
AQP4-loss	None ~ Mild	None ~ Mild	Severe
Axon	Preserved	Relatively preserved, (degenerated in the progressive phase)	Damaged in various degrees
Site of complement deposition	Myelin, inside macrophage	Myelin, inside macrophage (in MS Pattern II)	Vasculocentric (rim/rosette pattern)
Cellular infiltration		1	1
Macrophage	Most conspicuous in the PVS and parenchyma	Most conspicuous in parenchyma, especially at the lesion edge	Most conspicuous in the PVS and parenchyma
T cells	CD4 dominant in the PVS	CD8 dominant in the PVS	CD4 dominant in the PVS (CD8 dominant in the chronic phase)
B cells	A small number in the PVS, occasional aggregates in the leptomeninges	A small number in the PVS (Ectopic lymphoid follicles in the progressive phase)	A small number in the PVS
Neutrophil/Eosinophil	Mild ~ Moderate	Rare	Mild ~ Marked
Fluid pathology			
Cell damage marker	MBP elevated, GFAP not elevated	MBP elevated, GFAP not elevated (elevated in the progressive phase) (83, 84)	MBP elevated, GFAP remarkably elevated
Cytokine profile	Marked elevation of Th17-related cytokines relative to MS		Marked elevation of Th17-related cytokines relative to MS

TABLE 3 Comparison of the major pathological findings of acute lesions in MOGAD, MS, and AQP4+NMOSD.

AQP4, aquaporin 4; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GM, gray matter; MAG, myelin associated glycoprotein; MBP, myelin basic protein; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MOGAD, MOG antibody-associated disease; MS, multiple sclerosis; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders; PVS, perivascular space; SEL, slowly expanding lesion; WM, white matter. *Perivenous + Confluent.

astrocytes in AQP4+NMOSD (62). In previous pathological studies of MOGAD, there has been no astrocytic damage except in patient doubly positive for AQP4 and MOG antibodies (36). In the demyelinating lesions in MOGAD, astrocytes are essentially activated and AQP4 is also strongly stained on immunohistochemistry images (Figure 5), although two cases of partially decreased AQP4 expression in MOGAD with tumefactive brain lesions have been reported (Table 2) (44). The pathological process starts in the perivascular regions in both MOGAD and AQP4+NMOSD, but they show distinct features of demyelinating lesions: in MOGAD, MOG is predominantly lost with relatively preserved oligodendrocytes, whereas in AQP4+NMOSD, MAG is preferentially damaged, and oligodendrocytes are lost, but MOG is relatively preserved (Figure 6). The immunohistochemical staining pattern of activated complement deposition also differs: a rosette-like staining around blood vessels is seen in AQP4+NMOSD (49, 87, 88), while in MOGAD, perivascular complement deposition is much less (Figure 7) but stained on myelinated fibers and in myelin degradation products within macrophages (Figure 7; Tables 2, 3) (37, 38, 40). Despite these different patterns of demyelination, MOGAD and AQP4+NMOSD share some clinical features, such as optic neuritis and longitudinally extensive myelitis (18, 89), and cytokine profiles (upregulation of Th17-related cytokines) in the CSF (62) as autoantibody-associated CNS diseases.

5. Conclusion

Recently, the international diagnostic criteria for MOGAD have been proposed (29), and certain pathological features of the disease have been clarified (29), indicating that MOGAD is a disease entity distinct from MS and AQP4 + NMOSD. In fact, published articles on MOGAD have been rapidly increasing in recent years, and a few international clinical trials for relapsing MOGAD have already begun.



FIGURE 6

Characteristics of astrocytopathic lesions in AQP4+NMOSD. (A,B) Loss of MAG staining was more evident than MOG staining. (C) Numerous oligodendrocytes were lost in the lesion. (D) Axonal enlargement was present, suggesting neuroaxonal alteration, but axonal staining was relatively preserved compared to demyelination and astrocyte loss. (D–F) Astrocytes were almost completely lost in the lesion. (A) MOG, (B) MAG, (C) TPPP, (D) NF, (E) GFAP, (F) AQP4. AQP4: aquaporin 4, GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; MAG, myelin associated glycoprotein; MBP, myelin basic protein; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MOGAD, MOG antibody-associated disease; NF, neurofilament; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders; TPPP, tubulin polymerization promoting proteins.



FIGURE 7

Comparison of the deposition pattern of activated complements in MOGAD and AQP4+NMOSD. (A) Only mild perivascular depositions of complements were seen in MOGAD even in the active lesion where perivascular cuffing was evident. (B,C) In active demyelinating lesions, complement staining was detected on myelin debris phagocytosed by macrophages (red arrow). (D) Multiple rosette-like stainings of complement deposition were seen in the NMOSD lesion. (D–F) Perivascular complement depositions were seen within AQP4-loss lesions. (A,C,D,F) C9neo. (B) MBP/CD68, (E) AQP4. AQP4, aquaporin 4; MBP, myelin basic protein; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders.

Considering the currently available data of the histopathological studies of MOGAD and some basic research with MOG antibodies, the immunopathological process in MOGAD may be summarized as follows. Initially, the breakdown of immune tolerance leads to the generation of MOG-reactive T cells that stimulate the production of MOG antibodies from B cells in the periphery. Triggered by infection,

vaccination, or other stimuli, these MOG-reactive T cells are activated and penetrate the blood-brain barrier (BBB) into the CNS and aggregate at the perivascular space of the meninges and parenchyma (perivascular cuffing). MOG antigens in the CNS further activate these cells which are primarily CD4-positive T cells and promote a Th17-dominant cytokine milieu in the CNS and the BBB disruption. As a result, more MOG antibodies enter the CNS. Then the autoantibodies target myelins, especially MOG, to demyelinate the nerve fibers from the surface of myelin sheath via CDC (noted as deposition of activated complements), ADCC (in cooperation with infiltrating granulocytes), ADCP (seen as myelin phagocytosed macrophages), and other mechanisms. A fraction of the demyelinating lesions may exhibit MOG-dominant loss, suggesting a MOG-targeted pathology, and some oligodendrocytes may also be damaged. But compared to the remarkable CDC to cause astrocytolysis in AQP4+NMOSD, the pathological role of CDC for demyelination may be less in some cases of MOGAD. These events probably occur simultaneously around multiple blood vessels (perivenous demyelination) in the white and gray matters. Subsequently, broken MOG and other myelin components are phagocytosed by macrophages (myelin-laden macrophages in the parenchyma and perivascular space), further enhancing antigen presentation and activating MOG-reactive CD4-positive T cells that induce the activation and infiltration of cytotoxic effector T cells against myelins and B cells that produce MOG antibodies intrathecally. These cellular and humoral immune responses are augmented through the interaction with proinflammatory cytokines/ chemokines, which further exacerbates the disease state resulting in fusion of the lesions to form extensive demyelination (confluent demyelination). This confluent demyelination in MOGAD may develop by a different mechanism from that of the radial expansion of MS lesions.

However, we should investigate further details of the pathophysiology of MOGAD by means of various technologies

References

1. Johns TG, Bernard CC. The structure and function of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Neurochem*. (1999) 72:1–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1999.0720001.x

2. Boyle LH, Traherne JA, Plotnek G, Ward R, Trowsdale J. Splice variation in the cytoplasmic domains of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein affects its cellular localisation and transport. *J Neurochem.* (2007) 102:1853–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04687.x

3. Delarasse C, Della Gaspera B, Lu CW, Lachapelle F, Gelot A, Rodriguez D, et al. Complex alternative splicing of the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein gene is unique to human and non-human primates. *J Neurochem.* (2006) 98:1707–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04053.x

4. Pham-Dinh D, Mattei MG, Nussbaum JL, Roussel G, Pontarotti P, Roeckel N, et al. Myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is a member of a subset of the immunoglobulin superfamily encoded within the major histocompatibility complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1993) 90:7990–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.17.7990

5. Lebar R, Lubetzki C, Vincent C, Lombrail P, Boutry JM. The M2 autoantigen of central nervous system myelin, a glycoprotein present in oligodendrocyte membrane. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1986) 66:423–34.

6. Linington C, Lassmann H. Antibody responses in chronic relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: correlation of serum demyelinating activity with antibody titre to the myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG). *J Neuroimmunol.* (1987) 17:61–9. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(87)90031-2

 Schluesener HJ, Sobel RA, Linington C, Weiner HL. A monoclonal antibody against a myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces relapses and demyelination in central nervous system autoimmune disease. *J Immunol.* (1987) 139:4016–21. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.139.12.4016

8. Linington C, Bradl M, Lassmann H, Brunner C, Vass K. Augmentation of demyelination in rat acute allergic encephalomyelitis by circulating mouse monoclonal

including molecular immunology, omics, advanced imaging, neurophysiological tests, therapeutic response and artificial intelligence as well as conventional histopathological analyses. Furthermore, the histopathological studies in MOGAD to date have been derived from brain biopsies, and we should clarify whether the lesion characteristics are similar in other CNS regions, such as the optic nerve and spinal cord. Studies on how differences in the histopathologic findings may affect the severity and clinical phenotype in patients with MOGAD are also needed. These studies are expected to contribute to a better understanding and management of MOGAD.

Author contributions

YT, KF, and MA contributed to conception and design of the study. YT and TM organized the database. YT wrote the first draft of the manuscript, tables, and figures. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

antibodies directed against a myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Am J Pathol.* (1988) 130:443–54.

9. Lebar R, Baudrimont M, Vincent C. Chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the Guinea pig. Presence of anti-M2 antibodies in central nervous system tissue and the possible role of M2 autoantigen in the induction of the disease. *J Autoimmun.* (1989) 2:115–32. doi: 10.1016/0896-8411(89)90149-2

10. Bittner S, Afzali AM, Wiendl H, Meuth SG. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG35-55) induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in C57BL/6 mice. *J Visual Exp.* (2014) 15:51275. doi: 10.3791/51275-v

11. Lassmann H, Bradl M. Multiple sclerosis: experimental models and reality. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2017) 133:223–44. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1631-4

12. Lassmann H. The changing concepts in the neuropathology of acquired demyelinating central nervous system disorders. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2019) 32:313–9. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000685

13. Lampasona V, Franciotta D, Furlan R, Zanaboni S, Fazio R, Bonifacio E, et al. Similar low frequency of anti-MOG IgG and IgM in MS patients and healthy subjects. *Neurology*. (2004) 62:2092–4. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000127615.15768.AE

14. Reindl M, Schanda K, Woodhall M, Tea F, Ramanathan S, Sagen J, et al. International multicenter examination of MOG antibody assays. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:674. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000674

15. Gastaldi M, Scaranzin S, Jarius S, Wildeman B, Zardini E, Mallucci G, et al. Cellbased assays for the detection of MOG antibodies: a comparative study. *J Neurol*. (2020) 267:3555–64. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10024-0

16. Waters PJ, Komorowski L, Woodhall M, Lederer S, Majed M, Fryer J, et al. A multicenter comparison of MOG-IgG cell-based assays. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:e1255. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000007096

17. Kitley J, Woodhall M, Waters P, Leite MI, Devenney E, Craig J, et al. Myelinoligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in adults with a neuromyelitis optica phenotype. *Neurology*. (2012) 79:1273–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31826aac4e

18. Sato DK, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Waters PJ, de Haidar Jorge FM, Takahashi T, et al. Distinction between MOG antibody-positive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology*. (2014) 82:474–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000101

19. Misu T, Sato DK, Nakashima I, Fujihara K. MOG-IgG serological status matters in paediatric ADEM. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2015) 86:242. doi: 10.1136/ jnnp-2014-308723

20. Di Pauli F, Mader S, Rostasy K, Schanda K, Bajer-Kornek B, Ehling R, et al. Temporal dynamics of anti-MOG antibodies in CNS demyelinating diseases. *Clin Immunol.* (2011) 138:247–54. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2010.11.013

21. Matsumoto Y, Misu T, Mugikura S, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, Kuroda H, et al. Distinctive lesions of brain MRI between MOG-antibody-associated and AQP4antibody-associated diseases. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2020) 92:682–4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-324818

22. Jurynczyk M, Geraldes R, Probert F, Woodhall MR, Waters P, Tackley G, et al. Distinct brain imaging characteristics of autoantibody-mediated CNS conditions and multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2017) 140:617–27. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww350

23. Banks SA, Morris PP, Chen JJ, Pittock SJ, Sechi E, Kunchok A, et al. Brainstem and cerebellar involvement in MOG-IgG-associated disorder versus aquaporin-4-IgG and MS. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2020) 92:384–90. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-325121

24. Fujimori J, Takai Y, Nakashima I, Sato DK, Takahashi T, Kaneko K, et al. Bilateral frontal cortex encephalitis and paraparesis in a patient with anti-MOG antibodies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2017) 88:534–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-315094

25. Ogawa R, Nakashima I, Takahashi T, Kaneko K, Akaishi T, Takai Y, et al. MOG antibody-positive, benign, unilateral, cerebral cortical encephalitis with epilepsy. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2017) 4:e322. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000322

26. Budhram A, Mirian A, Le C, Hosseini-Moghaddam SM, Sharma M, Nicolle MW. Unilateral cortical FLAIR-hyperintense lesions in anti-MOG-associated encephalitis with seizures (FLAMES): characterization of a distinct clinico-radiographic syndrome. *J Neurol.* (2019) 266:2481–7. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09440-8

27. Waters P, Woodhall M, O'Connor KC, Reindl M, Lang B, Sato DK, et al. MOG cell-based assay detects non-MS patients with inflammatory neurologic disease. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2015) 2:e89. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000089

28. Ketelslegers IA, Van Pelt DE, Bryde S, Neuteboom RF, Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Hamann D, et al. Anti-MOG antibodies plead against MS diagnosis in an acquired demyelinating syndromes cohort. *Mult Scler.* (2015) 21:1513–20. doi: 10.1177/1352458514566666

29. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:268–82. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

30. Popescu BF, Lucchinetti CF. Pathology of demyelinating diseases. *Annu Rev Pathol.* (2012) 7:185–217. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-011811-132443

31. Lucchinetti CF. Multiple sclerosis and the spectrum of CNS inflammatory demyelinating diseases. Semin Neurol. (2008) 28:003–6. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1019123

32. Young NP, Weinshenker BG, Parisi JE, Scheithauer B, Giannini C, Roemer SF, et al. Perivenous demyelination: association with clinically defined acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and comparison with pathologically confirmed multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2010) 133:333–48. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp321

33. Takai Y, Misu T, Kaneko K, Chihara N, Narikawa K, Tsuchida S, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: an immunopathological study. *Brain.* (2020) 143:1431–46. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa102

34. Hoftberger R, Guo Y, Flanagan EP, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Endmayr V, Hochmeister S, et al. The pathology of central nervous system inflammatory demyelinating disease accompanying myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2020) 139:875–92. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02132-y

35. Konig FB, Wildemann B, Nessler S, Zhou D, Hemmer B, Metz I, et al. Persistence of immunopathological and radiological traits in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol.* (2008) 65:1527–32. doi: 10.1001/archneur.65.11.1527

36. Di Pauli F, Hoftberger R, Reindl M, Beer R, Rhomberg P, Schanda K, et al. Fulminant demyelinating encephalomyelitis: insights from antibody studies and neuropathology. *Neuroi Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2015) 2:e175. doi: 10.1212/ NXL1000000000000175

37. Spadaro M, Gerdes LA, Mayer MC, Ertl-Wagner B, Laurent S, Krumbholz M, et al. Histopathology and clinical course of MOG-antibody-associated encephalomyelitis. *Ann Clin Translat Neurol.* (2015) 2:295–301. doi: 10.1002/acn3.164

38. Jarius S, Metz I, Konig FB, Ruprecht K, Reindl M, Paul F, et al. Screening for MOG-IgG and 27 other anti-glial and anti-neuronal autoantibodies in 'pattern II multiple sclerosis' and brain biopsy findings in a MOG-IgG-positive case. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:1541–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458515622986

39. Wang JJ, Jaunmuktane Z, Mummery C, Brandner S, Leary S, Trip SA. Inflammatory demyelination without astrocyte loss in MOG antibody-positive NMOSD. *Neurology*. (2016) 87:229–31. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002844

40. Kortvelyessy P, Breu M, Pawlitzki M, Metz I, Heinze HJ, Matzke M, et al. ADEMlike presentation, anti-MOG antibodies, and MS pathology: TWO case reports. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2017) 4:e335. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000335

41. Zhou L, Huang Y, Li H, Fan J, Zhangbao J, Yu H, et al. MOG-antibody associated demyelinating disease of the CNS: a clinical and pathological study in Chinese Han patients. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2017) 305:19–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017. 01.007

42. Ikeda T, Yamada K, Ogawa R, Takai Y, Kaneko K, Misu T, et al. The pathological features of MOG antibody-positive cerebral cortical encephalitis as a new spectrum associated with MOG antibodies: a case report. *J Neurol Sci.* (2018) 392:113–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2018.06.028

43. Komatsu T, Matsushima S, Kaneko K, Fukuda T. Perivascular enhancement in anti-MOG antibody demyelinating disease of the CNS. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2019) 90:111–2. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2018-319235

44. Shu Y, Long Y, Wang S, Hu W, Zhou J, Xu H, et al. Brain histopathological study and prognosis in MOG antibody-associated demyelinating pseudotumor. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2019) 6:392–6. doi: 10.1002/acn3.712

45. Papathanasiou A, Tanasescu R, Davis J, Rocha MF, Singhal S, O'Donoghue MF, et al. MOG-IgG-associated demyelination: focus on atypical features, brain histopathology and concomitant autoimmunity. *J Neurol.* (2020) 267:359–68. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09586-5

46. Uzura Y, Takeuchi H, Ashida S, Fujii C, Shishido-Hara Y, Inaba T, et al. A tumefactive anti-MOG antibody associated disorder heralding central nervous system B-cell lymphoma: case report on diagnostic challenge. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 365:577823. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2022.577823

47. Valencia-Sanchez C, Guo Y, Krecke KN, Chen JJ, Redenbaugh V, Montalvo M, et al. Cerebral cortical encephalitis in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodyassociated disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2023) 93:297–302. doi: 10.1002/ana.26549

48. Kuhlmann T, Ludwin S, Prat A, Antel J, Brück W, Lassmann H. An updated histological classification system for multiple sclerosis lesions. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2017) 133:13–24. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1653-y

49. Takai Y, Misu T, Suzuki H, Takahashi T, Okada H, Tanaka S, et al. Staging of astrocytopathy and complement activation in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Brain.* (2021) 144:2401–15. doi: 10.1093/brain/awab102

50. Dal-Bianco A, Grabner G, Kronnerwetter C, Weber M, Kornek B, Kasprian G, et al. Long-term evolution of multiple sclerosis iron rim lesions in 7 T MRI. *Brain.* (2021) 144:833–47. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa436

51. Prineas JW, Kwon EE, Cho ES, Sharer LR, Barnett MH, Oleszak EL, et al. Immunopathology of secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2001) 50:646–57. doi: 10.1002/ana.1255

52. Luchetti S, Fransen NL, van Eden CG, Ramaglia V, Mason M, Huitinga I. Progressive multiple sclerosis patients show substantial lesion activity that correlates with clinical disease severity and sex: a retrospective autopsy cohort analysis. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2018) 135:511–28. doi: 10.1007/s00401-018-1818-y

53. Frischer JM, Weigand SD, Guo Y, Kale N, Parisi JE, Pirko I, et al. Clinical and pathological insights into the dynamic nature of the white matter multiple sclerosis plaque. *Ann Neurol.* (2015) 78:710–21. doi: 10.1002/ana.24497

54. Lassmann H, Raine CS, Antel J, Prineas JW. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis: report on an international meeting held at the Institute of Neurology of the University of Vienna. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1998) 86:213–7. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00031-9

55. Lassmann H, Brück W, Lucchinetti C. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis pathogenesis: implications for diagnosis and therapy. *Trends Mol Med.* (2001) 7:115–21. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4914(00)01909-2

56. Lucchinetti C, Bruck W, Parisi J, Scheithauer B, Rodriguez M, Lassmann H. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Ann Neurol.* (2000) 47:707–17. doi: 10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<707 ::AID-ANA3>3.0.CO;2-Q

57. Stadelmann C, Ludwin S, Tabira T, Guseo A, Lucchinetti CF, Leel-Ossy L, et al. Tissue preconditioning may explain concentric lesions in Balo's type of multiple sclerosis. *Brain*. (2005) 128:979–87. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh457

58. Bruck W, Popescu B, Lucchinetti CF, Markovic-Plese S, Gold R, Thal DR, et al. Neuromyelitis optica lesions may inform multiple sclerosis heterogeneity debate. *Ann Neurol.* (2012) 72:385–94. doi: 10.1002/ana.23621

59. Aboul-Enein F, Rauschka H, Kornek B, Stadelmann C, Stefferl A, Bruck W, et al. Preferential loss of myelin-associated glycoprotein reflects hypoxia-like white matter damage in stroke and inflammatory brain diseases. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2003) 62:25–33. doi: 10.1093/jnen/62.1.25

60. Hohlfeld R, Dornmair K, Meinl E, Wekerle H. The search for the target antigens of multiple sclerosis, part 2: CD8+ T cells, B cells, and antibodies in the focus of reverse-translational research. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:317–31. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00313-0

61. Machado-Santos J, Saji E, Troscher AR, Paunovic M, Liblau R, Gabriely G, et al. The compartmentalized inflammatory response in the multiple sclerosis brain is composed of tissue-resident CD8+ T lymphocytes and B cells. *Brain.* (2018) 141:2066–82. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy151

62. Kaneko K, Sato DK, Nakashima I, Nishiyama S, Tanaka S, Marignier R, et al. Myelin injury without astrocytopathy in neuroinflammatory disorders with MOG antibodies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2016) 87:1257–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-312676

63. Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain*. (2007) 130:1089–104. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm038

64. Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2011) 134:2755–71. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr182

65. Akaishi T, Takahashi T, Misu T, Kaneko K, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, et al. Difference in the source of anti-AQP4-IgG and anti-MOG-IgG antibodies in CSF in patients with Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum disorder. *Neurology*. (2021) 97:e1–e12. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.00000000012175

66. Matsumoto Y, Kaneko K, Takahashi T, Takai Y, Namatame C, Kuroda H, et al. Diagnostic implications of MOG-IgG detection in sera and cerebrospinal fluids. *Brain.* (2023). doi: 10.1093/brain/awad122

67. Kwon YN, Kim B, Kim JS, Mo H, Choi K, Oh SI, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-immunoglobulin G in the CSF: clinical implication of testing and association with disability. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2022) 9:1095. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001095

68. Mariotto S, Gajofatto A, Batzu L, Delogu R, Sechi G, Leoni S, et al. Relevance of antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in CSF of seronegative cases. *Neurology.* (2019) 93:e1867–72. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000008479

69. Liu J, Yang X, Pan J, Wei Z, Liu P, Chen M, et al. Single-Cell transcriptome profiling unravels distinct peripheral blood immune Cell signatures of RRMS and MOG antibody-associated disease. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:807646. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.807646

70. Kothur K, Wienholt L, Tantsis EM, Earl J, Bandodkar S, Prelog K, et al. Th17, and neutrophil related cerebrospinal fluid cytokine/chemokines are elevated in MOG antibody associated demyelination. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0149411. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0149411

71. Corbali O, Chitnis T. Pathophysiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease. *Front Neurol.* (2023) 14:1137998. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1137998

72. Mader S, Gredler V, Schanda K, Rostasy K, Dujmovic I, Pfaller K, et al. Complement activating antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in neuromyelitis optica and related disorders. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2011) 8:184. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-184

73. Peschl P, Schanda K, Zeka B, Given K, Bohm D, Ruprecht K, et al. Human antibodies against the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein can cause complementdependent demyelination. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2017) 14:208. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-017-0984-5

74. Kohyama K, Nishida H, Kaneko K, Misu T, Nakashima I, Sakuma H. Complementdependent cytotoxicity of human autoantibodies against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Front Neurosci.* (2023) 17:1014071. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2023.1014071

75. Yandamuri SS, Filipek B, Obaid AH, Lele N, Thurman JM, Makhani N, et al. MOGAD patient autoantibodies induce complement, phagocytosis, and cellular cytotoxicity. *JCI Insight*. (2023) 8:5373. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.165373

76. Mader S, Ho S, Wong HK, Baier S, Winklmeier S, Riemer C, et al. Dissection of complement and fc-receptor-mediated pathomechanisms of autoantibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2023) 120:e2300648120. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2300648120

77. Lerch M, Schanda K, Lafon E, Würzner R, Mariotto S, Dinoto A, et al. More efficient complement activation by anti-Aquaporin-4 compared with anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2023) 10:59. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000200059

78. Furman CS, Gorelick-Feldman DA, Davidson KG, Yasumura T, Neely JD, Agre P, et al. Aquaporin-4 square array assembly: opposing actions of M1 and M23 isoforms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2003) 100:13609–14. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2235843100

79. Matiello M, Schaefer-Klein J, Sun D, Weinshenker BG. Aquaporin 4 expression and tissue susceptibility to neuromyelitis optica. *JAMA Neurol.* (2013) 70:1118–25. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.3124

80. Schumaker VN, Hanson DC, Kilchherr E, Phillips ML, Poon PH. A molecular mechanism for the activation of the first component of complement by immune complexes. *Mol Immunol.* (1986) 23:557–65. doi: 10.1016/0161-5890(86)90119-7

81. Phuan PW, Ratelade J, Rossi A, Tradtrantip L, Verkman AS. Complementdependent cytotoxicity in neuromyelitis optica requires aquaporin-4 protein assembly in orthogonal arrays. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:13829–39. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 344325

82. Macrini C, Gerhards R, Winklmeier S, Bergmann L, Mader S, Spadaro M, et al. Features of MOG required for recognition by patients with MOG antibody-associated disorders. *Brain.* (2021) 144:2375–89. doi: 10.1093/brain/awab105

83. Abdelhak A, Huss A, Kassubek J, Tumani H, Otto M. Serum GFAP as a biomarker for disease severity in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:14798. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-33158-8

84. Barro C, Healy BC, Liu Y, Saxena S, Paul A, Polgar-Turcsanyi M, et al. Serum GFAP and NfL levels differentiate subsequent progression and disease activity in patients with progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2023) 10:52. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000200052

85. Lassmann H, Brunner C, Bradl M, Linington C. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: the balance between encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and demyelinating antibodies determines size and structure of demyelinated lesions. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1988) 75:566–76. doi: 10.1007/BF00686201

86. Spadaro M, Winklmeier S, Beltran E, Macrini C, Hoftberger R, Schuh E, et al. Pathogenicity of human antibodies against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 84:315–28. doi: 10.1002/ana.25291

87. Lucchinetti CF, Mandler RN, McGavern D, Bruck W, Gleich G, Ransohoff RM, et al. A role for humoral mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Devic's neuromyelitis optica. *Brain.* (2002) 125:1450–61. doi: 10.1093/brain/awf151

88. Misu T, Fujihara K, Kakita A, Konno H, Nakamura M, Watanabe S, et al. Loss of aquaporin 4 in lesions of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2007) 130:1224–34. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm047

89. Luppe S, Robertson NP. MOG-IgG in neuromyelitis optica. J Neurol. (2014) 261:640-2. doi: 10.1007/s00415-014-7277-z

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Yoshiki Takai, Tohoku University Hospital, Japan Chotima Böttcher, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Ilijas Jelcic Milijas.jelcic@uzh.ch

[†]PRESENT ADDRESS

Andreas Lutterotti, Neuroimmunology Outpatient Clinic, Center for Multiple Sclerosis, Neurocenter Bellevue, Zurich, Switzerland

RECEIVED 08 June 2023 ACCEPTED 22 August 2023 PUBLISHED 06 September 2023

CITATION

Vlad B, Reichen I, Neidhart S, Hilty M, Lekaditi D, Heuer C, Eisele A, Ziegler M, Reindl M, Lutterotti A, Regeniter A and Jelcic I (2023) Basic CSF parameters and MRZ reaction help in differentiating MOG antibody-associated autoimmune disease versus multiple sclerosis. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1237149. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1237149

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Vlad, Reichen, Neidhart, Hilty, Lekaditi, Heuer, Eisele, Ziegler, Reindl, Lutterotti, Regeniter and Jelcic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Basic CSF parameters and MRZ reaction help in differentiating MOG antibody-associated autoimmune disease versus multiple sclerosis

Benjamin Vlad ^{1,2}, Ina Reichen^{1,2}, Stephan Neidhart^{1,2}, Marc Hilty^{1,2}, Dimitra Lekaditi^{1,2}, Christine Heuer^{1,2}, Amanda Eisele^{1,2}, Mario Ziegler^{1,2}, Markus Reindl³, Andreas Lutterotti^{1,2†}, Axel Regeniter⁴ and Ilijas Jelcic ^{1,2*}

¹Department of Neurology, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ²Neuroimmunology and Multiple Sclerosis Research Section, Department of Neurology, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ³Clinical Department of Neurology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria, ⁴Infectious Disease Serology and Immunology, Medica Medizinische Laboratorien Dr. F. Kaeppeli AG, Zurich, Switzerland

Background: Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated autoimmune disease (MOGAD) is a rare monophasic or relapsing inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) and can mimic multiple sclerosis (MS). The variable availability of live cell-based MOG-antibody assays and difficulties in interpreting low-positive antibody titers can complicate diagnosis. Literature on cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) profiles in MOGAD versus MS, one of the most common differential diagnoses, is scarce. We here analyzed the value of basic CSF parameters to i) distinguish different clinical MOGAD manifestations and ii) differentiate MOGAD from MS.

Methods: This is retrospective, single-center analysis of clinical and laboratory data of 30 adult MOGAD patients and 189 adult patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Basic CSF parameters included CSF white cell count (WCC) and differentiation, CSF/serum albumin ratio (Q_{Alb}), intrathecal production of immunoglobulins, CSF-restricted oligoclonal bands (OCB) and MRZ reaction, defined as intrathecal production of IgG reactive against at least 2 of the 3 viruses measles (M), rubella (R) and varicella zoster virus (Z).

Results: MOGAD patients with myelitis were more likely to have a pleocytosis, a Q_{Alb} elevation and a higher WCC than those with optic neuritis, and, after review and combined analysis of our and published cases, they also showed a higher frequency of intrathecal IgM synthesis. Compared to MS, MOGAD patients had significantly more frequently neutrophils in CSF and WCC>30/µl, $Q_{Alb}>10\times10^{-3}$, as well as higher mean Q_{Alb} values, but significantly less frequently CSF plasma cells and CSF-restricted OCB. A positive MRZ reaction was present in 35.4% of MS patients but absent in all MOGAD patients. Despite these associations, the only CSF parameters with relevant positive likelihood ratios (PLR) indicating MOGAD were $Q_{Alb}>10\times10^{-3}$ (PLR 12.60) and absence of CSF-restricted OCB

(PLR 14.32), whereas the only relevant negative likelihood ratio (NLR) was absence of positive MRZ reaction (NLR 0.00).

Conclusion: Basic CSF parameters vary considerably in different clinical phenotypes of MOGAD, but $Q_{Alb}>10\times10^{-3}$ and absence of CSF-restricted OCB are highly useful to differentiate MOGAD from MS. A positive MRZ reaction is confirmed as the strongest CSF rule-out parameter in MOGAD and could be useful to complement the recently proposed diagnostic criteria.

KEYWORDS

MOGAD, multiple sclerosis, cerebrospinal fluid, MRZ reaction, oligoclonal bands, CSF/ serum albumin ratio

1 Introduction

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated autoimmune disease (MOGAD) is a rare inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS), which causes a broad spectrum of atypical, partly multiple sclerosis (MS)mimicking demyelinating CNS syndromes including (recurrent) optic neuritis (ON), myelitis, aquaporin-4 (AQP4)-seronegative neuromyelitis optica (NMO)-like disease, (brainstem) encephalitis and others (1). It is considered a disease entity separate from MS and AQP4-seropositive NMO because of different immunological, histopathological, serological, clinical and paraclinical features, as well as distinct therapy responses and prognosis (2-5). The prevalence in Europe amounts to approximately 2/100.000 (6, 7), which makes its occurrence significantly rarer than MS (approximately 190/100.000) (8), but slightly more frequent than NMO (approximately 1/100.000) (9). While the ability to diagnose MOGAD has increased in recent years, distinguishing MOGAD from MS remains a challenge, as there are different live cell-based assays for detecting MOG-specific antibodies in serum (and to some extent in CSF) that appear to offer much higher specificity compared with commercial assays that use fixed cells expressing full-length MOG (10). Especially, low titers of MOG-specific antibodies are difficult to interpret correctly and may lead to false-positive or false-negative findings (11, 12). In contrast to MS, MOGAD can present with either monophasic or relapsing disease course (13, 14), but predicting which disease course is most likely to develop after the first relapse is not possible based on the current state of knowledge (15). Additionally, CSF parameters from routine clinical work up can differ considerably between the two entities and can already provide decisive clues for differentiating between both diseases (16), but concrete laboratory constellations and patterns of CSF findings for this purpose have been insufficiently described and validated to date. We aimed to analyze differences in demographic, clinical and CSF findings between MOGAD and MS on mono-center level, including the MRZ reaction (MRZR), which is defined as a polyspecific intrathecal production of IgG against ≥ 2 of 3 antigens, i.e. measles (M), rubella (R), and zoster (Z) virus and represents the most specific CSF biomarker for MS to date.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Patients

We retrospectively analyzed demographic, clinical and laboratory data from 30 patients with MOGAD. None of the MOGAD patients received disease-modifying therapy before lumbar puncture. 28 MOGAD patients received lumbar puncture in relapse, but 2 patients received lumbar puncture in remission more than 30 days after steroid treatment at a peripheral center. Basic CSF parameters in MOGAD patients with monophasic and polyphasic disease course were compared. In a second step, basic demographic and CSF data from MOGAD patients and 189 patients with untreated relapsing-remitting MS were compared for CSF white cell count (WCC) and white cell differentiation, CSF and serum albumin with calculated ratio (Q_{Alb}), CSF/serum ratios of IgG, IgA and IgM, respectively (Q_{IgG}, Q_{IgA}, Q_{IgM}), frequency of intrathecal synthesis of IgG, IgA and IgM according to Reiber (17), respectively, frequency of CSF-restricted oligoclonal bands (OCB) and OCB patterns, intrathecal production of IgG reactive to measles (M), rubella, and varicella zoster (Z) viruses, called MRZ reaction (MRZR), CSF lactate levels and CSF/serum glucose ratio. Furthermore, basic CSF data from MOGAD and MS patients with (i) absence of CSF-restricted OCB and (ii) ON as first clinical event were compared. All MOGAD patients tested negative for AQP4-specific antibodies in serum and fulfilled the diagnostic criteria for MOGAD as recently proposed by the international MOGAD panel (15), i.e. patients were diagnosed with MOGAD based on MOGAD-typical clinical events such as unilateral- or bilateral optic neuritis or myelitis (Table 1), in most cases presence of radiological findings typical of MOGAD (such as bilateral simultaneous signal changes of the optic nerves, longitudinal optic nerve involvement [> 50% length of the optic nerve], perineural optic sheath enhancement, and/or optic disc oedema,

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of MOGAD patients.

Disease course	
- Monophasic, n (%)	16/30 (53.3%)
- Relapsing, n (%)	14/30 (46.7%)
Follow-up time in months	
- All, median [Q1,Q3]	28.0 [10.0, 57.0]
- Monophasic disease course, median [Q1,Q3]	21.5 [7.5, 53.5]
- Relapsing disease course, median [Q1,Q3]	33.0 [15.0, 77.0]
First clinical event	
- Unilateral optic neuritis	18/30 (60.0%)
*	
- Bilateral optic neuritis	3/30 (10.0%)
 Bilateral optic neuritis Longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis 	3/30 (10.0%) 9/30 (30.0%)
* 	. ,
- Longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis	. ,

or spinal cord signal changes compatible with longitudinally extensive myelitis extending over three or more vertebral segments, involving the conus, thoracolumbar radices and/or central cord or central grey matter as "H-sign" in axial sequences) and absence of radiological findings typical of MS as defined by Filippi et al. (18) and Wattjes et al. (19), and in all cases evidence of positive cell-based MOG antibody assay results in serum (see below). Other differential diagnoses such as MS, AQP4seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disease, neurosarcoidosis, neuro-Sjögren, CNS systemic lupus erythematosus and/or other autoimmune or infectious causes were excluded by means of clinical, radiological and/or laboratory findings.

All MS patients were diagnosed with relapsing-remitting MS and fulfilled the criteria for the diagnosis of MS according to the 2017 revised McDonald criteria (20), i.e. diagnosis of MS was based on the combination of typical clinical, radiological and CSF laboratory findings and exclusion of other differential diagnoses, including MOGAD. In most MS cases, MOGAD could be excluded by detection of MS-typical radiological findings and absence of MOGAD-typical findings. All patients with MS were untreated and had not received steroids before lumbar puncture, and lumbar puncture was in all cases performed during MS relapse. We retrospectively controlled, how many MOGAD patients fulfilled diagnostic criteria for MS, and how many MS patients fulfilled diagnostic criteria for MOGAD. Furthermore, all MOGAD and MS patients were checked for supporting MOGAD-typical radiological findings (15) and/or MS-typical radiological findings (18, 19).

Informed consent was obtained from all patients or relatives. Since data of all patients were anonymized for this study, the local Cantonal Ethics Committee stated that the research project does not fall within the scope of the Human Reseach Act (HRA) and therefore, an authorization from the ethics committee is not required (BASEC Nr. Req-2022-01134).

2.2 MOG-specific IgG testing

In case of clinical suspicion, patients were tested for MOGspecific IgG in the in-house laboratory with a commercial kit using a fixed cell-based assay ("Assay A") (Euroimmun, Kriens, Switzerland) and/or at the Neurological Routine and Research Laboratory, Clinical Department of Neurology of the Medical University of Innsbruck (M. Reindl), which used a live cell-based assay (Live CBA-IF, IgG(H+L) + Fc) quantified by immunofluorescence and end-point titration ("Assay B") (10). Cut-off titer for MOG antibody positivity was $\geq 1:10$ in assay A and $\geq 1:160$ in assay B, respectively. Cut-off titer for high-titer MOG antibody levels ("clear positive") was $\geq 1:320$ in assay A and $\geq 1:640$ in assay B, respectively (10). In the case of weakly positive titers ($\leq 1:320$) or negative results in assay A and persistent suspicion of MOGAD, the samples were tested with assay B (Supplementary Table 1).

2.3 Cytological examination and clinical chemistry

At the CSF Laboratory of the Department of Neurology, University Hospital Zurich, cytological examinations of the CSF follow a standardized protocol as part of the clinical routine. This protocol follows the recommendations of the German Society of CSF Diagnostics and Clinical Neurochemistry (DGLN e.V.) and still represents the gold standard of cytological examination of the CSF, since automated analysis of CSF cells by flow cytometry or other automated devices are not optimized for the analysis of samples comprising low cell numbers, such as the CSF (21). Briefly, CSF-infiltrating cells of all CSF samples are counted using a Fuchs Rosenthal counting chamber under the microscope within 1 hour after lumbar puncture in order to determine WCC. If pleocytosis is detected, CSF-infiltrating cells are examined microscopically to differentiate physiologic CSF cells and search for abnormalities. For this purpose, CSF is centrifuged using cytospin preparations with cytofunnels and cytoclips (Thermo Scientific, Basel, Switzerland), and cytospin probes are stained with the standard May-Grünwald-Giemsa procedure. Approximately 200 cells are differentiated by experienced CSF cytologists microscopically and classified as lymphocytes, monocytes, plasma cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, and macrophages. Bone marrow cells, mitoses, cells lining the CSF space and other cell types are described separately. CSF cell counting and CSF cell differentiation is done by four experienced CSF cytologists as part of the clinical routine, where each sample is analyzed by one CSF cytologist and validated by another CSF cytologist. All four CSF cytologists are medical technical assistants, each with more than 10 years of experience in cytological examinations of CSF, and they are trained for CSF cell differentiation according to the recommendations of the German Society of CSF Diagnostics and Clinical Neurochemistry (DGLN e.V.) (22).

A WCC>4/ μ l was classified as increased, representing pleocytosis. WCC was further grouped into subgroups of 0-4/ μ l, 4-30/ μ l and >30/ μ l as a measurement of pleocytosis severity. In a

subgroup of patients with pleocytosis, differentiation of CSF white cells into respective leukocyte subpopulations, and the frequency of plasma cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils and macrophages were available from clinical routine and were used for retrospective analysis. An age-dependent cut-off was applied for CSF lactate level interpretation as described by Jarius et al. (23). CSF/ blood ratio of glucose was calculated, and a ratio of <0.5 was considered pathologic.

2.4 Evaluation of blood-CSF barrier function and humoral immune response

Albumin, IgG, IgM and IgA levels in CSF and serum were quantified by immunonephelometry (Atellica NEPH 630 System, Siemens Healthineers, Switzerland) and their respective CSF/serum ratios calculated. Blood-CSF barrier function (BCSFB) was assessed using CSF/serum albumin quotient (Q_{Alb}). The upper reference limit of Q_{Alb} (Q_{lim}) was calculated as $[4+(a/15)]\times10^{-3}$ according to Reiber (24), with "a" representing the patient's age. Dysfunction of the BCSFB was defined as $Q_{Alb}>Q_{lim}$.

IgG index was calculated as Q_{IgG}/Q_{Alb} , with Q_{IgG} =CSF IgG concentration/serum IgG concentration. The relative intrathecal fraction of IgG, IgA and IgM, respectively (IgG_{IF}, IgA_{IF} and IgM_{IF}), was calculated according to Reiber (17). IgGIF, IgAIF and/or IgM_{IF}>0% indicated significant intrathecal synthesis of IgG, IgA and/or IgM, respectively. OCBs were detected by isoelectric focusing (IEF) on agarose gels and immunoblotting using IgGspecific antibodies and a semi-automated approach (Interlab G26, Alberta, Canada). OCB patterns were evaluated according to international consensus criteria (25): OCB pattern 1=no OCBs in CSF or Serum; OCB pattern 2=CSF-restricted OCBs; OCB pattern 3=identical bands in CSF and serum and additional CSF-restricted OCBs; OCB pattern 4=identical OCBs in CSF and serum; and OCB pattern 5=monoclonal bands in CSF and serum. Intrathecal IgG synthesis was indicated only by IEF patterns 2 and 3. OCBs were considered CSF-restricted, if ≥2 additional bands were detected in CSF compared to serum.

2.5 MRZ reaction

IgG antibodies against measles (M), rubella (R) and varicella zoster (Z) viruses were measured in paired CSF and serum samples, either with commercial ELISA kits and fully automated ELISA processing (Euroimmun Analyzer I, Euroimmun AG, Kriens, Switzerland) or ELISA kits from Virion/Serion (one point calibration) and fully automated ELISA processing (4-plate ELISA processing system DSX, Dynex Technologies, Inc./Ruwag Bettlach, Switzerland).

The virus-specific CSF/serum antibody index (CAI_{spec}) was calculated according to Reiber (17). In short, CAI_{spec} was assessed as CAI_{spec}=Q_{spec}/Q_{IgG} (if Q_{Lim} (IgG)>Q_{IgG}), or CAI_{spec}=Q_{spec}/Q_{Lim} (IgG), if Q_{Lim} (IgG)<Q_{IgG}). The respective parameters were calculated as follows: Q_{spec}=antigen-specific IgG_{CSF} [AU]/antigen-specific IgGserum [AU]; Q_{IgG}=total IgG_{CSF} [mg/l]/total IgG_{serum}

[mg/l]; Q_{Lim} (IgG)=0.93×(Q_{A1b}^2 + 6×10⁻⁶)^{0.5}-1.7×10⁻³; Q_{Alb} =Alb_{CSF} [mg/l]/Alb_{serum} [mg/l] (with Alb=albumin). Q_{Lim} (IgG) refers to the upper discrimination line of the hyperbolic reference range for the blood-derived IgG in CSF as zero intrathecal IgG synthesis. CAI_{spec}≥1.5 indicated intrathecal synthesis of virus-specific antibodies. MRZR was interpreted as positive according to Reiber et al. (26), if polyclonal intrathecal production of antibodies against ≥2 of the 3 antigens measles (M), rubella (R), and zoster (Z), was detectable (27).

External quality assurance covering CSF-/serum- albumin, -IgG, -IgM, -IgA and -OCB as well as MRZ reaction have been performed every 3-6 months in round robin tests organized by INSTAND e.V. (Düsseldorf, Germany) and have always been passed during the period of assessment of CSF findings.

2.6 Statistics

Differences in age and disease duration were compared with the Kruskal-Wallis test. Differences in frequency of female gender, pleocytosis, respective white cell subpopulations, elevated Q_{Alb} , intrathecal immunoglobulin synthesis according to Reiber (17), CSF-restricted OCB, elevated CSF lactate, pathologic CSF/serum glucose ratio and positive MRZR were compared with Fisher's exact test. Differences in mean values of WCC, Q_{Alb} , immunoglobulin CSF/serum ratios and intrathecal fraction of IgG were calculated using the Mann-Whitney U test after testing for normal distribution with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Sensitivity, specificity, positive likelihood ratio (PLR) and negative likelihood ratio (NLR) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) of CSF/serum parameters were analyzed to estimate their value in distinguishing MOGAD from MS.

3 Results

All MOGAD patients were tested for MOG antibodies, of which 3 patients were tested only with the fixed cell-based assay ("Assay A"), 17 patients were tested only with the live cell-based assay ("Assay B") and 10 patients were tested with both assays (Supplementary Table 1; Supplementary Figure 1). Retrospective data of MOG antibody results was available from 97/189 MS patients, 89 results from assay A and 23 results from assay B. 30/ 30 (100.0%) MOGAD patients and 1/97 (1.1%) MS patients tested positive for MOG antibodies, but 18/30 (60.0%) MOGAD patients and none of the MS patients showed a clear positive (high-titer) MOG antibody result (Supplementary Table 2). The one MS patient with a positive MOG antibody finding had a positive low-titer MOG antibody result (1:32) in assay A and tested negative in the more sensitive assay B. Since this patient showed MS-typical MRI changes and fulfilled the diagnostic criteria for MS, but not for MOGAD, this patient was diagnosed with MS. Altogether, assay A showed a sensitivity of 82.4% and specificity of 98.9% for MOGAD versus MS in our cohort, and assay B showed a sensitivity of 100.0% and specificity of 100.0% (Supplementary Table 2). All MOGAD patients, but none of the MS patients fulfilled diagnostic criteria for MOGAD (15), and all MS patients, but none of the MOGAD patients fulfilled diagnostic criteria for MS (20) (Supplementary Table 3). 2 MOGAD patients with optic neuritis (ON) did not fulfill radiological criteria for MOGAD in first brain MRI, but fulfilled diagnostic criteria for MOGAD and showed clear positive MOG antibody titers. 3 MOGAD patients with longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (LETM) fulfilled diagnostic criteria for MOGAD and showed MOGAD-typical radiological signs, but also fulfilled radiological, but not diagnostic, criteria for MS (inflammatory lesions with dissemination in time and space). 2 of those 3 patients showed no CSF-restricted OCB. None of the MS patients showed MOGAD-typical MRI findings (Supplementary Table 3).

First clinical events in MOGAD patients included unilateral ON (18/30, 60%), LETM (9/30, 30%) and bilateral ON (3/30, 10%) (Table 1). During the follow-up period, 53.3% showed a monophasic disease course with a median follow-up of 21.5 months (IQR 7.5-53.5), whereas 46.7% were polyphasic (median follow-up 33.0 months [IQR 15.0-77.0]) (Table 1). Basic CSF parameters did not vary between MOGAD patients with monophasic and polyphasic disease course (Supplementary Table 4). Basic CSF parameters in MOGAD patients with ON as first clinical presentation varied from those with LETM, but due to the small number of LETM patients, almost all results were not significant. The only exception was the mean WCC (9.8 [SD 20.0] vs. 55.7 [SD 60.3], p=0.004) and the frequency of WCC>100/µl (0/ 21 [0.0%] vs. 3/9 [33.3%], p<0.001), which was significantly higher in MOGAD patients with LETM than with ON (Supplementary Table 5). Previously, Jarius et al. (16) reported differences of basic CSF parameters between acute ON and acute myelitis of adult MOGAD patients and found significant differences for frequency of pleocytosis (18/53 [34.0%] vs. 46/54 [85.2%], p<0.001), of WCC>100/µl (1/52 [1.9%] vs. 17/54 [31.5%], p<0.001), of elevated CSF lactate (7/39 [17.9%] vs. 18/37 [48.6%], p=0.007) and of elevated QAlb (16/46 [34.8%] vs. 28/50 [56.0%], p=0.043), but not for frequency of intrathecal synthesis of IgG, IgA or IgM, respectively (Supplementary Table 5). When we combined all MOGAD patients from our cohort and the cohort described by Jarius et al. (16) and compared all parameters between ON and LETM (Supplementary Table 5), we could confirm a significantly higher frequency of pleocytosis, of WCC>100/µl, of elevated CSF lactate and of elevated Q_{Alb} in LETM, and in addition, discovered for the first time significant differences in frequency of intrathecal synthesis of IgM (combined ON 4/60 [6.7%] vs. combined LETM 12/47 [25.5%], p=0.012). Differences in intrathecal synthesis of IgG,

as determined by Reiber diagram or detection of CSF-restricted OCB), or intrathecal synthesis of IgA remained non-significant in both single and combined analysis (Supplementary Table 6).

In our cohort, patients with MOGAD were significantly older at time of lumbar puncture than MS patients (median age 40.5 [IQR 28.2-55.8] vs 31.0 [IQR 27.0-38.0] years, p=0.004), but did not differ in terms of disease duration (median 0.0 [IQR 0.0-2.5] vs 0.0 [IQR 0.0-2.0] months, p=0.773). Although MS patients tended to be more often female than MOGAD patients (64.6% vs. 46.7%), this finding was not statistically significant (p=0.094, Table 2). Pleocytosis was less frequent in MOGAD than in MS patients (40.0% vs. 61.9%, p=0.028), particularly in the WCC range 5-30/µl (20.0% vs. 57.7%, p<0.001), but mean WCC (in MOGAD 36.1/µl [SD 95.2/µl], in MS 9.1/µl [SD 10.9/µl], p=0.231) did not differ significantly (Figure 1A; Supplementary Figure 2A). Notably, WCC>30/µl was more frequent in MOGAD than in MS patients (20.0% vs. 4.2%, p=0.006) and WCC>100/µl occurred in MOGAD patients only (10.0% vs. 0.0%, p=0.002) (Figure 2A). In a subgroup of patients with pleocytosis (10 patients with MOGAD, 107 patients with MS), differentiation of CSF white cells was available (Figure 2B). While MS patients showed a significantly higher frequency of plasma cells (80.4% vs. 30.0%, p=0.002), MOGAD patients showed a significantly higher frequency of neutrophils (60.0% vs. 22.4%, p=0.018). Frequency of CSF eosinophils (20.0% vs. 8.4%, p=0.238), CSF basophils (10.0% vs. 0.9%, p=0.164) and CSF macrophages (20.0% vs. 11.2%, p=0.342) tended to be higher in MOGAD patients, but neither of those results were statistically significant (Table 3).

Elevation of Q_{Alb} was more common in MOGAD than in MS (43.3% vs. 24.3%, p=0.044). An intermediate elevation of Q_{Alb} >10×10⁻³ showed an even stronger association with MOGAD (16.7% vs. 1.6%, p=0.002) and mean Q_{Alb} was significantly higher in MOGAD than in MS patients (7.3 [SD 4.6] vs. 4.9 [SD 1.8], p<0.001) (Figure 1B; Supplementary Figure 2B). Mean CSF/serum IgG ratio (4.6 [SD 4.4] vs. 4.4 [SD 2.5], p=0.817) and mean CSF/ serum IgM ratio (1.3 [SD 2.5] vs. 0.8 [SD 1.4], p=0.337) showed no significant differences between both groups, but there was a significant difference in mean CSF/serum IgA ratio (2.5 [SD 2.7] vs. 1.7 [SD 1.7], p=0.024) (Supplementary Table 6). Intrathecal synthesis of IgG according to Reiber (17) was less frequent in MOGAD than in MS patients (13.3% vs. 52.9%, p<0.001), whereas there was no significant difference in intrathecal synthesis of IgA (0.0% vs. 7.9%, p=0.233) and IgM (13.3% vs. 17.5%, p=0.794) (Table 4). If intrathecal IgG synthesis according to Reiber (17)

TABLE 2 Demographic features of MOGAD and MS patients.

Parameter	Overall	MOGAD	MS	p-value
Ν	219	30	189	-
Female gender, n (%)	136 (62.1%)	14 (46.7%)	122 (64.6%)	0.094
Age at LP, median [Q1,Q3]	32.0 [27.0, 40.0]	40.5 [28.2, 55.8]	31.0 [27.0, 38.0]	0.004
Disease duration in months, median [Q1,Q3]	0.0 [0.0, 2.0]	0.0 [0.0, 2.5]	0.0 [0.0, 2.0]	0.773



was present, mean intrathecal fraction of IgG, i.e. IgG_{IF}, did not vary between MOGAD and MS patients (31.1 [SD 23.9] vs. 38.8 [SD 18.4], p=0.617) (Supplementary Table 6). CSF-restricted OCB were present in most of the MS patients (94.2%), but only in 16.7% of the MOGAD patients (p<0.001) (Figure 3). Patients with MOGAD were furthermore significantly more likely to show pathological levels of CSF lactate (10.7% vs. 1.6%, p=0.030) and pathological cSF/serum glucose ratio (14.3% vs. 0.0%, p<0.001) than MS patients (Table 4). Of particular interest, a positive MRZR was only found in MS patients and in none of MOGAD patients (35.4% vs. 0.0%, p<0.001, Table 5; Figure 3). 6/30 (20.0%) MOGAD patients had a single virus-specific antibody reactivity (Supplementary Table 7). Rubella- and zoster-specific CAI values, but not measles-specific CAI values, were significantly lower in MOGAD patients than in MS patients (Supplementary Table 8).

Our findings of increased frequency of pleocytosis and BCSFB dysfunction in MOGAD patients, as well as decreased frequency of CSF-specific OCBs are in line with the results reported in the current literature (13, 16, 23, 28–30) (Supplementary Table 9). Interestingly, until now, a positive MRZR has been reported in 0/62 samples of 48 adult MOGAD patients (16), 0/28 samples of 24

pediatric MOGAD patients (23) and 0/30 patients in our study (Supplementary Table 10), resulting in the absence of a positive MRZR as a typical finding in MOGAD.

The probable prevalence of MOG seropositivity and positive MRZR in the general population can be calculated according to the estimated population-based prevalence of the respective disease (2/ 100.000 for MOGAD, 190/100.000 for MS) (6-8) and the diseasespecific sensitivity of the respective positive diagnostic test. With a MOG seropositivity in 100% of MOGAD patients and 35.4% of MS patients being positive MRZR in our cohort, the estimated population-based prevalence of MOG seropositivity is more than 33x less frequent than a positive MRZR (2/100.000 vs. 67.3/100.000, p<0.00001) (Supplementary Table 11). The odds ratio for a positive disease-specific test result is 33.5 (95% CI 8.2-136.8, p<0.00001), when positive MRZ reaction is compared to MOG seropositivity and all true MS and MOGAD patients are included for testing. Based on these numbers, testing MOG antibodies in patients with low probability of MOGAD, e.g. including all MS-caused ON and myelitis cases, would result in a significant number of false-positive MOG antibody results in patients with low positive MOG serotiters (Supplementary Table 12).



TABLE 3 Comparison of A) CSF white cell counts and B) white cell differentiation in MOGAD and MS.

CSF parameter	Overall	MOGAD	MS	p-value
A) CSF WCC				
Pleocytosis, n/N (%)	129/219 (58.9%)	12/30 (40.0%)	117/189 (61.9%)	0.028
- WCC 0-4/µl, n/N (%)	90/219 (41.1%)	18/30 (60.0%)	72/189 (38.1%)	0.028
- WCC 5-30/µl, n/N (%)	115/219 (52.5%)	6/30 (20.0%)	109/189 (57.7%)	<0.001
- WCC>30/µl, n/N (%)	14/219 (6.4%)	6/30 (20.0%)	8/189 (4.2%)	0.006
- WCC>100/µl, n/N (%)	3/219 (1.4%)	3/30 (10.0%)	0/189 (0.0%)	0.002
CSF WCC, mean (SD)	12.8 (37.3)	36.1 (95.2)	9.1 (10.9)	0.231
B) CSF white cell differentiation*				
- Frequency of plasma cells, n/N (%)	89/117 (76.1%)	3/10 (30.0%)	86/107 (80.4%)	0.002
- Frequency of neutrophils, n/N (%)	30/117 (25.6%)	6/10 (60.0%)	24/107 (22.4%)	0.018
- Frequency of eosinophils, n/N (%)	11/117 (9.4%)	2/10 (20.0%)	9/107 (8.4%)	0.238
- Frequency of basophils, n/N (%)	2/117 (1.7%)	1/10 (10.0%)	1/107 (0.9%)	0.164
- Frequency of macrophages, n/N (%)	14/117 (12.0%)	2/10 (20.0%)	12/107 (11.2%)	0.342

*assessed in 117 patients (10 patients with MOGAD, 107 patients with MS) with WCC>4/µl.

Bold values indicate statistical significance (p < 0.05).

TABLE 4 Comparison of basic CSF parameters in MOGAD and MS.

CSF parameter	Overall	MOGAD	MS	p-value
Elevated Q _{Alb} , n/N (%)	59/219 (26.9%)	13/30 (43.3%)	46/189 (24.3%)	0.044
- Q _{Alb} >10×10 ⁻³	8/219 (3.7%)	5/30 (16.7%)	3/189 (1.6%)	0.002
- Q _{Alb} , mean (SD)	5.2 (2.5)	7.3 (4.6)	4.9 (1.8)	<0.001
IgG _{IF} >0%, n/N (%)	104/219 (47.9%)	4/30 (13.3%)	100/189 (52.9%)	<0.001
IgA _{IF} >0%, n/N (%)	15/219 (6.8%)	0/30 (0.0%)	15/189 (7.9%)	0.233
IgM _{IF} >0%, n/N (%)	37/219 (16.9%)	4/30 (13.3%)	33/189 (17.5%)	0.794
CSF-restricted OCB, n/N (%)	183/219 (83.6%)	5/30 (16.7%)	178/189 (94.2%)	<0.001
Elevated CSF lactate, n/N (%)	6/215 (2.8%)	3/28 (10.7%)	3/187 (1.6%)	0.030
Pathologic CSF/serum glucose ratio, n/N (%)	4/215 (1.9%)	4/28 (14.3%)	0/187 (0.0%)	<0.001



In order to determine the value of single CSF parameters, sensitivity and specificity as well as positive and negative likelihood ratios (PLR and NLR) were calculated (Table 6). A PLR>10 and NLR<0.1 are considered useful in general practice (31, 32). Highest sensitivity for MOGAD was found in absence of intrathecal IgG synthesis (86.6% according to Reiber diagram, 83.3% according to IEF) and absence of a positive MRZR (100.0%), whereas reduced CSF/serum glucose ratio (100.0%), elevated CSF lactate (98.4%), QAlb>10×10-3 (98.4%), WCC>30/µl and absence of CSF-restricted OCB (94.2%) showed highest specificity for MOGAD. Highest PLRs for MOGAD were found for absence of CSF-restricted OCB (14.32) and Q_{Alb}>10×10⁻³ (12.60), while the potentially highest PLR for MOGAD, i.e. reduced CSF/serum glucose ratio, could not be calculated due to a specificity of 100.0%. The by far lowest NLR for MOGAD was found for absence of positive MRZR (0.00), followed by absence of CSF-restricted OCB (0.18) and absence of intrathecal IgG synthesis according to Reiber diagram (0.25). In addition, combined analysis of multiple parameters, i.e. i) WCC>30/µl or absence of CSFrestricted OCB, and simultaneous absence of positive MRZR, or ii) Q_{Alb} >10×10⁻³ or absence of CSF-restricted OCB, and simultaneous absence of positive MRZ reaction, showed a significant PLR (12.60) with an overall low NLR (0.14), the second lowest NLR value detected (Table 7).

Despite some clear trends, the comparison of basic CSF parameters between MOGAD patients and MS patients without CSF-restricted OCB (n=25 vs. n=11) showed no significant differences in terms of mean WCC (24.7 [SD 45.7] vs. 3.1 [SD 2.7], p=0.564), frequency of pleocytosis (36.0% vs. 18.2%, p=0.439), WCC>15/µl (28.0% vs. 0.0%, p=0.076), WCC>30/µl (20.0% vs. 0.0%, p=0.295), elevated Q_{A1b} (44.0% vs. 18.2%, p=0.259), intrathecal synthesis of IgG (0.0% vs. 0.0%), IgA (0.0% vs. 0.0%) or IgM (8.0% vs. 9.1%, p=1.000), elevated CSF lactate (17.4% vs. 9.1%, p=1.000) or pathologic CSF/serum glucose ratio (13.0% vs. 0.0%, p=0.536) (Supplementary Table 13).

When comparing MOGAD and MS patients with ON as first clinical event (n=21 vs. n=74), mild pleocytosis was less frequent in MOGAD patients (28.6% vs. 55.4%, p=0.047), but higher mean WCC (9.8 [SD 20.0] vs. 8.4 [SD 11.2], p=0.017) and moderately increased pleocytosis (WCC>30/ μ l) was associated with MOGAD (19.0% vs. 4.1%, p=0.041). In addition, pathologic CSF/serum glucose ratio occurred in MOGAD patients only (10.5% vs. 0.0%, p=0.041). Intrathecal synthesis of IgG, either according to Reiber diagram (14.3% vs. 55.4%, p=0.001) or through presence of CSF-restricted OCB (14.3% vs. 93.2%, p<0.001), and positive MRZR (0.0% vs. 35.1%, p<0.001) proved useful to distinguish MOGAD from MS (Table 8). There was no statistical significance in terms of IgA (0.0% vs. 8.1%, p=0.333) or IgM (4.8% vs. 12.2%, p=0.450) and elevated CSF lactate (5.3% vs. 0.0%, p=0.369).

4 Discussion

In clinical routine, physicians find themselves daily in the situation of having to distinguish differential diagnoses in order to quickly initiate an indicated therapy. Autoimmune and inflammatory diseases of the central nervous system can clinically and radiologically present in a very similar fashion (33-36) at first manifestation, which is why a well thought-out strategy and interpretation of diagnostic findings is necessary. One of the most common differential diagnoses of multiple sclerosis, which is the

TABLE 5 Frequency of intrathecal IgG production against measles (M)-, rubella (R)- or zoster (Z) antigens and of positive MRZ reaction in MOGAD and MS.

CSF parameter	Overall	MOGAD	MS	p-value
Intrathecal measles-specific IgG production (M), n/N (%)	67/219 (30.6%)	4/30 (13.3%)	63/189 (33.3%)	0.032
Intrathecal rubella-specific IgG production (R), n/N (%)	88/219 (40.2%)	4/30 (13.3%)	84/189 (44.4%)	0.001
Intrathecal zoster-specific IgG production (Z), n/N (%)	98/219 (44.7%)	2/30 (6.7%)	96/189 (50.8%)	<0.001
Positive MRZ reaction ¹ , n/N (%)	67/219 (30.6%)	0/30 (0.0%)	67/189 (35.4%)	<0.001

¹positive MRZ reaction (MRZR) was defined as intrathecal production of IgGs reactive against at least two of three antigens, measles (M), rubella (R) and varicella zoster (Z) virus antigens, i.e, M+R or M+Z or R+Z or M+R+Z.

CSF parameters	MOGAD	MS	Sensitivity (95% CI)	Specificity (95% CI)	PLR (95% CI)	NLR (95% CI)
1. Pleocytosis	12/30	117/189	40.0%	38.1%	0.65	1.58
	(40.0%)	(62.0%)	(24.6-57.7)	(31.5-45.2)	(0.4-1.02)	(1.12-2.22)
2. WCC>30/µl	6/30	8/189	20.0%	95.8%	4.73	0.84
	(20.0%)	(4.0%)	(9.3-37.8)	(91.7-97.9)	(1.76-12.66)	(0.70-1.00)
3. Presence of plasma cells	3/10	86/107	30.0%	19.6%	0.37	3.57
	(30.0%)	(80.0%)	(10.6-60.8)	(13.2-28.3)	(0.14-0.97)	(2.04-6.23)
4. Presence of neutrophils	6/10	24/107	60.0%	77.6%	2.68	0.52
	(60.0%)	(22.0%)	(31.2-83.1)	(86.76-84.5)	(1.44-4.96)	(0.24-1.11)
5. Elevated Q _{Alb}	13/30	46/189	43.0%	75.7%	1.78	0.75
	(43.0%)	(24.3%)	(27.4-60.8)	(69.0-81.2)	(1.10-2.88)	(0.54-1.04)
6. Q _{Alb} >10×10 ⁻³	6/30	3/189	20.0%	98.4%	12.60	0.81
	(20.0%)	(1.6%)	(9.3-37.8)	(95.2-99.7)	(3.33-47.70)	(0.68-0.97)
7. Absence of IgG _{IF} >0%	26/30	89/189	86.6%	52.9%	1.84	0.25
	(86.6%)	(47.1%)	(69.5-95.2)	(45.8-59.9)	(1.50-2.26)	(0.10-0.63)
8. Absence of CSF-spec. OCB	25/30 (83.3%)	11/189 (5.8%)	83.3% (65.8-93.0)	94.2% (89.7-96.8)	14.32 (7.89-25.97)	0.18 (0.08-0.39)
9. Absence of positive MRZR	30/30	122/189	100.0%	35.4%	1.55	0.00
	(100.0%)	(64.6%)	(86.2-100.0)	(29.0-42.5)	(1.39-1.72)	(-)
10. CSF lactate elevated	3/28	3/187	10.7%	98.4%	6.68	0.91
	(10.7%)	(1.6%)	(3.0-28.2)	(95.1-99.6)	(1.42-31.47)	(0.80-1.03)
12. CSF/serum glucose ratio reduced	4/28 (14.3%)	0/187 (0.0%)	14.3% (5.2-32.3)	100.0% (97.5-100.0)	-	0.86 (0.74-1.00)

Bold values indicate statistical significance (p < 0.05).

most frequent chronic-inflammatory CNS disease (37), is MOGAD, for which diagnostic criteria have recently been proposed in a comprehensive consensus paper (15). In this retrospective singlecenter study, we demonstrate the importance of CSF routine diagnostics in clinical practice and describe the usefulness of absence of the biomarker MRZR, which is considered the most specific marker for multiple sclerosis to date (38), in distinguishing MOGAD from MS. Our results confirm the absence of a positive MRZR as a typical finding in MOGAD and add evidence to the data supporting positive MRZR as an MS-specific marker (38). Absence of positive MRZR could potentially complement the recently proposed diagnostic criteria of MOGAD (15). Since the diagnosis of MOGAD can be difficult due to, among other things, the clinical variability, the limited availability of high-sensitivity live cell-based assays (10), and the difficulty in interpreting low-titer antibody results, it is important to reliably distinguish between these two diseases and to identify patients who should be tested for MOG antibodies in the first place in order to avoid false-positive results by over-testing (39). Despite high sensitivities and specificities of MOG antibody assays of 95-100% (10), testing MOG antibodies in patients with low probability of MOGAD, e.g. including all MScaused ON and myelitis cases, leads to a significant occurrence of false-positive test results and is therefore not recommended (10, 15, 39). As presented above, the estimated frequency of positive MRZR in the general population is more than 33 times higher than the estimated frequency of MOG seropositivity, while there are no

TABLE 7 Sensitivity, specificity, and likelihood ratios of combinations of basic CSF parameters to distinguish MOGAD from MS.

Combination of CSF parameters	MOGAD	MS	Sensitivity (95% CI)	Specificity (95% CI)	PLR (95% CI)	NLR (95% CI)
 Combination of a) 1 of the following parameters: WCC>30/μl or absence of CSF-restricted OCB and b) absence of positive MRZ reaction 	26/30	13/189	86.7%	93.1%	12.60	0.14
	(86.7%)	(6.9%)	(69.5-95.2)	(88.5-96.0)	(7.32-21.69)	(0.06-0.36)
 2. Combination of a) 1 of the following parameters: Q_{Alb}>10×10⁻³ or absence of CSF-restricted OCB and b) absence of positive MRZ reaction 	26/30	13/189	86.7%	93.1%	12.60	0.14
	(86.7%)	(6.9%)	(69.5-95.2)	(88.5-96.0)	(7.32-21.69)	(0.06-0.36)

CSF parameter	Overall	MOGAD	MS	P-value
Pleocytosis, n/N (%)	47/95 (49.8%)	6/21 (28.6%)	41/74 (55.4%)	0.047
WCC, mean (SD)	8.7 (13.5)	9.8 (20.0)	8.4 (11.2)	0.017
WCC>15/µl, n/N (%)	14/95 (14.7%)	4/21 (19.0%)	10/74 (13.5%)	0.503
WCC>30/µl, n/N (%)	7/95 (7.4%)	4/21 (19.0%)	3/74 (4.1%)	0.041
Elevated Q _{Alb} , n/N (%)	24/95 (25.3%)	6/21 (28.6%)	18/74 (24.3%)	0.777
IgG _{IF} >0%, n/N (%)	44/95 (46.3%)	3/21 (14.3%)	41/74 (55.4%)	0.001
IgA _{IF} >0%, n/N (%)	6/95 (6.3%)	0/21 (0.0%)	6/74 (8.1%)	0.333
IgM _{IF} >0%, n/N (%)	10/95 (10.5%)	1/21 (4.8%)	9/74 (12.2%)	0.450
CSF-restricted OCB, n/N (%)	72/95 (75.8%)	3/21 (14.3%)	69/74 (93.2%)	<0.001
Positive MRZR, n/N (%)	26/95 (27.4%)	0/21 (0.0%)	26/74 (35.1%)	<0.001
Elevated CSF lactate, n/N (%)	2/92 (2.2%)	1/19 (5.3%)	1/74 (1.4%)	0.369
Pathologic CSF/serum glucose ratio, n/N (%)	2/93 (2.2%)	2/19 (10.5%)	0/73 (0.0%)	0.041

TABLE 8 Comparison of basic CSF parameters in MOGAD and MS patients with optic neuritis as first clinical event.

Bold values indicate statistical significance (p < 0.05).

reported cases of positive MRZR in MOGAD until now. Accordingly, if the pretest probability for MOG seropositivity is low, testing for MRZR should be favored over testing for MOG antibodies, and testing for MOG antibodies should be avoided if MRZR is positive.

MOGAD can occur both as a monophasic and relapsingremitting disease (13, 14), but so far, there are no tools to predict the course at the time of diagnosis. Parameters to determine the course of the disease at an early stage would be desirable so that either an adequate immunomodulatory therapy can be initiated at an early stage, or a continuous immunomodulatory therapy is not started unnecessarily or given for too long time, respectively. In our cohort, routine CSF diagnostics did not appear useful in this regard, as there were no significant differences in terms of WCC, Q_{Alb} or intrathecal synthesis of immunoglobulins The analysis is limited by the low number of patients, variable follow-up time and different treatment strategies after the first relapse. Therefore, further work is needed to verify this in a bigger cohort.

The number of studies analyzing typical CSF profiles in MOGAD patients is low (13, 16, 23, 28–30) and most studies focus on pediatric MOGAD. The most relevant multicenter study for adult MOGAD patients involved 163 lumbar punctures in 100 adult MOGAD patients (16). Especially the absence of CSF-restricted OCB in the majority of samples (present in 19/150, 12.7%) and the absence of a positive MRZR in all patients (present in 0/48, 0.0%) were considered remarkable. The cellular

immune response and function of the BSCFB varied widely within the cohort and was dependent on relapse and remission as well as the initial clinical manifestation. Of particular interest, in a notable proportion of samples, there was a moderate cell count increase above 50/µl (in 30/157, 19.1%) and 100/µl (in 19/157, 12.1%), which is considered a red flag for the diagnosis of MS, since only 5% of MS patients are found with CSF WCC>30/µl (25, 40). Regarding cell differentiation, the presence of neutrophils in 33/77 (42.9%) was particularly striking, whereas the presence of plasma cells (3/77, 3.9%) was rare. In about half of the samples, a dysfunction of the BSCFB could be detected (67/139, 48.2%) and a moderate dysfunction (defined as $Q_{Alb}>10\times10^{-3}$) as well as a severe dysfunction (defined as QAlb>20×10⁻³) occurred in a notable number of patients (exact number not stated). These results also appear useful to distinguish MOGAD from MS, as the latter has intact barrier function in approximately 90% of cases and elevation of Q_{Alb} >10×10⁻³ is an exception (25, 40). A systematic analysis to assess the usefulness of these CSF parameters, either as single parameter or in combination, to distinguish MOGAD from MS in clinical practice has not yet been conducted.

It should be noted that the vast majority of our MOGAD patients had optic neuritis as first clinical presentation, which probably influenced the comparison, as MOGAD patients with acute optic neuritis have been shown to differ significantly from patients with acute myelitis in terms of WCC, frequency of pleocytosis, BSCFB dysfunction and even CSF-restricted OCB

(16). Due to the small number of patients with myelitis, our analysis of differences between MOGAD patients with myelitis and ON was significantly limited, but a combined analysis of our work with the previously published cohort of Jarius et al. (16) not only confirms significant differences in frequency of pleocytosis, WCC>100/µl, BCSFB dysfunction and CSF lactate elevation, but revealed for the first time significant differences in the frequency of intrathecal synthesis of IgM. This could have implications for the understanding of MOGAD pathophysiology, as e.g. intrathecal IgM synthesis in MS is associated with spinal cord manifestation and with early activation of the complement cascade (41). BCSFB dysfunction has also been observed more often in MS patients with spinal lesions as compared to MS patients with supra- and/or infratentorial lesions (42), and Reiber (43) postulated that this could reflect reduced CSF- or interstitial fluid flow due to spinal lesions.

Jarius and colleagues (16) also showed CSF findings of the firstever lumbar puncture in a subcohort, which corresponds to the diagnostic situation in our work and is suitable for comparing the data with our results. The majority of our MOGAD patients, especially if presenting with ON, had normal WCC (12/30 [40.0%)] vs. 55.7% [30.8% if ON] in Jarius et al. (16)), but the level of WCC varied widely between patients with pleocytosis. QAlb also varied widely, an elevation of QAlb was detected in 13/30 of our MOGAD cases (43% vs. 53.8% [42.4% if ON] in Jarius et al. (16)). In 5/30 of our MOGAD patients CSF-restricted OCB could be detected (16.7% vs. 9.6% in Jarius et al. (16)) and positive MRZR did not occur in either cohort. Regarding CSF white cell differentiation, our data is limited by the fact that only data from patients with pleocytosis were available and therefore the number of MOGAD patients with available data was very low (n=10), but our work confirms the increased occurrence of neutrophils and the less frequent occurrence of plasma cells in the CSF of MOGAD patients.

In order to determine their value, the PLR and NLR of single and combinational multiple parameters were calculated, and a PLR>10 and NLR<0.1 was considered meaningful (31, 32). There is a general lack of data on these ratios for diagnostic tests (32), but they are considered superior to sensitivity and specificity for clinical routine (44). Only a $Q_{Alb}>10\times10^{-3}$ (PLR=12.60) and the absence of CSF-restricted OCB (PLR=14.32) showed a useful PLR (defined as PLR>10) and the absence of a positive MRZR (NLR=0.00) showed a useful NLR (defined as NLR<0.1) to distinguish MOGAD from MS. Notably, the PLR for a decreased CSF/serum glucose ratio could not be calculated because of its specificity of 100%. These results confirm the importance of MRZR as the most specific biomarker for MS. However, in clinical routine and especially in cases with high diagnostic uncertainty, it is not the individual parameters, but patterns of several findings that are considered for diagnosis. Looking at combinations of several parameters in patients with absence of a positive MRZR, both the combination of (i) WCC>30/ μl or absence of CSF-restricted OCB and (ii) $Q_{Alb}{>}10{\times}10^{-3}$ or absence of CSF-restricted OCB, both with simultaneous absence of positive MRZR, showed significant relevance (both with PLR=12.6, NLR=0.14) with the second lowest NLR overall. Thus, whereas positive MRZR can be used as a rule-out parameter for MOGAD, the absence of CSF-restricted oligoclonal bands, possibly combined with moderate-grade WCC elevation or moderate or severe dysfunction of the BSCFB can be used as a rule-in parameter for MOGAD.

A particularly interesting comparison in clinical practice is the one between MOGAD and MS patients without evidence of CSFrestricted OCB. As a complicating factor, positive MRZR is rare in OCB-negative patients and thus plays a significantly smaller role in the diagnosis of MS in these cases (45). While there is no statistically significant difference due to the small numbers of patients with OCB-negative MS in our cohort, we believe it is worthwhile to consider the direction in which the results point here: Pleocytosis, especially with intermediate cell count elevation, appears to be a typical finding in MOGAD patients, and cell counts above 15/µl did not occur within our MS patients without CSF-restricted OCB. In addition, BCSFB dysfunction was more than twice as frequent in MOGAD patients as in MS patients. No trends were apparent with respect to the humoral immune response. Of particular interest, positive MRZR was absent in both MOGAD and MS patients without CSF-restricted OCB. Unfortunately, data on cell differentiation were not available in this subcohort. In our opinion, a re-examination of these results in a larger cohort is necessary, but could prove very helpful.

Optic neuritis is a common symptom in both MOGAD and MS. While bilateral optic neuritis is an exception in MS (46), it can be a typical feature in MOGAD and occurs in up to 58% (47). In MOGAD, the optic nerve is typically affected in the proximal part and in a longitudinally extensive manner, and concomitant optic disc swelling, involvement of perineural tissue or moderate to severe edema may occur, whereas short-extent and peripheral involvement is particularly typical in MS (46, 48). While initial loss of visual acuity appears to be more severe in MOGAD, usually there is a good recovery in both diseases following corticosteroid treatment (46). Many papers have addressed the clinical and radiological differences of optic neuritis between the two disease entities (15, 48, 49), but systematic analysis of differences in CSF findings in these subcohorts is scarce. According to the current literature, optic neuritis in MOGAD presents with a normal WCC in up to two third of the cases, but can also show moderate pleocytosis and even a WCC>100/µl (16). In our cohort, MOGAD patients showed a normal WCC more frequently than MS patients, whereas in case of pleocytosis, a moderate WCC increase >30/µl was more frequent in MOGAD. Both results are thus compatible with previous work. The intrathecal synthesis of IgG, whether detected in the Reiber diagram or by detection of CSF-restricted OCB, as well as a positive MRZR, which occurred exclusively in MS patients, appear to be the best parameters to distinguish both diseases. Based on our results on the significant differences in cell differentiation between MOGAD and MS, the detection of neutrophils and plasma cells, respectively, could be helpful in clinical practice, but due to lack of data, we could not perform this analysis in the context of optic neuritis. The small number of patients limits the results of our analysis, and a larger systematic analysis is needed to confirm and further elaborate on these findings.

In summary, a number of useful pieces of information can be obtained from routine CSF clinical diagnostics to differentiate MOGAD from MS. Absence of CSF-restricted OCB and presence of moderate blood CSF barrier dysfunction stood out as the most relevant rule-in parameters for MOGAD in this context, while positive MRZR is confirmed as by far the best rule-out parameter for MOGAD. While circumstances such as relapse, remission, and clinical phenotype have a crucial impact on routine CSF parameters, a positive MRZR is now considered a robust marker to reliably distinguish MS from MOGAD regardless of the clinical context and time point. We consider it worthwhile to verify the results of this work in other and larger cohorts.

Our study is limited by its retrospective nature, the fact that it was conducted at a single center and the overall small number of MOGAD patients. MOG antibodies, which are detected in 3-5% of MOGAD patients only in CSF and not in the serum (50–52), have not been measured in CSF in our center, but could add new information to the cohort. Furthermore, our work is limited to routine clinical diagnostics that are ubiquitously available in laboratories and does not include emerging biomarkers such as neurofilament light-chain, glial fibrillary acidic protein, myelin basic protein, or even cytokine profiles from serum and CSF, which could help differentiate both disease entities at a higher level. On the plus side, we provide robust likelihood ratios for single and combined CSF parameters that are easy to use in clinical routine practice.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Informed consent was obtained from all patients or relatives. Since data of all patients were anonymized for this study, the local Cantonal Ethics Committee stated that the research project does not fall within the scope of the Human Reseach Act (HRA) and therefore, an authorization from the ethics committee is not required (BASEC Nr. Req-2022-01134). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

BV had a major role in the acquisition of the data, analyzed and interpreted the data, and drafted the manuscript for intellectual content. IR, SN, MH, AL and AR acquired, analyzed and interpreted data, and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. DL, CH and AE interpreted data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. MZ acquired and analyzed data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. MR analyzed and interpreted data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. IJ designed and conceptualized the study, acquired, analyzed and interpreted the data, and drafted the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The cost for the publication of this manuscript was generously funded by a 2023 Spark Grant from The Sumaira Foundation.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Lilian Zollinger, Ester Dall'Acqua-Giovanoli and Nadja Lüönd for their excellent work in routine CSF analysis in daily practice.

Conflict of interest

MR was supported by a research support from Euroimmun and Roche. The University Hospital and Medical University of Innsbruck Austria, employer of Dr. Reindl receives payments for antibody assays MOG, AQP4, and other autoantibodies and for MOG and AQP4 antibody validation experiments organized by Euroimmun Lübeck, Germany. AL received financial compensation and/or travel support for lectures and advice from Biogen, Merck, Novartis, Teva, Genzyme, Roche, Bayer, Celgene and he is a co-founder and coowner of Cellerys, a company which pursues antigen-specific tolerization. He is co-inventor on a patent held by the University of Zurich on the use of peptide-coupled cells for treatment of MS. IJ has received speaker honoraria or unrestricted grants from Biogen Idec and Novartis and has received compensation for advice or lecturing by for Alexion, Biogen, Bristol Myers Squibb, Celgene, Janssen-Cilag, Neuway, Merck, Novartis, Roche and Sanofi Genzyme; none of these are related to this study.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be constructed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1237149/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Marignier R, Hacohen Y, Cobo-Calvo A, Probstel AK, Aktas O, Alexopoulos H, et al. Myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Lancet Neurol* (2021) 20:762–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00218-0

2. Ramanathan S, Mohammad S, Tantsis E, Nguyen TK, Merheb V, Fung VSC, et al. Clinical course, therapeutic responses and outcomes in relapsing MOG antibodyassociated demyelination. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2018) 89:127–37. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316880

3. Hoftberger R, Guo Y, Flanagan EP, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Endmayr V, Hochmeister S, et al. The pathology of central nervous system inflammatory demyelinating disease accompanying myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *Acta Neuropathol* (2020) 139:875–92. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02132-y

4. Takai Y, Misu T, Kaneko K, Chihara N, Narikawa K, Tsuchida S, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: an immunopathological study. *Brain* (2020) 143:1431–46. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa102

5. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Rollot F, Arrambide G, Deschamps R, Maillart E, et al. Clinical features and risk of relapse in children and adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Ann Neurol* (2021) 89:30–41. doi: 10.1002/ana.25909

6. O'connell K, Hamilton-Shield A, Woodhall M, Messina S, Mariano R, Waters P, et al. Prevalence and incidence of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, aquaporin-4 antibody-positive NMOSD and MOG antibody-positive disease in Oxfordshire, UK. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2020) 91:1126–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-323158

7. Orlandi R, Mariotto S, Gajofatto A. Prevalence, incidence, and season distribution of MOG antibody-associated disease in the province of Verona, Italy. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2022) 63:103884. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103884

8. Blozik E, Rapold R, Eichler K, Reich O. Epidemiology and costs of multiple sclerosis in Switzerland: an analysis of health-care claims data 2011-2015. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2017) 13:2737–45. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S143180

9. Papp V, Illes Z, Magyari M, Koch-Henriksen N, Kant M, Pfleger CC, et al. Nationwide prevalence and incidence study of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder in Denmark. *Neurology* (2018) 91:e2265–75. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006645

10. Reindl M, Schanda K, Woodhall M, Tea F, Ramanathan S, Sagen J, et al. International multicenter examination of MOG antibody assays. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2020) 7. doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000000674

11. Held F, Kalluri SR, Berthele A, Klein AK, Reindl M, Hemmer B. Frequency of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in a large cohort of neurological patients. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin* (2021) 7:20552173211022767. doi: 10.1177/20552173211022767

12. Sechi E, Buciuc M, Pittock SJ, Chen JJ, Fryer JP, Jenkins SM, et al. Positive predictive value of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody testing. *JAMA Neurol* (2021) 78:741–6. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2021.0912

13. Jurynczyk M, Messina S, Woodhall MR, Raza N, Everett R, Roca-Fernandez A, et al. Clinical presentation and prognosis in MOG-antibody disease: a UK study. *Brain* (2017) 140:3128–38. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx276

14. Armangue T, Olive-Cirera G, Martinez-Hernandez E, Sepulveda M, Ruiz-Garcia R, Munoz-Batista M, et al. Associations of paediatric demyelinating and encephalitic syndromes with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a multicentre observational study. *Lancet Neurol* (2020) 19:234–46. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19) 30488-0

15. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: International MOGAD Panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol* (2023) 22:268–82. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

16. Jarius S, Pellkofer H, Siebert N, Korporal-Kuhnke M, Hummert MW, Ringelstein M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid findings in patients with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies. Part 1: Results from 163 lumbar punctures in 100 adult patients. *J Neuroinflamm* (2020) 17:261. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01824-2

17. Reiber H. Cerebrospinal fluid–physiology, analysis and interpretation of protein patterns for diagnosis of neurological diseases. *Mult Scler* (1998) 4:99–107. doi: 10.1177/1352458512466317

18. Filippi M, Preziosa P, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Ciccarelli O, De Stefano N, et al. Assessment of lesions on magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis: practical guidelines. *Brain* (2019) 142:1858–75. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz144

19. Wattjes MP, Ciccarelli O, Reich DS, Banwell B, de Stefano N, Enzinger C, et al. 2021 MAGNIMS-CMSC-NAIMS consensus recommendations on the use of MRI in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol* (2021) 20:653–70. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00095-8

20. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol* (2018) 17:162–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

21. Wick M, Gross CC, Tumani H, Wildemann B, Stangel MOn Behalf Of The German Society Of CSF Diagnostics And Clinical Neurochemistry DGLN e.V. Automated analysis of cerebrospinal fluid cells using commercially available blood

cell analysis devices-A critical appraisal. Cells (2021) 10:1232. doi: 10.3390/ cells10051232

22. Tumani H, Petereit HF, Gerritzen A, Gross CC, Huss A, Isenmann S, et al. S1 guidelines "lumbar puncture and cerebrospinal fluid analysis" (abridged and translated version). *Neurol Res Pract* (2020) 2:8. doi: 10.1186/s42466-020-0051-z

23. Jarius S, Lechner C, Wendel EM, Baumann M, Breu M, Schimmel M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid findings in patients with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies. Part 2: Results from 108 lumbar punctures in 80 pediatric patients. *J Neuroinflamm* (2020) 17:262. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01825-1

24. Reiber H, Otto M, Trendelenburg C, Wormek A. Reporting cerebrospinal fluid data: knowledge base and interpretation software. *EJIFCC* (2004) 15:74–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1996.tb00052.x

25. Andersson M, Alvarez-Cermeno J, Bernardi G, Cogato I, Fredman P, Frederiksen J, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid in the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: a consensus report. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (1994) 57:897–902. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.57.8.897

26. Reiber H, Ungefehr S, Jacobi C. The intrathecal, polyspecific and oligoclonal immune response in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (1998) 4:111–7. doi: 10.1177/135245859800400304

27. Felgenhauer K, Reiber H. The diagnostic significance of antibody specificity indices in multiple sclerosis and herpes virus induced diseases of the nervous system. *Clin Investig* (1992) 70:28–37. doi: 10.1007/BF00422934

28. Rostasy K, Mader S, Schanda K, Huppke P, Gartner J, Kraus V, et al. Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in pediatric patients with optic neuritis. *Arch Neurol* (2012) 69:752–6. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.2956

29. Huppke P, Rostasy K, Karenfort M, Huppke B, Seidl R, Leiz S, et al. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis followed by recurrent or monophasic optic neuritis in pediatric patients. *Mult Scler* (2013) 19:941–6. doi: 10.1177/1352458512466317

30. Hacohen Y, Absoud M, Deiva K, Hemingway C, Nytrova P, Woodhall M, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies are associated with a non-MS course in children. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2:e81. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000081

31. Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Diagnostic tests 4: likelihood ratios. *BMJ* (2004) 329:168–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.329.7458.168

32. Fierz W, Bossuyt X. Likelihood ratio approach and clinical interpretation of laboratory tests. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:655262. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.655262

33. Sato DK, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Waters PJ, De Haidar Jorge FM, Takahashi T, et al. Distinction between MOG antibody-positive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology* (2014) 82:474–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000101

34. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I, Borisow N, Asgari N, Pitarokoili K, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 2: Epidemiology, clinical presentation, radiological and laboratory features, treatment responses, and long-term outcome. *J Neuroinflamm* (2016) 13:280. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-016-0718-0

35. Fadda G, Alves CA, O'mahony J, Castro DA, Yeh EA, Marrie RA, et al. Comparison of spinal cord magnetic resonance imaging features among children with acquired demyelinating syndromes. *JAMA Netw Open* (2021) 4:e2128871. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.28871

36. Sechi E, Krecke KN, Messina SA, Buciuc M, Pittock SJ, Chen JJ, et al. Comparison of MRI lesion evolution in different central nervous system demyelinating disorders. *Neurology* (2021) 97:e1097–109. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012467

37. Walton C, King R, Rechtman L, Kaye W, Leray E, Marrie RA, et al. Rising prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: Insights from the Atlas of MS, third edition. *Mult Scler* (2020) 26:1816–21. doi: 10.1177/1352458520970841

38. Jarius S, Eichhorn P, Franciotta D, Petereit HF, Akman-Demir G, Wick M, et al. The MRZ reaction as a highly specific marker of multiple sclerosis: re-evaluation and structured review of the literature. *J Neurol* (2017) 264:453–66. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8360-4

39. Palace J, Fuller G. Don't do the blood* test! *Pract Neurol* (2020) 20:428-9. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2020-002670

40. Ruprecht K, Tumani H. [Cerebrospinal fluid diagnostics in multiple sclerosis]. Nervenarzt (2016) 87:1282–7. doi: 10.1007/s00115-016-0220-z

41. Oechtering J, Lincke T, Schaedelin S, Decard BF, Maceski A, Orleth A, et al. Intrathecal igM synthesis is associated with spinal cord manifestation and neuronal injury in early MS. *Ann Neurol* (2022) 91:814–20. doi: 10.1002/ana.26348

42. Liebsch R, Kornhuber ME, Dietl D, Grafin Von Einsiedel H, Conrad B. Blood-CSF barrier integrity in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand* (1996) 94:404–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1996.tb00052.x

43. Reiber H. Blood-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) barrier dysfunction means reduced CSF flow not barrier leakage - conclusions from CSF protein data. *Arq Neuropsiquiatr* (2021) 79:56–67. doi: 10.1590/0004-282x-anp-2020-0094

44. Eusebi P. Diagnostic accuracy measures. Cerebrovasc Dis (2013) 36:267–72. doi: 10.1159/000353863

45. Stich O, Kluge J, Speck J, Rauer S. Oligoclonal restriction of antiviral immunoreaction in oligoclonal band-negative MS patients. *Acta Neurol Scand* (2015) 131:381–8. doi: 10.1111/ane.12350

46. Bennett JL, Costello F, Chen JJ, Petzold A, Biousse V, Newman NJ, et al. Optic neuritis and autoimmune optic neuropathies: advances in diagnosis and treatment. *Lancet Neurol* (2023) 22:89–100. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00187-9

47. Ramanathan S, Reddel SW, Henderson A, Parratt JD, Barnett M, Gatt PN, et al. Antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in bilateral and recurrent optic neuritis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2014) 1:e40. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000000

48. Dutra BG, Da Rocha AJ, Nunes RH, Maia ACMJ. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: spectrum of MR imaging findings and their differential diagnosis. *Radiographics* (2018) 38:169–93. doi: 10.1148/rg.2018170141

49. Weber MS, Derfuss T, Metz I, Bruck W. Defining distinct features of anti-MOG antibody associated central nervous system demyelination. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord* (2018) 11:1756286418762083. doi: 10.1177/1756286418762083

50. Mariotto S, Gajofatto A, Batzu L, Delogu R, Sechi G, Leoni S, et al. Relevance of antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in CSF of seronegative cases. *Neurology* (2019) 93:e1867–72. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000008479

51. Kwon YN, Kim B, Kim JS, Mo H, Choi K, Oh SI, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-immunoglobulin G in the CSF: clinical implication of testing and association with disability. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2022) 9. doi: 10.1212/NXL0000000000001095

52. Pace S, Orrell M, Woodhall M, Palace J, Leite MI, Irani SR, et al. Frequency of MOG-IgG in cerebrospinal fluid versus serum. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2022) 93:334–5. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2021-326779

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Sara Mariotto, University of Verona, Italy Patrick Joseph Waters, University of Oxford, United Kingdom Nanthaya Tisavipat, Mayo Clinic, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Jyh Yung Hor Morjy@yahoo.com Kazuo Fujihara I fujikazu@med.tohoku.ac.jp

RECEIVED 17 July 2023 ACCEPTED 15 August 2023 PUBLISHED 15 September 2023

CITATION

Hor JY and Fujihara K (2023) Epidemiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodyassociated disease: a review of prevalence and incidence worldwide. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1260358. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1260358

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hor and Fujihara. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Epidemiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: a review of prevalence and incidence worldwide

Jyh Yung Hor¹* and Kazuo Fujihara^{2,3}*

¹Department of Neurology, Penang General Hospital, Penang, Malaysia, ²Department of Multiple Sclerosis Therapeutics, Fukushima Medical University School of Medicine, Koriyama, Japan, ³Multiple Sclerosis and Neuromyelitis Optica Center, Southern TOHOKU Research Institute for Neuroscience, Koriyama, Japan

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) with the presence of conformation-sensitive antibodies against MOG. The spectrum of MOGAD includes monophasic/relapsing optic neuritis, myelitis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) phenotype without aquaporin 4 (AQP4) antibodies, acute/multiphasic demyelinating encephalomyelitis (ADEM/ MDEM)-like presentation, and brainstem and cerebral cortical encephalitis. There is no apparent female preponderance in MOGAD, and MOGAD can onset in all age groups (age at onset is approximately 30 years on average, and approximately 30% of cases are in the pediatric age group). While prevalence and incidence data have been available for AQP4+ NMOSD globally, such data are only beginning to accumulate for MOGAD. We reviewed the currently available data from populationbased MOGAD studies conducted around the world: three studies in Europe, three in Asia, and one joint study in the Americas. The prevalence of MOGAD is approximately 1.3-2.5/100,000, and the annual incidence is approximately 3.4-4.8 per million. Among White people, the prevalence of MOGAD appears to be slightly higher than that of AQP4+ NMOSD. No obvious latitude gradient was observed in the Japanese nationwide survey. The data available so far showed no obvious racial preponderance or strong HLA associations in MOGAD. However, precedent infection was reported in approximately 20-40% of MOGAD cases, and this is worthy of further investigation. Co-existing autoimmune disorders are less common in MOGAD than in AQP4+ NMOSD, but NMDAR antibodies may occasionally be positive in patients with MOGAD. More population-based studies in different populations and regions are useful to further inform the epidemiology of this disease.

KEYWORDS

myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein, MOG antibody-associated disease, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, population study, prevalence, incidence, epidemiology

1. Introduction

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodyassociated disease (MOGAD) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS), with the presence of conformation-sensitive antibodies against MOG detected by a cellbased assay (1). The MOG antibodies were initially detected primarily in a subgroup of patients with acute/multiphasic demyelinating encephalomyelitis (ADEM/MDEM) (2, 3). Subsequent studies showed that MOG antibodies were also present in patients with optic neuritis, myelitis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) phenotype without aquaporin 4 (AQP4) antibodies, and brainstem and cerebral cortical encephalitis (4-10). In addition to the unique clinical spectrum, MOGAD has some distinguishing immunopathological features, such as perivenous demyelinating lesions and the fusion pattern without astrocytic damage, MOG-dominant myelin loss in some lesions, and Th17-related cytokine upregulation (11). Therefore, MOGAD is now recognized as a clinical entity distinct from multiple sclerosis (MS) and AQP4 antibody-positive NMOSD (AQP4+ NMOSD).

Recently, the international diagnostic criteria for MOGAD were published (12), and the diagnosis of MOGAD is now made based on the presence of at least one of the core clinical demyelinating events (optic neuritis, myelitis, ADEM, cerebral monofocal or polyfocal deficits, brainstem or cerebellar deficits, and cerebral cortical encephalitis often with seizures), a positive MOG-IgG test, and the exclusion of alternative diagnoses including MS. When MOG antibody is low-positive in a patient with a core clinical demyelinating event, at least one supporting clinical or MRI feature should be met to make a diagnosis of MOGAD since alternative diagnoses including MS can be low-positive (if clear-positive, such a process is unnecessary). In some core clinical demyelinating events (e.g., cerebral monofocal or polyfocal deficits), the clinical and imaging findings are not necessarily strictly defined, and occasionally it may be difficult to diagnose MOGAD in such a case when the MOG antibody is low-positive.

Unlike AQP4+ NMOSD, which has a very high female-to-male ratio (up to 9:1), there is no apparent female preponderance in MOGAD (around 1.2:1). MOGAD can onset in all age groups, with a mean/median age at onset of approximately 28–30 years. Approximately 30% of MOGAD cases are in the pediatric age group, and MOGAD comprises approximately 35–40% of cases of acquired CNS demyelinating syndrome in the pediatric population (10, 13–16). Approximately 35–50% of MOGAD cases have a relapsing course, with the relapse risk being slightly higher (~60%) in the young adult-onset group (14–16). Optic neuritis is the most common onset phenotype (~40%). Age-related onset phenotype is a feature of MOGAD, where ADEM is more common in pediatric patients <10 years old, while myelitis and brainstem encephalitis are more common in adult patients (14–16).

Almost two decades since the discovery of AQP4 antibodies, there is now accumulated data on the prevalence and incidence of AQP4+ NMOSD globally, with over 30 population-based studies published or presented from all continents except Africa (17, 18). The data showed a racial preponderance where the prevalence is higher among East Asians (\sim 5/100,000) and Black people (up to 10/100,000) when compared to White people (\sim 1–1.5/100,000) and Austronesians (\sim 1.5/100,000) (17– 21). Despite being less well studied, there are now a number of population-based studies on the prevalence and incidence of MOGAD being reported, and it is time to review these data from around the world.

In this article, we review population-based studies of MOGAD to determine its prevalence and incidence in all regions of the world. We also review certain epidemiological aspects such as precedent infection/vaccination, autoimmune comorbidities, and seasonal variation, as well as the available data on HLA and other genetic associations in MOGAD.

2. Prevalence and incidence of MOGAD

There have been a total of seven population-based studies that have provided data on the prevalence and incidence of MOGAD (as of June 2023). Three studies were conducted in Europe: Oxfordshire (UK) (22), Verona (Italy) (23), and the Dutch nationwide incidence study (24). The studies in Asia included a nationwide survey in Japan (16), a nationwide audit in Singapore (20), and a study in Chumphon (Thailand) (25). In the Americas and the Caribbean, there was a joint study in Olmsted County (Minnesota, USA) and Martinique Island, which was presented at a conference (ECTRIMS 2019) (26). The data from these studies are summarized and presented in Figure 1 and Table 1.

It is of note that all these studies were conducted before the international diagnostic criteria for MOGAD were proposed (12). With the new diagnostic criteria, future epidemiological data may be more standardized and accurate. It is also important to note that the majority of the studies were based on the results of MOG antibodies detected in sera. However, some patients with MOGAD are known to be MOG antibody-positive only in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (27, 28), and they were not included in the prevalence and incidence calculations.

2.1. Europe

The first population-based prevalence study of MOGAD in Europe was reported from Oxfordshire (UK), with a prevalence of 2.0/100,000 (total of 14 patients, with 12 White people) and an annual incidence of 3.4 per million (22). In that study, among White people, the prevalence of MOGAD was 1.9/100,000 (12 cases), while the prevalence of AQP4-IgG+ NMOSD was 1.0/100,000 (6 cases). This study shows that in White people, MOGAD appears to be two times more common than AQP4+ NMOSD.

The MOGAD study from Verona (Italy) reported a prevalence of 2.5/100,000 (in 23 patients; 22 White people and 1 Asian) and an annual incidence of 4.4 per million (23). This prevalence in Verona is quite consistent with that reported from Oxfordshire.

In the Dutch nationwide MOGAD incidence study, the data from a single centralized laboratory that performed MOG antibody tests were analyzed. From 2015 to 2017, the average annual incidence was 1.6 per million (1.3 per million in adults, and a higher incidence of 3.1 per million in children) (24). The study investigators noted that these incidence estimates were minimum figures, and increased awareness of the antibody tests among treating physicians would likely lead to a higher incidence. For instance, in 2017, the annual incidence was 2.4 per million (children: 4.7 per million).



There were also two population-based studies conducted in Catalonia and Portugal on the prevalence and incidence of NMOSD that included AQP4 antibody-positive cases and MOG antibody-positive cases (29, 30). However, these cases were the ones that strictly fulfilled the 2015 criteria of the International Panel on NMO Diagnosis, and therefore, for MOG antibody-positive cases, only those with an NMO phenotype were included. In Catalonia, 12% of the NMOSD cases were MOG antibody-positive, giving a prevalence of 0.11/100,000 (29). In the Portuguese nationwide study, 67/180 (37%) of NMOSD cases were MOG antibody-positive, giving a prevalence of 0.65/100,000 (30). Suffice it to say, if all phenotypes of MOGAD (e.g., those with monophasic or relapsing optic neuritis or the ones with brain syndromes) were included, the prevalence would be higher.

2.2. Asia

The Japanese nationwide MOGAD survey (Japan's population in 2020 was 126 million) published recently identified 877 MOGAD cases, including 258 new cases, and estimated there were 1,695 MOGAD cases nationwide. This gave an estimated prevalence of 1.34/100,000 and an annual incidence of 3.9 per million (16). The survey also showed that there was no obvious latitude gradient observed between the northern and southern parts of Japan for MOGAD prevalence. This study was based on data gleaned from questionnaires sent to neurology, pediatric neurology, and neuro-ophthalmology departments (N=3,790) across the country, which is different from a conventional population-based prevalence and

incidence study. In addition, the response rate in the primary survey was relatively low (36.4%). These may be the limitations of the survey.

In the multi-racial island nation of Singapore at the equator, a nationwide audit estimated a prevalence of 1.26/100,000 (20). When breaking down according to the racial groups, the prevalence was 1.03/100,000 among Chinese, 1.47/100,000 among Malays, and 2.48/100,000 among Indians, suggesting a potential influence of race on the prevalence. On the other hand, multi-center studies from Australia and the UK largely did not show significant racial preponderance (15, 31), though, in the UK study, there was a slightly increased proportion of South Asian patients in the young pediatric group (<12 years), while in the Australian cohort, there was a slightly increased proportion of South Asian patients in the adult group. Longitudinal studies and data from other regions will be useful to clarify this.

A recent study from the Chumphon province in Thailand reported two cases of MOGAD in adult females, giving a prevalence of 0.51/100,000 among the adult population (25). In the same study, the prevalence of MS was 0.77/100,000, while the prevalence of AQP4+ NMOSD was 3.08/100,000. More population-based studies of MOGAD from the diverse regions of Asia are awaited.

2.3. The Americas and the Caribbean

There was a joint study from Olmsted County (USA) and Martinique Island that was presented at the ECTRIMS 2019 congress but utilized earlier data (prevalence date: 2011) (26). In Olmsted

TABLE 1 Population-based prevalence and incidence studies of MOGAD around the world.

Population- based study	Geographical location	Area of study	Population	Prevalence date		Number of prevalent cases	to-male		Clinical phenotypes	Other clinical information	MOG antibody testing method	Prevalence per 100,000 population (95% CI)	Annual Incidence per million population (95% CI)
	Europe												
O'Connell et al. 2020 (22)	Oxfordshire, UK	Countywide	687,500	1/7/2018	2015–2018	14 (12 White people, 1 Asian, and 1 mixed)	1.8:1	N=2	NMOSD: 3 ON: 7 Myelitis: 3 ADEM: 1	NA	Live CBA	2.0 (1.1-3.4)	3.4 (1.4–6.9)
Orlandi et al. 2022 (23)	Verona, Italy	Provincewide	922,291	1/1/2021	2016-2020	23 (22 White people and 1 Asian)	1.3:1	N=2	Onset phenotypes: ON: 5 Myelitis: 7 Encephalopathy/brainstem syndrome: 7 Multifocal encephalomyelitis: 4	Median disease duration: 19.5 months 2 cases relapsed	Live CBA	2.5 (1.7-3.7)	4.8 (3.1-7.2)
de Mol et al. 2020 (24)	The Netherlands	Nationwide incidence study	~17 million	-	2015–2017	Average incident cases: 38 per year	-	Average incident cases: 11 per year	Phenotypes (in 61 of 92 cases): NMOSD: 21% ON: 26% Myelitis: 15% ADEM: 23% Brainstem syndrome: 2% Others: 12%	Median follow-up duration: 27.5 months 33% relapsed Median duration to 1 st relapse: 8 months	Live CBA	-	1.6 (1.1–2.3) Adult: 1.3 (0.8–1.9) Children: 3.1 (1.7–5.1)
	Asia												
Nakamura et al. 2023 (16)	Japan	Nationwide survey and estimate	~126 million	03/2021	~04/2020- 03/2021	1,695	1.2:1	~30%	Onset phenotypes (in 746 cases): NMOSD: 6.4% ON: 35.7% Myelitis: 12.7% ADEM: 12.5% Encephalitis: 11.8% Brainstem encephalitis: 3.9%	53.5% relapsed Median EDSS at maximum disability: 4 Median EDSS at last follow-up: 0 Median number of relapses: 1 Median duration to 1 st relapse: 7 months	CBA	1.34 (1.18–1.51)	3.9 (3.2–4.4)

Frontiers in Neurology

(Continued)
TABLE 1 (Continued)

Population- based study	Geographical location	Area of study	Population	Prevalence date	period	Number of prevalent cases	to-male		Clinical phenotypes	Other clinical information	MOG antibody testing method	Prevalence per 100,000 population (95% CI)	Annual Incidence per million population (95% CI)
Tan et al. 2021 (20)	Singapore	Nationwide audit	~4 million	2020	-	51	1.2:1*	N = 10	NA	NA	СВА	1.26 (0.91-1.61) Chinese: 1.03 (0.57- 1.39) Malays: 1.47 (0.45- 2.48) Indians: 2.48 (0.86- 4.11)	
Tisavipat et al. 2023 (25)	Chumphon, Thailand	Provincewide	509,479	31/12/2021	2016–2021	2	Both females	0	ON: 1 ON + short myelitis: 1	Median disease duration: 10 years Both cases relapsed Median VFSS at last visit: 1.5	Fixed CBA	0.51* (0.14–1.87)	-
	Americas and Caribbean												
Flanagan et al. 2019 (26)	Olmsted County, USA	Countywide	145,979	31/12/2011	2003–2011	5	_	_	ON: 2 Myelitis: 1 ADEM: 2	Median follow-up: 8 years 20% relapsed Median EDSS: 1.5	Live CBA	3.42	2.39
Flanagan et al. 2019 (26)	Martinique Island	Island wide	392,291	31/12/2011	2003–2011	6	_	-	NMOSD: 2 ON: 3 ADEM: 1	Median follow-up: 1 year 50% relapsed Median EDSS: 2	Live CBA	1.53	1.12

*Data for adult patients. ADEM, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; CBA, cell-based assays; EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; NA, not available; NMOSD, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder; ON, optic neuritis; VFSS, visual functional system score.

Hor and Fujihara

County, the prevalence was 3.42/100,000 and the annual incidence was 2.39 per million. On Martinique Island in the Caribbean, the prevalence was 1.53/100,000 and the annual incidence was 1.12 per million. A follow-up study from these two areas will help provide updated data on MOGAD prevalence and incidence in the Americas and the Caribbean.

In São Paulo (Brazil), a study estimated the prevalence of MOGAD by first determining the ratio of MS to MOGAD in a university referral center and then extrapolating it by using the known MS prevalence (in 1997) in that region. With this method, the prevalence of MOGAD was estimated to be 0.4/100,000 (32). Nevertheless, there could be an underestimation as the center only treats adult patients but not pediatric patients. In a multi-center study in the province of Quebec (Canada) that involved seven major adult and pediatric academic centers, a total of 45 MOGAD cases were identified, giving a minimum prevalence of 0.52/100,000 (33). This was also likely an underestimation because some cases might not have been tested for MOG antibodies or referred to those specialized centers.

3. Precedent infection and vaccination

An important clinical aspect of MOGAD is that approximately 20–40% of the cases had infectious prodromes or precedent infections. Those precedent infections included the common cold, pharyngolaryngitis, bronchitis, pneumonia, acute gastroenteritis, and infections related to influenza, mycoplasma, streptococcus, and chlamydia (16, 31, 34–36). The Japanese study showed that this precedent infection was more frequent in the pediatric-onset group (39% for those <10 years) than in the adult-onset group (13.5%) (16). It is interesting to see how infectious diseases are involved in the pathogenesis of MOGAD (immune activation, molecular mimicry, etc.). Additionally, there were also a small number of MOGAD cases that onset after vaccination. The vaccines reported included those for influenza, Japanese encephalitis, measles/rubella, diphtheria/tetanus/ pertussis, and COVID-19 (16, 34, 36–38).

4. Autoimmune comorbidities

Co-existing autoimmune diseases are observed in up to 7-10% of MOGAD patients, with Sjogren syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis, ulcerative colitis, thyroid disorder, psoriasis, and NMDAR encephalitis being commonly reported (16, 31, 34, 35, 39), but the frequency appears to be lower than that in AQP4+ NMOSD (40). In a laboratory study, the serum and/or CSF of 376 patients positive for MOG antibodies were tested for co-existent neuronal surface antibodies. A total of 14 (3.7%) patients were dual positive for MOG and NMDAR antibodies, making NMDAR antibodies the most frequent co-existent neuronal surface antibodies in MOGAD (41). In the Japanese nationwide survey, 15 (31%) of 48 selected MOGAD patients tested were positive for NMDAR antibodies (16). A systematic review showed that there have been more than 200 cases reported in the literature of either MOGAD co-existing with NMDAR encephalitis or dual positivity of MOG and NMDAR antibodies in encephalitis or MOGAD patients (42).

5. HLA and other genetic associations

For AQP4+ NMOSD, multiple studies have shown different HLA associations (both risk and protective HLA alleles) in different racial groups (Asians, White people, and Latin Americans) (19, 43–46). For MOGAD, two studies (the Netherlands and the UK) did not find any strong HLA associations (43, 47). However, a study in Guangzhou (China) found that pediatric-onset MOGAD was associated with the DQB1*05:02-DRB1*16:02 haplotype, though no HLA association was found for adult-onset MOGAD (48). Another study in Guangzhou also revealed three non-HLA susceptibility loci (*BANK1*, *RNASET2*, and *TNIP1*) for MOGAD (49).

6. Seasonal variation

Three studies [Tohoku region (Japan), Verona (Italy), and Quebec (Canada)] reported an autumn-winter predominance for the onset of MOGAD (23, 33, 50). However, a joint study from Germany and the Kanto region in Japan did not find such a trend (51). That study reported the lowest incidence of MOGAD onset during autumn in both the German and Kanto cohorts. A UK study did not observe seasonal variation in MOGAD onset either (52). More studies are needed to further clarify this aspect.

7. Conclusion

We reviewed the currently available data from populationbased MOGAD studies conducted around the world. The prevalence of MOGAD is approximately 1.3–2.5/100,000, and the annual incidence is approximately 3.4–4.8 per million. As disease awareness increases, and with the ease of availability of MOG antibody assays, the prevalence is expected to rise in the future. Moreover, through the application of the international diagnostic criteria of MOGAD (12), the epidemiological data are expected to be more accurate.

Among White people, the prevalence of MOGAD appears to be slightly higher than that of AQP4+ NMOSD. Conversely, in populations or regions where the prevalence of AQP4+ NMOSD is higher (such as in Japan), MOGAD appears comparatively less common. So far, there has been no obvious racial preponderance observed in MOGAD, though the slight increase in prevalence among South Asians requires further investigation. The role of precedent infection observed in a proportion of MOGAD cases is also worthy of further research. More population-based studies in different populations and regions of the world will be very useful to further inform the epidemiology of this unique inflammatory demyelinating disease of the CNS.

Author contributions

JH and KF conceived and designed the study, collected and analyzed the data, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript for intellectual content, and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

The article processing fee is funded by The Sumaira Foundation.

Conflict of interest

KF serves on scientific advisory boards or as a consultant for Biogen, Mitsubishi-Tanabe, Novartis, Chugai, Roche, Alexion, VielaBio/Horizon Therapeutics, UCB, Merck Biopharma, Japan Tobacco, Argenx, and Abbvie; has received funding for travel or speaker honoraria from Chugai, Roche, Biogen, Novartis, Alexion, Teijin, Mitsubishi-Tanabe, AsahiKasei, Eisai, Takeda, and Bayer; serves on editorial boards of Clinical and Experimental Neuroimmunology, Frontiers in Neurology, Neurology: Neuroimmunology and Neuroinflammation, Multiple Sclerosis Journal, Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders, Neuroimmunology Reports and European Journal of Neurology, and advisory board of Sri Lanka Journal of Neurology; and has been funded by the Grants-in-Aid for

References

1. Reindl M, Waters P. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in neurological disease. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2019) 15:89–102. doi: 10.1038/s41582-018-0112-x

2. O'Connor KC, McLaughlin KA, De Jager PL, Chitnis T, Bettelli E, Xu C, et al. Selfantigen tetramers discriminate between myelin autoantibodies to native or denatured protein. *Nat Med.* (2007) 13:211–7. doi: 10.1038/nm1488

 Brilot F, Dale RC, Selter RC, Grummel V, Kalluri SR, Aslam M, et al. Antibodies to native myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in children with inflammatory demyelinating central nervous system disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 66:833–42. doi: 10.1002/ana.21916

4. Kitley J, Woodhall M, Waters P, Leite MI, Devenney E, Craig J, et al. Myelinoligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in adults with a neuromyelitis optica phenotype. *Neurology*. (2012) 79:1273–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31826aac4e

5. Sato DK, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Waters PJ, de Haidar Jorge FM, Takahashi T, et al. Distinction between MOG antibody-positive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology*. (2014) 82:474–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000000101

6. Fujimori J, Takai Y, Nakashima I, Sato DK, Takahashi T, Kaneko K, et al. Bilateral frontal cortex encephalitis and paraparesis in a patient with anti-MOG antibodies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2017) 88:534–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-315094

7. Ogawa R, Nakashima I, Takahashi T, Kaneko K, Akaishi T, Takai Y, et al. MOG antibody-positive, benign, unilateral, cerebral cortical encephalitis with epilepsy. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2017) 4:e322. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000322

8. Banks SA, Morris PP, Chen JJ, Pittock SJ, Sechi E, Kunchok A, et al. Brainstem and cerebellar involvement in MOG-IgG-associated disorder versus aquaporin-4-IgG and MS. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2021) 92:384–90. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-325121

 Matsumoto Y, Misu T, Mugikura S, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, Kuroda H, et al. Distinctive lesions of brain MRI between MOG-antibody-associated and AQP4antibody-associated diseases. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2021) 92:682–4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-324818

10. Marignier R, Hacohen Y, Cobo-Calvo A, Pröbstel AK, Aktas O, Alexopoulos H, et al. Myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Lancet Neurol.* (2021) 20:762–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00218-0

11. Takai Y, Misu T, Fujihara K, Aoki M. Pathology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: a comparison with multiple sclerosis and aquaporin 4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Front Neurol.* (2023) 14:1209749. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1209749

12. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:268–82. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

13. Hacohen Y, Absoud M, Deiva K, Hemingway C, Nytrova P, Woodhall M, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies are associated with a non-MS course in children. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2015) 2:e81. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000081

14. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Rollot F, Arrambide G, Deschamps R, Maillart E, et al. Clinical features and risk of relapse in children and adults with myelin oligodendrocyte Scientific Research from the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology of Japan and by the Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Labor of Japan.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. Ann Neurol. (2021) 89:30–41. doi: 10.1002/ ana.25909

15. Satukijchai C, Mariano R, Messina S, Sa M, Woodhall MR, Robertson NP, et al. Factors associated with relapse and treatment of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease in the United Kingdom. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2022) 5:e2142780. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.42780

16. Nakamura M, Ogawa R, Fujimori J, Uzawa A, Sato Y, Nagashima K, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease in a nationwide survey. *Mult Scler.* (2023) 29:530–9. doi: 10.1177/13524585231156736

17. Hor JY, Asgari N, Nakashima I, Broadley SA, Leite MI, Kissani N, et al. Epidemiology of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder and its prevalence and incidence worldwide. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:501. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00501

18. Papp V, Magyari M, Aktas O, Berger T, Broadley SA, Cabre P, et al. Worldwide incidence and prevalence of neuromyelitis optica: a systematic review. *Neurology*. (2021) 96:59–77. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000011153

19. Hor JY, Wong CK, Ew JV, Idris S, Tan HJ, Wong DWJ. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder in Asia: epidemiology and risk factors. *Neurol Clin Neurosci*. (2021) 9:274–81. doi: 10.1111/ncn3.12478

20. Tan K, Yeo T, Yong KP, Thomas T, Wang F, Tye J, et al. Central nervous system inflammatory demyelinating diseases and neuroimmunology in Singapore – epidemiology and evolution of an emerging subspecialty. *Neurol Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 9:259–65. doi: 10.1111/ncn3.12479

21. Houzen H, Kano T, Kondo K, Takahashi T, Niino M. Prevalence, incidence and clinical features of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders in northern Japan. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2023) 94:494–5. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2022-330274

22. O'Connell K, Hamilton-Shield A, Woodhall M, Messina S, Mariano R, Waters P, et al. Prevalence and incidence of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, aquaporin-4 antibody-positive NMOSD and MOG antibody-positive disease in Oxfordshire, UK. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2020) 91:1126–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-323158

23. Orlandi R, Mariotto S, Gajofatto A. Prevalence, incidence, and season distribution of MOG antibody-associated disease in the province of Verona, Italy. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2022) 63:103884. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103884

24. de Mol CL, Wong YYM, van Pelt ED, Wokke BHA, Siepman TAM, Neuteboom RF, et al. The clinical spectrum and incidence of anti-MOG-associated acquired demyelinating syndromes in children and adults. *Mult Scler*. (2020) 26:806–14. doi: 10.1177/1352458519845112

25. Tisavipat N, Jitpratoom P, Siritho S, Prayoonwiwat N, Apiwattanakul M, Boonyasiri A, et al. The epidemiology and burden of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, multiple sclerosis, and MOG antibody-associated disease in a province in Thailand: a population-based study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2023) 70:104511. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2023.104511

26. Flanagan E, Cabre P, St Sauver J, Chen J, Fryer J, Smith C, et al. The epidemiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disorders. *Mult Scler.* (2019) 25:160.

27. Carta S, Cobo Calvo Á, Armangué T, Saiz A, Lechner C, Rostásy K, et al. Significance of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in CSF: a retrospective multicenter study. *Neurology*. (2023) 100:e1095–108. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000201662

28. Matsumoto Y, Kaneko K, Takahashi T, Takai Y, Namatame C, Kuroda H, et al. Diagnostic implications of MOG-IgG detection in sera and cerebrospinal fluids. *Brain.* (2023). doi: 10.1093/brain/awad122

29. Sepúlveda M, Aldea M, Escudero D, Llufriu S, Arrambide G, Otero-Romero S, et al. Epidemiology of NMOSD in Catalonia: influence of the new 2015 criteria in incidence and prevalence estimates. *Mult Scler.* (2018) 24:1843–51. doi: 10.1177/1352458517735191

30. Santos E, Rocha AL, Oliveira V, Ferro D, Samões R, Sousa AP, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: a nationwide Portuguese clinical epidemiological study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 56:103258. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103258

31. Ramanathan S, Mohammad S, Tantsis E, Nguyen TK, Merheb V, Fung VSC, et al. Clinical course, therapeutic responses and outcomes in relapsing MOG antibodyassociated demyelination. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2018) 89:127–37. doi: 10.1136/ jnnp-2017-316880

32. Silva GD, Apóstolos-Pereira SL, Callegaro D. Estimated prevalence of AQP4 positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder and MOG antibody associated disease in São Paulo, Brazil. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2023) 70:104488. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2022.104488

33. Boudjani H, Fadda G, Dufort G, Antel J, Giacomini P, Levesque-Roy M, et al. Clinical course, imaging, and pathological features of 45 adult and pediatric cases of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2023) 76:104787. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2023.104787

34. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I, Borisow N, Asgari N, Pitarokoili K, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 2: epidemiology, clinical presentation, radiological and laboratory features, treatment responses, and long-term outcome. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13:280. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-016-0718-0

35. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Maillart E, Audoin B, Zephir H, Bourre B, et al. Clinical spectrum and prognostic value of CNS MOG autoimmunity in adults. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1858–69. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005560

36. Azumagawa K, Nakashima I, Kaneko K, Torisu H, Sakai Y, Kira R, et al. A nationwide survey of Japanese pediatric MOG antibody-associated diseases. *Brain and Dev.* (2021) 43:705–13. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2021.01.008

37. Kim KH, Kim SH, Park NY, Hyun JW, Kim HJ. Onset of various CNS inflammatory demyelinating diseases following COVID-19 vaccinations. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2022) 68:104141. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.104141

38. Francis AG, Elhadd K, Camera V, Ferreira dos Santos M, Rocchi C, Adib-Samii P, et al. Acute inflammatory disease of the central nervous system after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination. *Neurol Neuroinmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2023) 10:e200063. doi: 10.1212/ NXI.00000000200063

39. Cross H, Sabiq F, Ackermans N, Mattar A, Au S, Woodhall M, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody positive patients in a multi-ethnic Canadian cohort. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 11:525933. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.525933

40. Kunchok A, Flanagan EP, Snyder M, Saadeh R, Chen JJ, Weinshenker BG, et al. Coexisting systemic and organ-specific autoimmunity in MOG-IgG1-associated disorders versus AQP4-IgG+ NMOSD. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:630–5. doi: 10.1177/1352458520933884

41. Kunchok A, Flanagan EP, Krecke KN, Chen JJ, Caceres JA, Dominick J, et al. MOG-IgG1 and co-existence of neuronal autoantibodies. *Mult Scler*. (2021) 27:1175–86. doi: 10.1177/1352458520951046

42. Molazadeh N, Bose G, Lotan I, Levy M. Autoimmune diseases and cancers overlapping with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD): a systematic review. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2022) 8:20552173221128170. doi: 10.1177/20552173221128170

43. Bruijstens AL, Wong YYM, van Pelt DE, van der Linden PJE, Haasnoot GW, Hintzen RQ, et al. HLA association in MOG-IgG- and AQP4-IgG-related disorders of the CNS in the Dutch population. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:e702. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000702

44. Matsushita T, Masaki K, Isobe N, Sato S, Yamamoto K, Nakamura Y, et al. Genetic factors for susceptibility to and manifestations of neuromyelitis optica. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2020) 7:2082–93. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51147

45. Romero-Hidalgo S, Flores-Rivera J, Rivas-Alonso V, Barquera R, Villarreal-Molina MT, Antuna-Puente B, et al. Native American ancestry significantly contributes to neuromyelitis optica susceptibility in the admixed Mexican population. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:13706. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-69224-3

46. Alvarenga MP, do Carmo LF, Vasconcelos CCF, Alvarenga MP, Alvarenga-Filho H, de Melo Bento CA, et al. Neuromyelitis optica is an HLA associated disease different from multiple sclerosis: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:152. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-80535-3

47. Grant-Peters M, Dos Passos GR, Yeung HY, Jacob A, Huda S, Leite MI, et al. No strong HLA association with MOG antibody disease in the UK population. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2021) 8:1502–7. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51378

48. Sun X, Qiu W, Wang J, Wang S, Wang Y, Zhong X, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated disorders are associated with HLA subtypes in a Chinese paediatric-onset cohort. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2020) 91:733–9. doi: 10.1136/ jnnp-2019-322115

49. Shu Y, Ma X, Chen C, Wang Y, Sun X, Zhang L, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated disease is associated with BANK1, RNASET2 and TNIP1 polymorphisms. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 372:577937. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2022.577937

50. Akaishi T, Fujimori J, Takahashi T, Misu T, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, et al. Seasonal variation of onset in patients with anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies and anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2020) 349:577431. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577431

51. Liu J, Mori M, Zimmermann H, Brandt A, Havla J, Tanaka S, et al. Anti-MOG antibody-associated disorders: differences in clinical profiles and prognosis in Japan and Germany. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2021) 92:377–83. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-324422

52. dos Passos GR, Elsone L, Luppe S, Kitley J, Messina S, Rodríguez Cruz PM, et al. Seasonal distribution of attacks in aquaporin-4 antibody and myelin-oligodendrocyte antibody disease. *J Neurol Sci.* (2020) 415:116881. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2020.116881 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sasitorn Siritho, Bumrungrad International Hospital, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Yoshiki Takai, Tohoku University Hospital, Japan Christian Cordano, University of California, San Francisco, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Frederike Cosima Oertel Izi frederike-cosima.oertel@charite.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 03 May 2023 ACCEPTED 23 August 2023 PUBLISHED 07 December 2023

CITATION

Oertel FC, Hastermann M and Paul F (2023) Delimiting MOGAD as a disease entity using translational imaging. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1216477. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1216477

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Oertel, Hastermann and Paul. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Delimiting MOGAD as a disease entity using translational imaging

Frederike Cosima Oertel^{1,2,3*†}, Maria Hastermann^{1,2†} and Friedemann Paul^{1,2,3}

¹Experimental and Clinical Research Center, Max-Delbrück-Centrum für Molekulare Medizin, Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ²Neuroscience Clinical Research Center, Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³Department of Neurology, Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

The first formal consensus diagnostic criteria for myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease (MOGAD) were recently proposed. Yet, the distinction of MOGAD-defining characteristics from characteristics of its important differential diagnoses such as multiple sclerosis (MS) and aquaporin-4 antibody seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) is still obstructed. In preclinical research, MOG antibody-based animal models were used for decades to derive knowledge about MS. In clinical research, people with MOGAD have been combined into cohorts with other diagnoses. Thus, it remains unclear to which extent the generated knowledge is specifically applicable to MOGAD. Translational research can contribute to identifying MOGAD characteristic features by establishing imaging methods and outcome parameters on proven pathophysiological grounds. This article reviews suitable animal models for translational MOGAD.

KEYWORDS

myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein associated disease, imaging, translational research, EAE, animal models

1 Introduction

Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is a minor transmembrane glycoprotein located in the outermost membranes of the myelin sheath (1) that has long been an important target molecule for animal models of demyelinating diseases. Only in recent decades, antibodies against MOG (MOG-IgG) have been identified in people who were previously diagnosed with various other autoimmune-neurological diagnoses such as multiple sclerosis (MS), aquaporin-4-antibody (AQP4-IgG) seronegative neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD), and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), as well as in isolated and recurrent optic neuritis (ON) and transverse myelitis (TM) (2-6). Furthermore, MOG-IgG can be discovered "false positively" in several other conditions, as demonstrated in several cases of peripheral neuropathy (7, 8) and tumor/lymphoma (9-11). Thus, care needs to be taken as to when MOG-IgG measurement should be performed as well as to the interpretation and consideration of possible differential diagnosis thereof, as has been pointed out in the formal consensus diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated diseases (MOGAD) that were recently established for the first time (12). Yet, clinical features of MOGAD partly overlap with its differential diagnoses, most importantly NMOSD and MS, delaying the time required until the correct treatment is applied, thus increasing relapse probability. Clinical and imaging studies until now also often included MOGAD

patients grouped together with MOG-IgG seronegative patients (for example, as AQP4-IgG seronegative NMOSD), further limiting the discovery of MOGAD-specific features. This is not only true for clinical research: MOG-induced animal models, such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), have been widely used as models of demyelinating diseases in general and MS in particular. With the definition of MOGAD as a separate disease entity, it needs to be reevaluated to which extent the generated knowledge from MOG-induced models is specifically applicable to MOGAD vs. what should be considered valid for its differential diagnosis (13).

Imaging can significantly aid differential diagnosis early in the disease course and guide the application of cell-based MOG-IgG assays (if available) (14–16). By using a backtranslational approach to investigate disease-specific imaging features in preclinical models, imaging can also be used to improve the understanding of (A) distinct pathophysiology by using methods with single-cell resolution and (B) the pathophysiological basis of distinct imaging characteristics by using feature-specific histopathology. This article reviews translational imaging techniques in MOGAD and its animal models. It also discusses the current and potential future relevance of MOGADspecific animal models and translational imaging for defining distinct pathophysiological features in MOGAD compared with important differential diagnoses, especially MS (17) and AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (18).

2 The pathophysiology of MOGAD

There is very little autopsy and/or biopsy material that documents MOGAD pathology specifically (13, 19-22). Furthermore, these studies were conducted mostly on cerebral samples; there is only one reported case of spinal cord pathology (Carta et.al). Optic nerves are missing in these evaluations. From the presented material, it can be deduced that there are clear histopathological differences discerning MOGAD from both NMOSD and MS, including a CD4+ dominated infiltrate, with fewer B cells, a moderate number of granulocytes (eosinophils and neutrophils), and many/abundant macrophages, some containing early myelin degradation products. While AQP4 and AQP1 were preserved in MOGAD, reactive astrogliosis and even scarring in and around the demyelinating lesions were observed. Axons and oligodendrocytes were unaffected or variably destructed, with a moderate number of axons showing disturbed fast axon transport and axonal spheroids, especially at the lesion rim. Demyelinating lesions occur usually in white matter in a mixed perivenous and confluent pattern of several perivenous lesions, with affection of cortico-medullary junctions and leptomeningeal areas of the cortex as well as the cerebral white matter. Furthermore, there are no "smoldering" radially expanding lesions with microglial/macrophage rim, as would be seen in progressive MS. A meningeal inflammation in 86% of biopsy cases could be seen. The studies, however, do not agree about complement deposition, one describing complement deposition/activation in white matter lesions (13) and the other describing only occasional perivascularactivated complement and IgG deposition (19), which however could be attributed to differences in staining protocols (personal communication). In the latter study and the study by Spadaro et al., MOG-dominated myelin loss with preserved oligodendrocytes was observed (20), whereas the previous one did not discern preferential loss of MOG (13). The pathology of one patient with a fulminant MOGAD-like disease including meningoencephalitis and leptomeningeal enhancement and positive MOG-IgG in the cerebrospinal fluid only showed relative axonal sparing, primary confluent demyelination, reactive gliosis, and CD4+ dominated inflammatory infiltrates (22).

There have also been attempts to define the cytokine profile in patients with MOGAD. A study by Nakajima et al. found elevated levels of serum IL-1ra, IL-5, and TGF- α as compared to MOG-negative patients (23). IL-6 was found to be elevated in the CSF of MOG-IgG seropositive children (24). In the study by Bauer et al., serum cytokine levels of MOG-IgG positive/AQP4-IgG positive NMOSD were compared to those measured in MS patients (25). They discovered 36 analytes being increased from MOGAD compared with MS (IL-8, SDF-1a, MCP-1, GRO-a, IL18, MIP-1b, Fractalkine, HGF, IP-10, SCF, VEGF-A, BAFF, IL-7, TWEAK, MIP-3a, M-CSF, CD40L, MMP-1, IL-27, MIG, LIF, MIP-1a, IL-17A, IL-23, TNF-B, IL-1a, IL-6, IL-21, IL-5, MDC, IL-9, FGF-2, Eotaxin-3, IL-10, Eotaxin-2, and IL-31). Only five cytokines differed between AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD and MOGAD, all being lower expressed in MOGAD (APRIL, TNFR2, TRAIL, MCP-2, and CD30). No differences were found in MOGAD/NMOSD with regard to disease activity (relapse/remission and amount of relapses), disease course (monophasic/relapsing), treatment modality, sex, or age; however, the availability of clinical data were incomplete.

3 Clinical features and clinical imaging in MOGAD

MOGAD affects pediatric and adult patients and shows no sex or ethnic predominance (26). Typical clinical attacks include ON, TM, and, to a lesser extent, cranial neuropathies, brainstem and cerebellar demyelinating attacks, tumefactive brain lesions, monoand polyfocal CNS deficits, and white matter leukodystrophy-like damage, as well as encephalitis with seizures and neuropsychiatric symptoms (27–30). The most common first manifestation in adults is ON (>55%), whereas the most common first pediatric manifestation is ADEM (with or without ON, >45%) (31–33).

In contrast to the recurrent disease course in MS and NMOSD, MOGAD can be monophasic ($\sim 22-56\%$) (4, 13), preferentially in children (16, 34–36), or recurrent. The current estimation is limited by the short follow-up lengths of published studies, but only one in three MOGAD patients seems to have a relapse within a year after their initial manifestation (3, 4, 37). The risk is higher with steroid tapering and shortly after the initial attack (3, 4, 38, 39). Other longer studies with a small sample size suggest that the long-term risk for recurrent attacks is higher and that attacks can still occur up to >40 years after onset (40, 41). The risk of relapse is lower in pediatric patients; only one in five kids is affected (16, 31, 42, 43). In contrast to MS, clinical progression independent of attacks has not been widely reported in MOGAD so far (41, 44, 45). Histopathological analysis of autopsies/biopsies did not reveal "smoldering" (i.e., slowly expanding) lesions in

patients with MOGAD, suggesting a different etiology, if there was a clinically progressive, meaning an attack-independent, disease course in MOGAD as compared to MS. Yet, the current state of research cannot shed light on the possibility of clinical or subclinical progression in MOGAD (46, 47). In a few cases in our outpatient clinic, we observed that patients experience relapsefree worsening of their symptoms over time; however, a thorough investigation on this matter is still needed.

3.1 Brain and brainstem

Cerebral manifestations and imaging findings in MOGAD are diverse. In adults with MOGAD, brain MRI findings are usually sparse and rarely occur in isolation without cerebral syndrome or concurrent optico-spinal lesions (3, 48). Silent lesions are seen in <5% of adult MOGAD patients and even those are usually associated with subsequent relapses (49). Cortical and infratentorial lesion locations are the most common, but large T2-hyperintense white matter lesions can occur (13, 48). In rare cases, tumefactive lesions with a risk for herniation are seen (50).

People with MOGAD have a higher frequency of cortical and juxtacortical lesions compared with people with AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD. Yet, the number of lesions in MOGAD is usually lower than in MS, especially at onset (3). Matthews et al. and Juryńczyk et al. specifically proposed that lesions close to the lateral ventricle and/or in the inferior lobe, subcortical Ufiber lesions, and Dawson's finger-type lesions strongly suggest a diagnosis of MS vs. MOGAD (51, 52). For infratentorial lesions, the brainstem, especially the pons, close to the 4th ventricle and the middle cerebellar peduncle, are the most common locations in MOGAD-lesions can be found in up to 30% of patients (3, 53, 54). Lesion demarcation is usually poor and can disperse over time (4, 48). Particularly, lesions in the middle cerebellar peduncle can distinguish MOGAD from MS and AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (54). Area postrema syndrome, however, is less common in MOGAD compared with AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (55-57). In contrast to MS and AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD, the application of gadolinium rarely reveals a lesion enhancement pattern in MOGAD but can lead to unspecific leptomeningeal enhancement around the brainstem or in uni- or bilateral cortical areas, especially in MOGAD with cortical encephalitis.

In pediatric patients, the most common onset syndrome is ADEM, which typically presents on MRI with large asymmetric and diffuse, supra- and infratentorial T2-hyperintense white matter lesions (58–60). ADEM can also rarely occur in adults with similar MRI features. Compared with MOG-IgG seronegative ADEM, MOGAD-ADEM more often involves the thalamus (61). MOG-IgG-associated autoimmune encephalitis, a second common pediatric manifestation, presents with large subcortical and/or cortical lesions (31, 62). In contrast to autoimmune encephalitis with other antibodies, normal MRI findings in MOG-IgG-associated autoimmune encephalitis are rare (63). A leukodystrophy-like phenotype of MOGAD, a rarer pediatric manifestation, also presents with large symmetric confluent white matter lesions, yet they are usually clinically progressive (47).

Advanced MRI techniques have been used for a limited number of MOGAD studies so far. Combining fluid-attenuated inversion recovery sequences (FLAIR) with traditional MRI metrics, hyperintense cortical lesions and numerous T2-hyperintense lesions in various locations were identified, respectively, in a subgroup of MOGAD referred to as FLAMES (FLAIR-hyperintense lesions in anti-MOG-associated encephalitis with seizures) (29, 64, 65). FLAMES can further be characterized by hyperperfusion of lesions on single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) (56). Using diffusion-tensor imaging (DTI) and resting state functional MRI, reduced axial diffusivity in line with microstructural white matter damage, and interhemispheric functional connectivity changes of the motor, sensorimotoric and frontal lobe networks, respectively, were identified in MOGAD compared with healthy controls (66, 67). Applying volumetric analyses, no loss of gray or white matter was observed in adult MOGAD patients compared with healthy controls (66, 68). In pediatric ADEM, however, the brain volume as well as the expected brain growth were reduced (69). So far, no advanced MRI marker has been suggested to distinguish MOGAD from its differential diagnoses.

3.2 Spinal cord

TM in MOGAD can manifest as sensory, motor, and sphincter dysfunctions (70). It can occur in isolation or combined with other manifestations such as ADEM or ON. Despite often severe impairment in the acute stage, most patients have a good recovery. Yet, especially sexual, bladder, and bowel dysfunction can remain (44, 71). Persisting pain or spasms are uncommon and seen more often in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD than in MOGAD. The MOGAD-associated spinal cord involvement in adult and pediatric patients is largely comparable (72).

Initial spinal cord MRI can be normal in 10% (73, 74). The most common finding on spinal cord MRI in MOGAD, however, is the so-called longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (LETM) presenting as a hyperintense T2-lesion spanning over three or more segments and mainly affecting the cervical and/or thoracic cord (Figures 1A–D) (74–77). LETMs rarely occur in MS (78). While LETMs can also be seen in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD, MOGAD patients present more often with multiple lesions and conus involvement (75, 79–81). Also, shorter TM, as typical for MS, can be seen in MOGAD and is more common compared with AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (77, 79, 82).

Up to 75% of lesions in MOGAD are centrally located and up to 50% of lesions are restricted to gray matter, which can often be identified as the characteristic H-sign on axial scans (Figures 1C, D) (73, 79, 81). This is particularly interesting since MOGAD is a highly inflammatory condition primed to the white matter. As discussed below, data from rodent models suggest that this severe white matter inflammation correlates with gray matter hypoxia and increased variation in oxygenation in the gray matter potentially leads to gray matter damage (83), as has been similarly suggested in MS (84, 85). Still the pathomechanism of gray matter damage remains to be elucidated and more autopsy/biopsy samples, especially in MOGAD, need to be analyzed to this end.



FIGURE 1

MR imaging of the spinal cord in people with MOGAD. Sagittal T2-weighted MRI showing hyperintense lesions in line with (A) an LETM and (B) shorter lesions. Axial T2-weighted MRI showing (C) a centrally located lesion and (D) the characteristic H-sign. LETM, longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis; MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disease; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.

In contrast to both MS and AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD, gadolinium-enhancement is less common in MOGAD (\sim 50%) (72, 75). However, contrast enhancement of the pia and cauda as well as contrast enhancement and thickening of dorsal nerve roots can occur (28, 72).

The application of advanced spinal cord imaging in MOGAD has so far been very limited. Spinal cord atrophy as measured by volumetric MRI has been only seen after severe attacks (86, 87). Silent spinal cord lesions can occur during an attack of the brain or optic nerve but are extremely rare outside of attacks in MOGAD, making spinal cord involvement outside of acute attacks unlikely (49).

3.3 Retina and optic nerve

Optic neuritis (ON) is the most frequent onset feature in adults and one of the most common manifestations of MOGAD in general (88). Thus, imaging of the visual system is a promising approach for diagnosis and differential diagnosis (89, 90). In MOGAD, ON is often bilateral and mostly located in the anterior segment causing severe edema (39, 91, 92). Although single ON attacks often do not lead to tremendous retinal neurodegeneration, the high frequency of attacks in MOGAD can accumulate significant damage (92). Due to its severe symptoms, silent ON is uncommon in MOGAD, yet a bilateral ON can remain unrecognized due to stronger symptoms in one eye.

Lesions on optic nerve MRI usually show T2-hyperintensity and gadolinium enhancement on T1-weighted imaging (Figure 2A). In MOGAD, drastic nerve swelling and characteristic perineural/periorbital gadolinium enhancement are often seen (93, 94). Hemorrhages can occasionally occur, particularly in peripapillary regions. Optic nerve lesions are also extensive, involving more than half of the pre-chiasmic optic nerve, which distinguishes optic nerve lesions in MOGAD from shorter lesions in MS (95, 96). The optic nerve MRI can show the characteristic anterior involvement, which distinguishes optic nerve lesions in MOGAD from the also often extensive but mostly posterior lesions in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (96, 97). Simultaneous bilateral involvement is more common in MOGAD than in both MS and AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (98).

ON leads to retrograde retinal neurodegeneration, which can be monitored using spectral domain optical coherence tomography (OCT). OCT is a non-invasive imaging method using the interference of low coherent light to produce high-resolution images of the retina (99). Neurodegeneration after ON is quantified by OCT measuring the peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer (pRNFL) and the combined ganglion cell and inner plexiform layer (GCIPL), which contain the axons and cell bodies of retinal ganglion cells, respectively (Figures 2B, C) (99, 100). Whereas, the pRNFL usually undergoes swelling during the acute phase before experiencing volume loss due to subsiding edema and concurrent degeneration; the GCIPL is less affected by swelling and undergoes a steadier volume loss due to neurodegeneration. According to the current consensus, the majority of retinal neurodegeneration happens within the first 6 months after the acute ON attack independent of the underlying disease. Yet, the acute pRNFL swelling in MOGAD is described to be more severe and is suggested as a diagnostic marker distinguishing MOGAD from MS (101). This might lead to a prolonged (more than 6 months) pRNFL reduction in MOGAD (102, 103).

To diagnose a history of ON, the use of the absolute or relative differences in pRNFL and GCIPL between both eyes of patients,



FIGURE 2

Clinical imaging of retina and optic nerve. T2-weighted MRI of the optic nerve (A) showing a longitudinal lesion with edema. OCT quantifying retinal neuroaxonal content measured by pRNFL around the optic nerve head in a retina without a history of ON (B) and with a history of ON (C) in MOGAD: scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (B.1, C.1), color-coded comparison with a healthy control cohort (B.2, C.2) and cross-sectional B-scans showing pRNFL atrophy in (C.3) compared with (B.3). MOGAD, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody associated disease; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; OCT, optical coherence tomography; ON, optic neuritis; pRNFL, peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer.

the so-called inter-eye-difference (IED), has been suggested (104). Due to a higher frequency of unilateral ON, the application of IED is very high in MS and reasonable in NMOSD (105-108). Yet, the use of IED has not been investigated in MOGAD and seems limited due to the high frequency of bilateral ON. When comparing absolute values of pRNFL and GCIPL after ON, MOGAD patients usually have more severe retinal neurodegeneration (ergo thinner pRNFL and GCIPL) than patients with MS. pRNFL and GCIPL after ON are comparable in people with MOGAD and AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (109). Yet, several publications suggest that the neuronal loss per ON is lower in MOGAD, and only the higher frequency of ONs leads to damage that is comparable with AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD patients with less frequent but more severe ONs (109, 110). Despite the neuroaxonal loss being comparable, people with MOGAD often have a better long-term visual outcome compared with AQP4-IgG seropositive patients-the pathophysiological explanation for this difference is still pending (111–115).

Retinal and optic nerve damage independent of ON has been shown in MS, where it can also be used to predict disease activity (116-120) and, to a lesser extent, in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (121-126). Advanced OCT imaging suggests that ON-independent retinal changes in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD are related to primary astrocytopathy So far, no ON-independent neurodegeneration (127). above aging-related standard and no primary and/or outer retinopathy has been shown in MOGAD, potentially aiding differential diagnosis (102, 103, 128). First applications of OCT angiography showed a significant decrease in vessel density after ON in MOGAD, which exceeded the changes in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD (129, 130). A new generation of advanced OCT imaging methods including 3D-shape analyses and feature recognition can potentially contribute to a better understanding of ON-dependent and -independent changes in MOGAD and their use for differential diagnoses in the future (131-134).

4 Are MOG and MOG-IgG-induced animal models good models for MOGAD?

Animal models that induce encephalitis to mimic autoimmunemediated disease in the CNS include approaches of active immunization, passive transfer, antibody (co-)mediated disease induction or exacerbation as well as transgenic/genetic modifications to mention the most common ones. MOG-mediated disease is one of the most commonly used to model MS and has been used in many variations that have been described and reviewed extensively elsewhere (135-164). However, with the emergence of MOGAD as a separate disease entity and considering that these models do present drawbacks in reproducing MS characteristics (mainly CD4+ mediated, no MOG-IgG present in any form of MS, etc.) (2, 12, 35, 165-168) the issues in their translation into new therapeutic modalities for MS could be viewed in a new light (169-171). In this review, we will discuss to what extent (some selected) MOG-induced animal models as well as some non-MOG-induced models resemble human MOGAD disease and to what extent they could be employed for diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic approaches.

4.1 MOG-induced animal models

The course and development of EAE are dependent on many different factors and their ratio to each other (172) including the conformation, concentration, solubility, specificity of the antigen used (135), age, species and genetic background of the experimental animals (139, 173–175), the adjuvant (176–179), and timing of immunizations/transfer to name just some variable instances. It has been shown, for instance, that the disease course—monophasic, relapsing, primary/secondary progressive, or chronic progressive

(with disability accrual)—can be regulated by the immunization protocol of Lewis (LEW.1AV1) rats with MOG (135).

4.2 MOG-IgG-mediated models

In patients, MOG-IgG was shown to be present during very early stages of disease onset and to persist over long periods of time even during remission. The MOG-IgG titer is dependent on disease activity; however, the antibodies cannot independently induce the disease. In contrast, MOG-IgG has been found in early, intermediate, and late stages of EAE; however, the titer was not disease activity-dependent, being low at the beginning and higher in the end, with the amount being similar during the acute and remission phases (135). Complement-mediated pathology/demyelination could be induced in EAE (180, 181) in line with findings of complement deposition in MOGAD autopsy material. In a constitutively MOG-IgG-producing transgenic mouse model, EAE could be induced in the absence of B cells but required T cells (182).

Experimental studies suggest that MOG-IgG mediates a pathogenic effect in EAE (181, 183, 184). It seems, however, that circulating MOG-IgG require the presence of complement, cytokines, and/or a (T cell-induced) inflammatory milieu to trigger demyelination/enhance inflammation via CDC/antibody mediated cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), as alone, they are not able to do so (152, 185-187). It was shown in naive recipient animals that primary demyelination restricted to CNS nerve fibers could be induced via injection of a monoclonal MOG-IgG (the 8-18C5) into their cerebrospinal fluid. In adult Sprague-Dawley rats, an association between antibody titer and degree of demyelination could be demonstrated after infusion of sera from Hartley guinea pigs previously immunized with homologous spinal cord lysate in adjuvant into their subarachnoid space. The presence of MOG-IgG in injected sera was demonstrated via an anti-MOG ELISA (185). The direct translational value of these experiments seems tenuous as the blood-brain barrier (BBB) was circumvented in these experiments. The demyelinating effect of antibodies directed against MOG was also demonstrated in a Sprague-Dawley animal model in which monoclonal MOG-IgG-producing B cell hybridomas were implanted into the right lateral ventricle (188). MOG-IgG titers could not be linked to disease outcome in MOGAD patients to this date (189); however, a longitudinally persistent MOG-IgG positivity seems to be associated with a higher risk for relapse (190, 191). Furthermore, it was shown that children with monophasic ADEM lose MOG-IgG over time (192). This is mirrored in animals as high frequencies of relapses are associated with permanent damage. MOG-IgG injection was lethal when injected into SJL mice repeatedly challenged with passive MBPspecific T cell transfers (mimicking a relapsing disease course) that had not yet completely recovered from the previous relapse as opposed to no negative effect of the antibody if the disease score was zero (193). In another experiment with repeated passive transfer of T cells and subsequent antibody application, formation of large demyelinating lesions accompanied by lack of remyelination could be observed, with pronounced astrocytic scar formation traversed by "naked" axons, both characteristic of MS, and not described thus in the available MOGAD autopsy/biopsy cases (194). In mice engineered to produce high MOG-IgG titers, pathology could only be seen after immunization with MOG antigen, without regard to the genetically more (SJL) or less (C57BL/6) EAEsusceptible background (195). This is in line with experiments showing that B cells are not critical for the development of MOGinduced EAE (B cell-deficient muMT mice on C57BL/10 and DBA/1 genetic backgrounds and X-linked immunodeficiency (xid) mice on DBA/1 background) but contribute to the severity, i.e., demyelination rather than inflammation (196). However, the effect of the autoantibodies seems to differ regarding their enhancing characteristics of demyelination/inflammation depending on the agent EAE was induced with. Thus, MOG-specific T-cell-mediated inflammation can be enhanced via augmented antigen presentation (197), whereas in EAE induced by non-MOG-specific T-cells, demyelination is triggered but no enhancement of inflammation is observed (184).

4.3 Animal models targeting MBP

In the passive transfer EAE model (transfer of antigenspecific T cells propagated in vitro) with intravenous injection of MBP-specific T cells and subsequent intravenous (i.v.) MOG-IgG injection at the onset of the disease, a massive augmentation of clinical affection as well as primary demyelination could be observed in Lewis rats. Similarities to MOGAD include lesions located predominantly in the spinal cord and medulla oblongata at circumventricular organs (BBB is more transmissible at these points), predominantly mononuclear cell infiltrate with some granulocytes, perivascular, or focal confluent demyelinated lesion formation (75% of T cells infiltrate to the parenchyma), depending largely on the amount of injected T cells, extensive gliosis, preservation of axons, and remyelination of demyelinated lesions (20, 151, 198). There is a clear macrophage-dominated infiltrate seen in MBP EAE (macrophage: T cell ratio of approximately 6:1); in some cases of MOGAD histopathology, the amount of both cell types seems to be near to equal (1:1.2, respectively) (19), while in others, T cells seem to be somewhat outnumbered by macrophages, especially in the parenchyma [no ratios given, (13, 22)]. Furthermore, the relevance of complement involvement, in the form of membrane attack complex (MAC) formation as well as ADCC, was demonstrated in this model as well as MAC formation in PVG/c rats (±C6 complement component, immunized with guinea pig myelin basic protein (gpMBP) and Complete Freund's Adjuvants (CFA) containing Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Ra) (199), which is in line with findings of complement deposition, to varying degrees, in MOGAD patients' biopsies/autopsies (200, 201).

Active EAE to MBP immunization has been induced in Lewis rats with subsequent MOG-IgG injection (MoAb 8-18C5) 10 days after sensitization. Antibody injection led to significant worsening of clinical and histopathological observations compared to the disease course without the addition of antibody (193, 202), granulocytic infiltrate, perivascular complement deposition, and inflammatory cuff formation, which could be observed similarly to histopathology found in MOGAD patients. The disease course after MBP immunization, with or without subsequent antibody injection, was monophasic; progression or relapse was not recorded after an observation period of 13 weeks (193).

4.4 Animal models induced by MOG-specific T cells

In animals (Lewis rat) with passive MOG-EAE (T cells raised against the MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide, with and without MOG-IgG transfer), however, inflammatory changes were induced in the spinal cord without producing an according clinical correlate of typical EAE symptoms (tail tonus loss, gait instability, and severe weight loss) (173, 203). The macrophage: T cell ratio was clearly shifted toward T cells (1:6, respectively), and a few cells (7-20%) of the inflammatory perivascular infiltrate left the perivascular space toward parenchymal infiltration. Contrary to all previously analyzed passive EAE models [induced with MBP, S100B, PLP nicely reviewed in (140, 204, 205)], no peripheral affection was noted. Severe blood-brain barrier dysfunction was induced by passive MOG-EAE and subsequent intravenous injection of a demyelinating MOG-specific monoclonal antibody that induced severe clinical disease. Furthermore, it has been shown that the location of lesions was dependent on the antigen used to raise the T cells (204).

4.5 Animal models induced by MOG peptide immunization

Immunization (active MOG-EAE) in Lewis rats via a highly purified recombinant protein, mMOG, spanning its N-terminal domain (a.a 1-125 + CFA) failed to activate immunodominant T cell epitopes, producing an inflammatory non-demyelinating phenotype as seen previously with passive transfer EAE (206). No clinical symptoms could be observed, at least partly attributable to reduced macrophage recruitment as compared to immunization with MBP/PLP protein/peptide (173). Antibodies to MOG_{1-25} were induced by mMOG immunization and production could be enhanced by repeated immunization (booster) after 4 weeks; however, this epitope does not seem to produce a demyelinating phenotype. Again, extensive perivascular and subpial demyelination could be produced by co-injection of the MOG-specific mAb 8-18C5 on day 10 post-immunization. Thus, immunization with mMOG seems to reproduce MOGAD histopathology rather poorly. Contrary to these findings, immunization with MOG isolated from human/rat brain tissue as well as immunization with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide were able to induce a severe relapsing-remitting disease course in Lewis rats presenting with inflammatory demyelinating lesions and perivascular cuffs (mononuclear, including myelin debris) with accompanying MOG specific IgG production (in the former) (207). Different rat strains (BN, DA, Lewis.1N, Lew1AV1, and Lew1A) were challenged with different MOG compositions [soluble or precipitated in complete or incomplete Freund's Adjuvants (CFA/IFA)] and varying immunization protocols (205). This study shows a very good reproduction of core MOGAD characteristics, more or less expressed depending on strain/regime/immunogen composition, in all the animals. These include the development of a chronic relapsing disease course in 111/156 animals, 16/156 developed chronic progressive disease, 17/156 showed stable course with neurological deficit. Development of predominant or selective ON was seen in some animals. Neuropathology (in 133/156 animals) featuring perivenous inflammation, confluent demyelinating plaques with complement deposition at sites of active demyelination, relative axonal sparing, inflammatory perivenous infiltrates, and meninges with parenchymal infiltration adjacent to the pia mater with predominant T cell/macrophage infiltration as well as polymorphonuclear infiltrates (mostly in animals with ON/spinal cord affection) and frequent remyelination. Of the observed pathology, glial scar formation is not readily found in current reports of MOGAD histopathology. Acute disseminated leukoencephalomyelitis was seen in the other 23 animals, which is about ~ 15 of animals; in comparison, in human children ADEM occurs in >45% cases and in adults in \sim 10%, featuring severe perivenous inflammation and little/absent demyelination. Major patterns of lesion distribution across the CNS (optic nerve/spinal cord, isolated ON, spinal type, cerebellar type, periventricular type, acute disseminated leukoencephalomyelitis type, and destructive transverse myelitis) go along well with lesion distribution seen in MOGAD (classified by these authors at that time as neuromyelitis optica). In this study, the authors showed that optic nerve involvement was independent of MHC genes; in addition, it was shown by others that MHC haplotype seems to influence disease susceptibility to a certain amount (174, 208). Differences in these models compared to MOGAD were seen in relation to sex-associated characteristics, specifically in DA rats. It could be observed that female rats had a high incidence of ON, whereas none was seen in male rats. In a study by the Mayo Clinic, the authors observed that of the 87 MOGAD patients presenting with ON, 57% were female (92). Another clear sex difference was seen in eosinophilic granulocyte infiltration, which was seen only in female rats; however, this phenomenon was not mentioned by any of the MOGAD autopsy/biopsy studies cited above. In a transgenic mouse study with MHC II-restricted animals, immunodominant MOG epitopes were identified and EAE could be induced (209). This is in line with findings that CD4+ T cells (HLA class II) dominate cell infiltrates in MOGAD patients' lesions. In a Dutch and UK study, no negative association of MOGAD to an HLA subtype could be discerned to date, whereas a Chinese study suggested an association of DQB1*05:02-DRB1*16:02 alleles to pediatric-onset MOGAD (210-212). Notably, to this date, no definite genetic association could be shown in MOGAD; specifically, no strong HLA dependence, which is in contrast to what has been suggested in MS (210-212).

One of the most widely used EAE animal models to date is the C57BL/6 mouse MOG₃₅₋₅₅ EAE (213, 214). Similar to MOGinduced EAE in Lewis rats, injection with only MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide (and CFA, with and without *pertussis toxin* PT) was able to induce neurological impairment in C57BL/6J mice featuring a chronic, non-remitting disease course and mild clinical presentation usually restricted to paralysis in the tail and hind legs. Mice did not recover after immunization even after long-term observation (3 months), which, however, could not be observed in other studies (215). Lesions included perivascular infiltration of mononuclear cells and secondary demyelination. PT was observed to enhance EAE moderately and lead to earlier disease onset, however, PT is not needed to induce overt clinical disease *per se* (213).

It was shown in active C57BL/6 mouse MOG₃₅₋₅₅ EAE (with CFA and PT) that natural killer cells (NK-cells) are involved in preventing EAE development, as Th1 response (including Th1 specific cytokine production, IFN- γ , and TNF- α) seemed to be elevated in NK-cell depleted animals (216). However, a reduced amount of NK-cells could only be seen in NMOSD but not MOGAD when compared to each other (217).

There have been some attempts to define the cytokine profile in patients with MOGAD (see above). In a study using actively induced MOG35-55-EAE in mice (induced with MOG35-55, CFA, PT) changes in cytokine production largely overlapping with MOGAD (IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, IL-17, IL-23, TNF-a, IFN- γ and TGF- β) were observed (218). In EAE, the involvement of IL-6 has been extensively studied. It has been shown that IL-6 (conditionally) deficient mice are resistant to EAE (219-221), that IL-6 is involved in the induction phase of EAE (222) (MOG₃₅₋₅₅ induced), that IL-6 inhibits T cell conversion to the Treg phenotype (Foxp3+) (223), and is (224, 225) or is not (223) involved in conversion to Th17 type T cells. It has been shown that tissue damage occurs preferentially at sites of IL-6 production (226, 227) and that induced antibodies against IL-6 are protective against EAE (228). Interestingly, PT which is often used to enhance EAE has been shown to induce IL-6 (229). In a mouse line deficient in the IL-6 gene (129/SvXC57BL/6), immunization with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide showed abrogated EAE induction (230). These findings are in line with the seemingly beneficial effect of Tocilizumab/Satralizumab (recombinant, monoclonal antil-IL6 receptor antibodies) on relapse prevention in MOGAD patients (231-236). IL-23 involvement was shown in EAE induction (237), as well as the development of Th1 and Th17 cells (238-240) but is not necessary in the effector phase of the disease.

It was demonstrated in different rodent animal models that IL-10 is involved in EAE via increased disease severity when deleted, and IL-10 contributed to disease course duration (shorter) and recovery (241, 242). In a passive transfer EAE with anti-MOG T cells into MyD88 animals, it was shown that resistance to EAE was mediated via the secretion of IL-10 by recipient T cells (243). Further, it was shown that immunization with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in susceptible (SJL and NOD) vs. resistant strains (B10.S or III) differed in the amount of cytokines produced, resistant strains secreting primarily IL-4/IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF)-β, vs. susceptible strains with predominant IFN-y production (244). In contrast, 129/Sv mice knocked out for the gene coding for the ligandbinding chain of the IFN-y receptor developed severe EAE (129/Sv are resistant to MOG-induced EAE), indicating that IFN- γ was involved in ameliorating EAE during both the effector and induction phase (245, 246). IFN-y involvement in the determination of lesion location was shown in passive MOG-EAE induced in C57BL/6 mice lacking the IFN- γ receptor (IFN γ R) (247) and it was shown that CFA/PT alone do not induce IFN- γ production, but immunization together with MOG is necessary (248).

The above-described patient cytokine profile points toward the direction of TH17 involvement (IL-17A, IL-23, IL-6, and IL-21) in the pathogenesis/disease course of MOGAD (249). The involvement of Th17 T cell subsets has been under discussion since their discovery in 2005 (250, 251), allocating a role for them in EAE induction/autoimmunity (252-256) or not (257) in different MOG-induced animal models [reviewed elsewhere (249)], going so far as to implicating the intestinal microbiome to EAE resistance of mice deficient in IL-17A and IL-17F (258). In a passive transfer model with MOG-specific T cells derived from 2D2 mice, it was shown that both Th1/Th17 cells are able to induce EAE; however, Th17 induce an atypical phenotype in half the cases (beginning with ataxia instead of paralysis, only developing paralysis later). Interestingly, histopathology [severe immune cells infiltration (CD4+ T cells and macrophages), astrogliosis, microglia activation, demyelination, and axonal damage] as well as lesion location (throughout the CNS as well as inflammatory infiltrates/demyelination in the PNS) were similar in both Th1 and Th17 recipients (259). A higher frequency of ataxia was found in children with ADEM positive for MOG-IgG compared to MOG-IgG negative cases (60). No involvement of IL-5 could be detected in the initiation or effector phases after immunization of C57BL/6J (or IL5^{-/-}) mice with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (260). Likewise, IL-21 was found irrelevant for Th17 induction (261).

Cerebral cortical encephalitis is one of the core clinical demyelinating events suggested by Banwell et al. in the diagnostic criteria for MOGAD (12). Current models of EAE do not reflect cortical demyelination ideally. One model trying to recapitulate these lesions targeted the cerebral cortex by stereotactical injection of pro-inflammatory mediators into Lewis rats challenged with MOG_{1-125} (262). Inflammatory, demyelinating lesions were induced including complement deposition, and as seen in MOGAD autopsy cases, ready remyelination was observed. In a model of Dark Agouti rats immunized with MOG, inflammatory agents were injected into the subarachnoidal space to avoid parenchymal damage. Here as well, IgG and complement deposition were observed, the amount of inflammatory infiltrate was little and mostly limited to meninges, and as in the model described by Merkler et al., repair was rapid (263).

4.6 Transgenic animal models

There is a wealth of genetically modified/transgenic/humanized animal models that have been reviewed in more detail elsewhere (264–266). We will discuss some of those models in this review in regard to their similarities as models for MOGAD. In MOG_{35–55}induced active EAE in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, some groups showed that a switch from relapsing-remitting (RRMS) to secondary progressive (SPMS) can be induced and this model is considered to reflect the pathology of SPMS well (267, 268). Other groups could not observe the switch of clinical symptoms to a progressive disease course (269). When disease was induced in NOD mice via immunization with MOG_{35–55} and CFA/PT, inflammatory/demyelinating lesions developed preferentially in

brain white matter (fimbria/internal capsule) and also in the spinal cord with macrophage infiltration. Microglia/astrocyte activation could be observed (268). Interestingly, disease development and progression could be prevented via anti-IL-12 antibodies in this model (270). NOD mice with transgenic TCR recognizing MOG₃₅₋₅₅ were generated (1C6 TCR) (267) and showed development of spontaneous optic neuritis/EAE in around 1% of the animals, distributed similarly in both male and female animals. Upon passive transfer EAE, these mice developed preferentially spinal cord lesions and optic neuritis. When immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ and CFA, these mice developed chronic disease after the second relapse with CD4+ T cells predominating over CD8+ T cells at a ratio of 30:1 in the lesions, with elevated production of IFN-y and IL-17. In following experiments, 1C6 TCR mice were crossed with Ig heavy-chain knock-in mice (IgHMOG or Th mice) on a C57BL/6 background (195). IgH^{MOG} mice harbor autoreactive B cells producing anti-MOG antibodies with the heavy chain of the 8.18C5 demyelinating MOG-specific antibody; however, they do not develop spontaneous disease but were shown to both accelerate and exacerbate EAE irrespective of the inducing agent. The frequency of spontaneous disease was higher in 1C6 x IgHMOG mice (45% males, 79% females), CD4+ T cells still outnumbering CD8+ T cells 7:1, the amount of CD8+ T cells, however, being higher compared to 1C6 TCR mice. Lesions were located mostly in the spinal cord, with around 40% of the mice showing optic nerve lesions, and no formation of ectopic folliclelike structures was observed in the CNS of the animals. A large part (75%) of asymptomatic $1C6 \times IgH^{MOG}$ animals showed exclusively cerebellar lesions upon histopathological examination.

Also, in the Biozzi EAE model (271), chronic relapsing disease could be induced via subcutaneous injection at days 0 and 7 in both hind flanks with an emulsion spinal cord homogenate and CFA complemented with *M. Butyricum*. In these animals partial closing of the BBB, meningeal ectopic lymphoid tissue with adjacent subpial demyelinating lesions and a switch from T cell to B cell predominance and serum MOG-IgG generation in later chronic disease stages could be observed (272).

Another study in a transgenic mouse model, GFAP γ R1 Δ , induced EAE by active immunization with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ to gain a progressive phenotype with sustained inflammation and increasing clinical disease. This study suggests that tumor necrosis factor (TNF) is predominantly produced by CNS infiltrating macrophages rather than microglia after the acute disease stage (273). Contrary to promising preclinical results of TNF blockade, however, the success of TNF suppression in MS patients did not yield uniformly positive results (274). For MOGAD in relation to TNF treatment, little is known and data from a small retrospective study (n =5) is inconclusive regarding negative effects, and no clear positive outcome is documented (275). Primary progressive-EAE (PP-EAE) was further established in A.SW mice sensitized with MOG₉₂₋₁₀₆ and SJL/J mice sensitized with MOG₉₂₋₁₀₆ and curdlan (276). A.SW mice develop large areas of demyelination, immunoglobulin deposition, and neutrophil infiltration in the absence of a T cell infiltrate (14, 16) while SJL mice show T cell infiltration and paralysis. Both models generated an anti-MOG antibody response (276).

Another model is the "genetic 2D2" EAE model (TCR MOG) in which mice were generated with a TCR that is directed against MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (with a C57BL/6 background), about 5% of the animals develop EAE spontaneously with inflammatory/demyelinating lesions in brain, spinal cord, and optic nerves (277). Furthermore, a large proportion of non-clinically symptomatic mice showed ocular abnormalities, and around 15% of the 2D2 transgenic mice developed isolated optic neuritis in the absence of clinical/histological signs of EAE. These lesions showed macrophage infiltration, demyelination, and axonal damage. Interestingly, the challenge with PT alone was sufficient to induce clinical EAE in 39% and histological EAE in 56% of 2D2 mice. The GF-IL23 model, with astrocyte-specific IL-23 secretion on a 2D2 background (most CD4+ have TCR specific for MOG₃₅₋₅₅), showed a spontaneous EAE induction with chronic disease course, clinical affection (ataxia/paraparesis), and a high proportion of B cells. A pronounced B cell accumulation and B cell follicle-like infiltrates have not been reported as such in MOGAD yet (160).

To generate double transgenic opticospinal EAE (OSE) mice (277–280), 2D2 mice were then crossed with IgH^{MOG} (with a transgenic B cell receptor to MOG, described above). The offspring of these mice spontaneously develop ON and severe inflammatory spinal cord lesions, whereas the brain remains relatively spared, which is very similar to NMOSD/MOGAD disease in humans. A gene expression profiling study sought to discern whether spontaneous OSE or MOG-induced EAE reproduced the genetic contribution to MS pathogenesis more closely, and concluded that the OSE model is probably linked more closely to human MS risk genes due to differentially higher expressed Th1 genes (281). A thorough gene expression profile for MOGAD still needs to be generated; however, the cytokine profile (see above) is rather indicative of a predominant Th17 response in MOGAD, which needs to be verified.

It has been suggested that most axonal damage in MOGAD happens during the initial attack, measuring neuroinflammatory biomarkers (such as MBP, sNFL, GFAP, and Tau), and relapses are associated with increased myelin damage (282). It has been suggested that antineurofascin antibodies contribute to axonal pathology in a passive transfer MOG-EAE model (283). It has been shown in double-transgenic OSE mice that when MOG is knocked out, the autoimmune response of MOG TCR-specific T cells is redirected toward the medium-sized neurofilament (NF-M) (278). Subsequently, the same group was able to demonstrate that due to inefficient exposure to two self-antigens, these bi-specific T cells managed to escape tolerization (284). Interestingly, there are only few reports of MOG-IgG/AQP4-IgG double positivity in MOGAD/NMOSD patients (285–287), and peripheral involvement in MOGAD is rarely reported (288).

The major drawback of TCR transgenic 2D2 mice and double transgenic OSE mice is that there is no complement deposition or granulocyte recruitment present (277, 279). Several humanized models have been established (265). It was shown in a transgenic mouse line that was generated to express human fragment crystallizable gamma receptors (hFcgRs) that recognize Immunoglobulin G antibodies, nicely reviewed in (289), that FcgRs but not complement activation contribute to EAE and that the

exacerbation is dependent on MOG recognition by the humanderived antibodies (290). However, it is unclear which disease should be mimicked with this model, as it was shown that MS does not harbor anti-MOG autoantibodies and MOGAD probably has a complement-activating component driving lesion formation (13, 35) although the extent of complement involvement in human pathology is under debate.

Other transgenic mouse models investigated the relevance of IL-6, TH17 cells, oligodendrocytes, Nrf2, and CXCR3 (225, 227, 240, 291–293). The presence of MOG-IgG in MOGAD patients suggests B cell involvement that could be mirrored in several EAE models (294–297). SJL/J mice expressing a MOG_{92-106} -specific transgenic TCR¹⁶⁴⁰ with high frequency (99% proportion of transgenic V α 8.3⁺/V β 4⁺CD4⁺ T cells) spontaneously produced pathogenic MOG-specific IgG1 antibodies (162).

4.7 MOG induced EAE in non-human primates

Different EAE models in monkeys have been reviewed elsewhere (298–300). EAE models developed in the rhesus macaque (*Macaca mulatta*) and the cynomolgus monkey (*Macaca fascicularis*) tend to replicate acute disseminated (leuko)encephalomyelitis well (301). In all, the non-human primates (NHP) disease course varies with a more acute/relapsing or chronic disease course depending on the adjuvant used, complete or incomplete Freund's Adjuvants, respectively.

In the common marmoset monkey (Callithrix jacchus), extensive cortical demyelination could be induced upon immunization with $rMOG_{1-125}$ and CFA (302). Lesions were dominated by macrophage/microglia activation and T cell infiltration (mostly perivascular) with few B cells, the cellular infiltrate was generally lower than in the parenchyma. Furthermore, IgG infiltration and complement deposition were observed. No subpial demyelination could be observed which is in contrast to patients with MOGAD, as well as in another study that observed subpial lesions in all experimental animals (303). Another study with marmoset monkeys immunized with rMOG₁₋₁₂₅ and CFA found inflammatory lesions in cerebral white matter with some animals being affected in the spinal cord and optic nerve. Lesion composition was similar to activated macrophages/microglia, T cell infiltrate, few B cells, IgG and complement deposition, and large confluent demyelinating lesions with some perivascular preference. The authors mentioned some axonal damage and indications for early remyelination (304). The encephalitogenic epitope inducing EAE in marmosets in mixed human myelin and CFA-induced immunization was shown to be MOG₁₄₋₃₆ and not MBP (305); however, it could be shown that EAE could also be induced with myelin (from both WT and MOG^{-/-} C57BL/6 mice) but severity/disease progression was dependent on the presence of MOG-IgG (306). IL17-A production was found to be elevated compared to IFN-y when marmoset monkeys were challenged with synthetic MOG_{34-56} peptide alone (307), which is in line with the cytokine profile suggested in MOGAD; however, although treatment with an anti-IL17-A antibody delayed onset of EAE, it did not abrogate its development (308). Another study found elevated levels of IL-6, G-CSF, IL-8, and IFN- γ in cynomolgus macaques immunized with rhMOG and IFA which was similar to CSF analyzed from children with acquired autoimmune disease positive for anti-MOG antibodies who had elevated levels of IL-6 and G-CSF (309).

4.8 Infection-induced animal models—Are they relevant models for MOGAD?

MOGAD has been associated with preceding infection or vaccination (310, 311) in \sim 20% of cases although a causal relationship to any specific agent has not been discerned yet. Recently, cases of MOGAD after infection or vaccination with COVID-19 vaccines (both mRNA and vector-based) were reported, some with detectable persistent long-term MOG-IgG (311-323). Different types of coronaviruses have been used extensively to induce EAE, resembling different aspects of MS/MOGAD in different species over the last six to seven decades to just give a few examples (205, 324-329). Biphasic disease with a short fulminant acute phase and a 1-month long chronic phase characterized by ongoing inflammatory demyelination can develop in mice infected with Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV), which is not the case in all species (330-332). Similar to MOGAD, TMEV infection in mice features perivascular immune cell infiltrates, leptomeningeal and white matter mononuclear cell infiltrates in the spinal cord, and primary demyelination around day 15 after viral intracerebral inoculation (333-336). Spontaneously occurring ADEM-like disease could be observed in a Japanese macaque (JM) colony at the Oregon National Primate Research Center (ONPRC) that has been linked to infection by a gamma-herpesvirus, JM rhadinovirus (JMRV) (337). A case report from Japan with high titer MOG-IgG links influenza-A infection to longitudinally extensive TM (338).

Besides M. tuberculosis (339) and Pertussis toxin (induces IL-6 and reduces Treg compartment) (340) that are usually used for immune stimulation to induce EAE in mice, other infectious agents have been used prior or post-immunization with MOG₃₃₋₃₅ like SEB (341) or LPS (342), exacerbation of MOG-induced EAE by intraperitoneal injections of a viral mimetic, polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid (PIC) (343), Cytomegalovirus infection (344) which induces susceptibility to EAE in resistant BALB/c mice (345), Influenza virus infection (346) by enhanced type I T cell infiltration. 2/-5/ oligoadenylate synthetase-like 1 (OASL1) deficient (Oasl1^{-/-}) mice are resistant to viral infections, as OASL1 specifically inhibits the translation of interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF7), the master transcription factor for interferon-1 (IFN-I). Thus, IFN-I production is negatively regulated upon viral infection and (Oasl1^{-/-}) mice seem to have an enhanced resistance toward MOG-induced EAE (347). Protective effects toward EAE were also shown in a model of sepsis (348) and some malaria strains (349). Interestingly, it could be seen in a study by Nourbakhsh et al. that predominantly children seronegative for EBV presented with MOG-IgG (44%) compared to only 5.5% MOG+ in EBV+ children (350); likewise, no correlation between MOG+/EBNA+ was found in children in another study (351), suggesting that if infectious agents were involved/associated in

10.3389/fneur.2023.1216477

the development of both diseases, they would be distinct. Cases linking LETM to *M. tuberculosis* infection have been reported (352, 353). Molecular mimicry between MOG_{18–32} and Semliki Forest Virus (SFV) could be demonstrated after demyelinationinducing immunization of C57Bl6/J mice (354). Infection with *S. pneumoniae* was shown to upregulate IL-6 and TNF- α in mice immunized with MOG_{35–55} (355).

In several animal models [Brown Norway rats challenged with MOG (356), rats challenged with replication-deficient adenovirus vector carrying IL-1 β cDNA (AdIL-1 β) (357)] a beneficial effect on EAE outcome was demonstrated with IFN beta-1a. It was also demonstrated in a mouse model (TMEV-infected SJL/J mice) that a shorter duration of treatment was associated with remyelination, whereas long-term treatment seemingly promoted demyelination (358).

5 Preclinical imaging in MOGAD animal models

Many clinical imaging methods can be applied to preclinical research in animal models with minimal adaptations. Additional methods beyond what is possible in clinical research allow imaging with higher up to single-cell resolution and better labeling of key players in pathophysiological processes. There are several applications for preclinical imaging: Firstly, comparing imaging features between MOGAD and its potential animal models can be used to validate the model's suitability. Secondly, imaging can be useful in traditional animal research investigating disease cause and pathophysiology by allowing longitudinal high-resolution analyses and the definition of time points based on imaging features, thereby reducing the number of needed animals. Thirdly, it can aid image marker development: New imaging methods can be tested in animal models for potential clinical application, especially regarding their safety, sensitivity, and correlation with histological features. When clinically established imaging methods are used to describe new distinct features in a disease, assumptions are often made about their pathophysiological origin. By back-translating these imaging methods and findings into an animal model, these assumptions can be tested using histology or molecular analyses. Finally, during drug development and testing, translatable methods can be extremely useful since future clinical trial endpoints can already be tested early on.

5.1 Brain and brainstem

As described above, actively induced MOG_{35-55} -EAE (induced by MOG_{35-55} , CFA, and PT) only has a low affection of the brainstem and cerebellum and mostly absent inflammation and tissue damage in the forebrain. Although this picture closely resembles the brain involvement of many MOGAD patients, it limits the use of this model for the investigation of MOGAD brain lesions. Using T1-weighted imaging with contrast enhancement, the brain involvement in $2D2^+$ mice was also shown to be little or non-existent (359). Only actively induced MOG_{35-55}^- EAE (induced by MOG_{35-55} , CFA, and PT) in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, a model with relapsing-remitting disease course, leads to MRI gadolinium-enhanced lesions in T1-weighted imaging, located in corpus callosum, fimbria, and internal capsule (268). Although promising, this lesion pattern is more in line with MS pathology. In common marmoset monkeys, MOG_{1-125} induced EAE causes small T2 hyperintensities within the white matter with histopathologically confirmed demyelination, which can subsequently develop into expanding confluent lesions. This model might be suitable to model MOG-IgG seropositive ADEM, but further confirmatory research is warranted (268, 360).

Absent microstructural brain damage in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE in C57BL/6 mice (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) was confirmed by a DTI study, which did not detect differences in DTI parameters of anterior commissure, corpus callosum, cerebral peduncle, and external capsule between MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE and controls (361). Similarly, the application of magnetization transfer ratio (MTR), which is suggested to be a sensitive method to detect demyelination, did not find any changes in actively induced MOG₁₋₁₂₅-EAE in C57BL/6 mice (induced by MOG₁₋₁₂₅, CFA, and PT) in line with absent histopathological findings, which is in contrast to results in monkeys described above (362). No in-depth diffusion-weighted MR studies in people with MOGAD exist yet. Lesion load, volumetric analyses, and diffusionweighted imaging have also been applied in the preclinical testing of new and established therapeutic agents (363-366). Although easily translatable into clinical research, one has to be aware that preclinical MRI markers are not well-validated in distinct models so far.

However, some clinical imaging features of MOGAD patients can be reproduced: using serial post-contrast FLAIR (fluid-attenuated inversion recovery) sequences after gadolinium administration in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) in C57BL/6 mice, Pol and colleagues showed leptomeningeal contrast enhancement in all mice that decreased during the chronic stage and correlated with the leptomeningeal invasion of macrophages as well as T- and B-cells in histology, which elucidates the leptomeningeal enhancement described in many MOGAD patients (367). Furthermore, two studies investigated the use of superparamagnetic iron oxideenhanced MRI in MOG-EAE rats, which were actively induced by recombinant human MOG in 1AV1 congenic Lewis rats, and showed a demarcation of lesions in the cerebellum, brainstem, and periventricular regions, which were corresponding to lesional iron-laden macrophages in histology, suggesting that superparamagnetic iron oxide-enhanced MRI might be useful for the detection and demarcation of inflammatory CNS lesions (368, 369).

In the process of developing new imaging methods, preclinical research can help to establish the pathophysiological grounds. Especially when developing methods with potential side effects for patients, such as testing new positron emission tomography (PET) tracers, prior extensive preclinical research is warranted. In the CNS, translocator protein (TSPO) is thought to be mainly expressed in activated microglia cells, and TSPO ligands have been used to detect inflammatory CNS processes. Widespread accumulation of two different TSPO ligands was shown in actively induced MOG_{35–55}-EAE in C57BL/6 mice (induced by MOG_{35–55},

CFA, and PT) with and without additional cuprizone treatment including the spinal cord, cerebellum, cortex, striatum, and hippocampus (370, 371). Neuropathological analyses confirmed microglial activation and were correlated with tracer uptake, thereby validating the method. In a similar approach, tracers for CD19 and the cystine/glutamate antiporter were validated in actively induced MOG-based animal models in C57BL/6 mice (Hoehne et al.: MOG_{35–55}, CFA, PT, Stevens et al.: MOG_{1–125}, CFA, PT) (372, 373). Fluorinated molecules might be another promising and non-toxic option for MR-detectable tracers to study neuroinflammation in the near future (374–378).

Going one step further, preclinical research allows more invasive imaging approaches with up to single-cell resolution such as real-time confocal imaging and two-photon excitation microscopy. The latter uses the simultaneous non-linear excitation by two photons of fluorophores to report on the sequential order and interaction of different key players during a pathological process. Particularly interesting is the application in adoptive transfer models using autofluorescent lymphocytes, which can then be tracked longitudinally throughout the disease. By transferring MOG-sensitized lymphocytes isolated from green fluorescent protein (GFP)-transgenic mice to C57BL/6 mice, Yura et al. were able to track widespread invasion of these GFP-labeled CD4+ in the brain and spinal cord using confocal imaging and detected nearly exclusive production of T helper cell type 1 using realtime PCR (379). In a different approach, Siffrin and colleagues used the actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE model (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) in mice with enhanced GFP (eGFP) expression in neurons and neuronal processes and red fluorescent protein in bone marrow-derived peripheral immune cells, as well as adoptive transfer models (stimulation performed with MOG₃₅₋₅₅), to investigate neuron-immune cell interaction and to show that Th17 cells induce early neuronal damage (380).

5.2 Spinal cord

So far, only a few studies implemented preclinical spinal cord MRI: T1-weighted imaging with contrast enhancement was used to characterize spinal cord involvement in $2D2^+$ mice showing enhancement in half of the mice that correlated with histologically confirmed immune cell infiltration (359). Employing *in vivo* lumbar DTI, axial and radial diffusivity changes in line with microstructural axonal and myelin pathology in the spinal cord, respectively, have been shown in actively induced MOG_{35–55}-EAE in C57BL/6 mice (induced by MOG_{35–55}) (381, 382). In both models, exploratory treatments were suggested to improve DTI parameters toward control values, pointing toward a relative sensitivity of these metrics.

Spinal cord MRI has also been performed in two studies *ex vivo* post-fixation, potentially limiting morphometric analyses (383). Derdelinckx and colleagues treated actively induced MOG_{35–55}-EAE in C57BL/6 mice (induced by MOG_{35–55}, CFA, and PT) with myelin antigen-presenting tolerogenic dendritic cells and observed a stabilized EAE disability score and an inhibited T cell response

(32). In this study, *ex vivo* gadolinium-enhanced spinal cord MRI was implemented post-fixation to confirm a reduced lesion load after treatment and to localize lesional and non-lesional tissue for histological analyses (32). Cahill and colleagues developed a new PPAR $\alpha^{mut/WT}$ 2D2⁺ animal model with a mild relapsing-remitting disease course and increasing hind limb clasping during the disease process (384). Apart from histological analyses showing T cell and microglial activation as well as axonal and myelin damage at several locations in the brain, brainstem, spinal cord, and optic nerve, they also applied *ex vivo* post-fixation MRI analyses after 9 months to confirm spinal cord atrophy compared with 2D2⁻ littermates (384). Neither study generated imaging data that can easily be transferred/translated into clinical application.

In one recent study using advanced preclinical imaging, two-photon excitation microscopy was applied to the spinal cord in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE, CFA and PT) for the first time: Steudler et al. used *ODCmitoGFP-Tomato* mice, which have GFP-labeled mitochondria in tdTomato-labeled oligodendrocytes (385). They applied twophoton excitation microscopy to reveal the complex evolution of the mitochondrial redox state with increased and decreased oxidation at the preclinical and chronic stages, respectively, suggesting an early involvement of oligodendrocyte mitochondria in the inflammatory process in EAE (385).

5.3 Retina and optic nerve

Many techniques investigating the visual system in patients can directly be translated to their application in animals with only minimal technical adaptations, for example, to correct for differences in refraction. When back-translating OCT imaging to rodents, the inner retinal layer (IRL) is usually quantified, instead of separating pRNFL and GCIPL, due to the lower retinal neuroaxonal content and lower resolution in mice. Cruz-Herranz et al. performed comparative OCT in different neuroinflammatory mouse models: Actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) in C57BL/6 mice led to severe thickening of the IRL with subsequent thinning; a 32% retinal ganglion cell loss within 120 days (54% in 9 months) and T cell and microglia invasion were later confirmed by histopathology (386). In contrast, actively induced MBP-EAE (induced by MBP, CFA, and PT) led to a much milder disease course with stable IRL measurements and no retinal ganglion cell loss. Active MOG₃₅₋₅₅ -EAE induction in TCR^{2D2} mice (induced by MOG_{35-55} , CFA, and PT) led to an earlier IRL thinning without edema, yet the extent (49% within 120 days) was nearly comparable with C57BL/6 mice after MOG₃₅₋₅₅ -EAE induction (386). Uninduced TCR^{2D2} mice also underwent IRL thinning and thereby neurodegeneration within a 120-day period suggesting an underlying process in the mouse line (386). In a similar fashion, actively induced PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁-EAE in SJL/J mice (induced by PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁, CFA, and PT) led to IRL atrophy, yet wild-type uninduced SJL/J mice also showed IRL thinning (386). This is most likely due to a homozygous Pde6b^{rd1} mutation for retinopathy these mice carry (386). In marmoset monkeys actively induced with MOG₁₋₁₂₅-EAE (induced by recombinant rat MOG_{1-125} and CFA), only 50% have an ON at all (387). Taken together, Cruz-Herranz and other independent studies imply a strong resemblance of actively induced MOG_{35-55} -EAE in C57BL/6 with adult MOGAD-ON, describing features such as early edema and severe neuroaxonal loss over an extended period after ON, while other models might closer resemble the milder course in MS-ON (386).

Actively induced MOG-EAE models gained further stand as a MOGAD model by a recent study confirming bilateral ON in 70% of MOG₁₋₁₂₅-EAE in Brown Norway (BN) rats (induced by MOG₁₋₁₂₅, CFA only) using visually evoked potentials (VEPs) (388). In Dark Agouti rats actively induced with MOG₁₋₁₂₅-EAE (induced by MOG₁₋₁₂₅, CFA only), a VEP latency delay could be observed even before first motor deficits were present, i.e., during an inflammatory state, demyelination and axonal loss were observed at later disease stages (389). Severe ON was caused in Brown Norway (BN) rats actively induced with the same model (390). Induced apoptosis of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) in this model in BN rats could be seen as independent of optic nerve involvement (391). Two additional studies employing OCT and histopathology measured early, inflammation-preceding, RNFL thickness reduction in this actively induced MOG₁₋₁₂₅-EAE model in BN rats (induced by MOG_{1-125} , CFA only) (392, 393), respectively. Later, an increase in oligodendrocyte alphaBcrystallin, a heat-shock protein induced by cellular stress, was observed during the preclinical stages, particularly in the optic nerve head in this actively induced MOG₁₋₁₂₅-EAE model in BN rats (induced by MOG₁₋₁₂₅, CFA only) (394). This is in line with measurements gained in an MS study (395, 396). Contrary to these observations, RGC loss induced in C57/B6 mice by actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅ -EAE (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) occurred only in late stages of the disease (post-immunization day 42), whereas CD4+Tcell infiltration, demyelination, microglial, and astrocyte activation were induced in the optic nerve by PID 16 (397). Further late events include degeneration of retinal neurites and synapses as well as glial cell activation in the inner retina. Similarly, in actively induced PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁-EAE in SJL/J mice (induced by PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁, CFA, and PT), RGC loss was detected by PID14, which in this model was however after cell infiltrates had been detected in the optic nerve around PID 9, pointing toward inflammation preceding RGC loss in this model (398).

As a potentially promising development for pediatric MOGAD-ON, the OSE model shows good results: OCT in OSE mice with spontaneous encephalomyelitis starting on day 26 after birth showed retinal neurodegeneration, which was confirmed by histopathology as 38% loss at 6 weeks of age (399). The functional relevance of RGC loss was confirmed by electroretinogram (ERG) (399).

Due to the close correlation between structural and functional metrics, multimodal assessment including OCT and functional assessments is common in rodents. Functional metrics backtranslated from clinical applications include ERGs and VEPs, usually performed as flash-VEP. As a metric for vision in mice, the optomotor response (OMR) is assessed, which quantifies the compensatory head movement when the mouse is exposed to a moving light-dark pattern. Despite being the current gold standard for vision in mice, the OMR was critiqued for (A) the interference of vision and motor function, (B) the overlay with the optokinetic response, and (C) the inability to depict the (retina–lateral geniculate nucleus—primary visual cortex)-pathway usually associated with vision in humans. Outputs of VEP, ERG, and OMR have been shown to correlate very well with the neuroaxonal content measured by OCT and by histopathology, for example, in actively induced MOG_{35-55} -EAE in mice (induced with MOG_{35-55} , CFA, and PT) (400, 401).

Applying visual outcome parameters in animal research currently serves two major purposes: Firstly, we can use animal models to better understand the pathophysiological basis of our functional metrics. Recently, VEP became an outcome parameter for myelin in clinical trials investigating potentially remyelinating agents. Although the measurement of conduction speed seems like a feasible metric for myelin, the pathophysiological basis of this assumption was never validated and the sensitivity of VEPs for myelin content was never shown. Using different demyelinating animal models including actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE in C57BL/6J mice (induced with MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, PT), Cordano and colleagues now demonstrated that quantitative measurements of myelination and remyelination correspond well with VEP latency, thereby validating it as a tool (402). This VEP change also correlates well with the dysregulation of potassium channels around the nodes of Ranvier as shown during inflammatory demyelination in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅₋EAE (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) (403, 404). So far, only one VEP study has been performed in actively induced MOG₁₋₁₂₅-EAE in marmoset monkeys (induced by rat recombinant MOG₁₋₁₂₅, CFA only). Unfortunately, this study only reports a loss of amplitudes in line with neurodegeneration in the later course of the disease but does not report potential latency delays (405).

Secondly, functional outcome parameters can be used in animal research to show functional relevance very early in the development and testing of new therapeutic agents. The visual system is especially suitable for early drug testing for neuroprotective agents due to the clear association of one localized lesion in the optic nerve with subsequent neurodegeneration in the retina and functional decline (406-411). A single study also used the rodent visual system in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE transgenic mice backcrossed to a C57BL/6 background (induced with MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) to investigate the functional effects of remyelinating with the agent chloroindazole using VEP and ERG, yet the structure-function correlation was less robust (412). The only study so far using the rodent visual system in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE in mice (induced with MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, PT) to investigate the effects of anti-inflammatory treatment with anti-IL-17 antibodies showed that retinal neurodegeneration as measured by OCT, but not motor symptoms, was completely prevented by neutralizing IL-17 (413). This is particularly interesting since MOGAD patients were shown to have more IL-17-positive central memory cells than healthy controls with a particular increase in IL-17-positive IFN- γ positive central memory cells during relapses, again suggesting important parallels between MOG-EAE and MOGAD (282).

Optic nerve MRI using T_1 - and T_2 -weighted imaging has been validated in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE in C57Bl/6 mice (induced with MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) but sparsely performed (414). Qi et al. were able to establish volumetric optic nerve analysis using T1-weighted 3D 4.7-tesla MRI (415). As suggested

from clinical experience, they were able to show significant optic nerve swelling and subsequent volume loss in an EAE model induced by CFA and homologous spinal cord emulsion. Reducing mitochondrial reactive oxygen stress by increasing SOD2 gene expression using virally mediated gene transfer led to less edema and prevented significant volume loss, which the analysis was sensitive enough to detect (415). The involvement of the optic nerve, optic tract, and chiasm was also shown for $2D2^+$ mice by contrast-enhanced T1-weighted imaging.

Interestingly, DTI has been applied to the visual system in rodents but not yet specifically in MOGAD patients. Manogaran et al. performed a multimodal study including OCT, T2weighted imaging, and DTI in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE in C57BL/6J mice (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT). They confirmed signal increase around the optic nerve in T2-weighted MRI in line with significant inflammation. DTI showed a decrease in axial diffusivity and an increase in radial diffusivity in the optic nerve and optic tract compared with controls. These changes were correlated with neuroaxonal parameters from OCT (416). DTI changes were confirmed by other independent studies in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) (361, 417). A newer diffusion MRI approach called diffusion basis spectrum imaging (DBSI) was specifically developed to separate axonal and inflammatory pathologies. In its first application in actively induced MOG-EAE in C57BL/6J mice (induced by unspecified MOG peptide, CFA, and PT), the DBSI data suggest that axonal loss in ON occurs early and in parallel to the optic nerve edema (417). The application of DTI to the visual system in people with MOGAD is still pending.

The possibilities of retinal imaging in rodents exceed the options in clinical research. One example is confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (CSLO), which is a non-invasive technique for real-time imaging of autofluorescent targets in the retina. In actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT), CSLO has been applied to track myeloid cells in CX3CR1^{GFP/-} mice (expressing a green fluorescent protein under control of the endogenous CX3C locus chemokine receptor 1) (418, 419). CSLO was then used to characterize microglial activation longitudinally during the course of actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE and to define time points of maximum microglial activation for further analyses (418). In the long term, this imaging method might be used with different targets and animal models. The more invasive alternative with better single-cell tracking is two-photon excitation microscopy, which can nowadays also be co-registered with OCT (420). Yet, it has been so far only applied to actively induced experimental autoimmune uveitis in CX3CR1^{eGFP/-} mice [induced by IRBP₁₋₂₀ (interphotoreceptor retinoid-binding protein), CFA, and PT], an inflammation localized in the iris and ciliary body (421). Uveitis also occurs in MOGAD patients (422) and MOGAD-depicting animal models (423). Histopathological findings in uveitis are comparable in actively induced MOG₃₅₋₅₅-EAE in (C57BL/6 x SJL) F1 and C57BL/6 mice (induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅, CFA, and PT) and mice with passive transfer of T cells specific to MOG₃₅₋₅₅, suggesting a T-cell-mediated origin of autoimmune uveitis in MOGAD (423). Translational imaging including co-registered OCT and two-photon excitation microscopy can help to further elucidate the cause.

6 Concluding remarks

Separating MOGAD as a disease entity presents a unique challenge since researchers have investigated MOG-IgG-based animal models and MOG-IgG seropositive patients for decades as models for or as part of other conditions. This review is a first step toward understanding how the generated knowledge is specifically applicable to MOGAD. Translational imaging in MOGAD has provided useful information on disease pathophysiology, commonalities between animal models and disease, and potential imaging markers. Yet, true translational imaging research including clinical and preclinical aspects within the same study is still warranted. Also, many open questions remain such as: (1) Is the histopathology of the optic nerve and spinal cord comparable between MOG animal models and MOGAD patients (due to the lack of human pathology studies), and which would be the closest to reflect human disease? (2) What causes the gray matter involvement in MOGAD? (3) Is there a relevant portion of MOGAD patients developing a clinically progressive disease course and do we need a disease-specific definition of neuropathological progression? and (4) Should current treatment regimens for MOGAD be reevaluated because (A) no adverse events to, e.g., Fingolimod/Natalizumab (as seen in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD) were observed in MOG-IgG seropositive patients (217) and (B) many treatments have been shown to be beneficial in MOG-induced EAE that are less used in or have been unsuccessful in MS (160, 424-426). In the future, translational and advanced imaging might provide answers to these questions and support the development of biomarkers for the diagnosis and monitoring of MOGAD.

Author contributions

FO and MH participated in the original conceptualization and initial draft of the manuscript. FP contributed to substantial revisions of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the revisions of the manuscript and approved the submitted version.

Funding

We thank the Sumaira Foundation for supporting this article collection.

Acknowledgments

FO thanks the American Academy of Neurology (AAN), the National Multiple Sclerosis Society (NMSS), and the Hertie Foundation for fellowship support.

Conflict of interest

FP reports research support from Bayer, Novartis, Biogen, Teva, Sanofi-Aventis/Genzyme, Alexion, Roche and Merck Serono

and research support from the German Research Council, Werth Stiftung of the City of Cologne, German Ministry of Education and Research, Arthur Arnstein Stiftung Berlin, EU FP7 Framework Program, Guthy-Jackson Charitable Foundation, and NMSS. He also reports receiving consultation fees as an associate editor for Neurology, Neuroimmunology, and Neuroinflammation and as an academic editor for PLoS ONE and consultant fees for Sanofi Genzyme, Biogen, MedImmune, Shire, and Alexion. He also reports receiving speaker honoraria from Bayer, Novartis, Biogen, Teva, Sanofi-Aventis/Genzyme, Merck Serono, Alexion, Chugai, MedImmune, and Shire. He is an advisory board member for Novartis and MedImmune Scientific and holds stocks of Nocturne GmbH—all outside the submitted work.

References

1. Brunner C, Lassmann H, Waehneldt TV, Matthieu JM, Linington C. Differential ultrastructural localization of myelin basic protein, myelin/oligodendroglial glycoprotein, and 2/,3/-cyclic nucleotide 3/-phosphodiesterase in the CNS of adult rats. *J Neurochem.* (1989) 52:296–304. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1989.tb10930.x

2. Reindl M, Waters P. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in neurological disease. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2019) 15:89– 102. doi: 10.1038/s41582-018-0112-x

3. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Maillart E, Audoin B, Zephir H, Bourre B, et al. Clinical spectrum and prognostic value of CNS MOG autoimmunity in adults: the MOGADOR study. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1858–69. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000 5560

4. Jurynczyk M, Messina S, Woodhall MR, Raza N, Everett R, Roca-Fernandez A, et al. Clinical presentation and prognosis in MOG-antibody disease: a UK study. *Brain.* (2017) 140:3128–38. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx276

5. Cobo-Calvo Á, d'Indy H, Ruiz A, Collongues N, Kremer L, Durand-Dubief F, et al. Frequency of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody in multiple sclerosis: a multicenter cross-sectional study. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:649. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000649

6. Held F, Kalluri SR, Berthele A, Klein A-K, Reindl M, Hemmer B. Frequency of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in a large cohort of neurological patients. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2021) 7:20552173211022767

7. Dinoto A, Licciardi N, Reindl M, Chiodega V, Schanda K, Carta S, et al. Peripheral neuropathy and MOG-IgG: a clinical and neuropathological retrospective study. *Eur J Neurol.* (2022) 29:237. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.104214

8. Dinoto A, Licciardi NM, Reindl M, Chiodega V, Schanda K, Carta S, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies and peripheral neuropathies: a clinical and neuropathological retrospective study. *J Peripher Nerv Syst.* (2022) 27:S13.

9. Amin M, Mays M, Polston D, Flanagan EP, Prayson R, Kunchok A. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies in a patient with glioblastoma: red flags for false positivity. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 361:577743. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577743

10. Uzura Y, Takeuchi H, Ashida S, Fujii C, Shishido-Hara Y, Inaba T, et al. A tumefactive anti-MOG antibody associated disorder heralding central nervous system B-cell lymphoma: case report on diagnostic challenge. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 365:577823. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2022.577823

11. Cai MT, Lai QL, Tang JL, Du BQ, Shen CH, Zhang YX, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease preceding primary central nervous system lymphoma: causality or coincidence? *Neurol Sci.* (2023) doi: 10.1007/s10072-023-06919-1

12. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD Panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:268–82. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

13. Höftberger R, Guo Y, Flanagan EP, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Endmayr V, Hochmeister S, et al. The pathology of central nervous system inflammatory demyelinating disease accompanying myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2020) 139:875–92. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02132-y

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

15. Jarius S, Paul F, Aktas O, Asgari N, Dale RC, de Seze J, et al. MOG encephalomyelitis: international recommendations on diagnosis and antibody testing. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:134. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1144-2

16. Waters P, Fadda G, Woodhall M, O'Mahony J, Brown RA, Castro DA, et al. Serial anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody analyses and outcomes in children with demyelinating syndromes. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:2940. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2940

17. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:162–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

18. Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, Cabre P, Carroll W, Chitnis T, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurology*. (2015) 85:177–89. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000001729

19. Takai Y, Misu T, Kaneko K, Chihara N, Narikawa K, Tsuchida S, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: an immunopathological study. *Brain.* (2020) 143:1431–46. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa102

20. Spadaro M, Gerdes LA, Mayer MC, Ertl-Wagner B, Laurent S, Krumbholz M, et al. Histopathology and clinical course of MOG-antibody-associated encephalomyelitis. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2015) 2:295–301. doi: 10.1002/acn3.164

21. Hochmeister S, Gattringer T, Asslaber M, Stangl V, Haindl MT, Enzinger C, et al. A fulminant case of demyelinating encephalitis with extensive cortical involvement associated with anti-MOG antibodies. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:e00031. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00031

22. Carta S, Höftberger R, Bolzan A, Bozzetti S, Bonetti B, Scarpelli M, et al. Antibodies to MOG in CSF only: pathological findings support the diagnostic value. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2021) 141:801-4. doi: 10.1007/s00401-021-02286-3

23. Nakajima H, Motomura M, Tanaka K, Ichinose K, Kawakami A, Tsujino A. Comprehensive cytokine profile in optic neuritis with antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Neurol Sci.* (2017) 381:789–789. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2017.08.2227

24. Horellou P, Wang M, Keo V, Chretien P, Serguera C, Waters P, et al. Increased interleukin-6 correlates with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in pediatric monophasic demyelinating diseases and multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2015) 289:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2015.1 0.002

25. Bauer A, Rudzki D, Berek K, Dinoto A, Lechner C, Wendel EM, et al. Increased peripheral inflammatory responses in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein associated disease and aquaporin-4 antibody positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:1037812. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1037812

26. Kitley J, Waters P, Woodhall M, Leite MI, Murchison A, George J, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders with aquaporin-4 and myelinoligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a comparative study. *JAMA Neurol.* (2014) 71:276–83. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5857

27. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I, Borisow N, Asgari N, Pitarokoili K, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 2: epidemiology, clinical presentation, radiological and laboratory features, treatment responses, and long-term outcome. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13:280. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0718-0

28. Rinaldi S, Davies A, Fehmi J, Beadnall HN, Wang J, Hardy TA, et al. Overlapping central and peripheral nervous system syndromes in MOG antibody-associated disorders. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2021) 8:924. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000924 29. Hamid SHM, Whittam D, Saviour M, Alorainy A, Mutch K, Linaker S, et al. Seizures and encephalitis in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein IgG disease vs. aquaporin 4 IgG disease. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:65–71. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.3196

30. Valencia-Sanchez C, Guo Y, Krecke KN, Chen JJ, Redenbaugh V, Montalvo M, et al. Cerebral cortical encephalitis in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2023) 93:297–302. doi: 10.1002/ana.26549

31. Armangue T, Olivé-Cirera G, Martínez-Hernandez E, Sepulveda M, Ruiz-Garcia R, Muñoz-Batista M, et al. Associations of paediatric demyelinating and encephalitic syndromes with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a multicentre observational study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2020) 19:234–46. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30488-0

32. Derdelinckx J, Mansilla MJ, De Laere M, Lee W-P, Navarro-Barriuso J, Wens I, et al. Clinical and immunological control of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by tolerogenic dendritic cells loaded with MOG-encoding mRNA. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2019) 16:167. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1541-1

33. O'Connell K, Hamilton-Shield A, Woodhall M, Messina S, Mariano R, Waters P, et al. Prevalence and incidence of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, aquaporin-4 antibody-positive NMOSD and MOG antibody-positive disease in Oxfordshire, UK. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2020) 91:1126–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-323158

34. Hennes EM, Baumann M, Schanda K, Anlar B, Bajer-Kornek B, Blaschek A, et al. Prognostic relevance of MOG antibodies in children with an acquired demyelinating syndrome. *Neurology*. (2017) 89:900–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004312

35. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Kleiter I, Borisow N, Asgari N, Pitarokoili K, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 1: Frequency, syndrome specificity, influence of disease activity, long-term course, association with AQP4-IgG, and origin. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2016) 13:279. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0717-1

36. Jitprapaikulsan J, Chen JJ, Flanagan EP, Tobin WO, Fryer JP, Weinshenker BG, et al. Aquaporin-4 and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody status predict outcome of recurrent optic neuritis. *Ophthalmology.* (2018) 125:1628–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2018.03.041

37. Cobo-Calvo A, Ruiz A, Rollot F, Arrambide G, Deschamps R, Maillart E, et al. Clinical features and risk of relapse in children and adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 89:30–41. doi: 10.1002/ana.25909

38. Levy M, Molazadeh N, Bilodeau PA, Vishnevetsky A, Lotan I, Salky R, et al. Multiple types of relapses in MOG antibody disease. *Multiple Scler Relat Disord*. (2023) 72:104613. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2023.104613

39. Ramanathan S, Mohammad S, Tantsis E, Nguyen TK, Merheb V, Fung VSC, et al. Clinical course, therapeutic responses and outcomes in relapsing MOG antibody-associated demyelination. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2018) 89:127–37. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316880

40. Akaishi T, Misu T, Fujihara K, Takahashi T, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, et al. Relapse activity in the chronic phase of anti-myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *J Neurol.* (2022) 269:3136–46. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10914-x

41. Akaishi T, Misu T, Takahashi T, Takai Y, Nishiyama S, Fujimori J, et al. Progression pattern of neurological disability with respect to clinical attacks in anti-MOG antibody-associated disorders. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 351:577467. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577467

42. López-Chiriboga AS, Majed M, Fryer J, Dubey D, McKeon A, Flanagan EP, et al. Association of MOG-IgG serostatus with relapse after acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and proposed diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated disorders. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:1355–63. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1814

43. Hacohen Y, Wong YY, Lechner C, Jurynczyk M, Wright S, Konuskan B, et al. Disease course and treatment responses in children with relapsing myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:478–87. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.4601

44. Deschamps R, Pique J, Ayrignac X, Collongues N, Audoin B, Zéphir H, et al. The long-term outcome of MOGAD: an observational national cohort study of 61 patients. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021) 28:1659–64. doi: 10.1111/ene.14746

45. Cobo-Calvo A, Sepúlveda M, d'Indy H, Armangué T, Ruiz A, Maillart E, et al. Usefulness of MOG-antibody titres at first episode to predict the future clinical course in adults. *J Neurol.* (2019) 266:806–15. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-9160-9

46. Molazadeh N, Filippatou AG, Vasileiou ES, Levy M, Sotirchos ES. Evidence for and against subclinical disease activity and progressive disease in MOG antibody disease and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 360:577702. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577702

47. Hacohen Y, Rossor T, Mankad K, Chong WK, Lux A, Wassmer E, et al. "Leukodystrophy-like" phenotype in children with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2018) 60:417–23. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13649

48. Jurynczyk M, Geraldes R, Probert F, Woodhall MR, Waters P, Tackley G, et al. Distinct brain imaging characteristics of autoantibody-mediated CNS conditions and multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2017) 140:617–27. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww350

49. Camera V, Holm-Mercer L, Ali AAH, Messina S, Horvat T, Kuker W, et al. Frequency of new silent MRI lesions in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease and aquaporin-4 antibody neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *JAMA Network Open.* (2021) 4:e2137833. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.3 7833

50. Sinha S, Banwell B, Tucker A, Storm PB, Huh J, Lang S-S. Hemicraniectomy and externalized ventricular drain placement in a pediatric patient with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated tumefactive demyelinating disease. *Childs Nerv Syst.* (2022) 38:185–9. doi: 10.1007/s00381-021-05139-2

51. Matthews L, Marasco R, Jenkinson M, Küker W, Luppe S, Leite MI, et al. Distinction of seropositive NMO spectrum disorder and MS brain lesion distribution. *Neurology*. (2013) 80:1330–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182887957

52. Juryńczyk M, Tackley G, Kong Y, Geraldes R, Matthews L, Woodhall M, et al. Brain lesion distribution criteria distinguish MS from AQP4-antibody NMOSD and MOG-antibody disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2017) 88:132–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-314005

53. Jarius S, Kleiter I, Ruprecht K, Asgari N, Pitarokoili K, Borisow N, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 3: Brainstem involvement - frequency, presentation and outcome. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2016) 13:281. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0719-z

54. Banks SA, Morris PP, Chen JJ, Pittock SJ, Sechi E, Kunchok A, et al. Brainstem and cerebellar involvement in MOG-IgG-associated disorder versus aquaporin-4-IgG and MS. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2020) jnnp-2020-325121. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-325121

55. Salama S, Khan M, Shanechi A, Levy M, Izbudak I. MRI differences between MOG antibody disease and AQP4 NMOSD. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:1854–65. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.11.041

56. Hyun J-W, Kwon YN, Kim S-M, Lee HL, Jeong WK, Lee HJ, et al. Value of area postrema syndrome in differentiating adults with AQP4 vs. MOG antibodies. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:e00396. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00396

57. Kunchok A, Krecke KN, Flanagan EP, Jitprapaikulsan J, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Chen JJ, et al. Does area postrema syndrome occur in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-IgG-associated disorders (MOGAD)? *Neurology.* (2020) 94:85–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000008786

58. Chen L, Chen C, Zhong X, Sun X, Zhu H, Li X, et al. Different features between pediatric-onset and adult-onset patients who are seropositive for MOG-IgG: a multicenter study in South China. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2018) 321:83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.05.014

59. Baumann M, Grams A, Djurdjevic T, Wendel E-M, Lechner C, Behring B, et al. MRI of the first event in pediatric acquired demyelinating syndromes with antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Neurol.* (2018) 265:845–55. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-8781-3

60. Baumann M, Sahin K, Lechner C, Hennes EM, Schanda K, Mader S, et al. Clinical and neuroradiological differences of paediatric acute disseminating encephalomyelitis with and without antibodies to the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2015) 86:265–72. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2014-308346

61. Cobo-Calvo Á, Ruiz A, D'Indy H, Poulat A-L, Carneiro M, Philippe N, et al. MOG antibody-related disorders: common features and uncommon presentations. *J Neurol.* (2017) 264:1945–55. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8583-z

62. Wegener-Panzer A, Cleaveland R, Wendel E-M, Baumann M, Bertolini A, Häusler M, et al. Clinical and imaging features of children with autoimmune encephalitis and MOG antibodies. *Neurology Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2020) 7:731. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000731

63. Bartels F, Krohn S, Nikolaus M, Johannsen J, Wickström R, Schimmel M, et al. Clinical and magnetic resonance imaging outcome predictors in pediatric anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 88:148–59. doi: 10.1002/ana.25754

64. Ogawa R, Nakashima I, Takahashi T, Kaneko K, Akaishi T, Takai Y, et al. MOG antibody-positive, benign, unilateral, cerebral cortical encephalitis with epilepsy. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2017) 4:e322. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000322

65. Budhram A, Mirian A, Le C, Hosseini-Moghaddam SM, Sharma M, Nicolle MW. Unilateral cortical FLAIR-hyperintense Lesions in Anti-MOG-associated Encephalitis with Seizures (FLAMES): characterization of a distinct clinico-radiographic syndrome. *J Neurol.* (2019) 266:2481–7. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09440-8

66. Schmidt FA, Chien C, Kuchling J, Bellmann-Strobl J, Ruprecht K, Siebert N, et al. Differences in advanced magnetic resonance imaging in MOG-IgG and AQP4-IgG seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: a comparative study. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:499910. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.499910

67. Sun M, Zhou H, Xu Q, Yang M, Xu X, Zhou M, et al. Differential patterns of interhemispheric functional connectivity between AQP4-optic neuritis and MOG-optic neuritis: a resting-state functional MRI study. *Acta Radiol.* (2021) 62:776–83. doi: 10.1177/0284185120940250

68. Yang L, Li H, Xia W, Quan C, Zhou L, Geng D, et al. Quantitative brain lesion distribution may distinguish MOG-ab and AQP4-ab neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Eur Radiol.* (2020) 30:1470–9. doi: 10.1007/s00330-019-06506-z

69. Bartels F, Baumgartner B, Aigner A, Cooper G, Blaschek A, Wendel EM, et al. Impaired brain growth in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2023) 10:e200066. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000200066

70. Transverse Myelitis Consortium Working Group. Proposed diagnostic criteria and nosology of acute transverse myelitis. *Neurology*. (2002) 59:499–505. doi: 10.1212/WNL.59.4.499

71. Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Sechi E, Buciuc M, Chen JJ, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, et al. Long-term outcomes in patients with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein immunoglobulin G-associated disorder. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:1575–7. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.3115

72. Fadda G, Alves CA, O'Mahony J, Castro DA, Yeh EA, Marrie RA, et al. Comparison of spinal cord magnetic resonance imaging features among children with acquired demyelinating syndromes. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2128871. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.28871

73. Sechi E, Krecke KN, Pittock SJ, Dubey D, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Kunchok A, et al. Frequency and characteristics of MRI-negative myelitis associated with MOG autoantibodies. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:303–8. doi: 10.1177/1352458520907900

74. Jitprapaikulsan J, Lopez Chiriboga AS, Flanagan EP, Fryer JP, McKeon A, Weinshenker BG, et al. Novel glial targets and recurrent longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:892–5. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.0805

75. Dubey D, Pittock SJ, Krecke KN, Morris PP, Sechi E, Zalewski NL, et al. Clinical, radiologic, and prognostic features of myelitis associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantibody. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:301. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.4053

76. Cobo-Calvo Á, Sepúlveda M, Bernard-Valnet R, Ruiz A, Brassat D, Martínez-Yélamos S, et al. Antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in aquaporin 4 antibody seronegative longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis: clinical and prognostic implications. *Mult Scler.* (2015) 72:187–93. doi: 10.1177/1352458515591071

77. Ciccarelli O, Cohen JA, Reingold SC, Weinshenker BG, International Conference on Spinal Cord Involvement and Imaging in Multiple Sclerosis and Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders. Spinal cord involvement in multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:185–97. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30460-5

78. Asnafi S, Morris PP, Sechi E, Pittock SJ, Weinshenker BG, Palace J, et al. The frequency of longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis in MS: a population-based study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 37:101487. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.101487

79. Mariano R, Messina S, Kumar K, Kuker W, Leite MI, Palace J. Comparison of clinical outcomes of transverse myelitis among adults with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody vs. aquaporin-4 antibody disease. *JAMA Network Open.* (2019) 2:e1912732. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.12732

80. Etemadifar M, Salari M, Kargaran PK, Sigari AA, Nouri H, Etemadifar F, et al. Conus medullaris involvement in demyelinating disorders of the CNS: a comparative study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 54:103127. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103127

81. ZhangBao J, Huang W, Zhou L, Wang L, Chang X, Lu C, et al. Myelitis in inflammatory disorders associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody and aquaporin-4 antibody: a comparative study in Chinese Han patients. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021) 28:1308–15. doi: 10.1111/ene.14654

82. Ciron J, Cobo-Calvo A, Audoin B, Bourre B, Brassat D, Cohen M, et al. Frequency and characteristics of short versus longitudinally extensive myelitis in adults with MOG antibodies: a retrospective multicentric study. *Mult Scler.* (2019) 26:936-44. doi: 10.1177/1352458519849511

83. Johnson TW, Wu Y, Nathoo N, Rogers JA, Yong VW, Dunn JF. Gray matter hypoxia in the brain of the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model of multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0167196. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167196

84. Calabrese M, Magliozzi R, Ciccarelli O, Geurts JJ, Reynolds R, Martin R. Exploring the origins of grey matter damage in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2015) 16:147–58. doi: 10.1038/nrn3900

85. Geurts JJ, Barkhof F. Grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2008) 7:841–51. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70191-1

86. Chien C, Scheel M, Schmitz-Hübsch T, Borisow N, Ruprecht K, Bellmann-Strobl J, et al. Spinal cord lesions and atrophy in NMOSD with AQP4-IgG and MOG-IgG associated autoimmunity. *Mult Scler.* (2018) 25:1926–36. doi: 10.1177/1352458518815596

87. Mariano R, Messina S, Roca-Fernandez A, Leite MI, Kong Y, Palace JA. Quantitative spinal cord MRI in MOG-antibody disease, neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2021) 144:198–212. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa347

88. Lotan I, Oertel FC, Chien C, Asseyer S, Paul F, Stiebel-Kalish H. Practical recognition tools of immunoglobulin G serum antibodies against the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-positive optic neuritis and its clinical implications. *Clin Exp Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 12:42–53. doi: 10.1111/cen3.12623

89. Graves JS, Oertel FC, Van der Walt A, Collorone S, Sotirchos ES, Pihl-Jensen G, et al. Leveraging visual outcome measures to advance therapy development in neuroimmunologic disorders. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2022) 9:e1126. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001126

90. Ducloyer J-B, Caignard A, Aidaoui R, Ollivier Y, Plubeau G, Santos-Moskalyk S, et al. MOG-Ab prevalence in optic neuritis and clinical predictive factors for diagnosis. *Br J Ophthalmol.* (2020) 104:842–5. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-314845

91. Ramanathan S, Reddel SW, Henderson A, Parratt JDE, Barnett M, Gatt PN, et al. Antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in bilateral and recurrent optic neuritis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2014) 1:40. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000000040

92. Chen JJ, Flanagan EP, Jitprapaikulsan J, López-Chiriboga ASS, Fryer JP, Leavitt JA, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-positive optic neuritis: clinical characteristics, radiologic clues, and outcome. *Am J Ophthalmol.* (2018) 195:8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2018.07.020

93. Rempe T, Tarhan B, Rodriguez E, Viswanathan VT, Gyang TV, Carlson A, et al. Anti-MOG associated disorder-Clinical and radiological characteristics compared to AQP4-IgG+ NMOSD-A single-center experience. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 48:102718. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102718

94. Ramanathan S, Fraser C, Curnow SR, Ghaly M, Leventer RJ, Lechner-Scott J, et al. Uveitis and optic perineuritis in the context of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody seropositivity. *Eur J Neurol.* (2019) 26:1137–e75. doi: 10.1111/ene.13932

95. Shor N, Aboab J, Maillart E, Lecler A, Bensa C, Le Guern G, et al. Clinical, imaging and follow-up study of optic neuritis associated with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody: a multicentre study of 62 adult patients. *Eur J Neurol.* (2020) 27:384–91. doi: 10.1111/ene.14089

96. Ramanathan S, Prelog K, Barnes EH, Tantsis EM, Reddel SW, Henderson AP, et al. Radiological differentiation of optic neuritis with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies, aquaporin-4 antibodies, and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:470–82. doi: 10.1177/1352458515593406

97. Tajfirouz D, Padungkiatsagul T, Beres S, Moss HE, Pittock S, Flanagan E, et al. Optic chiasm involvement in AQP-4 antibody–positive NMO and MOG antibody–associated disorder. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 28:149–53. doi: 10.1177/13524585211011450

98. Yang M, Wu Y, Lai M, Song H, Li H, Sun M, et al. Clinical predictive factors for diagnosis of MOG-IgG and AQP4-IgG related paediatric optic neuritis: a Chinese cohort study. *Br J Ophthalmol.* (2022) 106:262–6. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2020-317524

99. Oertel FC, Zimmermann H, Paul F, Brandt AU. Optical coherence tomography in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: potential advantages for individualized monitoring of progression and therapy. *EPMA J.* (2018) 9:21–33. doi: 10.1007/s13167-017-0123-5

100. Petzold A, Balcer LJ, Calabresi PA, Costello F, Frohman TC, Frohman EM, et al. Retinal layer segmentation in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2017) 16:797–812. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30278-8

101. Chen JJ, Sotirchos ES, Henderson AD, Vasileiou ES, Flanagan EP, Bhatti MT, et al. OCT retinal nerve fiber layer thickness differentiates acute optic neuritis from MOG antibody-associated disease and multiple sclerosis: RNFL thickening in acute optic neuritis from MOGAD vs. MS. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2022) 58:103525. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103525

102. Oertel FC, Sotirchos ES, Zimmermann HG, Motamedi S, Specovius S, Asseyer ES, et al. Longitudinal retinal changes in MOGAD. *Ann Neurol.* (2022) 92:476–85. doi: 10.1002/ana.26440

103. Oertel FC, Outteryck O, Knier B, Zimmermann H, Borisow N, Bellmann-Strobl J, et al. Optical coherence tomography in myelin-oligodendrocyte-glycoprotein antibody-seropositive patients: a longitudinal study. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2019) 16:154. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1521-5

104. Petzold A, Fraser CL, Abegg M, Alroughani R, Alshowaeir D, Alvarenga R, et al. Diagnosis and classification of optic neuritis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2022) 21:1120–34. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00200-9

105. Coric D, Balk LJ, Uitdehaag BMJ, Petzold A. Diagnostic accuracy of optical coherence tomography inter-eye percentage difference for optic neuritis in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol.* (2017) 24:1479–84. doi: 10.1111/ene.13443

106. Bsteh G, Hegen H, Altmann P, Auer M, Berek K, Zinganell A, et al. Validation of inter-eye difference thresholds in optical coherence tomography for identification of optic neuritis in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2020) 45:102403. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102403

107. Nij Bijvank J, Uitdehaag BMJ, Petzold A. Retinal inter-eye difference and atrophy progression in multiple sclerosis diagnostics. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2021) 93:216–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2021-327468

108. Oertel FC, Zimmermann HG, Motamedi S, Chien C, Aktas O, Albrecht P, et al. Diagnostic value of intereye difference metrics for optic neuritis in aquaporin-4 antibody seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2023) 94:560–66. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2022-330608

109. Pache F, Zimmermann H, Mikolajczak J, Schumacher S, Lacheta A, Oertel FC, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 4: Afferent visual system damage after optic neuritis in MOG-IgG-seropositive versus AQP4-IgG-seropositive patients. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2016) 13:282. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0720-6

110. Stiebel-Kalish H, Lotan I, Brody J, Chodick G, Bialer O, Marignier R, et al. Retinal nerve fiber layer may be better preserved in MOG-IgG versus AQP4-IgG optic neuritis: a cohort study. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0170847. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170847

111. Gigengack NK, Oertel FC, Motamedi S, Bereuter C, Duchow A, Rust R, et al. Structure-function correlates of vision loss in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:17545. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-19848-4

112. Schmidt F, Zimmermann H, Mikolajczak J, Oertel FC, Pache F, Weinhold M, et al. Severe structural and functional visual system damage leads to profound loss of vision-related quality of life in patients with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2017) 11:45–50. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2016.11.008

113. Sotirchos ES, Filippatou A, Fitzgerald KC, Salama S, Pardo S, Wang J, et al. Aquaporin-4 IgG seropositivity is associated with worse visual outcomes after optic neuritis than MOG-IgG seropositivity and multiple sclerosis, independent of macular ganglion cell layer thinning. *Mult Scler.* (2019) 26:1360–71. doi: 10.1177/1352458519864928

114. Zhao Y, Tan S, Chan TCY, Xu Q, Zhao J, Teng D, et al. Clinical features of demyelinating optic neuritis with seropositive myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody in Chinese patients. *Br J Ophthalmol.* (2018) 102:1372–7. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2017-311177

115. Havla J, Pakeerathan T, Schwake C, Bennett JL, Kleiter I, Felipe-Rucián A, et al. Age-dependent favorable visual recovery despite significant retinal atrophy in pediatric MOGAD: how much retina do you really need to see well? *J Neuroinflammation*. (2021) 18:121. doi: 10.1186/s12974-021-02160-9

116. Zimmermann HG, Knier B, Oberwahrenbrock T, Behrens J, Pfuhl C, Aly L, et al. Association of retinal ganglion cell layer thickness with future disease activity in patients with clinically isolated syndrome. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:1071–9. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1011

117. Cordano C, Nourbakhsh B, Yiu HH, Papinutto N, Caverzasi E, Abdelhak AC, et al. Differences in age-related retinal and cortical atrophy rates in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology.* (2022) 99:e1685–93. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000200977

118. Petracca M, Cordano C, Cellerino M, Button J, Krieger S, Vancea R, et al. Retinal degeneration in primary-progressive multiple sclerosis: a role for cortical lesions? *Mult Scler.* (2017) 23:43–50. doi: 10.1177/1352458516637679

119. Martinez-Lapiscina EH, Arnow S, Wilson JA, Saidha S, Preiningerova JL, Oberwahrenbrock T, et al. Retinal thickness measured with optical coherence tomography and risk of disability worsening in multiple sclerosis: a cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:574–84. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00068-5

120. Cordano C, Nourbakhsh B, Devereux M, Damotte V, Bennett D, Hauser SL, et al. pRNFL as a marker of disability worsening in the medium/long term in patients with MS. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2019) 6:533. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000533

121. Oertel FC, Specovius S, Zimmermann HG, Chien C, Motamedi S, Bereuter C, et al. Retinal optical coherence tomography in neuromyelitis optica. *Neurol Neuroinflamm.* (2021) 8:e1068. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000001068

122. Oertel FC, Havla J, Roca-Fernández A, Lizak N, Zimmermann H, Motamedi S, et al. Retinal ganglion cell loss in neuromyelitis optica: a longitudinal study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2018) 83:1259–65. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2018-318382

123. Oertel FC, Kuchling J, Zimmermann H, Chien C, Schmidt F, Knier B, et al. Microstructural visual system changes in AQP4-antibodyseropositive NMOSD. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2017) 4:e334. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000334

124. Motamedi S, Oertel FC, Yadav SK, Kadas EM, Weise M, Havla J, et al. Altered fovea in AQP4-IgG-seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2020) 7:e805. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000805

125. Filippatou AG, Mukharesh L, Saidha S, Calabresi PA, Sotirchos ES. AQP4-IgG and MOG-IgG related optic neuritis-prevalence, optical coherence tomography findings, and visual outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:540156. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.540156

126. Filippatou AG, Vasileiou ES, He Y, Fitzgerald KC, Kalaitzidis G, Lambe J, et al. Evidence of subclinical quantitative retinal layer abnormalities in AQP4-IgG seropositive NMOSD. *Mult Scler*. (2020) 27:1738–48. doi: 10.1177/1352458520977771

127. Roca-Fernández A, Oertel FC, Yeo T, Motamedi S, Probert F, Craner MJ, et al. Foveal changes in AQP4-Ab seropositive NMOSD are independent of optic neuritis and not overtly progressive. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021) 28:2280–93. doi: 10.1111/ene.14766

128. Lu A, Zimmermann HG, Specovius S, Motamedi S, Chien C, Bereuter C, et al. Astrocytic outer retinal layer thinning is not a feature in AQP4-IgG seropositive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2021) 93:188–95. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2021-327412

129. Yao Y, Li X, Xu Y, Liang X, Yang L, Shi F-D, et al. The difference of the retinal structural and microvascular characteristics in patients with MOGAD-ON and AQP4-ON. *BMC Neurol.* (2022) 22:323. doi: 10.1186/s12883-022-02848-2

130. Yu J, Huang Y, Quan C, Zhou L, ZhangBao J, Wu K, et al. Alterations in the retinal vascular network and structure in MOG antibody-associated disease: an optical coherence tomography angiography study. *J Neuroophthalmol.* (2020) 41:e424–32. doi: 10.1097/WNO.00000000001116

131. Yadav SK, Motamedi S, Oberwahrenbrock T, Oertel FC, Polthier K, Paul F, et al. CuBe: parametric modeling of 3D foveal shape using cubic Bézier. *Biomed Opt Express.* (2017) 8:4181–99. doi: 10.1364/BOE.8.004181

132. Oertel FC, Zimmermann HG, Brandt AU, Paul F. Novel uses of retinal imaging with optical coherence tomography in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Neurother.* (2018) 19:31–43. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2019.155 9051

133. Petzold A, Albrecht P, Balcer L, Bekkers E, Brandt AU, Calabresi PA, et al. Artificial intelligence extension of the OSCAR-IB criteria. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2021) 8:1528–42. doi: 10.1002/acn3.5 1320

134. Motamedi S, Gawlik K, Ayadi N, Zimmermann HG, Asseyer S, Bereuter C, et al. Normative data and minimally detectable change for inner retinal layer thicknesses using a semi-automated OCT image segmentation pipeline. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:1117. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.01117

135. Sakuma H, Kohyama K, Park I-K, Miyakoshi A, Tanuma N, Matsumoto Y. Clinicopathological study of a myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced demyelinating disease in LEW1AV1 rats. *Brain.* (2004) 127:2201–13. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh260

136. Storch MK, Piddlesden S, Haltia M, Iivanainen M, Morgan P, Lassmann H. Multiple sclerosis: *in situ* evidence for antibody- and complement-mediated demyelination. *Ann Neurol.* (1998) 43:465–71. doi: 10.1002/ana.410430409

137. Tsunoda I, Kuang L-Q, Fujinami RS. Induction of autoreactive CD8+ cytotoxic T cells during Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus infection: implications for autoimmunity. *J Virol.* (2002) 76:12834–44. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.24.12834-12844.2002

138. Tsunoda I, Fujinami RS. Inside-Out versus Outside-In models for virus induced demyelination: axonal damage triggering demyelination. *Springer Semin Immunopathol.* (2002) 24:105–25. doi: 10.1007/s00281-002-0105-z

139. Iglesias A, Bauer J, Litzenburger T, Schubart A, Linington C. T- and Bcell responses to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Glia*. (2001) 36:220–34. doi: 10.1002/glia.1111

140. Wekerle H, Kojima K, Lannes-Vieira J, Lassmann H, Linington C. Animal models. Ann Neurol. (1994) 36(Suppl):S47–53. doi: 10.1002/ana.410360714

141. Bradl M, Linington C. Animal models of demyelination. *Brain Pathol.* (1996) 6:303–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.1996.tb00857.x

142. Petry KG, Boullerne AI, Pousset F, Brochet B, Caillé JM, Dousset V. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis animal models for analyzing features of multiple sclerosis. *Pathol Biol.* (2000) 48:47–53.

143. 't Hart BA, Amor S. The use of animal models to investigate the pathogenesis of neuroinflammatory disorders of the central nervous system. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2003) 16:375–83. doi: 10.1097/01.wco.0000073940.19076.43

144. Levkovitch-Verbin H. Animal models of optic nerve diseases. *Eye.* (2004) 18:1066–74. doi: 10.1038/sj.eye.6701576

145. Gold R, Linington C, Lassmann H. Understanding pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis via animal models: 70 years of merits and culprits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis research. *Brain.* (2006) 129:1953–71. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl075

146. Cassan C, Liblau RS. Immune tolerance and control of CNS autoimmunity: from animal models to MS patients. *J Neurochem.* (2007) 100:883–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04270.x

147. Procaccini C, De Rosa V, Pucino V, Formisano L, Matarese G. Animal models of multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2015) 759:182–91. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.042

148. Yandamuri SS, Lane TE. Imaging axonal degeneration and repair in preclinical animal models of multiple sclerosis. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:189. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00189

149. Bjelobaba I, Begovic-Kupresanin V, Pekovic S, Lavrnja I. Animal models of multiple sclerosis: focus on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci Res.* (2018) 96:1021–42. doi: 10.1002/jnr.24224

150. Glatigny S, Bettelli E. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as animal models of multiple sclerosis (MS). *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2018) 8:a028977. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028977

151. Lassmann H, Brunner C, Bradl M, Linington C. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: the balance between encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and demyelinating antibodies determines size and structure of demyelinated lesions. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1988) 75:566–76. doi: 10.1007/BF00 686201

152. Linington C, Bradl M, Lassmann H, Brunner C, Vass K. Augmentation of demyelination in rat acute allergic encephalomyelitis by circulating mouse monoclonal antibodies directed against a myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Am J Pathol.* (1988) 130:443–54.

153. Schluesener HJ, Sobel RA, Weiner HL. Demyelinating experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE) in the rat: treatment with a monoclonal antibody against activated T cells. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1988) 18:341–51. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(88)9 0055-0

154. Xiao BG, Linington C, Link H. Antibodies to myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in cerebrospinal fluid from patients with multiple sclerosis and controls. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1991) 31:91–6. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(91)90014-X

155. Weissert R. Actively induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in rats. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2016) 1304:161–9. doi: 10.1007/7651_2014_177

156. Hasselmann JPC, Karim H, Khalaj AJ, Ghosh S, Tiwari-Woodruff SK. Consistent induction of chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 mice for the longitudinal study of pathology and repair. *J Neurosci Methods*. (2017) 284:71–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2017.04.003

157. Giralt M, Molinero A, Hidalgo J. Active induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) with MOG35-55 in the mouse. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2018) 1791:227-32. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7862-5_17

158. Miyamura S, Matsuo N, Nagayasu K, Shirakawa H, Kaneko S. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55 (MOG 35-55)-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: a model of chronic multiple sclerosis. *Bio Protoc.* (2019) 9:e3453. doi: 10.21769/BioProtoc.3453

159. Joly S, Mdzomba JB, Rodriguez L, Morin F, Vallières L, Pernet V, et al. cell-dependent EAE induces visual deficits in the mouse with similarities to human autoimmune demyelinating diseases. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2022) 19:54. doi: 10.1186/s12974-022-02416-y

160. Nitsch L, Petzinna S, Zimmermann J, Getts DR, Becker A, Müller M. MOGspecific T cells lead to spontaneous EAE with multilocular B cell infiltration in the GF-IL23 model. *Neuromolecular Med.* (2022) 24:415–23. doi: 10.1007/s12017-022-08705-2

161. Remlinger J, Madarasz A, Guse K, Hoepner R, Bagnoud M, Meli I, et al. Antineonatal Fc receptor antibody treatment ameliorates MOG-IgG-associated experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2022) 9:e1134. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001134

162. Salvador F, Deramoudt L, Leprêtre F, Figeac M, Guerrier T, Boucher J, et al. A spontaneous model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis provides evidence of MOG-specific B cell recruitment and clonal expansion. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:755900. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.755900

163. Triantafyllakou I, Clemente N, Khetavat RK, Dianzani U, Tselios T. Development of PLGA nanoparticles with a glycosylated myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein epitope (MOG35-55) against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *Mol Pharm.* (2022) 19:3795–805. doi: 10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.2c00277

164. Voskuhl RR, MacKenzie-Graham A. Chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is an excellent model to study neuroaxonal degeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2022) 15:1024058. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2022.1024058

165. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Stellmann JP, Huss A, Ayzenberg I, Willing A, et al. MOG-IgG in primary and secondary chronic progressive multiple sclerosis: a multicenter study of 200 patients and review of the literature. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:88. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1108-6

166. Lassmann H, Bradl M. Multiple sclerosis: experimental models and reality. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2017) 133:223–44. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1631-4

167. Aharoni R. New findings and old controversies in the research of multiple sclerosis and its model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2013) 9:423–40. doi: 10.1586/eci.13.21

168. Peschl P, Bradl M, Höftberger R, Berger T, Reindl M. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein: deciphering a target in inflammatory demyelinating diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:529. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00529

169. 't Hart BA, Gran B, Weissert R. EAE: imperfect but useful models of multiple sclerosis. *Trends Mol Med.* (2011) 17:119–25. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2010.11.006

170. Friese MA, Montalban X, Willcox N, Bell JI, Martin R, Fugger L. The value of animal models for drug development in multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2006) 129:1940–52. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl083

171. Steinman L, Zamvil SS. Virtues and pitfalls of EAE for the development of therapies for multiple sclerosis. *Trends Immunol.* (2005) 26:565–71. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2005.08.014

172. Wiedrick J, Meza-Romero R, Gerstner G, Seifert H, Chaudhary P, Headrick A, et al. Sex differences in EAE reveal common and distinct cellular and molecular components. *Cell Immunol.* (2021) 359:104242. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104242

173. Linington C, Berger T, Perry L, Weerth S, Hinze-Selch D, Zhang Y, et al. cells specific for the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein mediate an unusual autoimmune inflammatory response in the central nervous system. *Eur J Immunol.* (1993) 23:1364–72. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830230627

174. Weissert R, Wallström E, Storch MK, Stefferl A, Lorentzen J, Lassmann H, et al. haplotype-dependent regulation of MOG-induced EAE in rats. *J Clin Invest.* (1998) 102:1265–73. doi: 10.1172/JCI3022

175. Khare M, Mangalam A, Rodriguez M, David CS. HLA DR and DQ interaction in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in HLA class II transgenic mice. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2005) 169:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.07.023

176. Kummari E, Nichols JM, Yang E-J, Kaplan BLF. Neuroinflammation and B-cell phenotypes in cervical and lumbosacral regions of the spinal cord in

experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the absence of pertussis toxin. Neuroimmunomodulation. (2019) 26:198–207. doi: 10.1159/000501765

177. Heidari AR, Boroumand-Noughabi S, Nosratabadi R, Lavi Arab F, Tabasi N, Rastin M, et al. Acylated and deacylated quillaja saponin-21 adjuvants have opposite roles when utilized for immunization of C57BL/6 mice model with MOG35-55 peptide. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2019) 29:68–82. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.01.025

178. Huntemann N, Vogelsang A, Groeneweg L, Willison A, Herrmann AM, Meuth SG, et al. An optimized and validated protocol for inducing chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6J mice. *J Neurosci Methods.* (2022) 367:109443. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2021.10 9443

179. Chase Huizar C, Ji N, Reddick R, Ostroff GR, Forsthuber TG. Glucan particles as a novel adjuvant for the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Cell Immunol.* (2021) 366:104383. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2021.10 4383

180. Berg CT, Khorooshi R, Asgari N, Owens T. Influence of type I IFN signaling on anti-MOG antibody-mediated demyelination. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2017) 14:127. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0899-1

181. Peschl P, Schanda K, Zeka B, Given K, Böhm D, Ruprecht K, et al. Human antibodies against the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein can cause complement-dependent demyelination. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2017) 14:208. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0984-5

182. Kinzel S, Lehmann-Horn K, Torke S, Häusler D, Winkler A, Stadelmann C, et al. Myelin-reactive antibodies initiate T cell-mediated CNS autoimmune disease by opsonization of endogenous antigen. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 132:43–58. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1559-8

183. Saadoun S, Waters P, Owens GP, Bennett JL, Vincent A, Papadopoulos MC. Neuromyelitis optica MOG-IgG causes reversible lesions in mouse brain. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2014) 2:35. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-2-35

184. Spadaro M, Winklmeier S, Beltran E, Macrini C, Hoftberger R, Schuh E, et al. Pathogenicity of human antibodies against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 84:315–28. doi: 10.1002/ana.25291

185. Linington C, Lassmann H. Antibody-responses in chronic relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis - correlation of serum demyelinating activity with antibody titer to the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (Mog). *J Neuroimmunol.* (1987) 17:61–9. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(87)90031-2

186. Breithaupt C, Schafer B, Pellkofer H, Huber R, Linington C, Jacob U. Demyelinating myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific autoantibody response is focused on one dominant conformational epitope region in rodents. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:1255–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.2.1255

187. Vass K, Heininger K, Schaefer B, Linington C, Lassmann H. Interferon-gamma potentiates antibody-mediated demyelination *in vivo. Ann Neurol.* (1992) 32:198–206. doi: 10.1002/ana.410320212

188. Zhou LX, Trapp BD, Miller RH. Demyelination in the central nervous system mediated by an anti-oligodendrocyte antibody. *J Neurosci Res.* (1998) 54:158–68. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19981015)54:2<158::AID-JNR4>3.0.CO;2-D

189. Hoftberger R, Sepulveda M, Armangue T, Blanco Y, Rostasy K, Calvo AC, et al. Antibodies to MOG and AQP4 in adults with neuromyelitis optica and suspected limited forms of the disease. *Mult Scler J.* (2015) 21:866-74. doi:10.1177/1352458514555785

190. Oliveira LM, Apostolos-Pereira SL, Pitombeira MS, Torretta PHB, Callegaro D, Sato DK. Persistent MOG-IgG positivity is a predictor of recurrence in MOG-IgG-associated optic neuritis, encephalitis and myelitis. *Mult Scler J.* (2019) 25:1907–14. doi: 10.1177/1352458518811597

191. Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Majed M, Fryer J, Dubey D, McKeon A, Flanagan EP, et al. Association of MOG-IgG serostatus with relapse after acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and proposed diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated disorders. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:1355–63. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1814

192. Probstel AK, Dornmair K, Bittner R, Sperl P, Jenne D, Magalhaes S, et al. Antibodies to MOG are transient in childhood acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Neurology.* (2011) 77:580–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318228c0b1

193. Schluesener HJ, Sobel RA, Linington C, Weiner HL. A monoclonalantibody against a myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces relapses and demyelination in central-nervous-system autoimmune-disease. *J Immunol.* (1987) 139:4016–21. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.139.12.4016

194. Linington C, Engelhardt B, Kapocs G, Lassman H. Induction of persistently demyelinated lesions in the rat following the repeated adoptive transfer of encephalitogenic T-cells and demyelinating antibody. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1992) 40:219–24. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(92)90136-9

195. Litzenburger T, Fassler R, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Linington C, Wekerle H, et al. lymphocytes producing demyelinating autoantibodies: development and function in gene-targeted transgenic mice. *J Exp Med.* (1998) 188:169–80. doi:10.1084/jem.188.1.169

196. Svensson L, Abdul-Majid KB, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Harris RA, Holmdahl R. A comparative analysis of B cell-mediated myelin oligodendrocyte glycoproteinexperimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis pathogenesis in B cell-deficient mice reveals an effect on demyelination. Eur J Immunol. (2002) 32:1939-46. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200207)32:7<1939::AID-IMMU1939>3.0.CO;2-S

197. Flach AC, Litke T, Strauss J, Haberl M, Gomez CC, Reindl M, et al. Autoantibody-boosted T-cell reactivation in the target organ triggers manifestation of autoimmune CNS disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2016) 113:3323–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1519608113

198. Meeson AP, Piddlesden S, Morgan BP, Reynolds R. The distribution of inflammatory demyelinated lesions in the central-nervous-system of rats with antibody-augmented demyelinating experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Exp Neurol.* (1994) 129:299–310. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1994.1172

199. Mead RJ, Singhrao SK, Neal JW, Lassmann H, Morgan BP. The membrane attack complex of complement causes severe demyelination associated with acute axonal injury. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:458–65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.1.458

200. Linington C, Morgan BP, Scolding NJ, Wilkins P, Piddlesden S, Compston DA. The role of complement in the pathogenesis of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Brain.* (1989) 112:895–911. doi: 10.1093/brain/112.4.895

201. Piddlesden SJ, Lassmann H, Zimprich F, Morgan BP, Linington C. The demyelinating potential of antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is related to their ability to fix complement. *Am J Pathol.* (1993) 143:555–64.

202. Piddlesden S, Lassmann H, Laffafian I, Morgan BP, Linington C. Antibodymediated demyelination in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis is independent of complement membrane attack complex-formation. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1991) 83:245–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.1991.tb05622.x

203. Pohl M, Kawakami N, Kitic M, Bauer J, Martins R, Fischer MT, et al. T cell-activation in neuromyelitis optica lesions plays a role in their formation. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2013) 1:85. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-1-85

204. Berger T, Weerth S, Kojima K, Linington C, Wekerle H, Lassmann H. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: the antigen specificity of T lymphocytes determines the topography of lesions in the central and peripheral nervous system. *Lab Invest.* (1997) 76:355–64.

205. Storch MK, Stefferl A, Brehm U, Weissert R, Wallstrom E, Kerschensteiner M, et al. Autoimmunity to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in rats mimics the spectrum of multiple sclerosis pathology. *Brain Pathol.* (1998) 8:681–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.1998.tb00194.x

206. Adelmann M, Wood J, Benzel I, Fiori P, Lassmann H, Matthieu JM, et al. The N-terminal domain of the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) induces acute demyelinating experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the Lewis rat. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1995) 63:17–27. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(95)00124-7

207. Johns TG, Derosbo NK, Menon KK, Abo S, Gonzales MF, Bernard CCA. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces a demyelinating encephalomyelitis resembling multiple-sclerosis. *J Immunol.* (1995) 154:5536–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.154.10.5536

208. Stefferl A, Brehm U, Storch M, Lambracht-Washington D, Bourquin C, Wonigeit K, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the "resistant" Brown Norway rat: disease susceptibility is determined by MHC and MHC-linked effects on the B cell response. *J Immunol.* (1999) 163:40–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.163.1.40

209. Khare M, Rodriguez M, David C. Role of RLA class II molecules in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induced experimental autoimmune encepahlomyelitis. *FASEB J.* (2003) 17:C39–C39.

210. Bruijstens AL, Wong YYM, van Pelt DE, van der Linden PJE, Haasnoot GW, Hintzen RQ, et al. HLA association in MOG-IgG- and AQP4-IgG-related disorders of the CNS in the Dutch population. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2020) 7:702. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000002

211. Sun X, Qiu W, Wang J, Wang S, Wang Y, Zhong X, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-associated disorders are associated with HLA subtypes in a Chinese paediatric-onset cohort. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2020) 91:733–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2019-322115

212. Grant-Peters M, Passos GRD, Yeung H, Jacob A, Huda S, Leite MI, et al. No strong HLA association with MOG antibody disease in the UK population. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2021) 8:1502–7. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51378

213. Mendel I, Derosbo NK, Bennun A. A myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide induces typical chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in H-2(B) mice - fine specificity and T-cell receptor V-beta expression of encephalitogenic T-cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (1995) 25:1951–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.18302 50723

214. Berard JL, Wolak K, Fournier S, David S. Characterization of relapsingremitting and chronic forms of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 mice. *Glia.* (2010) 58:434-45. doi: 10.1002/glia.20935

215. Zhang GX, Yu S, Gran B, Li JF, Calida D, Ventura E, et al. Cell and antibody responses in remitting-relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in (C57BL/6xSJL) F1 mice. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2004) 148:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2003.10.057

216. Zhang BN, Yamamura T, Kondo T, Fujiwara M, Tabira T. Regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by natural killer (NK) cells. *J Exp Med.* (1997) 186:1677–87. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.10.1677

217. Chen B, Gui MC, Ji SQ, Xie Y, Tian DS, Bu BT. Distinct immunological features of inflammatory demyelinating diseases of the central nervous system. *Neuroimmunomodulation*. (2022) 29:220–30. doi: 10.1159/000519835

218. Xiong Y, Wu X, Qu X, Xie X, Ren Y. Functions of T-cell subsets and their related cytokines in the pathological processes of autoimmune encephalomyelitic mice. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2018) 11:4817–26.

219. Samoilova EB, Horton JL, Hilliard B, Liu TST, Chen YH. IL-6-deficient mice are resistant to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: roles of IL-6 in the activation and differentiation of autoreactive T cell. *J Immunol.* (1998) 161:6480–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.161.12.6480

220. Okuda Y, Sakoda S, Bernard CC, Fujimura H, Saeki Y, Kishimoto T, et al. IL-6-deficient mice are resistant to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis provoked by myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Int Immunol.* (1998) 10:703–8. doi: 10.1093/intimm/10.5.703

221. Sanchis P, Fernandez-Gayol O, Comes G, Aguilar K, Escrig A, Giralt M, et al. new mouse model to study restoration of interleukin-6 (IL-6) expression in a Cre-dependent manner: microglial IL-6 regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2020) 17:304. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01969-0

222. Okuda Y, Sakoda S, Fujimura H, Saeki Y, Kishimoto T, Yanagihara T. IL-6 plays a crucial role in the induction phase of myelin oligodendrocyte glucoprotein 35-55 induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1999) 101:188–96. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(99)00139-3

223. Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, et al. IL-6 controls Th17 immunity *in vivo* by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2008) 105:18460–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809850105

224. Serada S, Fujimoto M, Mihara M, Koike N, Ohsugi Y, Nomura S, et al. IL-6 blockade inhibits the induction of myelin antigen-specific Th17 cells and Th1 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2008) 105:9041–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802218105

225. Holz K, Prinz M, Brendecke SM, Hölscher A, Deng F, Mitrücker H-W, et al. Differing outcome of experimental autoimmune encephalitis in macrophage/neutrophil- and T cell-specific gp130-deficient mice. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:836. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00836

226. Quintana A, Muller M, Frausto RF, Ramos R, Getts DR, Sanz E, et al. Sitespecific production of IL-6 in the central nervous system retargets and enhances the inflammatory response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:2079–88. doi: 10.4049/ijmmunol.0900242

227. Sanchis P, Fernández-Gayol O, Vizueta J, Comes G, Canal C, Escrig A, et al. Microglial cell-derived interleukin-6 influences behavior and inflammatory response in the brain following traumatic brain injury. *Glia.* (2020) 68:999-1016. doi: 10.1002/glia.23758

228. Galle P, Jensen L, Andersson C, Cuzzocrea S, Di Paola R, Nicoletti F, et al. Vaccination with IL-6 analogues induces autoantibodies to IL-6 and influences experimentally induced inflammation. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2007) 7:1704–13. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2007.08.026

229. Chen X, Howard OM, Oppenheim JJ. Pertussis toxin by inducing IL-6 promotes the generation of IL-17-producing CD4 cells. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:6123–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6123

230. Eugster HP, Frei K, Kopf M, Lassmann H, Fontana A. IL-6-deficient resist myelin glycoproteinmice oligodendrocyte induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunol. Eur (1998) 28:2178-87. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199807)28:07<2178::AID-IMMU2178>3.0.CO;2-D

231. Novi G, Gastaldi M, Franciotta D, Pesce G, Benedetti L, Uccelli A. Tocilizumab in MOG-antibody spectrum disorder: a case report. *Mult Scler Relat Dis.* (2019) 27:312-4. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.11.012

232. Rigal J, Pugnet G, Ciron J, Lepine Z, Biotti D. Off-label use of tocilizumab in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders and MOG-antibody-associated diseases: a case-series. *Multiple Scler Relat Disord.* (2020) 46:102483. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102483

233. Duchow A, Bellmann-Strobl J. Satralizumab in the treatment of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Neurodegener Dis Man.* (2021) 11:46. doi: 10.2217/nmt-2020-0046

234. Elsbernd PM, Hoffman WR, Carter JL, Wingerchuk DM. Interleukin-6 inhibition with tocilizumab for relapsing MOG-IgG associated disorder (MOGAD): a case-series and review. *Mult Scler Relat Dis.* (2021) 48:102696. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102696

235. Ringelstein M, Ayzenberg I, Lindenblatt G, Fischer K, Gahlen A, Novi G, et al. Interleukin-6 receptor blockade in treatment-refractory MOG-IgG-associated disease and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurol-Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 9:e1100. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001100

236. Yong KP, Kim HJ. Demystifying MOGAD and double seronegative NMOSD further with IL-6 blockade. *Neurol-Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 9:1110. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001110

237. Becher B, Durell BG, Noelle RJ. IL-23 produced by CNS-resident cells controls T cell encephalitogenicity during the effector phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Clin Invest.* (2003) 112:1186–91. doi: 10.1172/JCI200319079

238. Thakker P, Leach MW, Kuang W, Benoit SE, Leonard JP, Marusic S. IL-23 is critical in the induction but not in the effector phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:2589–98. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.4.2589

239. Liu JB, Lin F, Strainic MG, An FQ, Miller RH, Altuntas CZ, et al. IFN-gamma and IL-17 production in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis depends on local APC-T cell complement production. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:5882–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.5882

240. Chung C-Y, Liao F. CXCR3 signaling in glial cells ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by restraining the generation of a pro-Th17 cytokine milieu and reducing CNS-infiltrating Th17 cells. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2016) 13:76. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0536-4

241. Samoilova EB, Horton JL, Chen Y. Acceleration of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in interleukin-10-deficient mice: roles of interleukin-10 in disease progression and recovery. *Cell Immunol.* (1998) 188:118–24. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1998.1365

242. Kennedy MK, Torrance DS, Picha KS, Mohler KM. Analysis of cytokine mRNA expression in the central nervous system of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis reveals that IL-10 mRNA expression correlates with recovery. *J Immunol.* (1992) 149:2496–505. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.149.7.2496

243. Cohen SJ, Cohen IR, Nussbaum G. IL-10 mediates resistance to adoptive transfer experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in MyD88(-/-) Mice. *J Immunol.* (2010) 184:212–21. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900296

244. Maron R, Hancock WW, Slavin A, Hattori M, Kuchroo V, Weiner HL. Genetic susceptibility or resistance to autoimmune encephalomyelitis in MHC congenic mice is associated with differential production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:1573–80. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.9.1573

245. Willenborg DO, Fordham S, Bernard CC, Cowden WB, Ramshaw IA. IFNgamma plays a critical down-regulatory role in the induction and effector phase of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol.* (1996) 157:3223–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.157.8.3223

246. Willenborg DO, Fordham SA, Staykova MA, Ramshaw IA, Cowden WB. IFN-gamma is critical to the control of murine autoimmune encephalomyelitis and regulates both in the periphery and in the target tissue: a possible role for nitric oxide. *J Immunol.* (1999) 163:5278–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.163.10.5278

247. Stoolman JS, Duncker PC, Huber AK, Giles DA, Washnock-Schmid JM, Soulika AM, et al. An IFNgamma/CXCL2 regulatory pathway determines lesion localization during EAE. J Neuroinflammation. (2018) 15:208. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1237-y

248. Evangelista MG, Castro SB, Alves CC, Dias AT, Souza VW, Reis LB, et al. Early IFN-gamma production together with decreased expression of TLR3 and TLR9 characterizes EAE development conditional on the presence of myelin. *Autoimmunity*. (2016) 49:258–67. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2016.1141898

249. Saravia J, Chapman NM, Chi H. Helper T cell differentiation. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:634–43. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0220-6

250. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:1123–32. doi: 10.1038/ni1254

251. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang Y-H, et al. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:1133–41. doi: 10.1038/ni1261

252. Uyttenhove C, Sommereyns C, Theate I, Michiels T, Van Snick J. Anti-IL-17A autovaccination prevents clinical and histological manifestations of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2007) 1110:330–6. doi: 10.1196/annals.1423.035

253. Sonobe Y, Jin S, Wang J, Kawanokuchi J, Takeuchi H, Mizuno T, et al. Chronological changes of CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cell subsets in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *Tohoku J Exp Med.* (2007) 213:329–39. doi: 10.1620/tjem.213.329

254. Zimmermann J, Nitsch L, Krauthausen M, Muller M. IL-17A facilitates entry of autoreactive T-cells and granulocytes into the CNS during EAE. *Neuromolecular Med.* (2023) doi: 10.1007/s12017-023-08739-0

255. Barthelmes J, Tafferner N, Kurz J, de Bruin N, Parnham MJ, Geisslinger G, et al. Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice and evaluation of the disease-dependent distribution of immune cells in various tissues. *J Vis Exp.* (2016) 8:53933. doi: 10.3791/53933

256. Steckner C, Weber A, Mausberg AK, Heininger M, Opdenhovel F, Kieseier BC, et al. Alteration of the cytokine signature by various TLR ligands in different T cell populations in MOG37-50 and MOG35-55-induced EAE in C57BL/6 mice. *Clin Immunol.* (2016) 170:22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2016.05.008

257. Haak S, Croxford AL, Kreymborg K, Heppner FL, Pouly S, Becher B, et al. IL-17A and IL-17F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. *J Clin Invest.* (2009) 119:61–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI35997 258. Regen T, Isaac S, Amorim A, Nunez NG, Hauptmann J, Shanmugavadivu A, et al. IL-17 controls central nervous system autoimmunity through the intestinal microbiome. *Sci Immunol.* (2021) 6:aaz6563. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aaz6563

259. Domingues HS, Mues M, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, Krishnamoorthy G. Functional and pathogenic differences of Th1 and Th17 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *PLoS ONE.* (2010) 5:e0015531. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015531

260. Weir C, Bernard CCA, Backstrom BT. IL-5-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Int Immunol.* (2003) 15:1283-9. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxg127

261. Sonderegger I, Kisielow J, Meier R, King C, Kopf M. IL-21 and IL-21R are not required for development of Th17 cells and autoimmunity *in vivo. Eur J Immunol.* (2008) 38:1833–8. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838511

262. Merkler D, Ernsting T, Kerschensteiner M, Bruck W, Stadelmann C. A new focal EAE model of cortical demyelination: multiple sclerosis-like lesions with rapid resolution of inflammation and extensive remyelination. *Brain.* (2006) 129:1972–83. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl135

263. Gardner C, Magliozzi R, Durrenberger PF, Howell OW, Rundle J, Reynolds R. Cortical grey matter demyelination can be induced by elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines in the subarachnoid space of MOG-immunized rats. *Brain.* (2013) 136:3596–608. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt279

264. Krishnamoorthy G, Holz A, Wekerle H. Experimental models of spontaneous in the central nervous system. J Mol Med. (2007) 85:1161–73. doi: 10.1007/s00109-007-0218-x

265. Ben-Nun A, Kaushansky N, Kawakami N, Krishnamoorthy G, Berer K, Liblau R, et al. From classic to spontaneous and humanized models of multiple sclerosis: impact on understanding pathogenesis and drug development. *J Autoimmun.* (2014) 54:33–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014.06.004

266. Dash PK, Gorantla S, Poluektova L, Hasan M, Waight E, Zhang C, et al. Humanized mice for infectious and neurodegenerative disorders. *Retrovirology*. (2021) 18. doi: 10.1186/s12977-021-00557-1

267. Anderson AC, Chandwaskar R, Lee DH, Sullivan JM, Solomon A, Rodriguez-Manzanet R, et al. transgenic model of central nervous system autoimmunity mediated by CD4+ and CD8+ T and B cells. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:2084– 92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102186

268. Levy H, Assaf Y, Frenkel D. Characterization of brain lesions in a mouse model of progressive multiple sclerosis. *Exp Neurol.* (2010) 226:148–58. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2010.08.017

269. Baker D, Nutma E, O'Shea H, Cooke A, Orian JM, Amor S. Autoimmune encephalomyelitis in NOD mice is not initially a progressive multiple sclerosis model. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2019) 6:1362–72. doi: 10.1002/acn3.792

270. Ichikawa M, Koh CS, Inoue A, Tsuyusaki J, Yamazaki M, Inaba Y, et al. Anti-IL-12 antibody prevents the development and progression of multiple sclerosis-like relapsing-remitting demyelinating disease in NOD mice induced with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2000) 102:56–66. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(99)00153-8

271. Baker D, O'Neill JK, Gschmeissner SE, Wilcox CE, Butter C, Turk JL. Induction of chronic relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in Biozzi mice. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1990) 28:261–70. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(90)90019-J

272. Nishri Y, Fainstein N, Goldfarb S, Hampton D, Macrini C, Meinl E, et al. Modeling compartmentalized chronic immune-mediated demyelinating CNS disease in the Biozzi ABH mouse. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2021) 356:577582. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577582

273. Valentin-Torres A, Savarin C, Hinton DR, Phares TW, Bergmann CC, Stohlman SA. Sustained TNF production by central nervous system infiltrating macrophages promotes progressive autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2016) 13:46. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0513-y

274. van Oosten BW, Barkhof F, Truyen L, Boringa JB, Bertelsmann FW, von Blomberg BM, et al. Increased MRI activity and immune activation in two multiple sclerosis patients treated with the monoclonal anti-tumor necrosis factor antibody cA2. *Neurology.* (1996) 47:1531–4. doi: 10.1212/WNL47.6.1531

275. Redenbaugh V, Flanagan EP, Floris V, Zara P, Bhatti MT, Sanchez F, et al. Exposure to TNF inhibitors is rare at MOGAD presentation. *J Neurol Sci.* (2022) 432:120044. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2021.120044

276. Omura S, Sato F, Martinez NE, Park A-M, Fujita M, Kennett NJ, et al. Bioinformatics analyses determined the distinct CNS and peripheral surrogate biomarker candidates between two mouse models for progressive multiple sclerosis. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:516. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00516

277. Bettelli E, Baeten D, Jäger A, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T and B cells cooperate to induce a Devic-like disease in mice. *J Clin Invest*. (2006) 116:2393–402. doi: 10.1172/JCI28334

278. Krishnamoorthy G. Cumulative autoimmunity: myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T cells co-recognise neurofilament-M epitope in a spontaneous EAE of the C57BL/6 mouse. *Mult Scler.* (2009) 15:S28–9.

279. Krishnamoorthy G, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, Holz A. Spontaneous opticospinal encephalomyelitis in a double-transgenic mouse model of autoimmune T cell/B cell cooperation. *J Clin Invest.* (2006) 116:2385–92. doi: 10.1172/JCI28330

280. Kalluri SR, Rothhammer V, Staszewski O, Srivastava R, Petermann F, Prinz M, et al. Functional characterization of aquaporin-4 specific T cells: towards a model for neuromyelitis optica. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e16083. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016083

281. Faber H, Kurtoic D, Krishnamoorthy G, Weber P, Pütz B, Müller-Myhsok B, et al. Gene expression in spontaneous experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is linked to human multiple sclerosis risk genes. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:2165. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.02165

282. Corbali O, Chitnis T. Pathophysiology of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease. *Front Neurol.* (2023) 14:1137998. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1137998

283. Mathey EK, Derfuss T, Storch MK, Williams KR, Hales K, Woolley DR, et al. Neurofascin as a novel target for autoantibody-mediated axonal injury. *J Exp Med.* (2007) 204:2363–72. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 71053

284. Lucca LE, Axisa PP, Aloulou M, Perals C, Ramadan A, Rufas P, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces incomplete tolerance of CD4(+) T cells specific for both a myelin and a neuronal self-antigen in mice. *Eur J Immunol.* (2016) 46:2247–59. doi: 10.1002/eji.20164 6416

285. Di Pauli F, Hoftberger R, Reindl M, Schanda K, Beer R, Sato D, et al. Antibodies to MOG and AQP4 in a patient with a fulminant demyelinating encephalomyelitis, clinical course and neuropathological examination: a case report. *Mult Scler J.* (2015) 21:131–131.

286. Spiezia AL, Carotenuto A, Iovino A, Moccia M, Gastaldi M, Iodice R, et al. AQP4-MOG double-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: case report with central and peripheral nervous system involvement and review of literature. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:559. doi: 10.3390/ijms232314559

287. Gou B, Yang P, Feng J, Li Y, Huang G, Shi J, et al. The case report of AQP4 and MOG IgG double positive NMOSD treated with subcutaneous Ofatumumab. J Neuroimmunol. (2023) 376:578035. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2023.578035

288. Gullapalli S, Ramesh R, Shanmugam S, Hazeena P. MOG antibody associated with central and peripheral demyelination. *Prog Neurol Psychiat.* (2023) 27:12–5. doi: 10.1002/pnp.775

289. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fc gamma receptors as regulators of immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:34–47. doi: 10.1038/nri2206

290. Khare P, Challa DK, Devanaboyina SC, Velmurugan R, Hughes S, Greenberg BM, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific antibodies from multiple sclerosis patients exacerbate disease in a humanized mouse model. *J Autoimmun.* (2018) 86:104–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.09.002

291. Pajoohesh-Ganji A, Karl M, Garrison E, Osei-Bonsu NA, Clarkson-Paredes C, Ahn J, et al. Developmental ablation of mature oligodendrocytes exacerbates adult CNS demyelination. *Brain Behav Immun Health.* (2020) 7:100110. doi: 10.1016/j.bbih.2020.100110

292. Larabee CM, Desai S, Agasing A, Georgescu C, Wren JD, Axtell RC, et al. Loss of Nrf2 exacerbates the visual deficits and optic neuritis elicited by experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Mol Vis.* (2016) 22:1503–13.

293. Li B, Wang X, Choi IY, Wang Y-C, Liu S, Pham AT, et al. miR-146a modulates autoreactive Th17 cell differentiation and regulates organ-specific autoimmunity. *J Clin Invest.* (2017) 127:3702–16. doi: 10.1172/JCI94012

294. Boyden AW, Brate AA, Karandikar NJ. Novel B cell-dependent multiple sclerosis model using extracellular domains of myelin proteolipid protein. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:5011. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-61928-w

295. Häusler D, Häusser-Kinzel S, Feldmann L, Torke S, Lepennetier G, Bernard CCA, et al. Functional characterization of reappearing B cells after anti-CD20 treatment of CNS autoimmune disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2018) 115:9773–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1810470115

296. Lehmann-Horn K, Sagan SA, Winger RC, Spencer CM, Bernard CCA, Sobel RA, et al. accumulation of regulatory B cells is VLA-4-dependent. *Neurol Neuroinflamm.* (2016) 3:e212. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000212

297. Bjarnadóttir K, Benkhoucha M, Merkler D, Weber MS, Payne NL, Bernard CCA, et al. cell-derived transforming growth factor- β 1 expression limits the induction phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:34594. doi: 10.1038/srep34594

298. Kap YS, Laman JD, 't Hart BA. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the common marmoset, a bridge between rodent EAE and multiple sclerosis for immunotherapy development. J Neuroimmune Pharm. (2010) 5:220-30. doi: 10.1007/s11481-009-9178-y

299. 't Hart BA, Laman JD, Kap YS. Merits and complexities of modeling multiple sclerosis in non-human primates: implications for drug discovery. *Expert Opin Drug Dis.* (2018) 13:387–97. doi: 10.1080/17460441.2018.1443075

300. Stimmer L, Fovet CM, Serguera C. Experimental models of autoimmune demyelinating diseases in nonhuman primates. *Vet Pathol.* (2018) 55:27–41. doi: 10.1177/0300985817712794

301. 't Hart BA, Bauer J, Brok HPM, Amor S. Non-human primate models of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: variations on a theme. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2005) 168:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.05.017

302. Merkler D, Boscke R, Schmelting B, Czeh B, Fuchs E, Bruck W, et al. Differential macrophage/microglia activation in neocortical EAE lesions in the marmoset monkey. *Brain Pathol.* (2006) 16:117–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2006.00004.x

303. Kramann N, Neid K, Menken L, Schlumbohm C, Stadelmann C, Fuchs E, et al. Increased meningeal T and plasma cell infiltration is associated with early subpial cortical demyelination in common marmosets with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Pathol.* (2015) 25:276–86. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12180

304. Merkler D, Schmelting B, Czeh B, Fuchs E, Stadelmann C, Bruck W. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the common marmoset reflects the immunopathology of pattern II multiple sclerosis lesions. *Mult Scler*. (2006) 12:369–74. doi: 10.1191/1352458506ms12900a

305. Brok HP, Uccelli A, Kerlero De Rosbo N, Bontrop RE, Roccatagliata L, de Groot NG, et al. Myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis in common marmosets: the encephalitogenic T cell epitope pMOG24-36 is presented by a monomorphic MHC class II molecule. *J Immunol.* (2000) 165:1093–101. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.2.1093

306. Jagessar SA, Smith PA, Blezer E, Delarasse C, Pham-Dinh D, Laman JD, et al. Autoimmunity against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is dispensable for the initiation although essential for the progression of chronic encephalomyelitis in common marmosets. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2008) 67:326–40. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e31816a6851

307. Jagessar SA, Kap YS, Heijmans N, van Driel N, van Straalen L, Bajramovic JJ, et al. Induction of progressive demyelinating autoimmune encephalomyelitis in common marmoset monkeys using MOG34-56 peptide in incomplete freund adjuvant. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (2010) 69:372–85. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181d5d053

308. Kap YS, Jagessar SA, van Driel N, Blezer E, Bauer J, van Meurs M, et al. Effects of early IL-17A neutralization on disease induction in a primate model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmune Pharm.* (2011) 6:341–53. doi: 10.1007/s11481-010-9238-3

309. Serguera C, Stimmer L, Fovet CM, Horellou P, Contreras V, Tchitchek N, et al. Anti-MOG autoantibodies pathogenicity in children and macaques demyelinating diseases. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2019) 16:244. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1637-7

310. Frau J, Coghe G, Lorefice L, Fenu G, Cocco E. The role of microorganisms in the etiopathogenesis of demyelinating diseases. *Life-Basel.* (2023) 13:1309. doi: 10.3390/life13061309

311. Jarius S, Bieber N, Haas J, Wildemann B, MOG. encephalomyelitis after vaccination against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus type 2 (SARS-CoV-2): case report and comprehensive review of the literature. *J Neurol.* (2022) 269:5198–212. doi: 10.1007/s00415-022-11194-9

312. Ahsan N, Jafarpour S, Santoro JD. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody encephalitis following severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 in a pediatric patient. *Clin Exp Pediatr.* (2021) 64:310–2. doi: 10.3345/cep.2020.01963

313. Colantonio M, Nwafor D, Shrestha A, Elkhooly M, Rollins S, Wen S, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated optic neuritis and myelitis: a case report and literature review. *Mult Scler J.* (2022) 28:86. doi: 10.1186/s41983-022-00496-4

314. Gilardi M, Cortese A, Ferraro E, Rispoli M, Sadun R, Altavista MC, et al. MOG-IgG positive optic neuritis after SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Eur J Ophthalmol.* (2022) 33:NP87–90. doi: 10.1177/11206721221136319

315. Ide T, Kawanami T, Eriguchi M, Hara H. SARS-CoV-2-related myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: a case report and literature review. *Internal Med.* (2022) 61:1253–8. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.8709-21

316. Khair AM, Nikam R, Husain S, Ortiz M, Kaur G. Para and post-COVID-19 CNS acute demyelinating disorders in children: a case series on expanding the spectrum of clinical and radiological characteristics. *Cureus J Med Sci.* (2022) 14:23405. doi: 10.7759/cureus.23405

317. Lambe J, McGinley MP, Moss BP, Mao-Draayer Y, Kassa R, Ciotti JR, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-IgG associated disorders (MOGAD) following SARS-CoV-2 infection: a case series. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2022) 370:577933. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2022.577933

318. Mariotto S, Carta S, Dinoto A, Lippi G, Salvagno GL, Masin L, et al. Is there a correlation between MOG-associated disorder and SARS-CoV-2 infection? *Eur J Neurol.* (2022) 29:1855–8. doi: 10.1111/ene.15304

319. Martins M, Pereira A, Teixeira A, Lima D, Lopes N, Amaral-Silva M, et al. Neurological complications associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection: a single-centre experience. *Cureus J Med Sci.* (2022) 14:32655. doi: 10.7759/cureus.32655

320. Matsumoto Y, Ohyama A, Kubota T, Ikeda K, Kaneko K, Takai Y, et al. MOG antibody-associated disorders following SARS-CoV-2 vaccination: a case report and literature review. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:e845755. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.845755

321. Sehgal V, Bansal P, Arora S, Kapila S, Bedi GS. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody disease after COVID-19 vaccination - causal or incidental? *Cureus J Med Sci.* (2022) 14:27024. doi: 10.7759/cureus.27024

322. Wang JJ, Huang SM, Yu ZJ, Zhang S, Hou GH, Xu SY. Unilateral optic neuritis after vaccination against the coronavirus disease: two case reports. *Doc Ophthalmol.* (2022) 145:65–70. doi: 10.1007/s10633-022-09880-0

323. Uchino K, Soga K, Shinohara K, Imai T, Motohashi I, Okuma H, et al. Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-positive myelitis after coronavirus disease 2019. *Internal Med.* (2023) 62:1531–5. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.0394-22

324. Bailey OT, Pappenheimer AM, Cheever FS, Daniels JB. A murine virus (Jhm) causing disseminated encephalomyelitis with extensive destruction of myelin: Ii. *Pathology J Exp Med.* (1949) 90:195–212. doi: 10.1084/jem.90.3.195

325. Nagashima K, Wege H, Meyermann R, Meulen VT. Demyelinating encephalomyelitis induced by a long-term corona virus-infection in rats - preliminary-report. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1979) 45:205–13. doi: 10.1007/BF007 02672

326. Stohlman SA, Weiner LP. Chronic central nervous system demyelination in mice after JHM virus infection. *Neurology*. (1981) 31:38–44. doi: 10.1212/WNL.31.1.38

327. Wege H, Koga M, Termeulen V. Corona virus-induced demyelination in rats. *Neuropath Appl Neuro*. (1981) 7:503–5.

328. Wu GF, Perlman S. Macrophage infiltration, but not apoptosis, is correlated with immune-mediated demyelination following murine infection with a neurotropic coronavirus. *J Virol.* (1999) 73:8771–80. doi: 10.1128/JVI.73.10.8771-8780.1999

329. Savarin C, Dutta R, Bergmann CC. Distinct gene profiles of bone marrow-derived macrophages and microglia during neurotropic coronavirus-induced demyelination. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:01325. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01325

330. Omura S, Kawai E, Sato F, Martinez NE, Minagar A, Al-Kofahi M, et al. Theiler's virus-mediated immunopathology in the CNS and heart: roles of organ-specific cytokine and lymphatic responses. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2870. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02870

331. Omura S, Sato F, Martinez NE, Range T, Ekshyyan L, Minagar A, et al. Immunoregulation of Theiler's virus-induced demyelinating disease by glatiramer acetate without suppression of antiviral immune responses. *Arch Virol.* (2018) 163:1279–84. doi: 10.1007/s00705-018-3729-6

332. Sato F, Omura S, Kawai E, Martinez NE, Acharya MM, Reddy PC, et al. Distinct kinetics of viral replication, T cell infiltration, and fibrosis in three phases of myocarditis following Theiler's virus infection. *Cell Immunol.* (2014) 292:85–93. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.10.004

333. Lipton HL. Theiler's virus infection in mice: an unusual biphasic disease process leading to demyelination. *Infect Immun.* (1975) 11:1147-55. doi: 10.1128/iai.11.5.1147-1155.1975

334. Dal Canto MC, Lipton HL. Primary demyelination in Theiler's virus infection. An ultrastructural study. *Lab Invest.* (1975) 33:626–37.

335. Croxford JL, Olson JK, Miller SD. Epitope spreading and molecular mimicry as triggers of autoimmunity in the Theiler's virus-induced demyelinating disease model of multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2002) 1:251–60. doi: 10.1016/S1568-9972(02)00080-0

336. Bieber AJ, Ure DR, Rodriguez M. Genetically dominant spinal cord repair in a murine model of chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2005) 64:46–57. doi: 10.1093/jnen/64.1.46

337. Govindan AN, Fitzpatrick KS, Manoharan M, Tagge I, Kohama SG, Ferguson B, et al. Myelin-specific T cells in animals with Japanese macaque encephalomyelitis. *Ann Clin Transl Neur.* (2021) 8:456–70. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51303

338. Amano H, Miyamoto N, Shimura H, Sato DK, Fujihara K, Ueno S, et al. Influenza-associated MOG antibody-positive longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis: a case report. *BMC Neurol.* (2014) 14:224. doi: 10.1186/s12883-014-0224-x

339. Billiau A, Matthys P. Modes of action of Freund's adjuvants in experimental models of autoimmune diseases. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2001) 70:849–60. doi: 10.1189/jlb.70.6.849

340. Chen X, Winkler-Pickett RT, Carbonetti NH, Ortaldo JR, Oppenheim JJ, Howard OM. Pertussis toxin as an adjuvant suppresses the number and function of CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2006) 36:671-80. doi: 10.1002/eji.200535353

341. Pakbaz Z, Sahraian MA, Noorbakhsh F, Salami SA, Pourmand MR. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B increased severity of experimental model of multiple sclerosis. *Microb Pathog.* (2020) 142:104064. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104064

342. Mardiguian S, Ladds E, Turner R, Shepherd H, Campbell SJ, Anthony DC. The contribution of the acute phase response to the pathogenesis of relapse in chronic-relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalitis models of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2017) 14:196. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0969-4

343. Petrisko TJ, Konat GW. Peripheral viral challenge exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Metab Brain Dis.* (2019) 34:675–9. doi: 10.1007/s11011-019-0383-y

344. Vanheusden M, Broux B, Welten SPM, Peeters LM, Panagioti E, Van Wijmeersch B, et al. Cytomegalovirus infection exacerbates autoimmune mediated neuroinflammation. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:663. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-0 0645-3

345. Milovanovic J, Popovic B, Milovanovic M, Kvestak D, Arsenijevic A, Stojanovic B, et al. Murine cytomegalovirus infection induces susceptibility to EAE in resistant BALB/c Mice. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:192. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00192

346. Chen Q, Liu Y, Lu A, Ni K, Xiang Z, Wen K, et al. Influenza virus infection exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis disease by promoting type I T cells infiltration into central nervous system. *J Autoimmun.* (2017) 77:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2016.10.006

347. Choi BY, Sim CK, Cho YS, Sohn M, Kim Y-J, Lee MS, et al. 2/-5/ oligoadenylate synthetase-like 1 (OASL1) deficiency suppresses central nervous system damage in a murine MOG-induced multiple sclerosis model. *Neurosci Lett.* (2016) 628:78-84. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.06.026

348. Jensen IJ, Jensen SN, Sjaastad FV, Gibson-Corley KN, Dileepan T, Griffith TS, et al. Sepsis impedes EAE disease development and diminishes autoantigen-specific naive CD4 T cells. *Elife.* (2020) 9:e55800. doi: 10.7554/eLife.55800

349. Hassan A, Wlodarczyk MF, Benamar M, Bassot E, Salvioni A, Kassem S, et al. Virus hosted in malaria-infected blood protects against T cell-mediated inflammatory diseases by impairing DC function in a type I IFN-dependent manner. *MBio.* (2020) 11:e03394–19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.03394-19

350. Nourbakhsh B, Cordano C, Asteggiano C, Ruprecht K, Otto C, Rutatangwa A, et al. Multiple sclerosis is rare in epstein-barr virus-seronegative children with central nervous system inflammatory demyelination. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 89:1234–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.26062

351. Selter RC, Brilot F, Grummel V, Kraus V, Cepok S, Dale RC, et al. Antibody responses to EBV and native MOG in pediatric inflammatory demyelinating CNS diseases. *Neurology.* (2010) 74:1711–5. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e 04096

352. Fang L, Gong YS, Han K, Lv YL, Li M, Wang J. Longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis with mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Acta Neurol Belg.* (2023) 123:243-6. doi: 10.1007/s13760-021-01723-0

353. Sahu SK, Giri S, Gupta N. Longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis due to tuberculosis: a report of four cases. *J Postgrad Med.* (2014) 60:409-12. doi: 10.4103/0022-3859.143977

354. Mokhtarian F, Zhang Z, Shi Y, Gonzales E, Sobel RA. Molecular mimicry between a viral peptide and a myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide induces autoimmune demyelinating disease in mice. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1999) 95:43–54. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00254-9

355. Herrmann I, Kellert M, Schmidt H, Mildner A, Hanisch UK, Bruck W, et al. Streptococcus pneumoniae Infection aggravates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis via Toll-like receptor 2. *Infect Immun.* (2006) 74:4841–8. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00026-06

356. Sattler MB, Demmer I, Williams SK, Maier K, Merkler D, Gadjanski I, et al. Effects of interferon-beta-1a on neuronal survival under autoimmune inflammatory conditions. *Exp Neurol.* (2006) 201:172–81. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2006.04.015

357. Serres S, Bristow C, de Pablos RM, Merkler D, Soto MS, Sibson NR, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging reveals therapeutic effects of interferon-beta on cytokine-induced reactivation of rat model of multiple sclerosis. *J Cerebr Blood F Met.* (2013) 33:744–53. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2013.12

358. Njenga MK, Coenen MJ, DeCuir N, Yeh HY, Rodriguez M. Short-term treatment with interferon-alpha/beta promotes remyelination, whereas long-term treatment aggravates demyelination in a murine model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurosci Res.* (2000) 59:661–70. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(20000301)59:5<661::AID-JNR9>3.0.CO;2-E

359. Bell JC, Liu Q, Gan Y, Liu Q, Liu Y, Shi F-D, et al. Visualization of inflammation and demyelination in 2D2 transgenic mice with rodent MRI. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2013) 264:35–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.09.008

360. 't Hart BA, Vogels J, Bauer J, Brok HPM, Blezer E. Non-invasive measurement of brain damage in a primate model of multiple sclerosis. *Trends Mol Med.* (2004) 10:85–91. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2003.12.008

361. Sun S-W, Liang H-F, Schmidt RE, Cross AH, Song S-K. Selective vulnerability of cerebral white matter in a murine model of multiple sclerosis detected using diffusion tensor imaging. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2007) 28:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007.06.011

362. Fjær S, Bø L, Myhr K-M, Torkildsen Ø, Wergeland S. Magnetization transfer ratio does not correlate to myelin content in the brain in the MOG-EAE mouse model. *Neurochem Int.* (2015) 83–84:28–40. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2015.02.006

363. González-García C, Torres IM, García-Hernández R, Campos-Ruíz L, Esparragoza LR, Coronado MJ, et al. Mechanisms of action of cannabidiol in adoptively transferred experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Exp Neurol.* (2017) 298:57–67. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.08.017

364. Levy Barazany H, Barazany D, Puckett L, Blanga-Kanfi S, Borenstein-Auerbach N, Yang K, et al. Brain MRI of nasal MOG therapeutic effect in relapsing-progressive EAE. *Exp Neurol.* (2014) 255:63–70. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.02.010

365. Pol S, Liang S, Schweser F, Dhanraj R, Schubart A, Preda M, et al. Subcutaneous anti-CD20 antibody treatment delays gray matter atrophy in human myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced EAE mice. *Exp Neurol.* (2021) 335:113488. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2020.113488

366. Aharoni R, Sasson E, Blumenfeld-Katzir T, Eilam R, Sela M, Assaf Y, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging characterization of different experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis models and the therapeutic effect of glatiramer acetate. *Exp Neurol.* (2013) 240:130–44. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.11.004

367. Pol S, Schweser F, Bertolino N, Preda M, Sveinsson M, Sudyn M, et al. Characterization of leptomeningeal inflammation in rodent experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model of multiple sclerosis. *Exp Neurol.* (2019) 314:82–90. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2019.01.013

368. Linker RA, Kroner A, Horn T, Gold R, Mäurer M, Bendszus M. Iron particle-enhanced visualization of inflammatory central nervous system lesions by high resolution: preliminary data in an animal model. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2006) 27:1225–9.

369. Chin C-L, Pai M, Bousquet PF, Schwartz AJ, O'Connor EM, Nelson CM, et al. Distinct spatiotemporal pattern of CNS lesions revealed by USPIO-enhanced MRI in MOG-induced EAE rats implicates the involvement of spino-olivocerebellar pathways. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2009) 211:49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2009.03.012

370. Belloli S, Zanotti L, Murtaj V, Mazzon C, Di Grigoli G, Monterisi C, et al. 18F-VC701-PET and MRI in the *in vivo* neuroinflammation assessment of a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2018) 15:33. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-1044-x

371. Nack A, Brendel M, Nedelcu J, Daerr M, Nyamoya S, Beyer C, et al. Expression of translocator protein and [18F]-GE180 ligand uptake in multiple sclerosis animal models. *Cells.* (2019) 8:94. doi: 10.3390/cells8020094

372. Hoehne A, James ML, Alam IS, Ronald JA, Schneider B, D'Souza A, et al. [18F]FSPG-PET reveals increased cystine/glutamate antiporter (xc-) activity in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:55. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1080-1

373. Stevens MY, Cropper HC, Lucot KL, Chaney AM, Lechtenberg KJ, Jackson IM, et al. Development of a CD19 PET tracer for detecting B cells in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2020) 17:275. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01880-8

374. Waiczies H, Guenther M, Skodowski J, Lepore S, Pohlmann A, Niendorf T, et al. Monitoring dendritic cell migration using 19F/1H magnetic resonance imaging. *J Vis Exp.* (2013) 73:e50251. doi: 10.3791/50251

375. Ruiz-Cabello J, Barnett BP, Bottomley PA, Bulte JWM. Fluorine (19F) MRS and MRI in biomedicine. *NMR Biomed.* (2011) 24:114–29. doi: 10.1002/nbm.1570

376. Waiczies S, Millward JM, Starke L, Delgado PR, Huelnhagen T, Prinz C, et al. Enhanced fluorine-19 MRI sensitivity using a cryogenic radiofrequency probe: technical developments and *ex vivo* demonstration in a mouse model of neuroinflammation. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:9808. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09622-2

377. Waiczies S, Rosenberg JT, Kuehne A, Starke L, Delgado PR, Millward JM, et al. et al. Fluorine-19 MRI at 211 T: enhanced spin-lattice relaxation of perfluoro-15crown-5-ether and sensitivity as demonstrated in *ex vivo* murine neuroinflammation. *MAGMA*. (2019) 32:37-49. doi: 10.1007/s10334-018-0710-z

378. Prinz C, Delgado PR, Eigentler TW, Starke L, Niendorf T, Waiczies S. Toward 19F magnetic resonance thermometry: spin-lattice and spin-spin-relaxation times and temperature dependence of fluorinated drugs at 94 T. *MAGMA*. (2019) 32:51– 61. doi: 10.1007/s10334-018-0722-8

379. Yura M, Takahashi I, Serada M, Koshio T, Nakagami K, Yuki Y, et al. Role of MOG-stimulated Th1 type "light up" (GFP+) CD4+ T cells for the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *J Autoimmun.* (2001) 17:17–25. doi: 10.1006/jaut.2001.0520

380. Siffrin V, Radbruch H, Glumm R, Niesner R, Paterka M, Herz J, et al. *In vivo* imaging of partially reversible th17 cell-induced neuronal dysfunction in the course of encephalomyelitis. *Immunity*. (2010) 33:424–36. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.08.018

381. Wang X, Brieland JK, Kim JH, Chen Y-J, O'Neal J, O'Neil SR, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging detects treatment effects of FTY720 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mice. *NMR Biomed.* (2013) 26:3012. doi: 10.1002/nbm.3012

382. Cruz-Orengo L, Chen Y-J, Kim JH, Dorsey D, Song S-K, Klein RS. CXCR7 antagonism prevents axonal injury during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis as revealed by *in vivo* axial diffusivity. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2011) 8:170. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-170

383. de Guzman AE, Wong MD, Gleave JA, Nieman BJ. Variations in post-perfusion immersion fixation and storage alter MRI measurements of mouse brain morphometry. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 142:687–95. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.06.028

384. Cahill LS, Zhang MA, Ramaglia V, Whetstone H, Sabbagh MP, Yi TJ, et al. Aged hind-limb clasping experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis models aspects of the neurodegenerative process seen in multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2019) 116:22710–20. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1915141116

385. Steudler J, Ecott T, Ivan DC, Bouillet E, Walthert S, Berve K, et al. Autoimmune neuroinflammation triggers mitochondrial oxidation in oligodendrocytes. *Glia.* (2022) 70:2045–61. doi: 10.1002/glia.24235

386. Cruz-Herranz A, Dietrich M, Hilla AM, Yiu HH, Levin MH, Hecker C, et al. Monitoring retinal changes with optical coherence tomography predicts neuronal loss in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroinflammation.* (2019) 16:203. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1583-4

387. Boretius S, Schmelting B, Watanabe T, Merkler D, Tammer R, Czéh B, et al. Monitoring of EAE onset and progression in the common marmoset monkey by sequential high-resolution 3D MRI. *NMR Biomed.* (2006) 19:41–9. doi: 10.1002/nbm.999

388. Weissert R, Hugosson T, Petzold A. Upregulated retinal neurofilament expression in experimental optic neuritis. *Neuroophthalmology.* (2022) 46:215–9. doi: 10.1080/01658107.2022.20 25852

389. Castoldi V, Marenna S, d'Isa R, Huang S-C, Battista DD, Chirizzi C, et al. Non-invasive visual evoked potentials to assess optic nerve involvement in the dark agouti rat model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced by myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Brain Pathol.* (2020) 30:137–50. doi: 10.1111/bpa. 12762

390. Meyer R, Weissert R, Diem R, Storch MK, de Graaf KL, Kramer B, et al. Acute neuronal apoptosis in a rat model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurosci.* (2001) 21:6214–20. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-16-06214.2001

391. Hobom M, Storch MK, Weissert R, Maier K, Radhakrishnan A, Kramer B, et al. Mechanisms and time course of neuronal degeneration in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Pathol.* (2004) 14:148–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00047.x

392. Hein K, Gadjanski I, Kretzschmar B, Lange K, Diem R, Sättler MB, et al. An optical coherence tomography study on degeneration of retinal nerve fiber layer in rats with autoimmune optic neuritis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* (2012) 53:157– 63. doi: 10.1167/iovs.11-8092

393. Fairless R, Williams SK, Hoffmann DB, Stojic A, Hochmeister S, Schmitz F, et al. Preclinical retinal neurodegeneration in a model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurosci.* (2012) 32:5585–97. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5705-11.2012

394. Stojic A, Bojcevski J, Williams SK, Bas-Orth C, Nessler S, Linington C, et al. Preclinical stress originates in the rat optic nerve head during development of autoimmune optic neuritis. *Glia.* (2019) 67:512–24. doi: 10.1002/glia.2 3560

395. Green AJ, McQuaid S, Hauser SL, Allen IV, Lyness R. Ocular pathology in multiple sclerosis: retinal atrophy and inflammation irrespective of disease duration. *Brain.* (2010) 133:1591-601. doi: 10.1093/brain/aw q080

396. Fisher JB, Jacobs DA, Markowitz CE, Galetta SL, Volpe NJ, Nano-Schiavi ML, et al. Relation of visual function to retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in multiple sclerosis. *Ophthalmology*. (2006) 113:324–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2005.10.040

397. Jin J, Smith MD, Kersbergen CJ, Kam T-I, Viswanathan M, Martin K, et al. Glial pathology and retinal neurotoxicity in the anterior visual pathway in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2019) 7:125. doi: 10.1186/s40478-019-0767-6

398. Shindler KS, Guan Y, Ventura E, Bennett J, Rostami A. Retinal ganglion cell loss induced by acute optic neuritis in a relapsing model of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2006) 12:526–32. doi: 10.1177/1352458506070629

399. Petrikowski L, Reinehr S, Haupeltshofer S, Deppe L, Graz F, Kleiter I, et al. Progressive retinal and optic nerve damage in a mouse model of spontaneous opticospinal encephalomyelitis. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:759389. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.759389

400. Marenna S, Huang S-C, Castoldi V, d'Isa R, Costa GD, Comi G, et al. Functional evolution of visual involvement in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2020) 6:2055217320963474. doi: 10.1177/2055217320963474

401. Dietrich M, Hecker C, Hilla A, Cruz-Herranz A, Hartung H-P, Fischer D, et al. Using optical coherence tomography and optokinetic response as structural and functional visual system readouts in mice and rats. *JoVE*. (2019) 142:e58571. doi: 10.3791/58571

402. Cordano C, Sin JH, Timmons G, Yiu HH, Stebbins K, Guglielmetti C, et al. Validating visual evoked potentials as a preclinical, quantitative biomarker for remyelination efficacy. *Brain*. (2022) 145:3943–52. doi: 10.1093/brain/awac207

403. Kapell H, Fazio L, Dyckow J, Cruz-Herranz A, Mayer C, Campos J, et al. Paranodal potassium channels as neuroprotective targets in inflammatory demyelination. *Mult Scler J.* (2022) 28:22–3.

404. Schirmer L, Möbius W, Zhao C, Cruz-Herranz A, Ben Haim L, Cordano C, et al. Oligodendrocyte-encoded Kir4.1 function is required for axonal integrity. *eLife*. (2018) 7:e36428. doi: 10.7554/eLife.36428

405. Diem R, Demmer I, Boretius S, Merkler D, Schmelting B, Williams SK, et al. Autoimmune optic neuritis in the common marmoset monkey: comparison of visual evoked potentials with MRI and histopathology. *Invest Ophth Vis Sci.* (2008) 49:3707– 14. doi: 10.1167/iovs.08-1896

406. Talla V, Koilkonda R, Guy J. Gene therapy with single-subunit yeast NADHubiquinone oxidoreductase (NDI1) improves the visual function in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) mice model of multiple sclerosis (MS). *Mol Neurobiol.* (2020) 57:1952–65. doi: 10.1007/s12035-019-01857-6

407. Talla V, Yu H, Chou T-H, Porciatti V, Chiodo V, Boye SL, et al. NADHdehydrogenase type-2 suppresses irreversible visual loss and neurodegeneration in the EAE animal model of MS. *Mol Ther*. (2013) 21:1876–88. doi: 10.1038/mt.2013.104 408. Talla V, Koilkonda R. Targeted Kruppel-like factor 4 gene knockout in retinal ganglion cells improves visual function in multiple sclerosis mouse model. *eNeuro*. (2020) 7:ENEURO.0320-19.2020. doi: 10.1523/ENEURO.0320-19.2020

409. Talla V, Porciatti V, Chiodo V, Boye SL, Hauswirth WW, Guy J. Gene therapy with mitochondrial heat shock protein 70 suppresses visual loss and optic atrophy in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* (2014) 55:5214–26. doi: 10.1167/iovs.14-14688

410. Dietrich M, Helling N, Hilla A, Heskamp A, Issberner A, Hildebrandt T, et al. Early alpha-lipoic acid therapy protects from degeneration of the inner retinal layers and vision loss in an experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis-optic neuritis model. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:71. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1111-y

411. Liu P, Huang H, Fang F, Liu L, Li L, Feng X, et al. Neuronal NMNAT2 overexpression does not achieve significant neuroprotection in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis/optic neuritis. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2021) 15:754651. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2021.754651

412. Sekyi MT, Lauderdale K, Atkinson KC, Golestany B, Karim H, Feri M, et al. Alleviation of extensive visual pathway dysfunction by a remyelinating drug in a chronic mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol.* (2021) 31:312–32. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12930

413. Knier B, Rothhammer V, Heink S, Puk O, Graw J, Hemmer B, et al. Neutralizing IL-17 protects the optic nerve from autoimmune pathology and prevents retinal nerve fiber layer atrophy during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Autoimmun.* (2015) 56:34–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014.09.003

414. Herrera SL, Palmer VL, Whittaker H, Smith BC, Kim A, Schellenberg AE, et al. Damage to the optic chiasm in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoproteinexperimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mice. *Magn Reson Insights*. (2014) 7:23– 31. doi: 10.4137/MRI.S19750

415. Qi X, Lewin AS, Sun L, Hauswirth WW, Guy J. Suppression of mitochondrial oxidative stress provides long-term neuroprotection in experimental optic neuritis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* (2007) 48:681–91. doi: 10.1167/iovs.06-0553

416. Manogaran P, Walker-Egger C, Samardzija M, Waschkies C, Grimm C, Rudin M, et al. Exploring experimental autoimmune optic neuritis using multimodal imaging. *Neuroimage*. (2018) 175:327–39. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.04.004

417. Nishioka C, Liang H-F, Barsamian B, Sun S-W. Sequential phases of RGC axonal and somatic injury in EAE mice examined using DTI and OCT. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 27:315–23. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.11.010

418. Cruz-Herranz A, Oertel FC, Kim K, Cantó E, Timmons G, Sin JH, et al. Distinctive waves of innate immune response in the retina in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *JCI Insight.* (2021) 6:149228. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.149228

419. Frenger MJ, Hecker C, Sindi M, Issberner A, Hartung H-P, Meuth SG, et al. Semi-automated live tracking of microglial activation in CX3CR1GFP mice during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:761776. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.7 61776

420. Rakhymzhan A, Reuter L, Raspe R, Bremer D, Günther R, Leben R, et al. Coregistered spectral optical coherence tomography and two-photon microscopy for multimodal near-instantaneous deep-tissue imaging. *Cytometry Part A*. (2020) 97:515–27. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a. 24012

421. Bremer D, Pache F, Günther R, Hornow J, Andresen V, Leben R, et al. Longitudinal intravital imaging of the retina reveals long-term dynamics of immune infiltration and its effects on the glial network in experimental autoimmune uveoretinitis, without evident signs of neuronal dysfunction in the ganglion cell layer. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:642. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016. 00642

422. Vosoughi AR, Ling J, Tam KT, Blackwood J, Micieli JA. Ophthalmic manifestations of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-IgG-associated disorder other than optic neuritis: a systematic review. *Br J Ophthalmol.* (2021) 105:1591–8. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2020-317267

423. Shao H, Sun SL, Kaplan HJ, Sun D. Induction of autoimmune encephalomyelitis and uveitis in B6 and (B6 x SJL) mice by peptides derived from myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2002) 132:117–22. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(02)00318-1

424. Papadopoulos D, Rundle J, Patel R, Marshall I, Stretton J, Eaton R, et al. FTY720 ameliorates MOG-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by suppressing both cellular and humoral immune responses. *J Neurosci Res.* (2010) 88:346–59. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22196

425. Larabee CM, Desai S, Agasing A, Georgescu C, Wren JD, Axtell RC, et al. Loss of Nrf2 exacerbates the visual deficits and optic neuritis elicited by experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Mol Vis.* (2016) 22:1503–13.

426. Zyla K, Larabee CM, Georgescu C, Berkley C, Reyna T, Plafker SM. Dimethyl fumarate mitigates optic neuritis. *Mol Vis.* (2019) 25:446–61.

Frontiers in Neurology

Explores neurological illness to improve patient care

The third most-cited clinical neurology journal explores the diagnosis, causes, treatment, and public health aspects of neurological illnesses. Its ultimate aim is to inform improvements in patient care.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



